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To the shareholders of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito 

 

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Opinion __________________________________________________________________  

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de 
Crédito (the “Parent Entity”) and subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated income statement, 
consolidated statement of recognised income and expense, consolidated statement of total changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and consolidated notes. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts give a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the consolidated equity and consolidated financial position of the Group at 31 
December 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union (IFRS-EU) and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in 
Spain. 

Basis for Opinion _________________________________________________________  

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in 
Spain. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those 
regarding independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts pursuant 
to the legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain. We have not provided any non-audit 
services, nor have any situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned 
regulations, have affected the required independence such that this has been compromised. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

  



 
 
 
2 

(Translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.) 

 

Key Audit Matters ________________________________________________________  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers 
See notes 3.f, 3.l, 5.a and 11 to the consolidated annual accounts 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group’s portfolio of loans and advances to 
customers, classified in its portfolio of financial 
assets at amortised cost, reflects a net balance of 
Euros 4,576,021 thousand at 31 December 2021, 
while allowances and provisions for impairment 
recognised at that date total Euros 103,970 
thousand. 

The process of estimating impairment of the 
portfolio of loans and advances to customers at 
amortised cost due to credit risk, on both an 
individual and a collective basis, in accordance with 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, entails a significant and 
complex estimate. In the case of the individual 
analysis, these allowances and provisions for 
portfolios of impaired loans and advances to 
customers consider the estimates of the debtors' 
forecast business performance and the market value 
of the collateral provided for credit transactions. For 
the collective analysis, the main aspects considered 
are the identification and classification of exposures 
through loans that are under special monitoring or 
impaired, portfolio segmentation, and the use of 
significant assumptions such as the realisable value 
of the collateral associated with credit transactions. 

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have a 
negative effect on the economy and business 
activities of the areas where the Group operates. To 
mitigate the impacts of this pandemic, the Spanish 
government has continued with initiatives to support 
the most affected sectors and customers with 
measures such as the provision of State-backed 
credit facilities, the deferral of payments without 
penalties (moratoriums) and flexible financing and 
liquidity facilities. The Group has taken all these 
aspects into account in the quantification of the 
impairment of financial assets, increasing the 
uncertainty associated with their estimation. 

 

 

Our audit approach in relation to the Group’s 
estimate of impairment of loans and advances to 
customers at amortised cost due to credit risk 
included an assessment of the relevant controls 
associated with the processes for estimating 
impairment, as well as different tests of detail on 
that estimate. 

Our procedures relating to the control environment 
focused on assessing the main controls in the 
following key areas: governance, accounting policies, 
data accuracy and monitoring of loans outstanding. 

Our tests of detail on the estimated expected losses 
included the following:  

– In the case of impairment of individually 
significant transactions we evaluated the 
suitability of their classification based on the credit 
risk, as well as the allowance and provision 
recognised. 

– With respect to the impairment allowances and 
provisions estimated collectively, we evaluated 
the methodology used by the Group, validating 
the adequacy of the calculation. 

– We took into consideration the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and government assistance 
on the calculation of impairment.   

– We assessed the factors determining the credit 
rating for a sample of transactions, the provision 
for which has been estimated collectively. 

– We checked the correct identification of the 
refinancing and restructuring transactions. 

Lastly, we evaluated whether the disclosures in the 
notes to the consolidated annual accounts are 
appropriate, in accordance with the criteria set out in 
the financial reporting framework applicable to the 
Group. 
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Impairment of loans and advances to customers 
See notes 3.f, 3.l, 5.a and 11 to the consolidated annual accounts 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The consideration of this matter as a key audit 
matter is based both on the significance for the 
Group of the loans and advances to customers 
portfolio, and thus of the related allowance and 
provision, as well as on the relevance of the process 
for classifying these financial assets for the purpose 
of estimating impairment thereon and the 
subjectivity and complexity of calculating this 
impairment, while also taking into consideration the 
situation brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Other Information: Consolidated Directors’ Report __________________________  

Other information solely comprises the 2021 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which 
is the responsibility of the Parent's Governing Board and which does not form an integral part of the 
consolidated annual accounts. 

Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not encompass the consolidated 
directors' report. Our responsibility regarding the information contained in the consolidated directors’ 
report is defined in the legislation regulating the audit of accounts, as follows: 

a) Determine, solely, whether the consolidated non-financial information statement has been 
provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable legislation, and if not, to report on this matter. 

b) Assess and report on the consistency of the rest of the information included in the consolidated 
directors’ report with the consolidated annual accounts, based on knowledge of the Group 
obtained during the audit of the aforementioned consolidated annual accounts. Also, assess and 
report on whether the content and presentation of this part of the consolidated directors’ report 
are in accordance with applicable legislation. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there are material misstatements, we are required to report them. 

Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have observed that the information 
mentioned in section a) above has been provided in the manner stipulated in the applicable 
legislation, that the rest of the information contained in the consolidated directors' report is 
consistent with that disclosed in the consolidated annual accounts for 2021, and that the content 
and presentation of the report are in accordance with applicable legislation. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit and Compliance Committee for 
the Consolidated Annual Accounts ________________________________________  

The Parent Entity’s Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated 
annual accounts in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity, 
consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance 
with IFRS-EU and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in 
Spain, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent Entity’s Directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Parent Entity’s 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

The Parent Entity’s Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation 
and presentation of the consolidated annual accounts. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Annual Accounts   

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts. 

As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain, 
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 
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– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent Entity’s Directors. 

– Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent Entity’s Directors' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual accounts or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual accounts, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view. 

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Parent Entity’s Audit and Compliance Committee regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Parent Entity’s Audit and Compliance Committee with a statement that we 
have complied with the applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated to the Parent Entity’s Audit and Compliance Committee, we 
determine those that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of 
the current period and which are therefore the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter. 
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Additional Report to the Parent Entity’s Audit and Compliance Committee ___  

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Parent Entity’s 
Audit and Compliance Committee dated 16 March 2022. 

Contract Period _________________________________________________________________  

We were appointed as auditor of the Group by the Parent Entity’s shareholders at the ordinary 
general meeting on 23 April 2021 for a period of three years, beginning from the year commenced 1 
January 2021. 

KPMG Auditores, S.L. 
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC”) with No. S0702 
 
 
 
(Signed on original in Spanish) 
 
 
Arturo López-Gamonal García-Morales 
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC”) with No. 23.901 

16 March 2022 



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EUROCAJA RURAL, 
SOCIEDAD COOPERATIVA DE 
CRÉDITO AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP) 
Consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2021 and consolidated management report for the 
year 2021 

 
 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 

  

 

 
  Thousands of euros  

ASSETS   Note    2021       2020 (*)  

Cash, balances in cash at central banks and other demand deposits 6    1,695,792              535,210  

Financial assets held for trading 7   -     1  
Derivatives  - 1 
Equity instruments  - - 
Debt securities  - - 
Loans and advances  - - 

Central banks H - - 
Credit institutions  - - 
Clients  - - 

Memorandum item: provided or given as security with the right to sell or pledge  - - 

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 8      139,266       120,591  
Equity instruments  74,039 59,039 
Debt securities  65,227 61,552 
Loans and advances  - - 

Central banks  - - 
Credit institutions  - - 
Clients  - - 

Memorandum item: provided or given as security with the right to sell or pledge  - - 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 9   -    -  
Debt securities  - - 
Loans and advances  - - 

Central banks  - - 
Credit institutions  - - 
Clients  - - 

Memorandum item: provided or given as security with the right to sell or pledge  - - 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 10      391,264       476,800  
Equity instruments  3,374 3,499 
Debt securities  384,890 473,301 
Loans and advances  - - 

Central banks  - - 
Credit institutions  - - 
Clients  - - 

Memorandum item: provided or given as security with the right to sell or pledge  - - 

Financial assets at amortised cost 11   6,719,254    7,492,994  
Debt securities  2,130,953 2,535,272 
Loans and advances  4,588,301 4,957,722 

Central banks  - - 
Credit institutions  12,280 12,432 
Clients  4,576,021 4,945,290 

Memorandum item: provided or given as security with the right to sell or pledge  38,969 - 

Derivatives - hedge accounting 7   1,796    2,369  

Changes in the fair value of the hedged items in a hedged portfolio 
of interest rate risk 

  
  -  

 
  -  

Investments in joint ventures and associates 12   -    -  
Joint businesses  - - 
Associated  - - 

Assets covered by insurance or reinsurance contracts    -    -  

Tangible assets 14   68,921    67,692  
Tangible fixed assets  62,221 60,790 

For your own use  62,221 60,790 
Leased out under an operating lease  - - 
Affection for social work  - - 

Real estate investments  6,700 6,902 
Of which: leased out under an operating lease  - - 

Memorandum item: acquired under a financial lease  10,324 10,609 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 
 

 

 

 
 

  Thousands of euros  
(continued)      Note    2021       2020 (*)  

Intangible Assets 15   772    685  
Goodwill  - - 
Other intangible assets  772 685 

Tax assets 24   39,293    39,095  
Current tax assets  1,235 1,700 
Deferred tax assets  38,058 37,395 

Other assets 16   6,114    8,131  
Insurance contracts linked to pensions  - - 
Stocks  306 310 
Rest of other assets  5,808 7,821 

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale 

 
13 

 
  18,006  

 
  17,557  

TOTAL ASSETS  9,080,478 8,761,125 
 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021. 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 

 

 

 
 

LIABILITY    Thousands of euros  
   Note    2021       2020 (*)  

Financial liabilities held for trading           7   -     1  
Derivatives  -  1 
Short positions  -  - 
Deposits  -  - 

Central banks  -  - 
Credit institutions  -  - 
Clients  -  - 

Debt securities issued  -  - 
Other financial liabilities  -  - 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss          9   -     -  
Deposits  -  - 

Central banks  -  - 
Credit institutions  -  - 
Clients  -  - 

Debt securities issued  -  - 
Other financial liabilities  -  - 
Memorandum item: subordinated liabilities  -  - 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 17 8,469,390  8,179,774 
Deposits    7,201,730     7,128,836  

Central banks  570,233  666,400 
Credit institutions  4,303  89,891 
Clients  6,627,194  6,372,545 

Debt securities issued  1,196,525  1,002,585 
Other financial liabilities  71,135  48,353 
Memorandum item: subordinated liabilities  -  - 

Derivatives - hedge accounting 7   19,048    19,775  

Changes in the fair value of the hedged items in a hedged portfolio 
of interest rate risk 

  
  -  

  
  -  

Provisions 18   15,530     14,848  
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations  854  698 
Other long-term employee benefits  -  - 
Procedural issues and pending tax litigation  -  - 
Commitments and guarantees granted  2,342  1,844 
Remaining provisions  12,334  12,306 

Tax liabilities 24   8,849     10,436  
Current tax liabilities  2,485  1,765 
Deferred tax liabilities  6,364  8,671 

Reimbursable share capital at sight    -     -  

Other liabilities 16   26,708     23,617  
Of which: social work fund 23 7,506  7,763 

Liabilities included in disposal groups of items that have been classified as 
held for sale 

  
  -  

  
  -  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  8,539,525  8,248,451 
 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021. 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 

 

 

 
 

NET WORTH    Thousands of euros  
   Note    2021     2020 (*)  

Equity 21      533,369        498,164  
Capital  102,555  101,795 

Paid-in capital  102,555  101,795 
Uncalled-for capital  -  - 

Memorandum item: capital not required  -  - 
Share premium  -  - 
Issued equity instruments other than equity  -  - 

Equity component of compound financial instruments  -  - 
Other equity instruments issued  -  - 

Other equity items  -  - 
Accumulated earnings  383,797  353,762 
Revaluation reserves  10,225  10,300 
Other reserves    (2,618)     (2,576)  

Reserves or accumulated losses from investment in joint ventures and associates  -  - 
Others  (2,618)  (2,576) 

(-) Own shares  -  - 
Income attributable to the owners of the parent company 22 39,410  34,883 
(-) Interim Dividends  -  - 

Other accumulated overall result 20   7,584     14,510  
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss    386    519  

Actuarial gains or - losses on defined benefit pension plans  -  - 
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held 
for sale 

  
- 

  
- 

Share of other income and expenses recognised in investments in joint ventures and associates  -  - 
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with 
changes in other comprehensive income 

 
10.4 

 
386 

  
519 

Ineffectiveness of fair value hedges of equity instruments measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income 

  
- 

  
- 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with 
changes in other comprehensive income [covered item] 

  
- 

  
- 

Changes in fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with 
changes in other comprehensive income [hedging instrument] 

  
- 

  
- 

Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
attributable to changes in credit risk 

  
- 

  
- 

Items that can be reclassified in results    7,198     13,991  
Coverage of net investment in foreign businesses [effective portion]  -  - 
Currency Conversion  -  - 
Hedge derivatives. Cash flow hedge reserve [effective portion  (614)  (976) 
Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value with changes in 
other comprehensive income 

 
10.4 

 
7,812 

  
14,967 

Hedging instruments (undesignated items)  -  - 
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for 

the sale 
  

- 
  

- 
Share of other income and expenses recognised in investments in joint ventures and associates  -  - 

Minority interests    -     -  
Other accumulated overall result  -  - 
Other items  -  - 

TOTAL EQUITY  540,953  512,674 
     

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  9,080,478  8,761,125 
 

Pro-memoria: off-balance sheet exposures 
 

19 
 

611,006 
  

630,659 
Conceived loan commitments  494,410  538,303 
Financial guarantees granted  26,207  22,791 
Other commitments granted  90,389  69,565 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021. 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 
2020 

 

 

 
 

  Thousands of euros  
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT       Note    2021     2020 (*)  

Interest income 26   100,374   101,229 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  13,342  14,550 
Financial assets at amortised cost  81,615  81,400 
Rest  5,417  5,279 

Interest expenses 26 (17,385)  (14,492) 
Reimbursable demand capital expenditure  -  - 

NET INTEREST INCOME  82,989  86,737 
 

Dividend income 
  

2,428 
  

1,342 
Results of entities accounted for using the equity method  -  - 
Commission income 27 56,801  54,037 
Commission expenses 27 (11,027)  (7,558) 
Gains/losses on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at value 
reasonable with changes in results, net 

 
5 

 
  4,517  

  
  15,771  

Financial assets at amortised cost  1,133  4,293 
Remaining financial assets and liabilities  3,384  11,478 

Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net    -     -  
Reclassification of financial assets from fair value through other comprehensive income  -  - 
Reclassification of financial assets from amortised cost  -  - 
Other gains/losses  -  - 

Gains/losses on financial assets not intended for trading compulsorily valued 
at fair value through profit or loss, net 

 
5 y 8 

 
  4,415  

  
  (12,982)  

Reclassification of financial assets from fair value through other comprehensive income  -  - 
Reclassification of financial assets from amortised cost  -  - 
Other gains/losses  4,415  (12,982) 

Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net 9 (391)  2,596 
Gains/losses on hedge accounting, net  -  - 
Exchange rate differences [gain or - loss], net  177  113 
Other operating income 28 8,494  5,186 
Other operating expenses 28 (14,372)  (14,210) 
Of which: compulsory contributions to social welfare funds 28 (3,509)  (3,472) 

GROSS MARGIN  134,031  131,032 
 

Administration costs 
  

  (73,865)  
  

(68,040) 
Staffing costs 29 (45,665)  (43,834) 
Other administrative expenses 30 (28,200)  (24,206) 

Amortization 14 y 15 (6,948)  (6,708) 

Provisions/reversion of provisions 31 (4,923)  (11,223) 
Impairment/Reversal of Impairment of Financial Assets not Measured at Fair Value through Equity 
in earnings and net change in profit and loss 

  
  (2,912)  

  
(4,086) 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 10.3 215  53 
Financial assets at amortised cost 11.4 (3,127)  (4,139) 

OPERATING INCOME  45,383  40,975 
 

Impairment/Reversal of impairment of investments in joint ventures or associates 
  

- 
  

- 

Impairment/Reversal of Impairment of Non-Financial Assets   (116)     -  
Tangible assets        (116)  - 
Intangible Assets  -  - 
Others  -  - 

Gains/losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and investments, net 32 (249)  (859) 
  -  - 

Negative goodwill recognized in income  -  - 

Gains/losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale not eligible for discontinued operations 

 
32 

 
253 

  
(29) 

PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  45,271  40,087 
 

Income tax expense/income from continuing operations 
 

24 
 

(5,861) 
  

(5,204) 

EARNINGS/LOSSES AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  39,410  34,883 
 

Profit/loss after tax from discontinued operations 
  

- 
  

- 

YEAR'S RESULT           22 39,410  34,883 
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests)  -  - 
Attributable to the owners of the dominant company  39,410  34,883 

 
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 

 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated income statement at 31 December 2021. 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR THE YEARS 
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 

 

 

 
 

  Thousands of euros  
   Note    2021     2020 (*)  

Result for the year 22         39,410 
 

  34,883 

Another overall result     (6,926)  
 

         (4,334)  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss   (133)                 333  
Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit pension plans -  - 
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale  -  - 
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments in joint ventures and associates  -  - 
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes 

in other comprehensive income 
 

10.2 
 

(177) 
  

444 
Gains or (losses) on hedge accounting for measured equity instruments 

at fair value through other comprehensive income, net 
  

- 
  

- 
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes 

in other comprehensive income (hedged item) 
  

- 
  

- 
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value with changes 

in other comprehensive income (hedging instrument) 
  

- 
  

- 
Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 

attributable to changes in credit risk 
  

- 
  

- 
Other valuation adjustments  -  - 
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified  44  (111) 

Items that can be reclassified in results   (6,793)     (4,667)  

Coverage of net investments in foreign businesses (effective portion)   -     -  
Gains/losses in equity -  - 
Transferred to results  -  - 
Other reclassifications  -  - 

Currency Conversion   -     -  
Foreign exchange gains/losses recognised in equity -  - 
Transferred to results  -  - 
Other reclassifications  -  - 

Cash flow hedges (effective portion)        483    (4,966) 
Gains/losses in equity 483  (4,966) 
Transferred to results  -  - 
Transferred to the initial carrying amount of the items covered  -  - 
Other reclassifications  -  - 

Hedging instruments (undesignated items)   -  
 

  -  
Foreign exchange gains or (losses) recognised in equity -  - 
Transferred to results  -  - 
Other reclassifications  -  - 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 10.4 (9,540)  (1,257) 
Gains or (losses) in value accounted for in equity  6,294  9,971 
Transferred to results   (3,378)    (12,284) 
Other reclassifications     132  1,056 

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale    -     -  
Gains/losses in equity  -  - 
Transferred to results  -  - 
Other reclassifications  -  - 

Share of other income and expenses recognised in investments in joint ventures and associates    -     -  

Income tax on items that can be reclassified to the profit and loss account 
   2,264     1,556  

Total overall result for the year    32,484     30,549  
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests)  -  - 
Attributable to the owners of the dominant company    32,484  30,549 

 
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 

 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense at 31 
December 2021. 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 

 

 

 
Thousands of euros 

            Minority interests  

 Capital 
Premium of 

broadcast 

Issued equity 
instruments 

other than 
quity 

Other 
equity 
items 

Accumulated 
earnings 

Revaluation 
reser 

Other 
reserves Own shares 

Profit 
attributable to 

the Parent 
Company 

Interim 
Dividends 

Other 
accumulate

d overall 
result 

Other 
accumulate

d Overall 
result 

Other 
elements Total 

               
I. Closing balance at 31.12.2020 (*) 101,795  - - - 353,762 10,300  (2.576)  34,883 - 14,510 - - 512,674 
               

Effects of error correction - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

               
Opening balance at 01.01.2021 101,795 - - - 353,762 10,300 (2.576) - 34,883 - 14,510 - - 512,674 
               
Overall result for the period - - - - - - - - 39,410 - (6,926) - - 32,484 
               
Other changes in equity 760 - - - 30,035 (75) (42) - (34,883) - - - - (4,205) 

Issue of ordinary shares (Note 21.1) 1,104 - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,104 
Issuance of preference shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Issuance of other equity instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Exercise or maturity of other equity 

instruments issued - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Conversion of debt into equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Capital reduction (Note 21.1) (344) - - - - - - - - - - - - (344) 
Dividends (or partner remuneration) - - - - (4,923) - - - - - - - -    (4,923) 
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Sale or cancellation of own shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Reclassification of financial instruments 

from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Reclassification of financial instruments 

from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Transfers between components of equity - - - - 34,958 (75) - - (34,883) - - - - - 

Increase/(decrease) in equity resulting from 
business combinations - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Share-based payments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Other increases/(decreases) in equity - - - - - - (42) - - - - - - (42) 
Of which: discretionary allocation to social 

works and funds - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
               
Closing balance as of 31.12.2021 102,555 - - - 383,797 10,225 (2,618) - 39,410 - 7,584 - - 540,953 

 
 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in equity at 31 December 2021. 
 
 
 



EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 AND 2019 

 

 

 
Thousands of euros 

            Minority interests  

 Capital 

Premium 
of 

broadcast 

Issued equity 
instruments 

other than 
equit 

Other 
equity 
items 

Accumulated 
earnings 

Revaluation 
reserves 

Other 
reserves Own shares 

Profit 
attributable to 

the Parent 
Company 

Interim 
Dividends 

Other 
accumulate

d overall 
result 

Other 
accumulate

d overall 
result 

Other 
elements Total 

               
I. Closing balance at 31.12.2019 (*) 95,218 - - - - 10,376 319,937 - 37,826 - 18,844 - - 482,201 

               
Effects of error correction - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Effects of changes in accounting policies - - - - - - - - (445) - - - - (445) 
               

Opening balance at 01.01.2020 95,218 - - - - 10,376 319,937 - 37,381 - 18,844 - - 481,756 
               

Overall result for the period - - - - - - - - 34,883 - (4,334) - - 30,549 
               

Other changes in equity 6,577 - -- - - 76) (322,513) - (37,381) - - - - 369 
               
Issue of ordinary shares (Note 21.1) 925 - - - - - - - - - - - - 925 
Issuance of preference shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Issuance of other equity instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Exercise or maturity of other equity 

instruments issued - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Conversion of debt into equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Capital reduction (Note 21.1) (542) - - - - - - - - - - - - (542) 
Dividends (or partner remuneration) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Sale or cancellation of own shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Reclassification of financial instruments 

from equity to liabilities - -  - - - - - - - - - - - 
Reclassification of financial instruments 

from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Transfers between components of equity - - - - 353,762 (76) (322,498) - (37,381) - - - - (6,193) 

Increase/(decrease) in equity resulting 
from business combinations 6,194 - - - - - - - - - - - - 6,194 

Share-based payments - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Other increases/(decreases) in equity - - - - - - (15) - - - - - - (15) 
Of which: discretionary allocation to 

social works and funds - - - - - -  - -  - - -  
               

Closing balance as of 31.12.2020 (*) 101,795 - - - 353,762 10,300 (2,576) - 34,883 - 14,510 - - 512,674 
 

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 
 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in equity at 31 December 2021. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 
 
 

  Thousands of euros  
      Note               2021   2020 (*)  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   1,167,534 14,097 

Result for the year  39,410 34,883 

Adjustments to obtain the cash flows from operating activities   16,710 24,936  
Amortization 14 y 15 6,948 6,708 
Other settings    9,762 18,228 

Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets      828,356 (843,013)  
Financial assets held for trading 1 - 
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 

with changes in results 
  

(18,675) 
 

   27,652 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss                       - 295 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income     78,248 211,034 
Financial assets at amortised cost       765,578 (1,085,972) 
Other operating assets  3,204 3,978 

Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities   288,564 807,840  
Financial liabilities held for trading (1) - 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  - - 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 17 287,106 802,482 
Other operating liabilities  1,459 5,358 

Income Tax Collections/Payments  (5,506) (10,549) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (2,790) (1,870)  

Payments   (5,756) (4,637)  
Tangible assets 14 (5,451) (4,141) 
Intangible Assets 15 (305) (496) 
Investments in joint ventures and associates  - - 
Subsidiaries and other business units  - - 
Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale  - - 
Held-to-maturity investments 11 - - 
Other payments related to investment activities   - 

Collections   2,966 2,767  
Tangible assets - - 
Intangible Assets  - - 
Investments in joint ventures and associates  - - 
Subsidiaries and other business units  - - 
Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 13 2,966 2,767 
Held-to-maturity investments  - - 
Other collections related to investment activities   - 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   (4,162) 6,576  

Payments                  4,923         -  
Dividends 4,923           - 
Subordinate liabilities  - - 
Redemption of own equity instruments  - - 
Acquisition of own equity instruments  - - 
Other payments related to financing activities  - - 

Collections      761 6,576  
Subordinate liabilities - - 
Issuance of own equity instruments     761 6,576 
Disposal of own equity instruments  - - 
Other collections related to financing activities  - - 

IMPACT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES          - -  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS             1,160,582 18,803  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD   535,210 516,407  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   1,695,792 516,407  

Pro memoria    

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   1,695,792 535,210  
Of which: held by Group entities but not available to the Group  

Cash 6 82,917 69,602 
Cash equivalent balances at central banks 6        1,581,007 386,856 
Other financial assets 6 31,868 78,752 
Less: bank overdrafts refundable at sight    -                - 

 
(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. 

 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 34 and Appendixes I and II are an integral part of the consolidated cash flow statement at 31 December 2021. 
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1. GENERAL INFO 
 

a) Nature of the Parent Company 
 

Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito (hereinafter, the Entity or the Parent Entity), is a credit 
entity constituted by agreement of the founding cooperative entities by means of a founding act dated 
27 February 1963, which has its own legal personality and enjoys full capacity to act, of a foundational 
nature and a charitable and social nature, and is non-profit making. Its sole and exclusive purpose is to 
contribute to the achievement of general interests through the economic and social development of its 
area of operation. To this end, its fundamental aims include facilitating the formation and capitalisation 
of savings, meeting the needs of its customers through the granting of credit operations, and creating 
and maintaining its own or joint social works. 

 
The General Assembly of the Parent Company, in its session held on 20 April 2018, approved the 
change of name, replacing the name "Caja Rural de Castilla la Mancha, Sociedad Cooperativa de 
Crédito" with "Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito". The General Assembly of the savings 
bank, in its session of 29 April 2011, approved the change of name, replacing the name "Caja Rural de 
Toledo, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito" with "Caja Rural de Castilla-La Mancha, Sociedad 
Cooperativa de Crédito". 

 
b) Activity of the Parent Company 

 
The Parent Company's typical and usual activity is to receive funds from the public in the form of 
deposits, loans, temporary assignment of financial assets or other similar ones that involve the 
obligation of their return, applying them on its own account to the granting of loans, credits or other 
operations of a similar nature that allow the financial needs of its shareholders and third parties to be 
met. To this end, it may carry out all kinds of asset, liability and service operations allowed to other 
credit institutions, with preferential attention to the financial needs of its members, including insurance, 
which it shall develop and provide mainly in rural areas. In order to facilitate and guarantee the business 
activities it carries out to achieve its corporate purpose, it may enter into corporate links or form consortia 
with any natural or legal person. Its scope of action extends to the State, without prejudice to the 
possibility of carrying out legally permitted operations outside it. 

 
The Parent Company has its registered office at Calle Méjico 2 in Toledo, carrying out its activity through 
417 offices distributed throughout Spain, of which 99 are agencies (410 offices in 2020, of which 103 
are agencies) and employing 983 people (944 people in 2020). 

 
At a regulatory level, The Parent Company is governed by the rules contained in Law 27/1999 dated 
July 16th, on Cooperatives and Law 13/1989 dated May 26th , on Credit Cooperatives and other 
complementary provisions. 

 
In addition, the Parent Company has the title of "Qualified Bank" which allows it to sign collaboration 
agreements with official credit institutions, as well as obtaining the benefits that are determined by the 
regulations of the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness. The Parent Company is integrated in the 
Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions (FGDEC), created by Royal Decree Law 16/2011 of 14th 
October and in the Single Resolution Fund (FUR), created by Regulation (EU) no. 806/2014 of the 
European Parliament and Council of 24th September and is registered in the Register of Cooperatives 
- Central Section - of the Ministry of Labour and Social Security in the Book of Registration of 
Cooperative Companies in volume XXI, sheet 2.051, entry no. 28, as well as in the Bank of Spain's 
Register of Credit Institutions under number 3081. 
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The Parent Company is governed by its articles of association, approved by Law 13/1989 and Royal 
Decree 84/1993, on Credit Cooperatives, and its implementing regulations, without prejudice to the 
provisions that may be approved, in the exercise of the powers attributed to them in the matter, by the 
Autonomous Communities in their field of activity. The rules generally governing the activity of credit 
institutions and other applicable provisions shall also be applicable to them. In addition, the legislation 
on cooperatives shall apply. 

 
Since its approval by the Extraordinary General Assembly on 4 May 1989, the Fund has had a territorial 
scope for carrying out its activities that covers the entire territory of the Spanish State, as established 
in article 5 of its Statutes. 

 
The Parent Company is subject to certain legal rules, which regulate, among others, aspects such as: 

 
- Maintenance of a minimum percentage of funds deposited with the Bank of Spain to cover the 

minimum reserve ratio. In January 2012 the amendment to the regulations applicable to 
minimum reserves came into force, so that the required reserve ratio was increased from 2% 
to 1% of the liabilities eligible for this purpose (see Note 6). 

 
- Distribution of part of the net surplus for the year to the Obligatory Reserve Fund and the 

Education and Promotion Fund. 
 

- Maintenance of a minimum level of equity (Note 2.e). 
 

- Annual contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund and Single Resolution Fund, as an 
additional guarantee to that provided by the Parent Company's own resources to its creditors 
(Note 2.f) 

 
c) Consolidable group 

 
The Parent Company, together with its subsidiaries TEC Soluciones de Negocio, S.L.U., Eurocaja Rural 
Mediación Operador Banca y Seguros Vinculado, S.L. U., Viveactivos, S.A.U., Eurocaja Rural, 
Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. and Rural Broker, S.L.U. form a consolidable group of credit 
institutions, the Eurocaja Rural Group ("the Group"). 

 
TEC Soluciones de Negocio, S.L.U. is mainly dedicated to the activity of IT services and developments 
and is based in Toledo. 

 
Eurocaja Rural, Mediación Operador de Banca y Seguros Vinculado, S.L. U. is mainly engaged in the 
insurance agency business as a linked bank and insurance operator and is based in Toledo. 

 
Viveactivos, S.A.U. and Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U., were incorporated by 
the Parent on 5 December 2012 and their registered offices are in Toledo, and is mainly dedicated to: 

 
- Carrying out activities in the real estate sector, in particular the administration and disposal, 

either directly or indirectly, of the assets to be contributed to it, specifically: 
 

• Promotion of land, as well as the urbanization, parcelling, etc., of land, in order to promote 
its sale. 

• Promotion of buildings, also with the aim of promoting their sale. 
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Rural Broker, S.L. U. is an insurance brokerage firm dedicated to the activity of private insurance and 
reinsurance mediation and is based in Toledo. The company is registered with the Directorate General 
of Insurance and Pension Funds since 7 April 2014. 

 
The most relevant data in thousands of euros for the subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are 
as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 

 
Total 

Assets 
Share 

Capital 

Reserves 
and Earlier 

Years' 
Earnings 

Other Partner 
contributions 

Profit 
(loss) for 
the year Audit. 

       
2021       
TEC Soluciones de negocio, S.L.U. (former name: Castilla 
La Mancha Servicios Tecnológicos, S.L.U) 17,602 1,442 522 - 3,730 KPMG 
Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador de Banca y Seguros 
Vinculado, S.L.U. 21,746 6,000 632 - 593 KPMG 
Viveactivos, S.A.U. 16,168 700 (6,172) 21,755 (118) KPMG 
Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. 2,697 800 (1,465) 3,382 (23) KPMG 
Rural Broker, S.L.U. 777 500 64 - 173 KPMG 
       
2020       
TEC Soluciones de negocio, S.L.U. (former name: Castilla 
La Mancha Servicios Tecnológicos, S.L.U) 13,310 1,442 522 - 2,240 PwC 
Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador de Banca y Seguros 
Vinculado, S.L.U. 19,453 6,000 587 - 455 PwC 
Viveactivos, S.A.U. 16,287 700 (5,935) 21,755 (237) PwC 
Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. 2,721 800 (1,489) 3,382 24 PwC 
Rural Broker, S.L.U. 753 500 48  -  165  PwC 

 
With regard to the percentage of ownership and method of integration: 

 
• As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, Eurocaja Rural has a direct shareholding of 100% in the 

company TEC Soluciones de negocio, S.L.U. This company was fully consolidated. 
 

• At 31 December 2021 and 2020, Eurocaja Rural has a direct 100% holding in Eurocaja Rural 
Mediación Operador Banca y Seguros Vinculado, S.L.U. This company was fully consolidated. 

 
• At 31 December 2021 and 2020, Eurocaja Rural had a direct 100% interest in Viveactivos, 

S.A.U., which was fully consolidated. 
 

• At 31 December 2021 and 2020, Caja Eurocaja Rural had a direct 100% interest in Eurocaja 
Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U., which was fully consolidated. 

 
• As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, Eurocaja Rural has a direct shareholding of 100% in Rural 

Broker, S.L. U., which has been fully consolidated. 
 

All significant balances and transactions between Group entities have been eliminated in the 
consolidation process. 

 
These annual accounts were drawn up by the Governing Council of the Bank at its meeting on 2 March 
2022 and were signed by the directors, whose names appear at the end of the accounts. They are 
pending approval by the Entity's General Assembly; however, the directors consider that they will be 
approved without any changes. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND OTHER INFORMATION 
 

On 1 January 2005, the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter IFRS) adopted by the European Union 
(hereinafter EU-IFRS) came into force for those entities that have issued securities and are listed on a 
regulated market in any member state of the European Union at the date of their balance sheet, in 
accordance with the provisions of Regulation 1606/2002, of 19 July, of the European Parliament. 

 
Since 2009 the Eurocaja Rural Group has been preparing its consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with EU-IFRS. 

 
Therefore, the Group's consolidated financial statements for 2021 were prepared from the accounting 
records of the Group companies in accordance with EU-IFRSs, taking into account Bank of Spain 
Circular 4/2017, and, accordingly, give a true and fair view of the Group's consolidated equity, financial 
position and results at 31 December 2021, and of the changes in equity and cash flows for the year 
then ended. Circular 4/2017 constitutes the development and adaptation to the Spanish credit institution 
sector of EU-IFRSs 9. The valuation principles and criteria applied are detailed in Note 3 to these 
consolidated financial statements. There are no obligatory accounting principles or measurement bases 
with a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements that have not been applied. 

 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared from the accounting records kept by the Group 
and by the other Group companies. However, since the accounting policies and measurement bases 
used in preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements for 2021 may differ from those used by 
certain Group companies, the required adjustments and reclassifications were made on consolidation 
to unify the policies and bases used and to make them compliant with EU-IFRSs. 

 
Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with EU-IFRSs and 
do not contain any material departures from the requirements of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and 
subsequent amendments. 
 
Banco de España has published Circular 6/2021 of 22 December 2021, which amends Circular 
4/2017 of 27 November 2017 for credit institutions on public and confidential financial reporting rules 
and financial statement templates, and Circular 4/2019 of 26 November 2019, for credit institutions, 
on public and confidential financial reporting rules and financial statement templates. The 
amendments that the Circular introduces to Circular 4/2017 of 27 November 2017, include the 
following: 
 
• The amendment of the templates and instructions for preparing the confidential financial 

statements known as FINREP, in accordance with the contents of Commission Implementing 
Regulation (EU) 2021/451 of 17 December 2020. 

 
• The EBA Guidelines on loan origination and monitoring (EBA/GL/2020/06) with the objective, 

among others, of improving practices, processes and procedures in relation to credit granting.  
 
• The amendment of Annex 9 of Circular 4/2017, of 27 November 2017, to update the alternative 

solutions for collective estimates of allowances and provisions for credit risk loss and the 
discounts on the reference value of assets foreclosed or received in payment of debt.  
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The aforementioned amendments maintain the convergence of Spanish accounting standards for 
financial institutions with the IFRS-EU framework, while subject to the provisions of the Code of 
Commerce, and at the same time maintains the alignment and avoids overlaps with the 
aforementioned European standards and guidelines. This regulation will be applicable from June 
2022 onwards and no significant impacts are expected in this respect.  

 
Unless otherwise stated, these consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euros. 

 
a) Comparability of information 

 
In accordance with the requirements of IAS 1, the information contained in these consolidated financial 
statements for 2020 is presented solely and exclusively for the purposes of comparison with the 
information relating to the year ended 31 December 2021 and, therefore, does not constitute the 
Group's consolidated financial statements for 2020. 

 
b) Use of judgements and estimates in the preparation of financial statements 

 
The information included in the consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of the Directors 
of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito (Parent Company). In preparing certain information 
included in these consolidated financial statements, the directors have used judgements and estimates 
based on assumptions which affect the application of accounting policies and principles and the 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations recorded therein. 

 
The main changes in the accounting estimates included in these Group's consolidated annual accounts 
as a consequence of Covid-19 are detailed in the different notes of the individual report. Notably 
noteworthy are the changes in Note 11 relating to “Financial assets at amortized cost”, due to the 
relaxation of the classification of credit exposures based on their credit risk and in the estimation of the 
hedging of these exposures. 

 
Despite the fact that there is still a certain slowness in the economic recovery during 2021 and 2022, in 
addition to other issues related to macroeconomic measures taken by national and international 
authorities, such as the application and effectiveness of vaccines, the Group Administrators consider 
that, at the date of formulation of the In the consolidated annual accounts, the going concern principle 
is maintained. 

 
The most significant estimates used in preparing these consolidated financial statements relate to: 

 
• Impairment losses on financial assets, especially with regard to the individualized and collective 

estimate of losses due to bad debts of the loan portfolio and advances to customers, and the 
determination of when there is a significant increase in credit risk (Note 3.l). 

 
• The assumptions used in the actuarial calculations made to measure the post-employment benefit 

liabilities and commitments (see Note 3.r). 
 

• Impairment losses and the useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (see 
Notes 3.ñ and 3.o). 

 
• The fair value of certain financial assets not listed on official secondary markets (Note 10). 

 
• Period for reversal of temporary differences (Note 24). 

 
• Losses on future obligations arising from contingent liabilities (Note 18). 
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The estimates and assumptions used are based on historical experience and other factors that have 
been considered the most reasonable at the present time and are reviewed periodically. If, as a result 
of these reviews or of future events, a change in these estimates were to occur, the effect would be 
recognised in the consolidated income statement for that and subsequent periods. 

 
c) Changes in accounting policies and correction of errors 

 

Changes in accounting criteria 
 

Changes in accounting criteria, either because an accounting standard regulating a certain transaction 
or event is modified, or because the Governing Board, for duly justified reasons, decides to vary the 
accounting criteria, are applied retroactively, unless 

 
• It is impracticable to determine the effects in each specific year of changing an accounting 

policy on comparative information in a previous year, in which case the new accounting policy 
is applied at the beginning of the earliest year for which retrospective application is 
practicable. When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect, at the beginning of 
the current year, of applying a new accounting criterion to all prior years, the new accounting 
criterion is applied prospectively, from the earliest date on which it is practicable to do so, or 

 
• The provision or accounting standard that modifies or establishes the criterion sets the time 

from which it should be applied. 
 

At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the following standards and 
interpretations (the most relevant adopted at that date), which had been published by the IASB, had 
not come into force during 2021, either because their effective date is subsequent to the date of the 
consolidated financial statements or because they had not yet been adopted by the European Union: 

 
Standards, modifications  
and interpretations   Description  

Mandatory application  
exercises initiated as of 

     
Amendment to IAS 16  Income obtained before intended use  1 January 2022 

Amendment to IAS 37  
Onerous contracts: cost of fulfilling a 
contract  1 January 2022 

Amendment to IFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual Framework  1 January 2022 
Annual Improvements IFRS  2018-2020 Cycle  1 January 2022 
IFRS 17  Insurance contracts  1 January 2023 
Amendment to IFRS 17  Modifications of IFRS 17  1 January 2023 

Amendment to IAS 1  
Classification of liabilities as current or 
non-current  1 January 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 10 y IAS 28  

Sale or contribution of assets between an 
investor and its associates or businesses 
sets  (*) 

(*) Originally, the amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 were effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
However, at the end of 2015, the IASB took the decision to postpone the effective date of these amendments (without setting a 
new specific date), as it is planning a broader review that may result in simplifying the accounting for these transactions and other 
aspects of accounting for associates and joint ventures. 

 
The Administrators of the Parent Company understand that the entry into force of the majority of these 
standards will not have a relevant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
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Standards and interpretations effective in the reporting period 
 
In 2021 the following amendments to IFRS and the related interpretations (IFRIC) entered into force: 
 

o Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 – “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 
Phase 2”: The IASB has undertaken a two-phase project to consider what exceptions, if necessary, to 
provide for the effects of the reform of the benchmark interest rates (“the IBORs”).  The Phase 1 
amendments, issued in September 2019, provided temporary exceptions from the application of 
specific hedge accounting requirements affected by the uncertainties that could arise as a result of the 
IBOR reform (“the Phase 1 exceptions”). The Phase 2 amendments address questions that arise from 
the implementation of the reforms, including the replacement of one benchmark interest rate with 
another. These amendments apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 

 
o Amendment to IFRS 4 “Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9”: In accordance 

with the deferral of the effective date of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, the amendment changes the 
expiry date for the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts with regard to application of 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which requires that entities apply IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2021. 

 
o Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021. The IASB has 

extended by one year the application of the practical expedient of IFRS 16 Leases to help lessees 
recognise COVID-19-related rent concessions. Consequently, this practical expedient applies to rent 
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the 
following conditions are met: 

 
o The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is 

substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding 
the change; 

o Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments due on or before 30 June 2022; and  
o There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

 
The application of the aforementioned accounting standards and interpretations did not give rise to 
any significant effects on the Group's consolidated financial statements. 

 
Standards and interpretations issued not in force 
 
At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, new International Financial 
Reporting Standards had been published, as well as interpretations thereof, which are not mandatory 
in 2021 and which the Group has not applied at that date. At the present date, the analysis of the 
future impact, if any, of the adoption of these standards has not yet been completed, although no 
significant impact is expected as a result of their entry into force. These standards are as follows: 

 
o Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: It is prohibited 

to deduct from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items 
produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. Proceeds from the sale of such 
samples, and the related costs of production are now recognised in profit or loss. The amendment 
also clarifies that an entity is testing whether the asset is functioning properly when it assesses the 
technical and physical performance of the asset.  The financial performance of the asset is not 
relevant to this assessment. An asset might therefore be capable of operating as intended by 
management and subject to depreciation before it has achieved the level of operating performance 
expected by management. The effective date of these amendments is 1 January 2022. 
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o Amendment to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: The amendment explains 
that the direct cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and 
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts. It also clarifies that before a 
separate provision for an onerous contract is established, an entity recognises any impairment loss 
that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract, rather than on assets dedicated to that 
contract. The effective date of these amendments is 1 January 2022. 
 

o Amendment to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework: IFRS 3 has been updated to refer 
to the Conceptual Framework of 2018 to determine what constitutes an asset or liability in a 
business combination (it previously referred to the Conceptual Framework of 2001). Furthermore, a 
new exception has been added in IFRS 3 for liabilities and contingent liabilities.  The effective date of 
these amendments is 1 January 2022. 

 
o Annual improvements to IFRSs - 2018-2020 cycle: These amendments affect IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 

16 and IAS 41 and apply to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.  The main 
amendments refer to: 

 

– IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRSs: IFRS 1 allows an exemption if a subsidiary adopts 
IFRSs later than its parent. This amendment permits entities that have applied this 
exemption to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by 
their parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRSs.  

– IFRS 9 Financial instruments: The amendment addresses which costs or fees should be 
included in the 10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities.  The costs or fees 
may be paid to third parties or the lender. According to the amendment, the costs or fees 
paid to third parties are not included in the 10 per cent test. 

– IFRS 16 Leases: Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 has been amended to 
remove the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements, 
thus removing potential for confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives. 

– IAS 41 Agriculture: This amendment removes the requirement to exclude cash flows from 
taxation when measuring fair value applying IAS 41. 

 
o IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts: In May 2017 the IASB completed its long-term project to draw up an 

accounting standard on insurance contracts and published IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.  IFRS 17 
replaces IFRS 4 on insurance contracts, which currently permits a wide variety of accounting 
practices.  IFRS 17 makes fundamental accounting changes for all entities that issue insurance and 
investment contracts with discretionary participation features. The standard was to be applicable for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with earlier adoption permitted if both IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments were also applied. 
Nevertheless, mandatory application of IFRS 17 was subsequently deferred to annual periods c 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. IFRS 17 has not yet been adopted by the European Union. 

 
o Amendment to IFRS 17 “Amendments to IFRS 17: To address some of the concerns and 

implementation challenges that were identified in relation to application of IFRS 17, the IASB has 
developed specific amendments and clarifications aimed at facilitating implementation of the new 
standard, although the amendments do not change the basic principles of the standard.  
Furthermore, the mandatory date for entry into force of IFRS 17 has been deferred to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The amendment to IFRS 17 has not yet been adopted by the 
European Union. 
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o Amendment to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current: The initial amendment 
of IAS 1 clarifies that liabilities are classified as current or non-current depending on the rights that 
exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity 
or events after the reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or breach of covenant). The 
amendment also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to “settlement” of a liability.  The effective 
date of this amendment is 1 January 2022, although early adoption is permitted. Nevertheless, in 
July 2020 there was an amendment to change the date of its entry into force until 1 January 2023. 
These amendments have not yet been adopted by the European Union. 

 
o Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture: These amendments clarify the accounting treatment of sales and 
contributions of assets between an investor and its associates or joint ventures that will depend on 
whether the non-monetary assets sold or contributed constitute a “business”. The investor 
recognises all the gain or loss when the non-monetary assets constitute a “business”. If the assets 
do not fulfil the definition of a business, the investor recognises a gain or loss to the extent of the 
interests of other investors. The amendments will only apply when an investor sells or contributes 
assets to its associate or joint venture. Originally these amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 were 
prospective and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Nevertheless, at 
the end of 2015 the IASB took the decision to defer the effective date of these amendments 
(indefinitely) as it is planning a broader review that could result in the simplification of the recognition 
of these transactions and other aspects of the accounting of associates and joint ventures. In any 
case, these amendments have not yet been adopted by the European Union. 

 
The Administrators of the Parent Company understand that the entry into force of the majority of these 
standards will not have a relevant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 
Accounting errors 

 
Errors in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements arising in prior years are the  result of 
omissions or inaccuracies resulting from the failure to use or apply reliable information which was 
available when the consolidated financial statements for those periods were prepared and which the 
Group should have used in the preparation of those statements. 

 
Errors relating to prior years are corrected retroactively in the first financial statements drawn up after 
their discovery, as if the error had never been made: 

 
o by restatement of the amounts of the items in the various financial statements affected by 

the error, including the notes to the financial statements, which are published in the financial 
statements for comparison purposes, for the year, as well as for subsequent years, in which 
it occurred and, if appropriate, 

 
o by restatement of the opening balance sheet for the earliest period presented, if the error 

occurred before the first financial statements presented for comparison purposes. 
 

When it is impracticable to determine the effects, in each specific year, of an error on comparative 
information in a previous year, the opening balances are restated for the earliest years for which such 
restatement is practicable. If it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect, at the beginning of 
the current period, of an error on all prior periods, the comparative information is restated by correcting 
the error prospectively, from the earliest date practicable. 

 
Prior-year errors affecting equity are corrected in the year of their discovery using the corresponding 
equity account. In no circumstances are prior period errors corrected using the consolidated income 
statement for the year in which they are discovered, unless they are immaterial, or it is impracticable to 
determine the effect of the error as described in the preceding paragraph. 
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In 2021 and 2020, there were no corrections of material errors relating to prior year 
 

d) Changes in accounting estimates 
 

A change in an accounting estimate is an adjustment to the carrying amount of an asset or liability, or 
to the periodic consumption of an asset, that results from an assessment of the  present condition of 
the item and the expected future benefits and obligations associated with the related assets and 
liabilities. 

 
Changes in accounting estimates are the result of additional information or knowledge of new facts and, 
consequently, are not corrections of errors. Such changes are recognised prospectively in the 
consolidated income statement for the year, or for the year and future years affected by the change. 

 
In 2021 and 2020 there were no significant changes in the Entity's accounting estimates, additional to 
the indications in note 2.b) above (Note 2.c). 

 
e) Minimum equity 

 
From 1 January 2014 a new regulatory framework came into force regulating the minimum capital to be 
held by Spanish credit institutions, both individually and on a consolidated basis, and the way in which 
this capital is to be determined, as well as the various capital self-assessment processes to be carried 
out and the public information to be sent to the market. This regulatory framework consists of: 

 
- Directive 2013/36/EU (generally known as CRD-IV) of 26 June of the European Parliament and 

of the Council on the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit institutions and prudential 
supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 202/87/EC and 
repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC. 

 
- Regulation (EU) 575/2013 (CRR) of 26 June 2013 of the European Parliament and of the 

Council on the prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and 
amending Regulation (EU) 648/2012. 

 
As a Spanish credit institution, the Group is subject to the CRD-IV Directive, through which the 
European Union has implemented the capital rules of the Basel III agreements of the Basel Committee 
on Banking Supervision (BCBS) under a phase-in model until 1 January 2019. This CRD-IV Directive 
has been partially implemented in Spain through (i) Royal Law 14/2013 of 29 November on urgent 
measures for the adaptation to Spanish law of the European Union regulations on the supervision and 
solvency of financial institutions, and (ii) Law 10/2014 of 26 June on the regulation, supervision and 
solvency of credit institutions. 

 
The CRR Regulation, which is immediately applicable to Spanish credit institutions, implements the 
requirements of the CRD-IV Directive, leaving the national competent authorities the power to make 
use of certain options. The Banco de España, by virtue of the authorisation granted by Royal Decree-
Law 14/2013, published Circulars 2/2014 and 3/2014, of 31 January and 30 July, respectively, whereby 
it made use of some of the permanent regulatory options provided for in the CRR Regulation, including 
the relevant rules applicable to the transitional regime for capital requirements and the treatment of 
deductions. 

 
In accordance with the requirements established in the CRR regulations, credit institutions must, at all 
times, comply with a total capital ratio of 8%. However, it should be noted that regulators may exercise 
their powers under the new regulatory framework and require institutions to maintain additional capital 
levels. 
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In accordance with the previous new regulatory framework, the provisions of Bank of Spain Circular 
3/2008 that contravene the aforementioned European regulations have been repealed as from 1 
January 2014. 

 
Capital resources are classified into categories according to their capacity to absorb losses, their degree 
of permanence and their degree of subordination. The categories of capital, ranked from highest to 
lowest permanence, loss absorption capacity and subordination are common equity and other Tier 1 
capital instruments, the sum of which gives rise to Tier 1 capital, and Tier 2 capital instruments. The 
total capital base is obtained as the sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. 

 
Law 10/2014 of 26 June on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions continued 
with the transposition of the CRD-IV into Spanish law,and was subsequently supplemented by Royal 
Decree 84/2015 of 13 February implementing Law 10/2014, which completes the adaptation of Spanish 
law to the European rules on the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM). 

 
In addition, on February 9, 2016 the Bank of Spain published Circular 2/2016 of February 2, 2016 to 
credit institutions on supervision and solvency, which completes the adaptation of the Spanish legal 
system to Directive 2013/36/EU and Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013, with respect to options not 
exercised by Bank of Spain Circulars 2/2014 and 3/2014. Circular 2/2016 also develops some aspects 
of the transposition of Directive 2011/89/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 
November 2011, as regards the supplementary supervision of financial institutions that are part of a 
financial conglomerate, and introduces the definition of the component authority, which will be the 
European Central Bank or the Banco de España, according to the assignment and distribution of 
competences established in Regulation (EU) No. 1024/2013, and which is completed in Regulation 
(EU) No. 468/2014 of the European Central Bank of 16 April 2014. 

 
All this constitutes the current legislation in force governing the capital that Spanish credit institutions 
must maintain, both individually and as part of a consolidated group, and the manner in which this 
capital must be determined, as well as the various capital self-assessment processes that must be 
carried out and the public information that must be sent to the market. 

 
On June 7, 2019, Directive (EU) 2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of May 20, 
2019, amending Directive 2013 was published in the Official Journal of the European Union (DOUE). / 
36 / EU. Among other changes, this Directive adds its paragraph 4 of article 104 bis, that entities must 
comply with the requirement of additional own funds imposed by the competent authority under article 
104, paragraph 1, letter a), to address risks other than risk of excessive leverage, with own funds that 
meet the following conditions: 

 
a) At least three quarters of the additional own funds requirement will be satisfied with Tier 1 

capital. 
 

b) At least three quarters of Tier 1 capital indicated in Letter (a) will be made up of ordinary Tier 
1 capital. 

 
This requirement must be met to address the risk of excessive leverage with Tier 1 capital. However, 
the competent authority may require the institution to meet the additional equity requirement with a 
higher proportion of Tier 1 capital or Tier 1 capital ordinary, when necessary, and taking into account 
the specific circumstances of the Group. 
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In this regard, the Commission of the European Union, the European Central Bank (ECB) and the 
European Banking Authority (EBA) have clarified the use of the flexibility measures contained in 
Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 (CRR) through the publication of interpretations and guidance on the 
application of the prudential framework in the context of Covid-19. Additionally, the Commission, of April 
28, 2020, makes an interpretative Communication in relation to the application of accounting and 
prudential frameworks, in order to contribute to the granting of bank loans in the European Union, to 
help companies in the context caused by Covid-19. In this sense, the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision (BCBS) has also provided some flexibility in the application of international standards, 
communicating on April 3, 2020 the application of greater flexibility in the application of the transitional 
provisions that introduce gradually the impact of IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”. 

 
Additionally, Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament and of the Council of June 24, 2020 
amending Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 (CRR) and Regulation (EU) 2019/876, introduces measures 
to respond to the Covid-19 pandemic, published in the Official Journal of the European Union (DOUE) 
on June 26, 2020, among which it is worth highlighting: (i) temporary treatment of unrealized gains and 
losses valued at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income in view of the Covid-19 
pandemic, (ii) temporary exclusion of certain exposures to central banks from the total exposure 
measure in view of the Covid-19 pandemic, (iii) exclusion of excesses from the calculation of the sum 
of the retrospective tests in view of the Covid-19 pandemic, and (iv) temporary calculation of the 
exposure value of conventional sales pending settlement in view of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Eurocaja Rural Group's eligible capital was as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros  

 
 2021  2020 
Level 1 Computable Capital 532,623  506,263 
Capital 101,763  101,796 
Accumulated earnings 414,459  381,031 
Accumulated profits from previous years 381,179  351,053 
Eligible results 33,280  29,960 
Other accumulated overall result 8,198  15,468 
Other reserves 
Adjustments to Common Equity Tier 1 capital due to prudential filters 

10,224 
(551)  

10,300 
- 

Minority interests recognized in level 1 ordinary capital -  - 
Other intangible assets (771)  (685) 
Insufficient coverage of non-performing exposures (699)  - 
Excess of items deducted from additional Tier 1 capital -  - 
Other transitional adjustments to ordinary level 1 capital -  (620) 
Additional capital deductions from ordinary level 1 

  
(1054) 

 
Level 2 Computable Capital -  - 
Complementary coverage for insolvency risks -  - 
Total computable capital of the Group 532,623  506,263 

Total minimum equity required according to CRR (*) 
 

248,452  
 

245,895 

Total minimum equity required with SREP (**) 
 

361,187  
 

357,469 

(*) Includes the minimum capital ratio required by Pillar 1 (8% of Total Capital) in both 2021 and 2020. 

(**) Includes in 2021 and 2020 the minimum required by Pillar 1 (8% of Total Capital), the Pillar 2 requirement (2021: 1.375%; 2020: 
1.13%) and the capital conservation buffer (2021: 2.50%; 2020: 2.50%) 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the most important data on the Group's minimum equity are as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
Level 1 capital ratio 17.15% 16.47% 
Level 2 capital ratio - - 

Total capital ratio 17.15% 16.47% 
 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's eligible capital exceeded the minimum requirements under 
the aforementioned regulations. 

 
On February 12, 2021, the Bank notified the CNMV of the relevant event regarding the results of the 
Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process. Once the results of the Supervisory Review and 
Evaluation Process (SREP) are known, the Bank of Spain has required the Bank to maintain a minimum 
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 8.13% and a minimum Total Capital ratio of 11.63% in 2021, 
both measures on transitional regulatory capital (Phase In). These capital ratios include the minimum 
required by Pillar 1 (4.5% CET 1 and 8.0% Total Capital); the Pillar 2 requirement (1.13%) and the 
capital conservation buffer (2.50%). 
 
On 17 December 2021, the Entity reported to the Spanish Securities Market Commission (CNMV) the 
relevant information regarding the results of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process. Once the 
results of the supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP) were known, Banco de España has 
required that in 2021 the Entity maintain a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) of 8.375% and a 
minimum Total Capital ratio of 11.875%. These capital ratios include the minimum required under Pillar 1 
(4.5% of CET 1 and 8.0% of Total Capital); the Pillar II requirement (1.375%) and the capital conservation 
buffer (2.50%). 
 
f) Contributions to guarantee and resolution funds 

 
f.1) Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions 

 
The Group's Parent Company (Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito) is a member of the 
Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions. 

 
With regard to ordinary contributions, Royal Decree 1012/2015 of 7 November 2015 was published, 
implementing Law 11/2015 of 18 June on the recovery and termination of credit institutions and 
investment services companies and amending Royal Decree 2606/1996 of 20 December on deposit 
guarantee funds for credit institutions. Among the amendments incorporated, the definition of the assets 
of the Fund for the Guarantee of Deposits from Credit Institutions (hereinafter, FGDEC) is changed, 
indicating that the Management Committee will determine the annual contributions of the institutions 
attached to the Fund, in accordance with the criteria established in Article 6 of Royal Decree Law 
16/2011 of 14 October, which creates the FGDEC. To this end, the basis for calculating the contributions 
that the institutions must make to each sub-fund of the Fund will be as follows: 

 
(a) In the case of contributions to the deposit-guarantee compartment, the guaranteed deposits as 

defined in Article 4.1 
 
(b) In the case of contributions to the securities guarantee fund, 5 per cent of the market value on the 

last trading day of the year on the relevant secondary market of the securities guaranteed, as 
defined in Article 4.2, existing at the end of the financial year. When the latter include securities 
and financial instruments that are not traded on a secondary market, whether in Spain or abroad, 
their calculation basis will be given by their nominal value or by the redemption value, whichever 
is more appropriate to the type of security or financial instrument in question, unless another more 
significant value has been declared or recorded for the purposes of deposit or registration. 
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On 1 October 2020, the Management Commission of the FGDEC, in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 6 of Royal Decree Law 16/2011 and Article 3 of Royal Decree 2606/1996, set the annual 
contributions of the entities attached to it for 2020 in the following terms: 

 
- Annual contribution to the FGDEC deposit guarantee fund equal to 1.8 per thousand of the 

basis for calculating contributions to this fund defined in article 3.2.a) of Royal Decree 
2606/1996, existing on 30 June 2020, with each institution's contribution being calculated 
on the basis of the amount of the guaranteed deposits and its risk profile. 

 
- Annual contribution to the FGDEC securities guarantee compartment equal to 2 per 

thousand of the calculation base, made up of 5 per cent of the amount of the guaranteed 
securities as indicated in article 3.2.b) of Royal Decree 2606/1996, existing on 31 December 
2020. 

 
In 2021, the expense incurred for all the contributions made to this body amounted to EUR 6,598 
thousand (EUR 6,844 thousand in 2020), which was recognised under "Other Operating Expenses" in 
the consolidated income statement (see Note 28). 

 
In addition, regarding the extraordinary contributions, on 30 July 2012, the Management Committee of 
the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions agreed to make an extraordinary payment among 
the member institutions of the Fund, to be paid by each institution in ten equal annual instalments. The 
amount of the payment corresponding to the Entity amounts to 6,533 thousand euros (ten annual 
instalments of 653 thousand euros each). These instalments will be deducted from the ordinary annual 
contribution paid by the entity, if any, and up to the amount of this ordinary contribution. The present 
value of the amount outstanding is included under "Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost" in the 
consolidated balance sheet under "Other Financial Liabilities", EUR 650 thousand at 31 December 
2021 (31 December 2020: EUR 1,336 thousand) (see Note 17.5). 

 
f.2) Single Resolution Fund 

 
Article 67 of Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 July 
2014 has created the "Single Resolution Fund" as an essential element of the Single Resolution 
Mechanism (SRM), initiated with Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council 
of 15 May 2014. 

 
This Fund came into operation on 1 January 2016 and is administered by the Single Board of Directors, 
which is also responsible for calculating the contributions to be made by credit institutions and 
investment service companies as defined in Article 2 of the aforementioned Regulation. For this 
calculation, the rules defined in the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/63 of the Commission of 21 
October 2014 supplementing Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council as 
regards ex ante contributions to the financing mechanisms of the resolution shall be followed. 

 
In accordance with Article 4 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/63, the resolution authorities shall 
determine the annual contributions to be paid by each institution in proportion to its risk profile on the 
basis of the information provided by the institution in accordance with Article 14 of the said Delegated 
Regulation and applying the methods described therein. The annual contribution shall be determined 
by the resolution authority on the basis of the annual funding level of the resolution funding mechanism 
and taking into account the funding level to be reached by 31 December 2024 at the latest, in 
accordance with Article 102(1) of Directive 2014/59/EU, and on the basis of the average amount of 
guaranteed deposits for the preceding year, calculated on a quarterly basis, of all institutions authorised 
in their territory. 
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Furthermore, in accordance with Article 103 of Directive 2014/59/EU, the available financial resources 
to be taken into account in order to reach the target level for the Single Resolution Fund may include 
irrevocable payment commitments fully secured by low-risk assets free of third party rights charges, 
freely available and allocated for the exclusive use of the resolution authorities for the purposes 
specified in the Directive itself. The share of irrevocable payment commitments shall not exceed 30% 
of the total amount collected through ex ante contributions. 

 
In 2021, the expense recorded by the Entity for contributions to the Single Resolution Fund for 2020 
amounted to EUR 2,355 thousand (EUR 2,109 thousand in 2020), which was recognised under "Other 
Operating Expenses" in the consolidated income statement (see Note 28). 

 
g) Business segment information 

 
The activity carried out by the Group's Parent Company is basically Retail Banking, without there being 
any other significant business lines that require a breakdown and detailed information on their 
operations as if each of them were an autonomous business and had its own independent resources. 

 
Similarly, there are no geographical differences in the Group's territory of action that would justify 
segmented and differentiated information on the activity according to this criterion. 

 
3. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND CRITERIA APPLIED 

 
The most significant accounting principles and criteria applied in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below, which, in compliance with EU-IFRSs, comply with Bank of Spain 
regulations: 

 
a) Going-concern principle 

 
The information contained in these annual accounts has been prepared taking into consideration that 
the Group will continue to operate in the future and therefore the accounting standards have not been 
applied with the objective of determining the value of equity for the purposes of its universal or partial 
transfer, or for a hypothetical liquidation. 

 
b) Accrual principle 

 
These annual accounts, except with respect to the cash flow statement, have been prepared on the 
basis of the actual flow of goods and services, irrespective of the date of payment or collection. 

 
c) Offset of balances 

 
Only debtor and creditor balances arising on transactions which, under contract or legislation, provide 
for possible offset and are to be settled at their net amount, or simultaneously realised and paid, are 
offset and therefore presented in the balance sheet at their net amount. 

 
d) Transactions denominated in foreign currency 

 
The functional and presentation currency in these annual accounts is the euro, and any other 
currency is considered to be a foreign currency. 
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On initial recognition receivables and payables in foreign currency have been converted to euro using 
the spot exchange rate. After that time the following rules are applied to convert balances denominated 
in foreign currency to euro: 

 
• Assets and liabilities of a monetary nature are converted to euro using the average official 

spot exchange rates published by the European Central Bank at the end of each year. 
 
• Non-monetary items measured at historic cost are converted at the exchange rate on the date 

of acquisition. 
 
• Non-monetary items measured at fair value are converted at the exchange rate on the date 

on which fair value is determined. 
 
• Income and expenses are converted using the exchange rate in force on the date of the 

transaction. 
 
• Depreciation/amortisation is converted at the exchange rate applied to the asset concerned. 

 
Exchange differences arising on the conversion of foreign currency balances are recognised in the 
income statement, with the exception of the differences arising on non-monetary items measured at fair 
value whose adjustment to fair value is taken to equity, indicating the exchange rate component of the 
restatement of the non-monetary item. 

 
At the end of 2021 the total amount of assets expressed in foreign currency was EUR 937 thousand 
(31 December 2020: EUR 693 thousand) and the total amount of liabilities expressed in foreign currency 
at the end of 2021 was EUR 377 thousand (31 December 2020: EUR 449 thousand). 

The breakdown of the assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency, classified by heading at 31 
December 2021 and 2020, is as follows 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 

Cash, balances in cash at central banks and other demand deposits 179  243 
Financial assets at amortised cost    
Loans and advances    

Credit institutions 758  450 

Total assets 937  693 
    
Financial liabilities at amortised cost    
Deposits    

Clients 377  449 

Total liabilities 377  449 

e) Income and expense recognition 
 

As a general policy, income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or to be 
received, less any discounts, credits or commercial reductions. When the entry of cash is deferred over 
time, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows. 

 
When the cash inflow is deferred, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows. 
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The recognition of any income in the consolidated income statement or in equity shall be subject to 
compliance with the following assumptions 

 
• The amount may be reliably estimated. 
 
• It is likely that the entity will receive the financial benefits. 
 
• The information may be verified. 

 
When there are doubts regarding the collection of an amount previously recognized as income, the 
amount no longer probable of being collected is recorded as an expense and not as a reduction in 
income. 

 
All debt instruments that are individually classified as impaired by the Group, as well as those for which 
impairment losses have been calculated collectively as the amounts have been outstanding for more 
than three months, no longer accrue interest. 

 
Interest and dividends are recognised in the consolidated income statement based on the following 
criteria: 

 
• The effective interest rate method is used to recognise interest in the income statement. 

 
• Dividends are recognised when the right of shareholders to receive payment required. 

 
However, interest and dividends accrued prior to the acquisition date of the instrument and not yet 
received are not part of the acquisition cost and are not recognised as income. 

 
f) Financial Instruments 

 
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset in one entity and simultaneously 
to a financial liability or equity instrument in another entity. 

 
The financial instruments issued by the Group and their components are classified as financial liabilities 
or equity instruments on their initial recognition date, in accordance with their financial substance when 
this does not coincide with their legal form. 

 
Financial instruments are initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet only when the Group 
becomes a party to the contract in accordance with its specifications. The Group recognises debt 
instruments, such as loans and chash deposits, from the date on which the legal right to receive, or the 
legal obligation to pay, cash arises, and financial derivatives are recognized from the date of 
arrangement. In addition, transactions carried out in the currency market will be recognized on the 
settlement date and financial assets traded in Spanish secondary securities markets, if concerning 
equity instruments, will be recognized on the trade date and, if concerning debt instruments, on the 
settlement date. 
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Financial instruments sold with a commitment to repurchase are not derecognised from the 
consolidated balance sheet and the amount received from the sale is considered to be financing 
received from third parties and is recorded as repurchase agreements. 

 
f.1) Classification of financial assets 

 
Financial assets are classified on the basis of the following aspects: 

 
• In the case of debt securities: 

 
- The business models approved by the Group to manage these assets. 

 
- Compliance or otherwise, in accordance with the asset's contractual flows, with the so- 

called “SPPI test” (Solely Payment of Principal and Interest), that is, contracts that  only 
generate payment of principal and interest), subsequently described in this same note to 
the financial statements. 

 
• In the case of equity instruments, it depends on the irrevocable choice of the Entity to recognise, 

in other comprehensive income, the subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in an 
equity instrument which, being within the scope of IFRS 9, is not held for trading. 

 
As a result of these aspects, debt securities will include the following, for measurement purposes, under 
any of the portfolios listed below: financial assets at amortised cost, financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income or financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
The classification of debt securities in an amortised cost or fair value category must be submitted to two 
tests: the business model and the "SPPI test". The purpose of the test is to determine whether, in 
accordance with the contractual characteristics of the instrument, its cash flows represent only the 
repayment of its principal and interest, understood basically as compensation for the time value of 
money and the debtor's credit risk. 

 
• A financial instrument will be classified in the amortised cost portfolio when a business model is 

managed, whose objective is to maintain the financial assets to receive the contractual cash 
flows, and furthermore, it complies with the SPPI test. 
 

• A financial instrument will be classified in the Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income portfolio if a business model is managed whose objective is to combine 
the receipt of contractual cash flows and sales and, furthermore, it complies with the SPPI test. 
 

• A financial instrument will be classified at fair value through profit or loss provided that, as a result 
of the Entity's business model, due to its management or the characteristics of its contractual 
cash flows, it is not appropriate to classify it in any of the portfolios described above. 

 
The Group has defined criteria to determine the acceptable frequency and reasons for sales so that the 
instrument can remain in the category of held to receive the contractual flows. Regardless of the 
frequency and significance of the sales, certain types of sales are not incompatible with this business 
model, such as sales due to a decline in credit quality, sales close to the maturity of operations so that 
changes in market prices do not have a significant effect on the cash flows of the financial asset, sales 
in response to a change in regulation or taxation, sales in response to an internal restructuring or 
significant business combination, or sales arising from the execution of a liquidity crisis plan when the 
crisis event is not reasonably expected. 
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The Group segments the financial instrument portfolio for the purposes of the SPPI test, differentiating 
those products with standard contracts (all the instruments have the same contractual characteristics), 
for which the Entity performs the SPPI test by reviewing the standard framework contract and the 
particular contractual characteristics. Financial instruments with specific contractual characteristics are 
analysed individually. Financial assets not complying with the SPPI test are not recognised on the basis 
of the characteristics of the business model in which they are found, rather they are recognised at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

 
f.2) Classification of financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are included for measurement purposes in the following categories: financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

 
• The financial liabilities held for trading portfolio includes all the financial liabilities that comply 

with any of the following characteristics: (i) they were issued with the intention of reacquiring 
them in the near future, (ii) they are short securities positions, (iii) they form part of a portfolio 
of identified financial instruments managed jointly, for which there is evidence of a recent 
pattern of short-term profit-taking, or (iv) they are derivative instruments that do not comply 
with the definition of a financial guarantee contract nor have they been classified as hedging 
instruments. The fact that a financial liability is used to finance trading activities does not 
involve, by itself, its inclusion in this category. 

 
• The financial liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss portfolio includes all the 

financial liabilities that comply with any of the following characteristics: (i) they have been 
irrevocably classified in their initial recognition by the Group, or (ii) they have been classified 
in their initial recognition or subsequently by the Group as a hedged item to manage the credit 
risk through the use of a credit derivative measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
• If the aforementioned conditions are not met, the financial liabilities are classified in the 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost portfolio. 
 

f.3) Initial valuation of financial instruments 
 

Upon their initial recognition, all financial instruments are recognized at fair value. For financial 
instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss, the fair value is adjusted by adding or 
deducting the transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition or issue. For financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs are recognised immediately in 
the consolidated income statement. 

 
Unless evidence exists to the contrary, the fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price, which 
is equivalent to the fair value of the consideration given. If the fair value at initial recognition differs from 
the transaction price, the difference is recorded as follows: 

 
• Immediately in the income statement when it involves a level 1 fair value in line with the fair 

value hierarchy. 
 

• In the remaining cases, as an adjustment of the fair value. The difference is deferred and is 
allocated to the consolidated income statement, exclusively based on changes in factors, 
including time, which the market players would consider on assessing the instrument, such as 
when the difference in a debt instrument is allocated to the consolidated income statement 
during the term of the transaction. 
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f.4) Subsequent valuation of financial instruments 
 

Following their initial recognition, the Group measures financial assets: at amortised cost, at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, at fair value through profit or loss, or at cost. The Group applies 
the impairment requirements to debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost and at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. 

 
Similarly, fallowing their initial recognition, the Group measures financial liabilities: at amortised cost or 
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities held for trading or designated at fair value through 
profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value. 

 
The accounting treatment of changes in valuation for each of the financial instrument portfolios held by 
the Entity is as follows: 

 
• Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this category includes the 

following financial instruments: (i) assets and liabilities held for trading, (ii) financial assets not held 
for trading mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, and (iii) financial assets and 
liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value 
and directly attributable transaction costs are recognised immediately in the consolidated income 
statement. 

 
Income and expenses for financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
in accordance with the following criteria: 

 
o Changes in fair value are recognised directly in the consolidated income statement, 

distinguishing, in the case of non-derivative instruments, between the portion attributable to 
accrued income on the instrument, which is recognised as interest or dividends depending 
on its nature, and the remainder, which is recognised as gains or losses on financial assets 
and liabilities held for trading (net), "Gains/Losses on Non- Trading Financial Assets 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss (net)" and "Gains/Losses on 
Financial Assets and Liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (net)" in the 
consolidated income statement. 

 
o Accrued interest on debt instruments is calculated using the effective interest method. 

 
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: The instruments included 

in this category are initially measured at fair value, adjusted for the transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Subsequent to their acquisition, financial assets 
included in this category are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 
The revenue and expenses of the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are recognised in accordance with the following criteria: 

 
o Accrued interest or, where appropriate, accrued dividends, are recognised in the 

consolidated income statement. 
 

o Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the case of monetary 
financial assets and in other comprehensive income, net of the tax effect, in the case of 
non-monetary financial assets. 

 
o In the case of debt instruments, impairment losses or the gains from their subsequent 

recovery are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
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o The remaining changes in value are recognised, net of the tax effect, in other 
comprehensive income. 

 
When a debt instrument at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income is derecognized 
from the consolidated balance sheet, the accumulated gain or loss in accumulated other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to the result of the period. However, when an equity 
instrument at fair value through other comprehensive income is derecognised from the 
consolidated balance sheet, the amount of the gain or loss recognized in Accumulated other 
comprehensive income is not reclassified to the income statement, but rather to a reserve item. 

 
• Financial assets at amortised cost: Financial assets included in this category are initially 

measured at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Following their acquisition, the assets classified under this category are measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

 
The revenue and expenses from the financial instruments at amortised cost are recognised in 
accordance with the following criteria: 

 
o Accrued interest is recognised under the "Interest Income" heading in the consolidated 

income statement, using the effective interest rate on the operation as a percentage of the 
gross carrying amount of the transaction (except in the case of non-performing assets 
which is applied as a percentage of the net carrying amount). 

 
o The remaining changes in value are recognised as income or expense when the financial 

instrument is derecognised; when it is reclassified; and when impairment losses are 
incurred or gains are obtained due to the subsequent recovery of such instrument. 

 
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost: Financial liabilities classified under this category are 

measured at amortised cost, calculated using the effective interest rate method. The interest 
accruing on these securities, calculated using such method, is posted under the "Interest cost" 
heading in the consolidated income statement. 

 
On June 6, 2019, the European Central Bank reported on a new series of longer-term financing 
operations with a specific objective (TLTRO III). On April 30, 2020, the Governing Council of the 
European Central Bank made some modifications to promote financing for companies, with the 
aim of reactivating the real economy. These changes lower the interest rate by 25 basis points and 
down to -0.5% from June 2020 to June 2021. In addition, it considers that the interest rate could 
be -1% for entities that meet a certain volume of computable loans, in the period between June 
2020 and June 2021. On December 10, 2020, these conditions were extended for operations 
contracted between October 1, 2020 and December 31, 2021, including the option to cancel or 
reduce the amount of financing before its maturity in windows that coincide with the periods of 
review and adjustment of the interest rate. 

 
In this case, the applicable interest rate of -1% from June 2020 to June 2021 (modification of the 
April 2020 program) and from June 2021 to June 2022 (modification of the December 2020 
program) corresponds to a specific period after which the financing is adjusted to market rates and, 
therefore, must be accrued until the next adjustment date. The early repayment windows of this 
financing program are substantive conditions, given that, at that moment of adjustment of the cost 
of financing to the market, the entity can choose to maintain or cancel it and obtain new financing 
at more favorable conditions. 
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In this context, the Parent Company has chosen to accrue interest according to the specific periods 
of adjustment to market rates, so that it will be recorded in the consolidated income statement in 
the period from June 2020 to June 2022 the interest corresponding to said period (that is, -1%), 
assuming compliance with the threshold of computable loans that gives rise to the application of 
this interest rate. This compliance is estimated considering the behavior of the eligible loan portfolio 
to date and the budgets for fiscal year 2021. 

 
f.5) Fair value and amortized cost of financial instruments 

 
The fair value of a financial instrument on a given date means the amount for which it could be bought 
or sold on that date between two knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. The 
most objective and common reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would 
be paid in an organised, transparent and deep market ("quoted price" or "market price"). 

 
When there is no market price for a given financial instrument, its fair value is estimated on the basis of 
the price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence thereof, 
of valuation models sufficiently tested by the international financial community, taking into account the 
specific features of the instrument to be measured and, particularly, the various types of risk associated 
with it. 

 
Specifically, the fair value of financial derivatives traded in organised, transparent and deep markets 
and included in the trading portfolios is assimilated to their daily quoted price and if, for exceptional 
reasons, the quoted price at a given date cannot be determined, these financial derivatives are 
measured using methods similar to those used to measure OTC derivatives. 

 
The fair value of OTC derivatives or derivatives traded in scantly deep or transparent organised markets 
is taken to be the sum of the future cash flows arising from the instrument, discounted to present value 
at the date of measurement (“present value” or “theoretical close”), using valuation techniques 
acknowledged by the financial markets: “net present value”, option pricing models, etc. 

 
All investments in equity instruments and in contracts on these instruments are measured at fair value. 
However, in certain circumstances the Group considers that the cost is an adequate estimate of the fair 
value of these instruments, when the recent information available is insufficient to determine the fair 
value or when there are a number of possible valuations for which the cost represents the best estimate 
of all of them. 

 
Amortised cost is understood to be the amount at which a financial asset or liability is measured in the 
initial recognition, corrected in line with the repayments of the principal and the accumulated 
amortisation of any difference between such initial amount and the repayment amount of those financial 
instruments, using the effective interest rate method. In the case of financial assets, amortised cost also 
includes any impairment allowances. 

 
The effective interest rate is the discount rate that matches the gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset or the carrying amount of a financial liability with the estimated cash flows over the expected life 
of the instrument, based on its contractual terms and conditions, without taking into account expected 
credit losses. For fixed-rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate coincides with the 
contractual interest rate established at the time of acquisition, adjusted, where applicable, by the fees 
and transaction costs which, under current regulations, are an integral part of the instrument's effective 
yield or cost and, therefore, must be included in the calculation of the effective interest rate. In the case 
of floating rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate is estimated in a manner similar to that 
of fixed rate transactions and is recalculated on each contractual interest rate review date of the 
transaction on the basis of the changes in the future cash flows of the transaction. 
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f.6) Reclassification of financial instruments 
 

Exclusively when the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, it reclassifies 
all the financial assets affected in accordance with the following guidelines: 

 
Such reclassification is made prospectively from the date of reclassification, without restatement of 
previously recognized gains, losses or interest. In general, changes in the business model occur very 
infrequently. 

 
- When the Entity reclassifies a debt instrument from the amortised cost portfolio to the fair value 

through profit or loss portfolio, the Group estimates its fair value at the reclassification date. 
Any gains or losses arising from the difference between the previous amortised cost and the 
fair value is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

 
- When the Entity reclassifies a debt instrument from the fair value through profit or loss portfolio 

to the amortised cost portfolio, the fair value of the asset at the reclassification date becomes 
its new gross carrying amount. 

 
- When the Entity reclassifies a debt instrument from the amortised cost portfolio to the fair value 

through other comprehensive income portfolio, the Group estimates its fair value at the 
reclassification date. Any gains or losses arising from the differences between the previous 
amortised cost and the fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. The effective 
interest rate and the estimate of expected credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the 
reclassification. 

 
- When the Entity reclassifies a debt instrument from the fair value through other comprehensive 

income portfolio to the amortised cost portfolio, the financial asset is reclassified at its fair value 
at the reclassification date. Any accumulated gains or losses on the reclassification date in 
Equity - Accumulated other comprehensive income are cancelled, using the carrying amount 
of the asset on the reclassification date as a balancing entry. Accordingly, the debt instrument 
is measured on the reclassification date as though it has always been measured at amortised 
cost. The effective interest rate and the estimate of expected credit losses are not adjusted as 
a result of the reclassification. 

 
- When the Entity reclassifies a debt instrument from the fair value through profit or loss portfolio 

to the fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio, the financial asset continues to 
be measured at fair value, without modifying the recognition of the changes in value recognised 
previously. 

 
- When the Entity reclassifies a debt instrument from the fair value through other comprehensive 

income portfolio to the fair value through profit or loss portfolio, the financial asset continues to 
be measured at fair value. Any accumulated gains or losses previously recognised under 
"Equity - Accumulated other comprehensive income" are transferred to profit or loss for the 
period on the reclassification date. 

  



  

 
 
 
EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 

24 

 
f.7) Derecognition of financial instruments 

 
A financial asset is derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet when any of the following 
circumstances occur: 

 
• the contractual rights over the cash flows it generates have expired, or 

 
• the financial asset is transferred, together with substantially all its risks and rewards. 

 
A financial liability is derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligations it 
generates have been extinguished or when it is repurchased by the Group. 

 
g) Transfers and derecognition of financial instruments 

 
Transfers of financial instruments are accounted for by taking into account the manner in which the 
risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial instruments are transferred, based on the 
following criteria: 

 
i)  If the risks and rewards of the transferred assets are transferred substantially to third 

parties, such as in unconditional sales, sales under repurchase agreements at fair value 
on the repurchase date, sales of financial assets with a purchased call option or written put 
option deeply out of the money, securitisations of assets in which the transferor does not 
retain subordinated financing or grant any credit enhancement to the new owners, etc, the 
financial instrument transferred is derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet, and 
any rights or obligations retained or created as a result of the transfer are recognised 
simultaneously. 

 
ii) If the risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial instrument are 

substantially retained, the instrument is not derecognised from the consolidated balance 
sheet and continues to be measured using the same criteria as those used prior to the 
transfer. However, the associated financial liability is recognised for an amount equal to the 
consideration received, which is subsequently measured at amortised cost, the income 
from the transferred but not derecognised financial asset and the expenses of the new 
financial liability. 

 
iii)  If neither the risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial instrument are 

substantially transferred nor retained, a distinction is made between 
 

- If the Entity has not retained control, it derecognises the financial asset and recognises 
separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the 
transfer. 
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- If the Entity has retained control, it continues to recognise the financial asset to the 
extent of its continuing exposure to changes in the value of the financial asset and 
recognises an associated financial liability in an amount equivalent to the consideration 
received. That liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless it qualifies 
for classification as a financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
Given that it does not constitute a present obligation, when measuring this financial 
liability, the Entity deducts the amount of any financial instruments (such as covered 
bonds and loans) that it owns that constitute a source of financing for the entity to which 
the financial assets have been transferred insofar as those instruments specifically 
finance the transferred assets. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and 
associated liability is accordingly the amortised cost of the rights and obligations 
retained if the transferred asset is measured at amortised cost or the fair value of the 
rights and obligations retained if the transferred asset is measured at fair value. 

 
Therefore, financial assets are only derecognised from the consolidated balance sheet when the cash 
flows they generate have been extinguished or when the risks and rewards associated with them have 
been substantially transferred to third parties. Similarly, financial liabilities are only derecognised when 
the obligations they generate have been extinguished or when they are acquired with the intention of 
cancelling them or relocating them. 

 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Group does not hold any financial assets or liabilities that have 
been derecognised of the consolidated balance. 

 
h) Equity instruments 

 
Contributions to the capital of the Cooperative (Entity) by its members are considered equity instruments 
and are recognized as equity when there is an unconditional right on the part of the Cooperative to 
refuse its reimbursement or there are legal or statutory prohibitions to make such reimbursement. If the 
prohibition on redemption is partial, the amount repayable in excess of the prohibition is recognised in 
a specific item in the consolidated balance sheet "Capital with the nature of a financial liability". 
Contributions for which there is a remuneration obligation, even if it is conditional on the existence of 
results of the cooperative, are treated as financial liabilities. Remuneration on shares is recognised as 
finance costs for the year if it relates to shares accounted for as financial liabilities and directly against 
the cooperative's equity in all other cases. 

 
The Ordinary General Assembly held on 28 April 2006 approved the compulsory conversion of 
contributions from members with the right to reimbursement into contributions whose reimbursement 
can be unconditionally refused by the Governing Council. In this way, from that date onwards, all the 
contributions to the cooperative are considered as "Own capital instruments". 

 
Likewise, the remuneration of the contributions shall be set at each moment by the General Assembly 
of the Parent Company (Note 21.1). 

 
Emissions, amortisations and consideration received or delivered of own equity instruments are 
recorded directly in the Group's equity, and changes in the value of this type of instrument are not 
recorded in the financial statements. Also, the costs related to these types of transactions are deducted 
directly from equity, after deducting any related tax effect. 

 
Remuneration, changes in the carrying amount and the results associated with the repurchase or 
refinancing of financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated income statement as a finance cost. 
Also, the costs of issuing financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated income statement using 
the effective interest method. In any event, remuneration on capital that is classified as a financial 
liability is presented under a separate heading. 
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i) Hybrid financial instruments 
 

The Group enters into hybrid financial instruments that include a host contract other than a derivative 
and a derivative financial contract, known as an embedded derivative. These embedded derivatives are 
separated from such host contracts and treated independently for accounting purposes if the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to those of the non-
derivative host contract, if a different instrument with the same conditions as those of the embedded 
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative and if the hybrid contract is not measured at its fair 
value through consolidated profit and loss. 

 
The initial value of embedded derivatives that are separated from the host contract and that are options 
is obtained on the basis of their own characteristics, and those that are not options have an initial value 
of zero. When the Group does not have the capacity to reliably estimate the fair value of an embedded 
derivative, it estimates its value by the difference between the fair value of the hybrid contract and that 
of the host contract, provided that both values can be considered reliable; if this is also not possible, 
the Group does not segregate the hybrid contract and treats the hybrid financial instrument as a whole 
as included in the portfolio of "Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss" for accounting 
purposes. The main contract that is not a derivative is treated separately for accounting purposes. 

 
The financial assets and liabilities with which the Group habitually operates are: 

 
• Financing granted and received from other credit institutions and clients regardless of the legal 

form in which they are implemented (loans, credits, advances, etc.). 
 
• Securities representing both debt (bonds, bonds, promissory notes, etc.) and equity 

instruments (shares). 
 
• Derivatives; Contracts whose outcome is related to the evolution of the value of an underlying 

asset (interest rate, exchange rate or similar reference), with an initial non- significant or zero 
payout and settled at a future date. In addition to providing a result (loss or gain), if certain 
conditions are met, they may eliminate all or part of the financial risks associated with the 
Entity's balances and transactions. 

 
j) Financial guarantees 

 
Financial guarantees are contracts whereby the Group undertakes to pay specific amounts to a third 
party if the latter fails to do so. The main contracts under this heading, which are included in the "Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements" at the end of the consolidated balance sheet, are guarantees 
(both financial and technical), sureties, irrevocable documentary credits issued or confirmed by the 
Group, insurance contracts and, where applicable, credit derivatives in which the Group acts as the 
seller of protection. 

 
Financial guarantees are classified on the basis of the risk of default attributable to the customer or the 
transaction and, where appropriate, the need to record provisions (see Note 18) to cover credit risk, 
applying similar criteria to those used to determine impairment losses on financial assets classified in 
the "Loans and Receivables" portfolio, as described in Note 3.l. 

 
k) Investments in joint ventures and associates 

 
The details of the Parent's investments, together with the most significant information thereon, are 
included in Note 14 to the Entity's individual financial statements and in Note 1.c). The Entity classifies 
its investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates, as follows: 

 



  

 
 
 
EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 

27 

• Joint ventures: Joint ventures are not subsidiaries and, by contractual agreement, are 
controlled jointly by two or more entities, including the Entity or other Group entities. 
 

• Associates: Those over which the Entity, individually or collectively with other Group entities, 
exercises significant influence but which are not subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities. To 
evidence the existence of significant influence, the Entity considers, among other situations, 
representation on the Board of Directors or equivalent management body of the investee, 
participation in policy-making processes, including those related to dividends and other 
distributions, the existence of material transactions between the Entity and its investee, the 
interchange of senior management employees or the provision of essential technical 
information, although such significant influence usually manifests itself in an investment (direct 
or indirect) equal to or exceeding 20% of the investee's voting rights. 

 
Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are recognised at cost and are 
adjusted for impairment if there is evidence of impairment. In calculating impairment losses, the 
Company compares recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use) 
with the carrying amount. Impairment losses and recoveries of value disclosed by this measurement 
are recognised immediately in the Group's consolidated income statement. 

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 all investments held by the Entity are classified as Subsidiaries. 

 
l) Impairment of financial assets 

 
The criteria described in this section apply both to debt instruments (loans and advances, and debt 
securities) and to other exposures involving credit risk (loan commitments granted, financial guarantees 
provided, and other commitments granted). 

 
For the purposes of recording the coverage of impairment losses, the Entity recognizes the expected 
credit losses of the operations. A distinction is made between: 

 
• Credit losses expected during the course of the transaction: expected credit losses arising 

from all possible breaches during the expected course of the transaction. 
 

• Credit losses expected over twelve months: credit losses expected during the course of the 
transaction, relating to expected credit losses arising from breaches that may arise with 
respect to the transaction in the twelve months following the date in question. 

 
Credit losses correspond to the difference between all contractual cash flows due to the Entity under 
the contract for the financial asset and all cash flows the Entity expects to receive (i.e. the entire cash 
flow shortfall), discounted at the original effective interest rate or, for financial assets purchased or 
originated with credit impairment, at the effective interest rate adjusted by the credit rating. 

 
In the case of loan commitments granted, a comparison is made between the contractual cash flows 
that would be due to the entity in the case of the drawdown of the loan commitment and the cash flows 
that the entity expects to receive if the commitment is drawn down. In the case of financial guarantees 
granted, the payments that the entity expects to make are considered less the cash flows that the entity 
expects to receive from the guaranteed holder. 

 
  



  

 
 
 
EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 

28 

The Group estimates the cash flows from the transaction over its expected life, taking into account all 
the contractual terms and conditions of the transaction (such as early redemption, extension, surrender 
and similar options). It is assumed that the expected life of an operation can be reliably estimated. 
However, in the exceptional cases where it is not possible to estimate it reliably, the Entity uses the 
remaining contractual term of the operation, including extension options. Among the cash flows taken 
into account, the Entity includes those from the sale of collateral received or other credit enhancements 
that are an integral part of the contractual conditions, such as the financial guarantees received. 

 
The amount of the impairment loss hedges is calculated on the basis of their classification for credit risk 
and whether or not a default event has occurred. Thus, the hedge for impairment losses on transactions 
is equal to: 

 
- Credit losses expected in twelve months, when the risk is classified in ‘Performing’ (Stage 1). 

 
- The credit losses expected during the course of the transaction, if the risk is classified in 

Performing on special watch (Stage 2). 
 

- Expected credit losses, when a breach has been committed and such losses have hence 
been classified under Non-performing (Stage 3). 

 
The Group determines that there is a significant increase in credit risk if, since its initial recognition, an 
event has occurred that gives rise to a default and that, as a consequence, causes a change in the 
credit losses expected at the reference date. The initial recognition date will be taken as the date on 
which the borrower irrevocably becomes a party to the contract. Regardless of the flexibility measure 
by which the criterion of significant increase in credit risk is adapted, it will be presumed that said 
increase has occurred when there are amounts past due in said operations that are more than thirty 
days old. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is determined that an operation has low credit risk on the reference 
date, the Group may consider that there has been no significant increase in risk without the need to 
carry out the evaluation. In this sense, a borrower will be considered to have a low credit risk if there 
are favorable signs to meet their contractual payment obligations in the immediate future, and that 
possible variations in long-term economic and commercial circumstances may reduce their ability to 
pay, but not necessarily your ability to meet your contractual payment obligations. 

 
l.1) Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 

 
In order to determine impairment losses, the Group monitors debtors individually, at least for all 
significant debtors, and collectively, for groups of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
indicating the debtors' ability to pay the outstanding amounts. When a particular instrument cannot be 
included in any group of assets with similar risk characteristics, it is analysed exclusively on an individual 
basis to determine whether it is impaired and, if so, to estimate the impairment loss. 

 
The Group has policies, methods and procedures for estimating the losses that may be incurred as a 
result of the credit risks it holds, both for insolvency attributable to counterparties and for country risk. 
These policies, methods and procedures are applied in the granting, modification, evaluation, 
monitoring and control of debt instrument transactions and off-balance sheet exposures, as well as in 
the identification of their possible impairment and, where appropriate, in the calculation of the amounts 
required to cover estimated losses. 

 
l.1.1) Accounting classification according to credit risk due to insolvency 

 
The Group has established criteria to identify borrowers with weaknesses or objective evidence of 
impairment and to classify them on the basis of their credit risk. 
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The following sections describe the classification principles and methodology used by the Group.  
 
l.1.1.1) Definition of the classification categories 
 
Debt instruments not included in the portfolio of financial assets held for trading, as well as off- 
balance sheet exposures, are classified, based on credit risk due to insolvency, as: 

 
i) Normal risk: 

 
a) Operations that do not meet the requirements for classification in other categories. 

 
b) Normal risk in special surveillance: transactions which, without meeting the criteria 

for individual classification as doubtful or failed risk, present significant increases in 
credit risk from initial recognition, transactions in which there are overdue amounts 
more than thirty days old shall also be classified. 

 
ii) Doubtful risk: 

 
a) Due to the bad debt of the holder: transactions with an amount overdue by principal, 

interest or expenses contractually agreed, generally, more than 90 days old, unless 
classifying them as unsuccessful. Also included in this category are the guarantees 
granted when the guarantor has incurred in the delinquency of the guaranteed operation. 
It also includes the amounts of all trades of a holder when transactions with amounts 
overdue generally, as indicated above, of more than 90 days old, are higher than 20% of 
amounts pending recovery. 

 
b) For reasons other than the holder's non-performing loans: operations in which, without 

concurring the circumstances to classify them into the categories of failed or doubtful due 
to delinquency, reasonable doubts arise about their total repayment in the terms 
contractually agreed; As well as off-balance-sheet exposures not classified as doubtful 
due to the delinquency whose payment by the Entity is probable and its doubtful recovery. 

 
iii) Failed risk: 

 
This category includes debt instruments, whether due or not, for which, after an individual 
analysis, it is considered that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery due to a 
notable or irrecoverable deterioration in the solvency of the operation or the holder. 
Classification in this category shall entail the full write-down of the gross carrying amount 
of the transaction and its total derecognition from the assets. 

 
l.1.1.2) Operation classification methodology 

 
The Group applies a variety of criteria to classify borrowers and transactions in the various categories 
based on their credit risk. These include: 

 
i) Automatic criteria; 
ii) Specific criteria for refinancing; and 
iii) Criteria based on monitoring models, covered by the monitoring of certain parameters. 

 
The automatic factors and classification criteria specific to refinancings constitute a classification and 
cure process and are applied to the entire portfolio. In addition, in order to enable early identification of 
weaknesses and impairment of operations, the Group establishes a follow-up model that allows the 
corresponding treatment, depending on the different levels of default risk, to be allocated. 
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Transactions classified as doubtful are reclassified at normal risk when, as a result of the total or partial 
collection of the unpaid amounts in the case of doubtful debts for reasons of default, or because the 
cure period has been exceeded in the case of doubtful debts for reasons other than default, the causes 
that originally led to their classification as doubtful disappear, unless other reasons remain that make it 
advisable to maintain them in this category (e.g. maintenance of overdue amounts more than 90 days 
old in other outstanding transactions of the borrower). 

 
As a result of these procedures, the Group classifies its borrowers in the categories of normal in special 
surveillance or doubtful on grounds of the holder's default, or maintains them as normal. 

 
l.1.1.3) Individual classification 

 
The Group has established a threshold in terms of exposure to consider the borrowers as significant, 
set at a total risk exposure of over 3,000 thousand euros or 5% of the Parent Company's Equity. This 
classification also includes those transactions that the Entity considers to be significant. 

 
For significant borrowers, a predictive default model is established, which consists of a system of 
variables/alerts designed to detect future customer default situations, calibrate and quantify their 
severity and establish different levels of probability of default risk. An expert team of risk analysts 
analyses the borrowers with active alerts to conclude on the existence of weaknesses or objective 
evidence of impairment and, in the case of evidence of impairment, whether that loss event or events 
have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or its group. 

 
l.1.1.4) Collective classification 

 
For borrowers who do not exceed the significance threshold and who, in addition, have not been 
classified as doubtful. 

 
l.1.1.5) Refinancing and restructuring operations 

 
The policies and procedures relating to refinancing and restructuring operations have been adapted to 
the modifications of circular 4/2017 contained in circular 3/2020. The Entity chose to apply the 
modifications from March 31, 2020. 

 
The credit risk management policies and procedures applied by the Group ensure that borrowers are 
monitored closely and that provisions are made when there is evidence of a deterioration in their 
solvency. Therefore, the Group records the required provisions for bad debts for those operations in 
which the situation of the borrower so requires before restructuring or refinancing operations are carried 
out, which should be understood as: 

 
• Refinancing operation: an operation that is used for economic or legal reasons related to 

financial difficulties (current or foreseeable) of the holder to cancel one or more operations 
granted, by the entity itself or by other entities in its group, to the owner or to other entities 
in their economic group, or by which they are totally or partially paid up, in order to facilitate 
the payment of their debt (principal and interest) to the holders of canceled or refinanced 
operations because they can not , or it is expected that they will not be able to comply in a 
timely manner with their conditions. 
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• Restructured operation: the financial conditions of an operation are changed for economic 
or legal reasons related to the current or foreseeable difficulties of the holder, in order to 
facilitate payment of the debt (principal and interest) because the holder can not, or It is 
anticipated that it will not be able to comply, in a timely manner, with those conditions, even 
if such modification is provided for in the contract. In any case, the operations in which their 
conditions are modified to extend their maturity period, vary the amortisation table to reduce 
the amount of the quotas in the short term or reduce their frequency, or establish or the term 
of grace of principal, interest or both, unless it can be shown that the conditions are modified 
for reasons other than the financial difficulties of the owners and are analogous to those that 
would be applied by other entities in the market for similar risks. 

 
If a transaction is classified in a certain risk category, the refinancing transaction does not improve the 
risk consideration of the transaction. The initial classification of refinanced transactions is established 
on the basis of their characteristics, mainly the existence of financial difficulties in the borrower and the 
existence of certain clauses such as long grace periods. As a general rule, the Group classifies 
refinancing and restructuring operations with normal risk under special surveillance, unless they meet 
the criteria for classification as doubtful, or it is justified that a significant increase in credit risk has not 
been identified, in which case the normal risk classification may be maintained. 

 
All this without prejudice to the flexibility measures as a consequence of Covid-19, such as the 
Guidelines on legislative and non-legislative moratoriums on loan repayments applied in light of the 
COVID-19 crisis (EBA / GL / 2020 / 02 and its subsequent amendments) and the Banco de España 
Informative Note on the use of the flexibility provided in the accounting regulations in the face of the 
shock caused by COVID-19 of March 30, 2020, which have been adapted for the classification criteria 
of operations. 
This type of operation is specifically identified in the information system in such a way as to allow for 
adequate accounting classification and monitoring. 

 
In addition, in accordance with the principle of traceability, the Entity's internal information system must 
keep the information on the modification made, necessary to ensure at all times the adequate 
monitoring, evaluation and control of the operation. 

 
Subsequent to the initial rating of the operation, the rating to a lower risk category will be justified by 
significant evidence of improvement in the expected recovery of the operation, either because the 
borrower has been servicing for an extended and sustained period of time their payment obligations or 
because the initial debt has been repaid in a significant percentage. 

 
l.1.2) Determination of coverage 

 
The Group applies the criteria described below to calculate the coverage of credit risk losses. 

 
In relation to transactions identified as not involving appreciable risk (basically those with central banks, 
financial institutions, mutual guarantee societies and public authorities, all of which belong to the 
European Union or to certain countries considered to be without risk), a coverage percentage of 0% is 
applied, except in the case of transactions classified as doubtful, where an individualised estimate of 
impairment is made. 
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l.1.2.1) Individualized estimates of coverage 
 

They are subject to individual assessment: 
 

i) The coverage of the doubtful operations of the individually significant borrowers. 
 

ii) Where applicable, transactions or borrowers whose characteristics do not permit a 
collective calculation of impairment. 

 
iii) The coverage of transactions identified as having no appreciable risk and classified as 

doubtful, both for reasons of non-performance and for reasons other than non- 
performance. 

 
The Group has developed a methodology for estimating these hedges, calculating the difference 
between the gross carrying amount of the transaction and the present value of the estimated cash flows 
expected to be collected, discounted using the effective interest rate. To this end, the effective 
guarantees received are taken into account. 

 
Two methods are established for the calculation of recoverable value in individually assessed assets: 

 
i) Estimates of cash flows: debtors for whom the ability to generate future cash flows is 

estimated with the development of the business itself, allowing, through the development 
of the activity and the economic and financial structure of the borrower, the return of part 
or all of of the debt incurred. It implies the estimation of cash flows obtained by the borrower 
in the development of his business. Additionally, it is possible that such flows may be 
complemented with potential sales of non-essential assets for the generation of the 
aforementioned cash flows. 

 
ii) Execution of guarantees: debtors with no ability to generate cash flows with the 

development of their own business, being forced to liquidate assets to pay their debts. It 
implies the estimation of cash flows based on the execution of guarantees. 

 
l.1.2.2) Collective estimates of coverage 

 
They are subject to collective estimation: 

 
i) Exposures classified as normal risk (including those classified under special surveillance), 

for which the Company considers that a loss has been incurred but which have not been 
reported, since no impairment has been observed in individual transactions. 

 
(ii) Exposures classified as doubtful which are not assessed through individual hedge accounting. 

 
The impairment estimation process takes into account all credit exposures, both debt instruments and 
off-balance sheet exposures. In this sense, the Entity has used the parameters and methodology 
established by the Bank of Spain, based on statistical data and models that aggregate the average 
performance of banking sector entities in Spain and supports its full compatibility with the framework 
conforming to IFRS, in relation to the classification and calculation of the impairment of the balance 
sheet and off-balance sheet exposures maintained by the Entity with its customers. The aforementioned 
methodology takes into account the credit risk segment to which the transaction belongs, the effective 
collateral and personal guarantees received, the economic and financial situation of the debtor and, if 
applicable, the age of the overdue amounts. 
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In estimates of credit risk losses, the amount to be recovered from real estate guarantees will be the 
result of adjusting its reference value, by the adjustments necessary to adequately capture the 
uncertainty in its estimate and its reflection in potential value declines up to its execution and sale, as 
well as execution costs, maintenance costs and selling costs. 

 
The Group determines the amount to be recovered from effective collateral by applying to its reference 
value the discounts estimated by the Bank of Spain in its Circular 4/2017, based on its experience and 
the information it has on the Spanish banking sector. 

 
l.1.3) Credit risk classification and coverage by reason of country risk 

 
Country risk is the risk to counterparties resident in a given country due to circumstances other than 
normal commercial risk (sovereign risk, transfer risk or risks arising from international financial activity). 
The Group classifies the transactions carried out with third parties into different groups on the basis of 
the economic evolution of the countries, their political situation, regulatory and institutional framework, 
payment capacity and experience, assigning to each of them the percentages of provisioning for 
insolvency, in accordance with current regulations. 

 
Doubtful assets due to materialisation of country risk are considered to be those transactions with final 
debtors resident in countries with prolonged difficulties in servicing their debt, the possibility of recovery 
being considered doubtful, and off-balance sheet exposures whose recovery is considered remote due 
to circumstances attributable to the country. 

 
The provision levels for this item are not significant in relation to the impairment coverage set up by the 
Group. 

 
l.1.4) Guarantees 

 
Real and personal guarantees for which the Group proves its validity as a credit risk mitigator are 
considered effective. The analysis of the effectiveness of the guarantees takes into account, among 
other things, the time required for the execution of the guarantees and the capacity of the Group to 
execute them, as well as its experience in the execution of the guarantees. 

 
Under no circumstances are guarantees considered to be effective if their effectiveness depends 
substantially on the credit quality of the debtor or the economic group of which it is a member. 

 
In compliance with these conditions, the following types of guarantees may be considered as effective: 

 
i) Real estate guarantees instrumented as real estate mortgages with first load: 

 
a. Buildiengs and components of finished buildings: 

- Households. 
- Offices and commercial premises and multipurpose vessels. 
- Rest of buildings, such as non-multipurpose buildings and hotels. 

b. Urban land and urbanisable orderly. 
c. Other real estate (buildings and elements of buildings under construction, and other 

land). 
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ii) Collateral on financial instruments: 
- Money deposits. 
- Other financial instruments on active markets. 
- Other financial instruments not on active markets. 

 
iii) Other security rights: 

- Movable property received as collateral. 
- Second and successive mortgages on real estate. 

 
iv) Personal guarantees that involve the direct and joint responsibility of the new guarantors 

before the client, being those persons or entities whose solvency is sufficiently 
demonstrated in order to guarantee the integral amortisation of the operation according 
to the agreed conditions. 

 
The Group has criteria for the valuation of the collateral for assets located in Spain that are in line with 
current regulations. In particular, the Group applies criteria for selecting and contracting valuation 
providers aimed at guaranteeing their independence and the quality of the valuations, all of which are 
appraisal companies and agencies registered in the Bank of Spain's Special Register of Appraisal 
Companies and the valuations are carried out in accordance with the criteria established in Order 
ECO/805/2003 on real estate valuation standards and certain rights for certain financial purposes. 

 
Real estate guarantees for credit operations and real estate are valued at the time they are granted or 
registered, the latter either through purchase, adjudication or dation in payment and when the asset 
suffers a significant drop in value. In addition, minimum updating criteria are applied to guarantee an 
annual frequency in the case of impaired assets (special surveillance, doubtful assets and foreclosed 
properties or properties received in payment of debts) or a three-year frequency for high debts in a 
normal situation without any symptoms of latent risk. Statistical methodologies are used to update 
valuations only for the above assets when they are of low exposure and risk, although a full ECO 
valuation is performed at least every three years. 

 
l.2) Debt instruments measured at fair value 

 
The amount of the impairment losses incurred on debt instruments included under "Financial Assets at 
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income" is equal to the positive difference between their 
acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment, and their fair value less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

 
When there is objective evidence that the decline in fair value is due to impairment, the unrealised 
losses recognised directly in equity under "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income" are recognised 
immediately in the consolidated income statement. If all or part of the impairment losses are 
subsequently recovered, the amount is recognised in the consolidated income statement for the 
recovery period. 

 
In the case of debt instruments classified under "Non-Current Assets and Disposal Groups" which are 
classified as held for sale, the losses previously recognised under "Equity" are considered to be realised 
and are recognised in the consolidated income statement at the date of classification. 

 
m) Accounting coverage 

 
The Group's governing bodies have analysed the accounting implications of IFRS 9 for hedge 
accounting and have decided, for the time being, to maintain the accounting for these financial 
instruments in accordance with IAS 39, as permitted by IFRS 9. 
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The Group uses financial derivatives (swaps, forwards, futures, options and combinations of these 
instruments), which are traded bilaterally with the counterparty outside organised markets ("OTC 
derivatives"). 

 
These instruments are contracted by the Group to enable its customers to manage the risks inherent 
to their activities, as well as to manage the risks of the Group's own positions and its assets and liabilities 
("hedging derivatives"), or to benefit from changes in their price ("trading derivatives"). 

 
All financial derivatives (even those initially contracted with the intention of serving as a hedge) that do 
not meet the conditions that allow them to be considered as hedges are treated for accounting purposes 
as "trading derivatives". 

 
For a financial derivative to be considered hedging, it necessarily has to: 

 
a) Covering one of the following three types of risk: 1) Variations in the value of assets and 

liabilities due to fluctuations in prices, interest rate and/or exchange rate subject to the 
position or (2) The changes in estimated cash flows arising from the highly probable 
financial assets and liabilities, commitments and planned transactions expected to be 
carried out by an entity ("cash flow hedges"). and (3) Net investment in a foreign operation 
(" net investment coverage in foreign operations "). 

 
b) Efficiently remove any risk inherent in the hedged item or position over the entire term of 

the hedge, which implies that it is expected to act with a high degree of effectiveness 
("prospective effectiveness") and evidence sufficiently that coverage has been effective 
over the life of the covered item or position ("retrospective effectiveness"). 

 
c) It is documented that the contracting of the financial derivative took place specifically to 

serve as a hedge, including how it was intended to achieve and measure effective hedging; 
in accordance with the Entity's risk management policy. 

 
The effectiveness of hedges of derivatives defined as hedges is duly documented by means of 
effectiveness tests performed by the Group to verify that the differences arising from changes in market 
prices between the hedged item and its hedge are kept within reasonable parameters throughout the 
life of the transactions, thus fulfilling the forecasts established at the moment of the contracting. 

 
The Group considers that a hedging relationship is highly effective when, from inception and over the 
life of the transaction, the changes in the cash flows or in the fair value of the hedged items caused by 
the risks covered are almost entirely offset by the changes in the cash flows or in the fair value of the 
hedge. This requirement is met when the results of the hedge have fluctuated from those of the hedged 
item in a range of 80% to 125%. 

 
When this relationship ceases to exist, the hedging transactions would no longer be treated as such 
and reclassified as trading derivatives. 

 
Hedges can be applied both to individual items or balances and to portfolios of financial assets and 
liabilities. In the latter case, the financial assets or liabilities in the hedged portfolio must expose the 
Group to the same type of risk. 

 
The Group only arranges hedges in which all the financial terms of the hedge transaction fully coincide 
with the terms of the hedged transaction to ensure its full effectiveness. 

 
The Group classifies its accounting hedges on the basis of the type of risk they cover into: fair value 
hedges, cash flow hedges and hedges of net investments in foreign operations. 

 
  



  

 
 
 
EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 

36 

Recognition of fair value hedges 
 

The gain or loss arising on the measurement of hedging instruments at fair value and the gain or loss 
attributable to the hedged risk is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement, even if 
the hedged item is measured at amortised cost or is a financial asset included in the category "Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss". 

 
When the hedged item is measured at amortised cost, its carrying amount is adjusted by the amount of 
the gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income statement as a result of the hedge. Once this 
item is no longer hedged against changes in its fair value, the amount of this adjustment is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest method recalculated on the date on 
which it ceases to be adjusted and must be fully amortised by the maturity date of the hedged item. 

 
Accounting for cash flow hedges 

 
The gain or loss that arises on measuring a hedging instrument at fair value (for the effective portion of 
the hedge) is recognised temporarily in "Accumulated other comprehensive income - items that can be 
reclassified to profit or loss" in equity. The portion of the instrument's value corresponding to the 
ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. 

 
The cumulative gains or losses on hedging instruments recognised in "Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income - Items Eligible for Reclassification to Profit or Loss" in equity remain in that 
item until they are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the periods in which the items 
designated as hedges affect that account, unless the hedge relates to a forecast transaction that results 
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, in which case the amounts recognised in equity 
are included in the cost of the asset or liability when it is acquired or assumed. If it is expected that all 
or part of a loss recognised temporarily in equity will not be recovered in the future, the amount is 
reclassified immediately to the consolidated income statement. 

 
When the hedge is discontinued, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in 
"Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income - Items that can be reclassified to profit or loss" in "Equity" 
while the hedge was effective continues to be recognised in that item until the hedged transaction 
occurs, at which time the criteria indicated in the preceding paragraph are applied, unless it is expected 
that the transaction will not take place, in which case it is recognised immediately in the consolidated 
income statement. 

 
The Group has no net investment hedges in foreign businesses. 

 
n) Transfers of financial assets 

 
The Group derecognises a transferred financial asset when it transfers in full all the contractual rights 
to receive the cash flows it generates or when, although it retains these rights, it assumes a contractual 
obligation to pay them to the transferees and the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the 
asset are substantially transferred. 

 
In the case of transfers of assets in which the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the asset 
are substantially retained, the transferred financial asset is not derecognised and an associated 
financial liability is recognised for an amount equal to the consideration received, which is subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. The transferred financial asset continues to be measured using the same 
criteria as those used prior to the transfer. Both the income from the transferred financial asset and the 
expense from the financial liability are recognised in the consolidated income statement without being 
offset. 
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In the case of transfers of assets in which the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the asset 
are neither substantially transferred nor retained and the Group retains control of the asset, a financial 
asset is recognised for an amount equal to its exposure to changes in the value of the transferred 
financial asset, and a financial liability associated with the transferred financial asset is measured so 
that the net carrying amount between the two instruments is equal: 

 
• When the transferred financial asset is measured at amortised cost: The amortised cost of the 

rights and obligations retained by the Group. 
 

• When the transferred financial asset is measured at fair value: The fair value of the rights and 
obligations retained by the Group, measured separately. 

 
If the Group does not retain control of the transferred financial instrument, it is derecognised from the 
consolidated balance sheet and any rights or obligations retained as a result of the transfer are 
recognised. 

 
The Group has not recognised the assets and liabilities related to transfers made before 1 January 
2004 in accordance with the exception mentioned in the First Transitional Provision of Circular 4/2004. 
As of December 31, 2021, the Group did not have any amount of securitized assets and derecognized 
under the previous regulations, having no amount as of December 31, 2020 (Note 11.3). 

 
At 31 December 2021, the Group had securitised assets totalling EUR 165,954 thousand (EUR 189,206 
thousand in 2020) held in full in the consolidated balance sheet (Note 11.3). 

 
ñ) Tangible assets 

 
Property, plant and equipment includes the amounts for properties, land, furnishings, vehicles, 
computer equipment and other items owned by the Group or being acquired under finance leases. 
Property, plant and equipment items are classified based on their intended use: property, plant and 
equipment used by the Group, investment properties, other assets assigned under operating leases 
and property, plant and equipment associated with the Education and Development Fund. 

 
Property, plant and equipment used by the Group mainly includes offices and bank branches (both built 
and under development) held by the Group. These assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses. 

 
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure initially on their acquisition and 
production and subsequently on any extension, replacement or enhancement, in both cases where it is 
considered probable that future economic benefits will be derived from their use. 

 
For certain items for own use and for free disposal, the Fund considered that the acquisition cost on 
the date of transition to Circular 4/2004 (1 January 2004) was the market value of these items obtained 
from appraisals by independent experts. The accounting impact of this revaluation was 17,875 thousand 
euros net of taxes. 

 
The acquisition or production cost of tangible assets, net of their residual value, is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the years of estimated useful life of the various assets, as detailed below 

 
 Years of useful life Depreciation rates used 
   
Buildings for own use 50 a 100 1% to 2% 
Furniture 15 5% to 10% 
Facilities 15 a 20 5% to 10% 
Vehicles 14 5% to 10% 
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Repair and maintenance expenses that do not increase the useful life of the asset concerned are 
charged to the income statement in the year in which they are incurred. 

 
The financial expenses incurred on the financing obtained to acquire property, plant and equipment do 
not increase the acquisition cost and are recorded in the income statement in the year in which they 
are incurred. 

 
Assets acquired with deferred payment are recognised for an amount equivalent to their cash price, 
reflecting a liability for the same amount outstanding. In cases where the deferral exceeds the normal 
deferral period (180 days for property, 90 days for the rest) the expenses arising from the deferral are 
deducted from the acquisition cost and charged to the consolidated income statement as a finance cost. 

 
Property, plant and equipment is eliminated from the balance sheet when they are disposed of, even 
when assigned under a finance lease, or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
financial benefits are expected to be obtained on their disposal, assignment or abandonment. The 
difference between the selling price and their carrying value is recognised in the income statement for 
the period in which the asset is eliminated. 

 
The Group periodically assesses whether there is any indication, either internal or external, that any 
tangible asset may be impaired at the date of the financial statements. For those assets identified, it 
estimates the recoverable amount of the tangible asset, understood to be the greater of 
(i) its fair value less costs to sell and (ii) its value in use. If the recoverable amount, so determined, is 
less than the carrying amount, the difference between the two is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement, reducing the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable amount. 

 
The accounting principles applied to assets held under operating leases and non-current assets and 
disposal groups classified as held for sale are set out in Note 3.p and Note 3.q, respectively. 

 
With the entry into force of IFRS 16, the Group has registered the right to use its leased premises and 
vehicles as indicated in the standard. The impact of the first application of this standard amounted to 
EUR 13,151 thousand. 

 
o) Intangible Assets 

 
Other intangible assets 

 
The Group classifies as other intangible assets those non-monetary assets for which it is considered 
probable that economic benefits will be received and whose cost can be reliably estimated. 

 
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 
The years of useful life and the amortization rates used for intangible assets are as follows: 

 
 Years of useful life Depreciation rate used 
   
Computer Applications 6 16.67% 
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Intangible assets are classified by the Group as having a definite useful life (they are amortised over 
the asset's useful life). 

 
Intangible assets with a defined life are amortised accordingly using criteria that are similar to those 
applied for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment. 

 
In both cases, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the carrying amount of these assets with 
a charge to "Impairment/Reversal of Impairment Losses on Non-Financial Assets - Intangible Assets" 
in the consolidated income statement. The criteria for recognising the impairment losses on these 
assets and, where applicable, the reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years are similar to 
those applied to property, plant and equipment (see Note 3-ñ). 

 
p) Accounting for leasing transactions 

 
When the consolidated entities act as lessors 

 
When the consolidated companies act as the lessor in a lease transaction, they present the 
acquisition cost of the leased assets under "Tangible Assets", either as "Investment Property" or 
"Leased out under an operating lease", depending on the nature of the assets to be leased. 
These assets are depreciated in accordance with the policies adopted for similar tangible assets 
for own use and the income from the leases is recognised in the  consolidated income statement 
on a straight-line basis under "Other Operating Income - Sales and Income from the Provision of 
Non-Financial Services". 

 
When the consolidated entities act as lessees 

 
When the consolidated companies act as lessees in lease transactions, and after the entry into 
force of IFRS 16, the accounting principles and measurement standards adopted by the Group 
are as described below: 

 
- Term of the lease: the term of the lease is equal to the non-cancellable term of a lease, 

plus any periods covered by the option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain 
that the lessee will exercise the option and any periods covered by the option to 
terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will not exercise the option. 

 
- General recognition criteria: assets and liabilities arising from leases are recognised at 

the commencement date of the lease, which is the date on which the lessor makes the 
leased asset available to the lessee for use. 

 
- Initial measurement of the lease liability: at the commencement date of the contract, 

the Group recognises a lease liability for the present value of the lease payments not 
paid at that date. 

 
The discount rate used to calculate the present value of these payments is the interest 
rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow, for a similar term and with similar 
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset with a similar value per right of use in 
a similar economic environment (additional financing rate). 

 
These liabilities are recognised under "Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost - Other 
Financial Liabilities" in the consolidated balance sheet. 
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- Initial measurement of the asset for right of use: On the date of commencement of the 

contract, the Group recognises an asset for right of use that is measured at cost, 
comprising 

 
a) The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, as described above 

 
b) Any rental payments made on or before the start date, less any collections received 

from the landlord (such as incentives received for signing the lease). 
 

c) The initial direct costs borne by the tenant. These include, but are not limited to, 
costs directly related to the location of a tangible good in the location and condition 
necessary for the lessee to operate it. 

 
d) The costs that it estimates it will incur to dismantle and dispose of the leased asset, 

to rehabilitate the site where it is located or to return the asset to the condition 
required by the contract, unless such costs are incurred for the production of 
inventories. These costs are recognised as part of the cost of the right of use asset 
when the Group acquires the obligation to bear them. 

 
Assets with a right of use, for presentation purposes, are classified as tangible or 
intangible assets depending on the nature of the leased asset. 

 
- Subsequent measurement of the lease liability: After initial recognition, the Group 

measures the lease liability for 
 

a) Increase its carrying amount by reflecting the accrued interest, which is calculated 
by applying the interest rate used in the initial measurement to the balance of the 
liability. 

 
b) Reduce its carrying amount by reflecting the lease payments made. 

 
c) Reflect the update of: (i) the term of the lease as a result of a change in the 

assessment of the exercise of options to extend or terminate the lease, (ii) the term 
of the lease and lease payments as a result of a change in the assessment of the 
exercise of the option to purchase the leased asset, (iii) lease payments as a result 
of a change in the assessment of amounts expected to be paid under the residual 
value security, (iv) amounts of future variable lease payments dependent on an 
index or rate as a result of a change in the latter. In the cases referred to in (i) and 
(ii), because the lease term has been discounted, the revised payments shall be 
discounted at a revised discount rate, which shall be equal to the implicit interest 
rate for the remainder of the lease term, if this can be readily determined, or the 
additional financing rate at the assessment date, if not. In the cases referred to in 
(iii) and (iv), because the lease term has not been discounted, the revised payment 
amounts shall be discounted at the discount rate used in the initial measurement, 
unless the change in payment is due to a change in floating interest rates, in which 
case a revised discount rate reflecting the change in interest rate shall be used. 
The Group reviews the term of the lease or the amounts expected to be paid for 
residual value guarantees when a significant event or change occurs with respect 
to the exercise of the options provided for in the contract. Similarly, the Group 
reviews payments linked to an index or rate when, in accordance with the 
contractual terms, the amounts of these payments have to be updated. 
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d) Reflect any changes in the lease. 
 

e) Reflect lease payments that were not considered unavoidable, such as those that 
depend on events previously uncertain of occurrence, but which at the reference 
date are considered to be fixed in substance because they are unavoidable. 

 
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability are 
recognised in the income statement for the period in which the event or 
circumstance giving rise to the payments occurs. 

 
- Subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset: After initial recognition, the Bank 

measures the right-of-use asset at cost: 
 

a) Less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss. If ownership 
of the leased asset is transferred at the end of the contract or if the initial valuation 
of the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the lessee will exercise the 
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the 
leased asset. In other cases, it is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of 
the asset or the lease term. 

 
b) Adjusted to reflect changes in the present value of the lease payments made in 

accordance with the above. 
 
 

- Simplified treatment for recognition and valuation: The Bank accounts for lease 
payments of: 

 
a) Short-term leases (understood as those with a term of twelve months or less at the 

commencement date), provided that they do not incorporate a purchase option. 
 

b) Leases in which the leased good is of low value, provided that the good can be 
used without relying heavily on other goods (or being closely related to them) and 
that the lessee can derive benefit from using the good alone (or in conjunction with 
other readily available resources). The assessment of the value of the leased asset 
is made in absolute terms based on its value in its new condition. 

 
In both cases, they are recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. 

 
- Change in lease: The Bank accounts for the change in a lease by recording a new 

lease separately if the change extends the scope of the contract (by adding one or 
more leased assets) in return for an increase in consideration of an amount similar to 
the specific price that would be paid if a separate lease were to be made on the assets 
added to the contract. 

 
If these requirements are not met, on the date the parties agree to the amendment, the 
Bank: (a) allocates the consideration under the amended contract between the lease 
and other components, (b) determines the amended lease term, (c) remeasures the 
lease liability, discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate, 
determined for the remainder of the lease term and at the date of the amendment, and 
(d) accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability. 
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q) Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and liabilities included in 
disposal groups classified as held for sale 

 
Non-Current Assets and Disposal Groups Classified as Held for Sale" in the consolidated balance sheet 
includes the carrying amount of individual items in a disposal group or as part of a business unit that is 
intended to be disposed of (discontinued operations) whose sale in their present condition is highly 
probable to be completed within one year from the date of the financial statements. Also, investments 
in joint ventures or associates that meet the aforementioned requirements are considered to be non-
current assets and disposal groups that have been classified as held for sale. 

 
Consequently, the recovery of the carrying amount of these items, which may be of a financial or non-
financial nature, will foreseeably be through the price obtained on their disposal, rather than through 
continued use. 

 
Therefore, real estate or other non-current assets received by the Group to meet all or part of the 
payment obligations to it of its debtors are considered to be non-current assets and their disposal groups 
that have been classified as held for sale, unless the Group has decided to make continuing use of 
these assets. 

 
Furthermore, the heading Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale includes the 
creditor balances associated with disposal groups or discontinued operations of the Group. 

 
Assets classified as non-current assets and disposal groups that are classified as held for sale are 
generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount at the time they are considered to be such 
and their fair value net of the estimated costs of sale of those assets, except for financial assets. While 
they remain classified as non-current assets and disposal groups that are classified as held for sale, 
tangible and intangible assets that are depreciable by their nature are not depreciated. 

 
In the case of real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debts, regardless of the legal 
form used, they are initially recognised at the lower of the carrying amount of the financial assets 
applied, i.e. their amortised cost, taking into account the estimated impairment, and the fair value at the 
time of foreclosure or receipt of the asset less the estimated costs to sell, which is understood to be the 
market value granted in full individual appraisals less the costs to sell. 

 
All procedural expenses are recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement for the 
period of the award. Recording expenses and taxes settled may be added to the value initially 
recognised provided that this does not exceed the appraisal value less the estimated costs of sale 
referred to in the preceding paragraph. All costs incurred between the date of adjudication and the date 
of sale due to the maintenance and protection of the asset, such as insurance or security services, are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the period in which they accrue. 

 
After the time of award or receipt, the reference valuation is updated, which serves as a basis for 
estimating the fair value. For the purposes of determining the net fair value of the costs of sales, the 
Group takes into account both the valuations performed by various appraisal companies, all of which 
are registered in the Bank of Spain's special register, and the discounts to the reference value estimated 
by the Bank of Spain, based on its experience and the information it has on the Spanish banking sector. 
Also, when the property has a fair value of less than or equal to 300,000 euros, an update will be made 
using automated valuation models. In any case, when these properties reach a permanence of three 
years in the consolidated balance sheet they will be updated, in any case, by means of a complete 
valuation. Additionally, the appraisal company, which carries out the valuation update, will be different 
from the one that carried out the immediately previous one. 
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If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the assets net of their costs to sell, the Group adjusts 
the carrying amount of the assets by the amount of the excess, with a balancing entry under "Gains or 
Losses on Non-Current Assets and Disposal Groups Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations" in the consolidated income statement. If the fair value of the assets subsequently increases, 
the Group reverses the losses previously recognised, increasing the carrying amount of the assets up 
to the limit of the amount prior to any impairment, with a balancing entry under "Gains or Losses on 
Non-Current Assets and Disposal Groups Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations" in 
the consolidated income statement. 

 
r) Staff costs and post-employment benefits 

 
Short-Term Remuneration 

 
This type of remuneration is valued, without adjustment, at the amount payable for the services received 
and recorded, in general, as staff costs for the year and a liability accrual account is recorded for the 
difference between the total expense and the amount already paid. 

 
Pension commitments 

 
Under the current collective labor agreement, the Group is required, on the one hand, to supplement 
the social security benefits for the widowed spouse and orphans of deceased serving employees and, 
on the other, to maintain accident insurance for its employees with a base capital of 18,000 euros. It 
must also pay a bonus for dedication to employees who, having worked for the Group for twenty years 
or more, are dismissed from the Group due to retirement, total or absolute permanent disability or 
severe disability, in the amount determined by the Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

 
The Group is also required to pay supplementary pension benefits to retired or disabled employees 
who were already receiving them on June 1, 1989. 

 
In 2000 the Group externalised all the aforementioned commitments and took out five insurance policies 
with Compañía Rural Vida, S.A. to cover these risks and pension commitments. 

 
During 2015 two of the policies that had been obtained from this company were changed to CNP 
Partners de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. the Bank is the policyholder for the policy structuring defined 
contribution commitments. Retirement risk coverage accrued for pensions yet to be activated is 
structured through the policy that the Bank has obtained from CNP Partners de Seguros y Reaseguros, 
S.A., and the Insurance Company assumes the demographic and interest rate risks. The risk of 
permanent disability is structured in the same policy as a supplementary benefit. 

 
In compliance with the provisions of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2002, of 29 November, approving the 
revised text of the Pension Plans and Funds Law, and Royal Decree 1588/1999, of 15 October, 
approving the regulations on the instrumentation of the company's pension obligations to employees 
and beneficiaries, the Group covers these obligations through a group insurance policy taken out with 
the aforementioned insurance company. 

 
The Parent Entity’s pension commitments are configured as defined benefit plans, and the 
corresponding actuarial valuation is carried out annually by an independent expert, based on economic 
and biometric assumptions, and the normal cost corresponding to the annual risk is financed by a 
premium that the Group also pays annually. 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the actuarial gains and losses recognised under "Reserves" in "Equity" 
amounted to EUR 15 thousand and EUR 77 thousand, respectively. 

 
The Group calculates the present value of its legal and constructive obligations under its defined benefit 
plan at the date of the financial statements, after deducting any actuarial gains or losses, and the fair 
value of the plan assets as required by current regulations. The amount thus obtained is recorded as a 
provision (asset) for defined benefit pension funds. 

 
The Group considers plan assets to be those with the following characteristics: 

 
- They are owned by a legally separate third-party that is not a related party. 

 
- They are exclusively available to pay for or finance commitments with employees. 

 
- They cannot be refunded to the Group except when commitments with employees have been 

settled or to repay the Group for benefits previously satisfied by the Entity. 
 

- They are not non-transferable instruments issued by the Group. 
 

Changes in the recorded provision will be recognized: 
 

- In the consolidated income statement: the service cost for the current period, interest net of 
the provision (asset) for interest cost, past service cost and the gain or loss on settlement. 

 
- In the statement of changes in equity: new valuations of the provision (asset), resulting from 

actuarial gains or losses, the return on plan assets that are not included in the net interest 
on the provision (asset), and changes in the present value of the asset resulting from changes 
in the present value of the flows available to the entity that are not included in the net interest 
on the provision (asset). The amounts recognised in the statement of changes in equity shall 
not be reclassified to the consolidated income statement in a subsequent period. 

 
The main assumptions used in valuing these commitments were 

 
   2021   2020 

Mortality and survival tables PER 2020 1st order collective PER 2020 1st order collective 
Agreed technical interest in the policies 0.90% 0.50% 
CPI growth 1.8% cumulative 1.5% cumulative 
Pre-retirement salary growth 2.8% cumulative 2.5% cumulative 
Wage evolution 2.8% 2.5% 
Evolution of Social Security bases n/a n/a 
Date of retirement First age at which the employee is First age at which the employee 

 entitled under current Social is entitled under current Social 
 Security regulations. If the Security regulations. If the 
 theoretical retirement age theoretical retirement age 
 according to the above does not according to the above does not 
 give rise to payment of the give rise to payment of the 
 benefit, it is considered to be the benefit, it is considered to be the 
 age at which the right to payment age at which the right to payment 
 is achieved, with a maximum of is achieved, with a maximum of 
 70 years. 70 years. 

Rotation No No 
 

The results of the actuarial measurements performed are set out below, breaking down the value of the 
pension commitment, the fair value of the assets (insurance policy) associated with the coverage of 
those commitments, as well as the amounts recognised under assets, liabilities and in the consolidated 
income statement. 
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In accordance with the aforementioned assumptions, the valuation of the pensioncommitments and 
risks was: 
 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 

Pension commitments caused (1) 233 240 
Uncaused pension risks 8,356 8,007 

Accrued (2) 2,832 2,756 
Unearned 5,524 5,251 

Commitments to be covered (1) + (2) 3,065 2,996 
Fair value of plan assets (policies) 2,211 2,298 
   
Assets (Liabilities) to be recognized on the balance sheet (Note 18) (854) (698) 

 
The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement were as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 

   2021    2020 
Cost of services    
Current year 222  210 
Past services   -     - 

   222     210 
Net interest on liabilities (assets)    
Interest cost 16  18 
Expected return on plan assets (12)  (15) 

   4     3 
Actuarial loss (gain) recognized year (*)   -     - 
(Income)/expense recognized in the income statement 226  213 

(*) As mentioned above, actuarial gains and losses amounting to EUR -7 thousand in 2021 and EUR -14 thousand in 2020, respectively, were 
recognised directly in equity. 

 
In addition to the aforementioned commitments, the Governing Board of the Parent Company held on 
28th June 2005, agreed to take out a collective capital retirement insurance policy, amounting to 1,142 
thousand euros, to be distributed amongst the employees of the company on said date. These 
employees may redeem the aforementioned insurance in the following cases: 

 
- Total or partial retirement 
- Death 
- Permanent absolute or total disability 

 
This collective capital insurance (defined contribution) was taken out following the Group's redemption 
of the mathematical reserves established in the policy covering the commitments to widows and 
orphans of retirees, when this commitment was cancelled in the collective agreement of the Cooperative 
Societies of Credit. The amount recovered during 2005 was 1,142 thousand euros. 

 
The aforementioned group insurance was set up by means of a single contribution, and the Group has 
no commitment to supplement this insurance in future years. 

 
Severance payments 

 

Termination benefits are recognised as a provision for pension funds and similar obligations and as a 
personnel expense only when the Group is demonstrably committed to terminating its relationship with 
an employee or group of employees before the normal retirement date, or to paying termination benefits 
as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy by employees. 
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s) Other Provisions and contingencies 
 

The Group differentiates between provisions and contingent liabilities. The former are credit balances 
covering present obligations at the consolidated balance sheet date arising from past events which 
could give rise to a loss for the Group, which is considered to be probable as to its occurrence; they are 
specific as to their nature but uncertain as to their amount and/or timing; whereas the latter are possible 
obligations arising from past events, the occurrence of which is conditional upon the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events outside the Group's control. 

 
The Group's consolidated financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which 
it is considered that it is more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled. Contingent 
liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but rather are disclosed in the memorandum of 
understanding. 

 
Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the consequences of 
the event giving rise to them and are re-estimated at each accounting close, are used to meet the 
specific obligations for which they were originally recognised. for which they were originally recognised. 
Provisions are fully or partially reversed when such obligations cease to exist or are reduced. 

 
Legal proceedings and/or claims in progress 

 

At the end of 2021 and 2020, various legal proceedings and claims were in progress against the Group 
companies arising from the ordinary course of their business. Both the legal advisors of the Parent 
Company and its Administrators understand that the conclusion of these procedures and claims will not 
produce a significant effect on the annual accounts for the years in which they end that are not already 
adequately provisioned. 

 
In the context of the recent publication of Royal Decree Law 1/2017 of 20 January on urgent consumer 
protection measures in relation to land clauses and, previously, following the ruling of the European 
Court of Justice (ECJ) of 21 December 2016, the Group recognised provisions of EUR 5.1 million at 
2021 year-end to cover this contingency (see Note 18). 

 
Consequently and due to the measures adopted, the Parent Company does not foresee any additional 
impact on the 2021 annual accounts due to the application of the provisions contained in the 
aforementioned Royal Decree Law. 

 
On the other hand, neither the European Union Court of Justice ruling nor Royal Decree Law 1/2017, 
presuppose or prejudge the legality of the ground clauses contained in the mortgage loan contracts 
signed by the Parent Company, which carries out its activity with total transparency in its relations with 
its customers. 

 
It should be noted that the Eurocaja Rural Group maintains a portfolio of mortgage loan agreements 
referenced to the Mortgage Loan Reference Index (IRPH), the official index published by the Bank of 
Spain, in accordance with article 27 of Order EHA/2899/2011 of 28 October on transparency and 
protection of banking services customers and Bank of Spain Circular 5/2012 of 27 June to credit 
institutions and payment service providers on transparency of banking services and responsibility in the 
granting of loans. 

 
In this respect, various proceedings have been initiated against most Spanish credit institutions, 
claiming that the clauses linking the interest rate of mortgage loans to personal income tax did not 
comply with European transparency regulations. In Ruling 669/2017 of 14 December 2017, the 
Supreme Court confirmed the validity of these clauses as they were an official index and therefore not 
subject to transparency control. 
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Following the submission of a number of questions for preliminary rulings by Spanish courts, the Court 
of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) decided to open Case C-125/18, in which a report by the 
European Commission, dated 31 May 2018, has been issued as a milestone, in which he proposes that 
the Court of Justice answer the questions referred for a preliminary ruling, arguing that it is possible to 
analyse the use of the index in terms of unfairness (Directive 93/12), and the opinion of the Advocate 
General of the Court of Justice of 10 September 2018, which considers that the clause incorporating 
the personal income tax is subject to control of unfairness. In addition, on 3 March 2020, the Court of 
Justice of the European Union handed down its judgment in Case C- 125/18, which declared, in line 
with previous reports, that personal income tax clauses in mortgage loan contracts concluded with 
consumers fall within the scope of the Directive on unfair terms, stating that the Spanish courts must 
check that such clauses are clear and understandable. If these courts conclude that these terms are 
unfair, they may replace them with a legal rate applicable in a supplementary manner, in order to protect 
the consumers concerned from the particularly harmful consequences which could result from the 
cancellation of the loan contract. 

 
Therefore, in each specific case in which, as a result of the analysis, abuse was declared, the effects 
of this pronouncement will have to be determined, which raises doubts as to the interest rate that should 
be applied. 

 
On March 3, 2020, the CJEU issued a Judgment in the aforementioned Case C-125/18, declaring that 
the clauses that incorporate the IRPH in mortgage loan contracts concluded with consumers are 
included in the scope of the Directive on clause abusive. In this ruling it is resolved that the Spanish 
courts must carry out a legality check in order to verify that they are not clauses that may have a lack 
of transparency and that may cause an imbalance for the consumer (abusiveness). If the courts 
consider that they are abusive clauses, they may replace them with a legal index applicable in a 
supplementary manner, to protect consumers from harmful consequences that could derive from the 
cancellation of the loan contract. 

 
On November 12, 2020, the First Chamber of the Supreme Court issued several judgments that resolve 
four appeals in relation to the IRPH index, and whose matters were deliberated in the Plenary of the 
Supreme Court on October 21, 2020, date in which the ruling was advanced. 

 
In these resolutions, the High Court considers that the publication of the IRPH in the Official State 
Gazette exceeded the transparency requirements regarding the operation and calculation of the IRPH, 
thus allowing the consumer to understand that said index uses the average rate of the mortgage loans 
for more than three years for the purchase of a home, thus including the spreads and expenses applied 
by such entities. 

 
Second, the CJEU established the information that the lender provided to the consumer on the IRPH 
history as a criterion of transparency. Even so, if the lack of information in the previous two years implies 
a lack of transparency of the disputed clause, this circumstance does not necessarily determine its 
invalidity. The effect of an eventual lack of transparency opens the possibility of carrying out the 
abusiveness trial, as the CJEU has reiterated, that is, weighing whether it is a clause that ultimately 
causes a significant imbalance of the rights and obligations of the contracting parties. 

 
Regarding the previous parameter, the Supreme Court has considered that the offer by the banking 
entity of an official index, approved by the banking authority, cannot in itself violate good faith. This 
circumstance is reinforced by the fact that the Central Government and several autonomous 
governments, through regulatory norms, have considered that the IRPH was the most appropriate to 
use as a reference index in the field of financing of officially protected housing. 
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At 31 December 2021, the outstanding balance of non-doubtful mortgage loans to individuals linked to 
personal income tax held by the Group amounted to EUR 12,793 thousand (0.2% of the total gross 
balance of loans and advances to customers). 
 
At year end, a number of legal proceedings and claims were underway against the Group in connection 
with the ordinary course of its activity. The Group’s legal counsel and its directors consider that the 
outcome of these proceedings and claims will not have a significant effect on the annual accounts for 
the years in which these processes are concluded. However, following the analysis conducted by its 
legal counsel, the Group has recognised provisions at the 2021 year end in respect of legal proceedings 
classified as probable (see note 18). 
 
t) Fees 
 
The Group classifies the fees it charges or pays into the following categories: 

 
- Finance fees: these charges, which are an integral part of the effective yield or cost of a 

financial transaction and are collected or paid in advance, are generally recognised in the 
consolidated income statement over the expected life of the financing, net of the related direct 
costs, as an adjustment to the effective cost or yield of the transaction. 

 
- Non-financial fees: These fees arise from the provision of services by the Group and are 

recorded in the consolidated income statement over the period during which the service is 
provided or, if the service is provided in a single act, at the time of the single act. 

 
u) Swaps of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

 

In swaps of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, the Group measures the assets 
received at the fair value of the assets delivered plus, where appropriate, the monetary consideration 
delivered in exchange, unless there is clearer evidence of the fair value of the asset received. When 
the fair values cannot be measured reliably, the assets received are recognised at the carrying amount 
of the assets delivered plus, where appropriate, the monetary consideration delivered in exchange. 

 
Losses arising from asset swap transactions are recognised immediately in the consolidated income 
statement, whereas gains are only recognised if the swap has commercial substance and the fair values 
of the swapped assets are reliably measurable. 

 
v) Education and Promotion Fund 

 

The Group reflects on its liabilities the allocations to the education, training and promotion fund, which 
if they are mandatory are recognised as an expense for the year and if they are additional they are 
recognised as an application of the profit. 

 
This allowance is normally credited to cash, unless the welfare projects are carried out through the 
Group's own activities, in which case the education, training and promotion allowance is reduced and 
income is recognised in the consolidated income statement at the same time. 

 
w) Corporate Income tax 

 

The income tax expense is determined by the tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for a given 
year, after taking into account the changes in that year arising from temporary differences, tax credits 
and tax relief and tax loss carryforwards. 
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Corporate income tax expense is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except when the 
transaction is recognised directly in equity and in business combinations where the deferred tax is 
recognised as an asset item in equity. 

 
In order for the tax credits, tax relief and tax loss carryforwards to be effective, the requirements 
established in current legislation must be met, provided that their recovery is probable, either because 
there are sufficient deferred taxes or because they have arisen from specific situations that are 
considered unlikely to occur in the future. 

 
The tax effect of temporary differences is included, where appropriate, in the related deferred tax assets 
and liabilities recognised under "Tax Assets" and "Tax Liabilities" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

 
At least at each accounting close, the Group reviews the deferred taxes recorded, and therefore the 
related tax assets and liabilities recognised, making the appropriate valuation adjustments in the event 
that these deferred taxes are not effective or are not recoverable. 

 
x) Off-balance sheet customer funds 

 

The Group includes in memorandum accounts, at fair value, the funds entrusted by third parties for 
investment in investment companies and funds, pension funds, insurance-savings. 

 
In addition, assets acquired on behalf of the Group for third parties and debt instruments, equity 
instruments, derivatives and other financial instruments held on deposit, as security or as commission 
in the Group, for which the Group has a responsibility, are recognised in memorandum accounts at fair 
value or, if no reliable estimate exists, at cost. 

 
The fees charged for the provision of these services are recognised under "Fee and Commission 
Income" in the consolidated income statement. 

 
y) Statement of recognised income and expense 

 
This part of the statement of changes in equity presents the income and expenses generated by the 
Group as a result of its activity during the year, distinguishing between those recognised as income in 
the consolidated income statement for the year and the other income and expenses recognised, in 
accordance with current regulations, directly in equity. 

 
Therefore, in this state it is presented: 

 
• The result of the exercise. 
 
• The net amount of recognised income and expense that will not be reclassified to profit or 

loss. 
 
• The net amount of income and expenses recognised temporarily as valuation adjustments 

in equity. 
 
• The net amount of income and expenses definitively recognised in equity. 
 
• The income tax accrued for the concepts indicated in the two previous paragraphs. 
 
• Total recognised income and expense, calculated as the sum of the above. 
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The changes in income and expenses recognised temporarily in equity as valuation adjustments are 
broken down into 

 
• Valuation Gains (Losses): includes the amount of income, net of the expenses arising in the 

year, recognised directly in equity. The amounts recognised in the year under this heading 
are retained in this item, although in the same year they are transferred to the consolidated 
income statement at the initial value of other assets or liabilities or reclassified to another 
item. 

 
• Amounts transferred to the consolidated income statement: this includes the amount of the 

valuation gains or losses previously recognised in equity, even if they were incurred in the 
same year, which are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

 
• Amount transferred to the initial value of the hedged items: this includes the amount of the 

valuation gains or losses previously recognised in equity, even in the same year, which are 
recognised in the initial value of the assets or liabilities as a result of cash flow hedges. 

 
• Other reclassifications: includes the amount of the transfers made in the year between 

valuation adjustment items in accordance with the criteria established in current regulations. 
 

The amounts of these items are presented at their gross amount and, except as indicated above for the 
items relating to valuation adjustments of entities accounted for using the equity method, their 
corresponding tax effect is shown under the heading "Income tax expense/income from continuing 
operations" in the statement. 

 
z) Statement of changes in equity 

 

This statement presents all movements in equity, including those arising from changes in accounting 
policies and corrections of errors. This statement therefore shows a reconciliation of the carrying 
amount at the beginning and at the end of the year of all the items making up equity, grouping the 
movements by nature into the following items: 

 
a) Effects of changes in accounting policies and Effects of correction of errors: which includes 

changes in equity arising from retrospective restatement of financial statement balances 
resulting from changes in accounting policies or from the correction of errors. 

 
b) Total overall result for the year: this includes, on an aggregate basis, the total items 

recorded in the above-mentioned statement of recognised public income and expenditure. 
 

c) Other changes in equity: includes the other items recorded in equity, such as increases or 
decreases in capital, distribution of results, transactions with own equity instruments, 
payments with equity instruments, transfers between equity items and any other increase 
or decrease in equity. 
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aa) Cash flow statement 
 

The cash flow statement uses certain concepts that have the following definitions: 
 

• Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, defined as highly liquid, 
current investments with low risk of experiencing significant fluctuations in their value. 

 
• Operating activities: typical banking activities of the Group. The activities performed with 

financial instruments will be considered operating activities, albeit with certain exceptions, 
such as financial assets included in the portfolio of held-to-maturity investments, equity 
instruments classified as available for sale that are strategic investments and subordinated 
financial liabilities. 

 
• Investing activities: are those that involve the acquisition, sale or disposal of non-current 

assets and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents, such as tangible 
assets, intangible assets, investments in joint ventures and associates, non-current assets 
and liabilities included in disposal groups of items classified as held for sale, equity 
instruments classified as available for sale that are strategic investments and financial 
assets included in the held-to-maturity investment portfolio. 

 
• Financing activities: activities that alter the amount and structure of equity and liabilities that 

are not operating activities. 
 

The Group considers the balances included under "Cash, Cash Balances with Central Banks and 
Other Demand Deposits" in the consolidated balance sheet to be cash and cash equivalents. 

 
ab) Income and expense recognition 

 
The most significant accounting criteria used by the Group to recognise its income and expenses are 
summarised below: 

 
In general, interest income and expenses and similar items are recognised on an accrual basis by 
applying the effective interest method. Dividends received from other companies are recognised as 
income when the right to receive them is declared by the Company. 

 
Income and expenses relating to other fees and similar charges that are not required to be included in 
the calculation of the effective interest rate of transactions and/or are not included in the acquisition 
cost of financial assets or liabilities other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement using criteria that vary according to their nature. The 
most significant criteria are as follows: 

 
• Those relating to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through 

profit and loss, which are recognised in the income statement when they are settled. 
 

• Those related to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value through 
profit and loss, which are recognized in the income statement at the time of their settlement. 

 
• Those arising from transactions or services that extend over time, which are recognised in the 

consolidated income statement over the life of the transactions or services. 
 

• Those relating to a single act, which are charged to the income statement when the act giving 
rise to them takes place. 

 
Non-financial income and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis. 
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Deferred collections and payments over time are recognized for accounting purposes at the amount 
resulting from the financial restatement of expected cash flows at market rates. 

 
ac) Business combinations 

 

On the date of acquisition, i.e. when control over the assets is obtained: 
 

• The acquirer incorporates into its financial statements, or into the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the business acquired, including, 
where appropriate, intangible assets not recognised by it, that at that date qualify for recognition 
as such, measured at fair value calculated in accordance with the measurement bases set out 
in IFRS 9. 

 
• The cost of the business combination shall be the sum of the fair value of the assets delivered, 

the liabilities incurred, and the equity instruments issued by the acquirer, if any, and any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination, such as fees paid to legal advisers and 
consultants to effect the combination. This consideration does not include the costs of arranging 
and issuing financial liabilities and equity instruments. 

 
• The buyer will compare the cost of the business combination against the acquired percentage 

of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised by the acquired 
company and the resulting difference from this comparison will be recorded: 

 
 

- When positive, as goodwill under assets and under no circumstances will it be amortised 
but on an annual basis it will be subject to the impairment test established by IAS 36 
“Impairment of Assets”. 

 
- When negative it will be recognised in the income statement as income under the heading 

"Negative differences on business combinations", after again verifying the fair values 
assigned to all equity items and the cost of the business combination. 

 
4. DISTRIBUTION OF RESULTS 

 
The distribution of the profit for the year 2021 of the Parent Company is included below, which the 
Group's Governing Board will propose to the General Assembly for its approval, together with the 
distribution for the year 2020, that was formulated in the individual annual accounts corresponding to 
the year ended December 31, 2020.  

 
  Thousands of euros 

   2021    2020 
Distribution  

To remuneration of capital 6,130  4,923 
A mandatory reserve fund 26,318  26,038 

Voluntary reserve fund 5,264  5,207 
 

Total distributed 
 

37,712 
  

36,168 
 

Profit for the year 
 

37,712 
  

36,168 
 
The results of the other companies that make up the Eurocaja Rural Group will be distributed as agreed 
by their respective Shareholders/Partners. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

a) Credit risk 
 

The credit risk arises from the possible loss caused by the breach of contractual obligations of the 
Parent Company's counterparties. In the case of reimbursable financing granted to third parties (in the 
form of credits, loans, deposits, securities and others) it occurs as a consequence of the non- recovery 
of the principal, interest and other concepts in the terms of amount, term and other conditions 
established in the contracts. In the case of off-balance sheet risks, it arises from the failure of the 
counterparty to meet its obligations to third parties, which requires the Bank to assume them as its own 
by virtue of the commitment it has undertaken. 

 
Credit risk is the most significant risk to which the Parent Company is exposed as a consequence of 
the development of its banking activity, and is understood as the risk that the counterparty is unable to 
completely reimburse the amounts owed. 

 
Credit risk management in the Parent Company is an integral and homogeneous process that covers 
from the moment the customer requests financing through the branch network until the total amount of 
the loaned funds is returned. In addition, the different basic criteria for credit risk admission in the Parent 
Company are established and the minimum obligatory documentation necessary for compliance with 
the regulations in force at any given time, always referenced to fundamental aspects of liquidity, 
security, profitability and collateral business. 

 
In order to establish a more agile and specialised treatment in the study and analysis of the asset 
operations of our clients, the Parent Company has defined areas and specialised units depending on 
the segment or type of operation which, due to its characteristics, has or should have a differentiated 
treatment. In this way, the aim is to respond to the customer in a more professional and agile manner, 
as well as a greater degree of accuracy in the final decision, in order to achieve a portfolio with the best 
credit quality. 

 
For the analysis and management of credit risk, the Parent Company has tools to help and support 
the final decision, scoring systems, which are currently in operation for the segments of individual 
customers (mortgages, consumer and cards) and micro companies (turnover of less than 1 million 
euros). 

 
The system, both for micro-enterprises and individuals, evaluates the probability of non-payment of a 
risk operation, analyzing the client/operation binomial. 

 
For companies with a turnover of more than one million euros, there is a rating which evaluates the 
company's position with regard to the probability of non-payment by means of a score of 1 to 8 (one 
being the worst and most likely to default, eight being the best). 
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The exposure to credit risk at the end of 2021 and 2020 is shown below: 
 

  Thousands of euros  
   2021     2020  

Clients 4,576,021  4,945,290 
Deposits with credit institutions 12,280  12,432 
Debt securities 2,584,070  3,070,125 
Derivatives 1,796  2,369 
Financial guarantees granted 26,207  22,791 

 
Total Risk 

 
7,200,374  

 
8,053,007 

 
Commitments for loans granted 

 
494,410  

 
538,303 

Other commitments granted 90,389  69,565 
 

Total exposure 
 

7,785,173  
 

8,660,875 
 

The distribution of "Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances - Customers" according 
to their situation at the end of 2021 and 2020, is as follows 

 
  Thousands of euros 

   2021    2020 

Normal risk (Stage 1) 4,570,390  4,924,662 
Normal risk in special surveillance (Stage 2) 79,633  45,960 
Doubtful risk (Stage 3) 80,028  85,167 

 
Valuation adjustments 

 
(103,970) 

  
(110,499) 

 
Total 

 
4,576,021 

  
4,945,290 

 
As regards the degree of concentration of credit risk, and with regard to large exposures, defined as 
those that exceed 10% of equity, no exposure to an individual or group may exceed 25% of its equity, 
except for those risks deducted from computable equity because they exceed the limits for large 
exposures. In addition, the total of major risks must not exceed eight times equity. The Entity's risk 
allocation policy takes into account the aforementioned limits, and counterparty risk limits have been 
established in accordance with these requirements, as well as control procedures for exceeding them. 

 
Information on refinancing and restructuring 

 
Regarding Refinancing, Restructuring, Renewal or Renegotiation of debts, and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Bank of Spain in Circular 4/2017 modified by Circular 3/2020, applied by the Group as 
of March 31, 2020, has a debt renegotiation policy, detailed in the Credit Risk Policy. This policy 
contains the requirements, conditions and situations under which a range of measures is offered for the 
efficient management of exposure to clients experiencing temporary financial difficulties. In this way, 
the refinancing, restructuring, renewal or renegotiation of operations as a credit risk management 
instrument is used appropriately and prudently, without undermining the timely and early recognition of 
the deterioration of operations due to the risk of default. 

 
The priority Refinancing / Restructuring option will be the extension of the repayment terms, to allow 
the debt service to be adapted to the client's new financial situation. 

 
The accounting classification of these risks will be doubtful, normal, special or normal surveillance and 
the coverage for impairment is set according to the criteria set by the Bank of Spain in Annex IX of the 
Circular. These operations will cease to be identified in the financial statements as refinancing, 
refinanced or restructured operations when they meet the requirements to cease to be identified as 
indicated in the Circular itself. 
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Those refinancing, refinanced or restructured operations that, during the trial period, undergo a new 
refinancing or restructuring, or have amounts overdue for more than thirty days, will be reclassified to 
the category of doubtful risk for reasons other than delinquency, provided that they were classified in 
the category of doubtful risk before the start of the trial period. Refinancing, refinanced or restructured 
operations that are not appropriate to be classified as doubtful risk, will be included in the normal risk 
category under special surveillance, unless it is justified that a significant increase in credit risk has not 
been identified since the initial recognition, in which case the operation will be classified as normal risk 
(Note 2.b). 

 
In accordance with the traceability principle required by Circular 4/2017, the Group's internal information 
system keeps the information on the necessary modification to ensure the proper monitoring, evaluation 
and control of the operation at all times. 

 
The balances of refinancing and restructuring as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 
are detailed below: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
 Total Of which: Stage 3 Total Of which: Stage 3 
Gross amount 42,520 24,929 52,435 35,822 
Impairment adjustments (8,840) (7,033) (15,213) (13,030) 
Net amount 33,680 17,896 37,222 22,792 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the value of the property collateral was EUR 35,578 thousand and 
EUR 46,748 thousand, respectively, while the value of other collateral was EUR 44 thousand and EUR 
51 thousand, respectively. 

 
As of December 31, 2021, the detail of refinanced and restructured operations, according to the 
criteria of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and its subsequent modifications, is as follows 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 31 December 2021 
 Total 
 With real guarantee No real guarantee  

   

Maximum amount of the 
security right that can be 

considered   

Cumulative 
impairment or 
losses in fair 
value due to 

credit risk  
No. Of 

operations 
Gross 

amount 
Property 

guarantee 
Other 

guarantees 
No. Of 

operations 
Gross 

amount 
        
Credit institutions - - - - - - - 
Public Administrations - - - - 1 61 - 
Other financial companies and 
individual entrepreneurs        
(financial business activity) Non-
financial companies and 2 93 85 - 3 3 - 
individual entrepreneurs (non- financial 
business activity) 241 17,258 16,369 17 336 4,075 (4,294) 
Of which: construction financing        
and real estate development (including 
land) 17 3,855 3,671 - 1 1 (1,023) 
Rest of households 282 18,227 17,045 27 225 2,803 (4,546) 
        
 525 35,578 33,499 44 565 6,942 (8,840) 
Additional information        
Financing classified as non- current 
assets and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale - - - - - - - 
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 Thousands of euros 

 31 December 2021 
 Of which: Default/Doubtful (Stage 3) 

 With real guarantee  No real guarantee   

     

Maximum amount of  
the security right that 

can be considered     

 

Cumulative 
impairment or 
losses in fair 
value due to 

credit risk  
No. Of 

operations  
Gross 

amount  
Property 

guarantee  
Other 

guarantees  
No. Of 

operations  
Gross 

amount 
              
Credit institutions -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
              
Public Administrations -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other financial companies and 

individual entrepreneurs 
(financial business activity) 1  17  9  -  3  3  - 

Non-financial companies and 
individual entrepreneurs (non- 
financial business activity) 136  10,715  9,989  17  273  3,663  (4,294) 

Of which: construction financing 
and real estate development 
(including land) 10  1,820  1,636  -  1  1  (673) 

Rest of households 137  9,523  8,684  -  181  1,008  (2,739) 
              

 274  20,255  18,682  17  457  4,674  (7,033) 
              
Additional information              
Financing classified as non- current 

assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 
As of December 31, 2020, the detail of refinanced and restructured operations, according to the 
criteria of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and subsequent amendments, is as follows 

 
Thousands of euros 

31 December 2020 
       Total       

  With real guarantee    No real guarantee    

    Maximum amount of the 
security right that can be 

  considered  

     Cumulative 
impairment or 
losses in fair 
value due to 

  credit risk 
 No. of 

     operations 
 Gross 

  amount 
 Property 

      guarantee 
 Other 

guarantees 
 No. of 

     operations 
 Gross 

  amount 

Credit institutions -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Public Administrations -  -  -  -  1  71  - 
Other financial companies and 

individual entrepreneurs 
(financial business activity) 

 
 

2 

  
 

39 

  
 

39 

  
 

- 

  
 

3 

  
 

12 

  
 

- 
Non-financial companies and 

individual entrepreneurs (non- 
financial business activity) 

 
 

260 

  
 

28,046 

  
 

25,609 

  
 

17 

  
 

353 

  
 

4,281 

  
 

(10,233) 
Of which: construction financing 

and real estate development 
(including land) 

 
 

25 

  
 

12,276 

  
 

12,134 

  
 

6 

  
 

1 

  
 

1 

  
 

(6,301) 
Rest of households   284    18,664    17,354    40    209    1,322    (4,980) 

 546  46,749  43,002  57  566  5,686  (15,213) 
Additional information              

Financing classified as non- 
current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for 
sale 

 
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 
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Thousands of euros 

31 December 2020 
Of which: Default/Doubtful (Stage 3) 

  With real guarantee    No real guarantee    

    Maximum amount of the 
security right that can be 

  considered  

     Cumulative 
impairment or 
losses in fair 
value due to 

  credit risk 
 No. of 

     operations 
 Gross 

  amount 
 Property 

      guarantee 
 Other 

guarantees 
 No. of 

     operations 
 Gross 

  amount 

Credit institutions -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Public Administrations -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other financial companies and 

individual entrepreneurs 
(financial business activity) 

 
 

1 

  
 

19 

  
 

19 

  
 

- 

  
 

2 

  
 

12 

  
 

- 
Non-financial companies and 

individual entrepreneurs (non- 
financial business activity) 

 
 

143 

  
 

20,709 

  
 

18,455 

  
 

17 

  
 

282 

  
 

3,792 

  
 

(10,233) 
Of which: construction financing 

and real estate development 
(including land) 

 
 

15 

  
 

9,509 

  
 

9,367 

  
 

- 

  
 

1 

  
 

1 

  
 

(5,932) 
Rest of households   136    9,408    8,505    -    161    1,006    (2,797) 

 280  30,136  26,979  17  445  4,810  (13,030) 
Additional information              

Financing classified as non- 
current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for 
sale 

 
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

  
 

- 

 
The carrying amount at 31 December 2021 and 2020 of the heading "Financial assets at amortised cost 
- Loans and advances - Customers", broken down by activity and purpose, detailing the type of 
guarantee and distributed by tranches based on the percentage of the carrying amount of the financing 
over the amount of the last available valuation or guarantee maturity, is as follows: 

 
Thousands of euros 

31 December 2021 
Secured credit. Loan to value 

 
 

                                                                                Total 

 
Of which: 

Real estate 
guarantee  

Of which: 
Rest of 

guarantees 
real  

 

LTV 
≤40%  

 
40%< 
LTV ≤ 

60%  

 
60%< 
LTV ≤ 

80%  

 
80%< 
LTV ≤ 
100% 

 

LTV > 
  100% 

Public Administrations 325,774 - 20 - 11 - 9 - 
Other financial institutions 16,935 1,928            9 284 929 629 95 - 
Non-financial companies and individual 
entrepreneurs 

 
  990,145  

 
354,709  

 
63,569  

 
116,835  124,291        93,177 20,502 63,473 

Construction and real estate 
development 

 
  6,909 

 
   3,929   96    2,513    875    375 10 252 

Construction of civil works 21 - - - - - - - 
Other purposes   983,215  350,780  63,473  114,322  123,416        92,802 20,492 63,221 

Large companies 98,995 2,095 1,617 3,569 - - - 143 
SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 884,220 348,685 61,856 110,753 123,416 92,802 20,492 63,078 

Other households and NPISHs      3,225,163  3,058,351  1,894    369,780  650,629 1,319,540 574,716 145,580 
Housing 3,243,167 3,001,761 898 349,471 632,955 1,305,107 571,337 143,790 
Consumption 68,345 3,108 536 1,577 915 613 57 481 
Other purposes 159,707 53,482 460 18,732 16,759 13,820 3,322 1,309 

Total 4,576,021 3,414,988 65,492 486,899 775,860 1,413,346 595,322 209,053 
 

Refinancing operations, 
refinanced and restructured 

 
 

33,680 

 
 

33,661 19 14,362 7,107 6,841 3,549 1,821 
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Thousands of euros 

31 December 2020 
Secured credit. Loan to value 

 
 

  Total 

 
Of which: 

Real estate 
    guarantee 

Of which: 
Rest of 

guarantees 
  real     

 

LTV 
≤40%     

 
40%< 
LTV ≤ 

60% 

 
60%< 
LTV ≤ 

  80%     

 
80%< 
LTV ≤ 
100% 

 

LTV > 
    100% 

Public Administrations 219,513  16 - - 16 - - 
Other financial institutions 893,092 1,731 864,747 262 797            538 147 864,734 
Non-financial companies and individual 
entrepreneurs 894,991 331,518           53,159 113,693 111,963           86,281 15,907 56,833 

Construction and real estate 
development 34,205 26,721 289         14,565 7,889 3,713 514 329 
Construction of civil works 75 - 34 - -          - - 34 
Other purposes 860,711 304,797           52,836    99,128 104,074                82,568 15,393 56,470 

Large companies 55,760 2,358 1,772   4,120 -        10 - - 
SMEs and individual entrepreneurs 804,951 302,439 51,064   95,008 104,074     82,558 15,393 56,470 

Other households and NPISHs 2,937,694 2,690,256             1,614       345,196 563,380     1,101,467 499,362 182,465 
Housing 2,655,280 2,636,460 993   324,307 547,704     1,088,414 496,381 180,647 
Consumption 55,200 2,561 303   1,490 654   447 65 208 
Other purposes 227,214 51,235     318   19,399 15,022   12,606 2,916 1,610 

Total 
4,945,290 3,023,505         919,536   459,151 676,140   1,188,302 

                    
515,416                 1,104,032    

 
Refinancing operations, 
refinanced and restructured 37,222 37,198                 22   14,793        8,929 7,322      3,946                2,230 

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the detail of risk concentration by activity and geographical area is as 
follows: 

 
2021   Thousands of euros 

  
 

  Total 

 
 

  Spain 

Rest of the 
European 

  Union 

 
 

    America 

 
Rest of the 

  world 

   Central banks and credit institutions   
2,266,270     1,637,548 495,287 116,549 16,886 

Public Administrations 1,691,238 1,280,211 411,027 - - 
Central Administration 1,092,394 741,367 351,027 - - 
Rest 598,844 538,844 60,000 - - 

Other financial institutions 647,806 362,458 269,606 7,633 8,109 
Non-financial companies and individual 
entrepreneurs 

1,035,329 1,034,023 - 1,293 13 

    
Construction and real estate development(b) 

 
38,127 

 
38,127 

- - - 

        Construction of civil works 22,621 22,621 - - - 
Other purposes 974,581         973,275 - 1,293 13 

Large companies (c) 98,995 98,995 - - - 
SMEs and individual entrepreneurs (c) 875,586 874,280 28 1,293 13 

Other households and NPISHs 3,250,018 3,241,029 3,849 1,401 3,739 
Housing (d) 3,038,135 3,030,161 3,475 869 3,630 
Consumption (d) 68,345 68,143 100 32 70 
Other purposes (d)   143,538   142,725  274  500  39 

TOTAL 8,890,661 7,555,269 1,179,769 126,876 28,747 
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2020   Thousands of euros 

  
 
  Total 

 
 
  Spain 

Rest of the 
European 

 Union 

 
 

    America 

 
Rest of the 

  world 

Central banks and credit institutions 1,135,476 563,611 490,812 56,121 24,932 
Public Administrations 1,942,626 1,709,047 224,943 - 8,636 

Central Administration 1,480,496 1,255,553 224,943 - - 
Rest 462,130 453,494 - - 8,636 

Other financial institutions 1,447,099 1,252,991 177,655 8,348 8,105 
Non-financial companies and individual 
entrepreneurs 

 
1,113,034 

 
1,112.469 

 
28 

 

 
535 

 
2 
 

Construction and real estate development (b)  
66,610 

 
66,610 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

        Construction of civil works 19,191 19,191 - - - 
Other purposes 1,027,233 1,026,668 28 535 2 

Large companies (c) 180,690 180,690 - - - 
SMEs and individual entrepreneurs (c) 846,543 845,978 28 535 2 

Other households and NPISHs 2,942,918 2,936,629 1,927 962 3,400 
Housing (d) 2,676,931 2,671,291 1,687 679 3,274 
Consumption (d) 55,200 55,090 45 10 55 
Other purposes (d)  210,787  210,248  195  273  71 

TOTAL 8,581,153 7,574,747 895,365 65,966 45,075 
 
The definition of risk for the purposes of the foregoing tables includes the following consolidated balance 
sheet items: deposits with credit institutions, customers, debt instruments, equity instruments, trading 
derivatives, hedging derivatives, investments, cash balances at central banks, other demand deposits 
and guarantees provided. 
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  Thousand of euros 
  Comunidades Autónomas   

Financial Year 2021  Andalucia  Aragón   Asturias   Baleares   Canarias   Cantabria  
Castilla 

LM  
Castilla 

L.  Cataluña  Extremadura  Galicia  Madrid  Murcia  Navarra  
Com. 

Valenciana  P. Vasco  
La 

Rioja  
Ceuta y 

Melilla  Total 
                                       
Central Banks and credit institutions  10,302  -  -  -  -  -  1,626,232  -  -  -  -  1,014  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,637,548 
Public Administration  16,739  8,182  10,471  -  -  11,631  296,710  37,379  -  4,300  30,022  4,123  1,640  68,524  28,787  12,931  7,405  -  1,280,211 
Central Admnistration (*)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  741,367 
Rest  16,739  8,182  10,471  -  -  11,631  296,710  37,379  -  4,300  30,022  4,123  1,640  68,524  28,787  12,931  7,405  -  538,844 
Other Financial institutions  6,002  -  -  -  -  82,095  1,358  109  105,330  -  -  67,580  6  -  449  99,529  -  -  362,458 
Non-financial companies and individual 
entrepeneurs  4,706  235  32  780  494  194  784,179  27,285  18,862  5,013  24  140,323  2,687  -  29,090  119  -  -  1,034,023 
Construction and real estate development 
(b)  8  -  -  -  -  -  25,124  736  -  4  -  8,473  -  -  3,782  -  -  -  38,127 
Construction of civil works  21  -  -  -  7  -  19,225  122  -  9  -  2,183  -  -  1,047  7  -  -  22,621 
Other purposes  24,677  235  32  780  487  194  739,830  26,427  18,862  5,000  24  129,667  2,687  -  24,261  112  -  -  973,275 
Large companies (c)  19,852  -  -  780  465  -  44,182  -  18,668  -  -  10,161  -  -  4,887  -  -  -  98,995 
SMEs and individual entrepeneurs (c)  4,825  235  32  -  22  194  695,648  26,427  194  5,000  24  119,506  2,687  -  19,374  112  -  -  874,280 
Other households and NPISHs  14,387  1,411  1,105  1,439  1,887  1,000  1,675,745  57,880  4,127  5,119  1,619  1,292,093  4,646  421  176,327  1,415  50  358  3,241,029 
Housing (d)  13,564  1,326  1,087  1,399  1,860  998  1,527,896  52,833  3,991  4,682  1,521  1,243,956  4,450  372  168,736  1,324  -  166  3,030,161 
Consumption (d)  301  24  -  31  15  -  53,381  2,115  43  101  86  8,930  94  5  2,988  24  5  -  68,143 
Other purposes (d)  522  61  18  9  12  2  94,468  2,932  93  336  12  39,207  102  44  4,603  67  45  192  142,725 
                                        
TOTAL  72,136  9,828  11,608  2,219  2,381  94,920  4,384,224  122,653  128,319  14,432  31,665  1,505,133  8,979  68,945  234,653  113,994  7,455  358  7,555,269 
  Thousand of euros 
  Comunidades Autónomas   

Financial Year 2020  Andalucia  Aragón   Asturias   Baleares   Canarias   Cantabria  
Castilla 

LM  
Castilla 

L,  Cataluña  Extremadura  Galicia  Madrid  Murcia  Navarra  
Com. 

Valenciana  P. Vasco  
La 

Rioja  
Ceuta y 

Melilla  Total 
                                       
                                       
Central Banks and credit institutions  982  -  -  -  -  81,833  90,070  -  146,300  -  -  150,462  -  -  -  93,964  -  -  563,611 
Public Administration  12,151  7,581  21,040  -  -  -  153,376  75,726  -  4,408  30,111  94,389  1,300  13,306  18,307  8,228  13,571  -  1,709,047 

Central Admnistration (*)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,255,553 
Rest  12,151  7,581  21,040  -  -  -  153,376  75,726  -  4,408  30,111  94,389  1,300  13,306  18,307  8,228  13,571  -  453,494 

Other Financial institutions  10,102  -  -  -  -  -  148  65  10,064  -  -  1,230,133  4  -  387  2,088  -  -  1,252,991 
Non-financial companies and individual 
entrepeneurs  27,125  213  38  1,040  504  161  871,203  25,093  12,866  4,137  26  147,945  1,812  5  20,190  111  -  -  1,112,469 

Construction and real estate 
development (b)  13  -  -  -  -  -  53,398  1,920  -  34  -  10,064  -  -  1,181  -  -  -  66,610 
Construction of civil works  1  -  -  -  10  -  16,272  204  -  9  -  1,917  -  -  771  7  -  -  19,191 
Other purposes  27,111  213  38  1,040  494  161  801,533  22,969  12,866  4,094  26  135,964  1,812  5  18,238  104  -  -  1,026,668 

Large companies (c)  24,281  -  -  1,040  465  -  115,003  -  12,276  -  -  22,225  495  -  4,905  -  -  -  180,690 
SMEs and individual entrepeneurs (c)  2,830  213  38  -  29  161  686,530  22,969  590  4,094  26  113,739  1,317  5  13,333  104  -  -  845,978 

Other households and NPISHs  12,453  995  964  1,174  1,750  1,000  1,646,994  47,824  3,920  4,975  1,392  1,118,163  3,038  289  89,887  1,181  254  376  2,936,629 
Housing (d)  11,873  903  940  1,152  1,731  998  1,437,797  43,422  3,792  4,493  1,315  1,073,218  2,828  235  85,144  1,083  197  170  2,671,291 
Consumption (d)  215  27  3  11  14  -  42,792  1,745  32  105  63  7,881  21  8  2,138  29  6  -  55,090 
Other purposes (d)  365  65  21  11  5  2  166,405  2,657  96  377  14  37,064  189  46  2,605  69  51  206  210,248 

                                        
TOTAL  62,813  8,789  22,042  2,214  2,254  82,994  2,761,791  148,708  173,150  13,520  31,529  2,741,092  6,154  13,600  128,771  105,572  13,825  376  7,574,747 

NOTE: Does not include corrections for deterioration 
(*) Indicated in the "Total" column as it is not distributed by Autonomous Community 
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During 2021 and 2020, the Group did not significantly renegotiate credit transactions that modified their 
original terms and conditions, so that additional guarantees were obtained that provide greater security for 
the Group regarding repayment, maintaining most of the renegotiated transactions as impaired. 

 
Exposure to the construction and real estate development sector 

 
Furthermore, following the Bank of Spain's recommendations on transparency in financing for construction 
and real estate development, financing for the acquisition of housing and assets acquired in payment of 
debts and assessment of financing needs in the markets, and taking the breakdown models established 
by Bank of Spain Circular 5/2011 of 30 November, the Group includes the following information: 

 
The financing for the construction and development of property and its hedges at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 are as follows: 

 
  2021 

Excess 
  

 
  Gross amount 

over 
the value of 

the 
  guarantee 

Impairment 
adjustments: 

Specific 
  coverage 

Financing for construction and real estate development 
(business in Spain) 

 
30,972 

 
4,649 

 
(2,681) 

Of the doubtful (Stage 3) 
By heart: 

2,937 678 (1,002) 

Failed assets 1,096 - - 
 

By heart: Value 
 accountant 

 
-Total customers, excluding public authorities (business in Spain) 4,232,243 
-Total assets (total business) 9,080,478 
-Value adjustments and provisions for credit risk 68,328 

 
 2020 

Excess 
  

 
Gross amount 

over 
the value of 

the 
 guarantee 

Impairment 
adjustments: 

Specific 
 coverage 

Financing for construction and real estate development 
(business in Spain) 26,444 9,800 (3,146) 

Of the doubtful (Stage 3) 
By heart: 

4,413 2,120 (1,192) 

Failed assets - - - 

 
By heart: Value 
 accountant 

 
-Total customers, excluding public authorities (business in Spain) 4,709,728 
-Total assets (total business) 8,761,125 
-Value adjustments and provisions for credit risk 69,360 
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The breakdown of financing for construction, property development and housing acquisition at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
Financing for construction and real 

estate development: 
 Gross amount 

  2021  2020 

No mortgage guarantee 3,055 107 
With mortgage guarantee                    27,917                    26,337 

Finished buildings  17,944  22,021 
Housing 16,686 22,005 
Rest 1,258 16 

Buildings under construction                      8,764                     3,556 
Housing 6,784 3,556 
Rest 1,980 - 

Soil                     1,209                       760 
Consolidated urban land 593 760 
Rest of the floor                        616                           - 

Total 30,972 26,444 
 

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of credit to households for the acquisition of housing 
(excluding rehabilitation and improvements to housing) was as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2021 

 
Amount  

gross 
Of which I 

doubt Amount gross 
Of which I 

doubt 
 (Stage 3) (Stage 3) 
     
Credit for home purchase 3,016,251 32,573 2,648,910 30,129 

No property guarantee 22,353 58 20,778 59 
With property guarantee 2,993,898 32,515 2,628,132 30,070 

 
The breakdowns of the loan with real estate guarantee to households for the acquisition of housing 
according to the percentage that total irrigation represents of the amount of the last available appraisal at 
31 December 2021 and 2020, are as follows: 

 
 Risk on the last available valuation (loan to value) 
 2021 

 
Less than or 

equal to 

More than 
40% and not 

more than 

Exceeding 
60% but not 

exceeding 

More than 
80% and not 

more than More than  
 40% 60% 80% 100% 100 % Total 
       
Gross amount 337,773 629,129 1,287,756 578,971 160,269 2,993,898 

Of the doubtful (Stage 3) 2,920 3,782 4,610 6,283 14,920 32,515 
 

 Risk on the last available valuation (loan to value) 
 2021 

 
Less than or 

equal to 

More than 
40% and not 

more than 

Exceeding 
60% but not 

exceeding 

More than 
80% and not 

more than More than  
 40% 60% 80% 100% 100 % Total 
       
Gross amount 287,734 532,227 1,094,142 507,642 206,387 2,628,132 

Of the doubtful (Stage 3) 1,978 2,194 5,659 4,487 15,752 30,070 
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The detail of the assets received in payment of debts of the Eurocaja Rural Group at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 is as follows: 

 
  2021   2020 

 
 
  Book value 

Impairment 
  adjustments 

 
  Book value 

Impairment 
  adjustments 

     
Real estate assets from financing for 
construction and property development 
companies 

 
 

                   8,754 

 
 
                (2,041) 

 
 

               9,817 

 
 

               (2,219) 
Finished buildings                    7,626                 (1,397)                7,350                (1,009) 

Housing 7,138 (1,234) 6,793 (819) 
Rest 488 (163) 557 (190) 

Buildings under construction                      210                     (80)               1,634                  (647) 
Housing 210 (80) 1,634 (647) 
Rest                           -                          -                       -                         - 

Soil                       918                   (564)                  833                 (563) 
Real estate assets from mortgage 
financing to households for house 
purchases 

 
 

10,479 
 

(2,200) 

 
 

10,985 

 
 

(2,584) 
Other real estate assets received in 
payment of debts 

 
  3,328 

 
  (314) 

 
  1,889 

 
  (331) 

     
Total 22,561 (4,555) 22,691 (5,134) 

 
Pursuant to Law 8/2012 of 30 October on the clean-up and sale of financial sector property assets, on 30 
December 2020 the Entity transferred to the two companies created for this purpose the property assets 
from financing for construction and property development companies awarded in 2020 amounting to EUR 
501 thousand (see Note 13). The Parent did not transfer any real estate assets in 2021. 
 
Policies and strategies established for the management of problematic risk in the development 
sector 

 
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9, the Group applies a set of policies and strategies to deal with 
problematic recovery financing for real estate projects, focused on reducing and consolidating current 
exposure, without ignoring the new business identified as viable. The management of these risks has 
enabled a significant reduction in their exposure in recent years (8.76% in 2021 and -14.40% in 2020), with 
a diversified portfolio. 

 
These policies and procedures include, among others, criteria on the following points: 

 
• Individualized analysis carried out by the specialized personnel of the Credit Risk Division, 

specifically by the Risk Admission, Follow-up and Recoveries Departments, incorporating if 
necessary Legal Counsel. 

 
• With the advice of the Risk Admission and Monitoring departments, new payment facilities can 

be assessed. 
 

• Support to the sales management carried out by the Commercial Network, suggesting to adapt 
as quickly as possible the supply prices to the demand ones. 

 
• In case of execution of guarantees, in order to optimize their sales management, the Realization 

department is coordinated with the Commercial Network, evaluating the formalization of their 
commercialization through the Sales Committee. 

 
  



  

 
 
 
EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 

64 

b) Market risk 
 

This risk includes risks arising from possible adverse changes in interest rates on assets and liabilities, in 
the exchange rates at which the assets and liabilities are denominated or off-balance sheet, and in the 
market prices of negotiable financial instruments. 

 
b.1) Interest rate risk 

 
This risk is understood as the sensitivity of the Parent Company's financial margin to variations in 
market interest rates. The responsibility for managing this risk is entrusted to the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee of the Parent Company. For this purpose, periodic reports are prepared using 
the Structural Balance methodology, which is characterised by the use of financial instruments to 
modify the asset and liability gap derived basically from commercial banking operations. Periodically 
the Assets and Liabilities Committee of the company analyses and follows the evolution of the 
structural risk of the balance sheet, taking the corrective measures decided on at each moment. 

 
The Parent Company carries out sensitivity analysis of the Financial Margin to variations in interest 
rates. This sensitivity is conditioned by the mismatches in the maturity and review dates of the 
interest rates that occur between the different items of the consolidated balance sheet. 

 
The measure used by the Parent Company to control interest risk in Balance Sheet Management is 
the interest rate gap. The gap analysis is complemented with simulations of the main balance sheet 
masses subject to interest rate risk. 

 
The interest rate gap analysis deals with the gaps between the terms of revaluation of assets and 
liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet and even outside it. It provides a basic representation 
of the structure of the consolidated balance sheet and enables concentrations of interest rate risk to 
be detected in the various time periods. 

 
The following table summarises the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, which groups together the 
carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities based on the interest rate review date or the 
maturity date for fixed rate transactions. The carrying value of financial derivatives, which are mainly 
used to reduce the Entity's exposure to interest rate risk, is included in the line "Other assets" and 
"Other liabilities". The contractual dates for the review of interest rates in the case of floating rate 
transactions have been used to construct the accompanying table. For fixed-rate transactions, the 
contractual maturity date has been used. The table is expressed exclusively in euros since this is 
the only currency with relevant exposure. 
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  Up to 1 month  

Between 1  
and 3 months  

Between 3 months 
 and 1 year  

Between 1  
and 2 years  

Between 2  
and 3 years  

Between 3  
and 4 years  

Between 4  
and 5 years  More tan 5 years  

Non 
sensitive  Total 

Financial Year 2021  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Thousand 

of euros 
                                      
Active                                     
                                      
Cash, balances in cash at 
central banks and other 
demand deposits  1,612,348  (0.50%)    -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  83,444  1,695,792 
Financial assets held for 
trading  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Non-trading financial 
assets  -  -  10,000  0.13%  2,025  -  16,375  0.14%  25,019  0.19%  15,000  0.24%  -  -  -  -  -  139,266 
mandatorily measured at 
fair value through profit or 
loss  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial assests at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income  -  -  7,500  3.59%  59,100  1.41%  80,540  3.76%  142,550  2.50%  -  -  7,500  0.50%  42,500  0.67%  51,574  391,264 
Financial assets at 
amortised cost  111,443  1.46%  132,722  1.48%  835,642  1.29%  619,948  1.41%  1,087,043  1.68%  626,885  1.42%  395,794  1.50%  2,879,971  1.70%  29,806  6,719,254 
Other assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  134,902  134,902 
                                      

 Total  
 

1,723,791  
 

(0.37%)  
 

150,222  
 

1.50%  
 

896,767  
 

1.29%  
 

716,863  
 

1.64%  
 

1,254,61  
 

1.74%  
 

641,885  
 

1.39%  
 

403,294  
 

1.48%  
 

2,922,471  
 

1.69%  
 

370,573  
 

9,080,478 
                                      
Liability                                     
                                      
Financial liabilities held for 
trading  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial liabilities 
designated at fair value 
through profit or loss   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial liabilities at 
amortised costs  2,214,456  (0.13%)  412,415  (0.06%)  1,353,755  0.01%  438,110  0.03%  1,487,864  0.39%  281,947  0.05%  157,446  -  2,050,328  0.04%  73,069  8,469,390 
Other liabilities and equity  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  611,088  611,088 
                                      
 Total  2,214,456  (0.13%)  412,415  (0.06%)  1,353,755  0.01%  438,110  0.03%  1,487,864  0.39%  281,947  0.05%  157,446  -  2,050,328  0.04%  684,157  9,080,478 
                                     
Interest rate futures  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
-Interest rate options   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
FInancial swaps   -  -  151,340  0.35%  75,000  (0.50%)  (38,074)  -  (68,350)  -  (44,916)  -  -  -  (75,000)  5.15%  -  - 
                                      
Gap  (490,665)  -  (262,193)  -  (456,988)  -  278,753  -  (233,252)  -  359,938  -  245,848  -  872,143  -  (313,584)  - 
Accumulated Gap  (490,665)  -  (752,858)  -  (1,209,846)  -  (931,093)  -  (1,164,345)  -  (804,407)  -  (558,559)  -  313,584  -  -  - 
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Up to 1 month  

Between 1 and  
3 months  

Between 3 months  
and 1 year  

Between 1 and  
2 years  

Between 2 and  
3 years  

Between 3 and  
4 years  

Between 4 and  
5 years  More tan 5 years  

Non 
sensible  Total 

Financial Year 2020 

 
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand of 

euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros   
Average 

percentage  
Thousand 

of euros  

Thousan
d of 

euros 
                                      
Active                                     
                                      
Cash, balances in cash at 
central banks and other 
demand deposits 

 465,607  (0.06%)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  69,603  535,210 

Financial assets held for 
trading 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1  1 

Non trading financial assets 
mandatorily measured at fair 
value through profit or loss  

 -  -  -  -  4,174  (0.40%)  9,198  (0.43%)  15,583  0.06%  20,344  (0.11%)  12,253  (0.35%)  -  -  59,039  120,591 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 

 -  -  9,231  5.90%  53,337  4.42%  69,138  1.67%  90,310  3.89%  167,150  2.50%  16,628  1.16%  51,512  0.65%  19,494  476,800 

Financial assets at amortised 
cost 

 1,011,300  0.06%  107,528  1.57%  1,046,704  0.99%  817,617  1.26%  580,028  1.23%  1,134,893  1.46%  471,574  1.38%  2,347,833  1.41%  (24,483)  7,492,994 

Other assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  135,529  135,529 
                                      
 Total  1,476,907  0.02%  116,759  1.91%  1,104,215  1.15%  895,953  1.27%  685,921  1.55%  1,322,387  1.57%  500,455  1.33%  2,399,345  1.39%  259,183  8,761,125 
                                      
Liability                                     
                                      
Financial liabilities held for 
trading 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1  1 

Financial liabilities 
designated at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost 

 2,222,601  (0.21%)  557,503  (0.17%)  2,066,271  0.19%  458,410  (0.11%)  753,693  (0.25%)  771,688  0.60%  179,387  0.09%  1,140,859  -  29,362  8,179,774 

Other liabilities and equity  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  581,350  581,350 
                                      
 Total  2,222,601  (0.21%)  557,503  (0.17%)  2,066,271  0.19%  458,410  (0.11%)  753,693  (0.25%)  771,688  0.60%  179,387  0.09%  1,140,859  -  610,713  8,761,125 
                                      
Interest rate futures   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
-Interest rate options   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial swaps   -  -  160,181  0.35%  75,000  (0.50%)  -  -  -  -  (112,796)  -  -  -  (122,385)  3.15%  -  - 
                                      
Gap  (745,694)  -  (440,744)  -  (962,056)  -  437,543  -  (67,772)  -  550,699  -  321,068  -  1,258,486  -  (351,530)  - 
Accumulated Gap  (745,694)  -  (1,186,438)  -  (2,148,494)  -  (1,710,951)  -  (1,778,723)  -  (1,228,024)  -  (906,956)  -  351,530  -  -  - 
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The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is the body responsible for 
managing the Bank's interest rate risk, proposing the optimum management 
policy compatible with the guidelines established by senior management and 
issued by the Governing Council. The ALCO approaches this task from two 
clearly differentiated perspectives: 

 
• Analysing the impact on net interest income, or profitability via interest 

flows: assuming that financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 
2021 remain stable until maturity or settlement, a 200-basis point 
increase in interest rates would decrease net interest income for the 
following year by EUR 27,240 thousand (EUR 17,813 thousand in 
2020). A decrease of 200 basis points in interest rates would decrease 
the net interest margin for the following year by EUR 15,090 thousand 
(EUR 8,867 thousand in 2020). 

 
• Analysing their impact on the asset value (or economic value) of the 

Entity, understood as the difference between the market value of the 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet: assuming that 
the financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2021 remain stable 
until maturity or settlement, an increase of 200 basis points in interest 
rates would increase the economic value of the Entity by EUR 91,426 
thousand (EUR 33,949 thousand in 2020). A decrease of 100 basis 
points in interest rates would lead to a decrease in the economic value 
of the Entity's net interest income for the following year by EUR 48,889 
thousand (decrease of EUR 24,348 thousand in 2020). 

 
The main assumptions used to determine the above amounts were 

 
• Maintenance of customer differentials in credit investment operations 

and creditor resources. 
 

• Effect of minimum rates on rate renewals 
 

• The reviews have been carried out from the second month. 
 

• Evolution of the entity's balance sheet in line with past years. 
 

• Maintenance of the current structure of references used. 
 

• Consideration of low sensitivity, for sight liabilities and as eight times 
more sensitive than term liabilities. 

 
• Forecast of movements in interest rates discounted by the market at the 

time of reporting. 
 

b.2) Price risk 
 

This risk is defined as the risk arising from changes in market prices caused either 
by factors specific to the instrument itself or by factors affecting all instruments 
traded in the market. Given the small size of the trading book, the mechanism 
used as a risk assessment tool is comparison with monthly market values. In 
addition, the exposures are estimated at the time of acquisition of the product, as 
well as when it is considered appropriate, using the VaR methodology. 
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The concept of VaR (Value at Risk) is defined as the maximum probable loss for 
a given confidence level over a specified time horizon. The Entity currently 
measures this risk for the various portfolios of the Treasury and Capital Markets 
Area and for the overall market positions. VaR is also calculated on the various 
risk factors affecting the Entity's positions, identifying the highest risk 
concentration per factor. 

 
Market risk, in terms of monthly VaR for the financial instrument portfolios at 31 
December 2021, amounted to EUR 2,308 thousand for the fixed-income portfolio 
(EUR 1,918 thousand in 2020), and the risk for, inter alia, the mutual fund portfolio 
and the foreign currency asset portfolio was not significant. 

 
The dominant group is using a covariance matrix with a 99% confidence level and 
a time horizon of one month. 

 
b.3) Exchange rate risk 

 
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk at the reference 
dates of the consolidated financial statements. See Note 3.d) to these 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
c) Liquidity risk 
 

This risk reflects the possible difficulty for the Group to have, or to access, sufficient 
liquid funds at an appropriate cost to enable it to meet its payment obligations at all 
times. The body responsible for supervising the Bank's liquidity risk is the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee. 
 
The measures used to control liquidity risk in Balance Sheet Management are the 
Liquidity Profile Ratio, Net Stable Funding Ratio and the Dynamic Liquidity Gap. 
 
The breakdown of financial instruments by residual maturity at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 is as follows. The maturity dates considered for the construction of the 
accompanying table are the contractual maturity or cancellation dates: 
 

 
  Thousands of euros 

Financial Year 2021  At sight  
Up to 1 
month  

Between 1 and 
3 months  

Between 3 and 6 
months  

Between 6  
months and 1 

year  
Between 1 and 

5 years  
More tan 5 

years  

Expiration not 
determined and not 

classified  Total 
                   

Active                   
Cash, balances in cash at 

central banks and other 
demand deposits  1,612,349  -   -   -   -   -   -   83,443  1,695,792 

Deposits in credit 
institutions  -  -   -   -   -   -   -   12,280  12,280 

Clients  -  100,456  122,722  150,575  322,287  1,509,248  2,404,171  (33,438)  4,576,021 
Debt securities  -  10,987  27,500  207,743  222,162  1,507,405  532,800  75,473  2,584,070 
Others  -  -   -   -   -   -   -   212,315  212,315 
                   
Total  1,612,349   111,443   150,222   358,318   544,449   3,016,653   2,936,971   350,073   9,080,478 
                   
Liability                   
Deposits in central Banks   -   -   -   -   -   572,000  -  (1,767)  570,233 
Depositis in credit 

institutions  3,269  1,034  -   -   -   -   -   -  4,303 
Customer deposits  -   2,211,070  411,381  518,062  835,692  1,293,366  1,350,328  7,295  6,627,194 
Debt securities issued  -   -   -   -   -   500,000  700,000  (3,475)  1,196,524 
Others  -  -   -   -   -   -   -   682,223  682,223 
                   
Total  3,269  2,212,104  411,381  518,062  835,692  2,365,366  2,050,328  684,276  9,080,478 
                   
Gap   1,609,080  (2,100,661)  (261,159)  (159,744)  (291,243)  651,287  886,643  (334,203)  - 
                   
Accumulated Gap  1,609,080  (491,581)  (752,740)  (912,484)  (1,203,727)  (552,440)  334,203  -  - 
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 Thousand of euros 

Financial Year 2020 At sight  
Up to 1 
month  

Between 1 and 
3 months  

Between 3 and 6 
months  

Between 6  
months and 1 

year  
Between 1 and 

5 years  
More tan 5 

years  

Expiration not 
determined and not 

classified  Total 
                  

Active                  
Cash, balances in cash 

at central banks and 
other demand deposits 465,608  -   -   -   -   -   -   69,602   535,210 

Deposits in credit 
institutions -  -   -   -   -   -   -   12,432   12,432 

Clients -  954,399   107,528   136,708   310,207   1,389,841   2,092,115   (45,508)  4,945,290 
Debt securities -  56,858   9,231   465,611   191,690   2,021,036   318,029   7,670   3,070,125 
Others -  -   -   -   -   -   -   198,068   198,068 
                  
Total 465,608  1,011,257   116,759   602,319   501,897   3,410,877   2,410,144   242,264   8,761,125 
                  
Liability                  
Deposits in central Banks  -  -   -   -   150,000   520,000   -   (3,600)  666,400 
Depositis in credit 

institutions -  88,521   -   -   -  1,370   -   -  89,891 
Customer deposits -  2,134,080   557,503   548,748   867,523   1,141,808   1,140,859   (17,976)  6,372,545 
Debt securities issued -  -   -   -   500,000   500,000   -   2,585   1,002,585 
Others -  -   -   -   -   -   -   629,704   629,704 
                  
Total -  2,222,601   557,503   548,748   1,517,523   2,163,178   1,140,859   610,713   8,761,125 
                  
Gap  465,608  (1,211,344)  (440,744)  53,571   (1,015,626)  1,247,699   1,269,285   (368,449)  - 
                  
Accumulated Gap 465,608  (745,736)  (1,186,480)  (1,132,909)  (2,148,535)  (900,836)  368,449   -   - 

 
In accordance with historical experience, the average expected time of cancellation of 
the Group's assets is 5.1 years at 31 December 2021 (4.8 years at 31 December 2020). 

 
The Group applies criteria of maximum prudence in the management of its liquidity, 
seeking not only to minimise the cost, but also to avoid concentrations in terms of time 
or markets. 

 
In the case of the Parent Company, as a credit institution focused on retail banking, 
this risk is mainly manifested by the existence of a very significant volume of liabilities 
(customer deposits) at sight, whose reimbursement is uncertain, although the historical 
experience of the institution shows a very stable behaviour over time of this mass of 
liabilities. 
 
d) Fair value of financial instruments 
 

This risk relates to changes in the fair value of financial instruments, as defined in Note 3. 
 
As described in Note 3, except for the financial instruments classified under "Financial 
Assets at Amortised Cost" for equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably 
estimated or for derivatives whose underlying asset is such equity instruments, the Group's 
financial assets are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair value. 
 
Similarly, except for the financial liabilities recognised under "Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost", the other financial liabilities are recognised at their fair value in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Since most of the financial assets and liabilities recognised under "Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost" and "Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost" are at floating rates, 
which may be adjusted at least annually, the directors consider that their fair value 
does not differ from the values at which they are recognised in the consolidated 
balance sheet, taking into account only the effects of changes in interest rates. Also, 
the fixed-rate assets and liabilities not associated with fair value hedges recognised 
under these headings mature mainly in less than one year and, therefore, changes in 
their fair value as a result of changes in market interest rates would not be significant. 
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The following table summarises the fair value and carrying amount of the various 
financial asset and liability portfolios that are not recognised at fair value in the 
consolidated balance sheet: 

 
  Thousands of euros  

Book value  Fair value 
 

  2021 2020 2021 2020 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
Debt securities 2,130,953 2,535,272 2,171,076 2,535,272 
Loans and advances 4,588,301 4,957,722 4,588,301 4,957,722 

Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 8,469,390 8,179,774 8,469,390 8,179,774 

 
The detail of the fair value of the various portfolios (excluding assets and liabilities at 
amortised cost) of financial assets and liabilities depending on the method of 
determining their fair value is as follows at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 Fair value 
 2021 2020 
   
Active   
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(Note 10) 387,890 473,301 
   
Total 387,890 473,301 
   

Active 
Non-trading assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or 
loss (Note 8) 

 
 

139,266 
 

 
 

139,266 
 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (Note 9) - - 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(Note 10) 3,374 3,499 
Derivatives - assets (Note 7) 1,796 2,369 
   
Total 144,436 126,459 
 
Liability 
Derivatives - liabilities (Note 7) 19,048 19,755 
   
Total 19,048 19,755 

The tables below present the Group’s financial instruments classified at fair value, 
broken down by class of financial asset and financial liability at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 in the following levels: 

- Level 1: Financial instruments whose fair value is determined based on their quoted 
prices in active markets with no modifications to these quoted prices. 

- Level 2: Financial instruments whose fair value was estimated by reference to 
quoted prices on organised markets for similar instruments or using other valuation 
techniques in which all the significant inputs are based on directly or indirectly 
observable market data. 

- Level 3: Financial instruments whose fair value was estimated by using valuation 
techniques in which one or another significant input is not based on observable 
market data. 
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    2021 
    Thousand of euros 
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
ACTIVE      
      
Cash, balances in cash at central banks and other 
demand deposits (Note 6)  1,695,792 

 
- 

 
- 1,695,792 

      
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily measured at 
fair value through profit or loss (Note 8)      
  Equity instruments  - 74,039 - 74,039 
  Debt instruments  - 65,227 - 65,227 
      
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 10)      
  Equity instruments  - 3,374 - 3,374 
  Debt instruments  387,890 - - 387,890 
      
Derivatives – Hedge accounting  - 1,796 - 1,796 
      
LIABILITY      
      
Derivatives – Hedge accounting  - 19,048 - 19,048 
 
    2020 
    Thousand of euros 
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
ACTIVE      
      
Cash, balances in cash at central banks and other 
demand deposits (Note 6)  535,210 

 
- 

 
- 535,210 

      
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily measured at 
fair value through profit or loss (Note 8)      
  Equity instruments  - 59,039 - 59,039 
  Debt instruments  - 61,552 - 61,552 
      
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 10)      
  Equity instruments  - 3,499 - 3,499 
  Debt instruments  473,301 - - 473,301 
      
Derivatives – Hedge accounting  - 2,369 - 2,369 
      
LIABILITY      
      
Derivatives – Hedge accounting  - 19,775 - 19,775 
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No financial instruments at fair value held at the 2021 and 2020 year ends have been 
transferred between levels 2 and 3. 
 
The following table shows the effect on the consolidated income statement of the 
derecognition of assets and liabilities and of changes in the fair value of financial 
instruments depending on the technique used determined their fair value. 
 

  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 

Financial instruments at fair value according to published 
market quotations assets (Level 1) 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 10) 4,517 15,771 
 

Financial instruments at fair value according to supported 
valuation technique with observable market data (Level 2) 

Financial assets not intended for trading, compulsorily valued  
at reasonable with changes in income, net (Note 8) - - 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (Note 8) - - 
Others 4,415 (12,982) 

 
The fair value of the Group's financial instruments was determined using quoted prices 
in active markets for assets or liabilities that are identical to those accessed by the 
Group on each measurement date (Tier 1), except for the portfolio of "Financial assets 
designated at fair value through profit or loss" (Note 8) for which the fair value was 
determined using data other than quoted prices included in Tier 1 that are observable 
for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly (Tier 2). 
 

6. CASH, BALANCES IN CASH AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER DEMAND DEPOSITS 
 
The detail of "Cash, balances with central banks and other demand deposits" in the 
consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 
Cash 82,917 69,602 
Cash balances at central banks 1,581,007 386,856 
Other demand deposits 31,868 78,752 

Total 1,695,792 535,210 
 
The account held with the Bank of Spain is affected by compliance with the minimum 
reserve ratio, which at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was set at 1% of the liabilities 
computable for this purpose, in accordance with current regulations. At 31 December 
2021 and 2020 the Group complies with these ratios. 
 
At 31 December 2020 the Parent and Banco Cooperativo Español, S.A. held a signed 
agreement whereby the Entity transferred funds to Banco Cooperativo Español, S.A. 
for the latter to invest them solely in the interbank or money market, with the Entity 
responding for any losses that might be incurred as a result of these investments. At 
31 December 2021 the Parent has terminated this agreement. 
 
At 31 December 2020, in connection with the aforementioned agreements, the Group 
held demand deposits amounting to EUR 70,813 thousand, which are recognised 
under "Other Demand Deposits". 
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The liabbility assumed by the Group under these agreements amounts to EUR 38,354 
thousand at 31 December 2020. These amounts are included under "Other 
Commitments Granted" and "Other Contingent Liabilities" in the memorandum 
accounts (see Note 19.1). 
 
During the financial years 2021 and 2020 the account held at the Bank of Spain has 
not generated interest. 
 
For the purposes of preparing the cash flow statement, the Group considered the 
balance of this heading in the consolidated balance sheet to be "Cash or Cash 
Equivalents". 
 
7. DERIVATIVES 

 
Trading derivatives 
 

At 31 December 2021 the Group has no assets or liabilities included in the financial assets 
and financial liabilities held for trading portfolio. At 31 December 2020 it had Euros 1 thousand 
of assets and liabilities held for trading. 
 
Hedge derivatives 
 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the derivatives arranged and designated as hedges 
and the items covered were mainly as follows: 
 
Hedges classified as "cash flow hedges" are as follows: 
 

- Interest Rate Swaps, which hedge mortgage loans issued by the Savings 
Bank. The Interest rate swap was issued by Banco Cooperativo Español, S.A. 

 
- Interest Rate Swap, which covers atypical financial contracts. The issuer of 

the Interest Rate Swap is BBVA and Caixabank. 
 
- On 8 October 2021 the interest rate swap expired that hedged a loan granted 

to the autonomous region of Madrid. The issuer of the interest rate swap was 
Banco Cooperativo Español, S.A. 

 
While the following hedge is classified as "fair value hedges": 
 

- Swap, which provides coverage for the Entity's investments in bonds issued 
by the Spanish Treasury. The issuer of the Interest Rate Swap is BME 
CLEARING. 

 
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the entity did not present "hedges of net investments 
abroad". 
 
The valuation methods used to determine the fair values of OTC derivatives have been 
discounted cash flow for interest rate derivative valuations. For those transactions 
admitted to official listing, the listed price was considered to be an indicator of their fair 
value. 
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Set out below is a breakdown, by product type, of the fair value and notional amount 
of those derivatives designated as hedging instruments at 31 December 2021 and 
2020: 

 
  Thousand of euros 
  Notionals  

Fair Value (Assets) 
 Fair Value 

(Liabilities)   Memorandum accounts   
  2021  2020  2021  2020  2021  2020 
By market type             
             

Unorgnized Markets  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
By producto type             
             

Forward transactions  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Swaps  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
Options  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Other products  -  -  -  -  -  - 

             
Total  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
By counterpart             
             

Credit institutions. Residents  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
Total  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
By remaining term             
             

Up to 1 year  -  -  -  -  -  - 
More tan 1 year and up to 5 
years  201,340  -  1,796  -  -  - 
More tan 5 years  245,644  493,352  -  2,369  19,048  19,775 

             
Total  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
By type of risk covered             
             

Interest rate risk  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
Total  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
             
By types of ítems covered             
             

Financial assets at amortised 
costs 
  (loans and advances)  

 
170,644  208,171  -  174  -  - 

Financial assets at amortised 
cost 
(debt securitites)  

 
125,000  125,000  -  -  19,048  19,775 

Financial assets at fair value 
with changes in other 
comprehensive (values debt 
representatives)  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Financial liabilities at amortised 
cost 
  (customer deposits)  

 
151,340  160,181  -  2,195  -  - 

             
Total  446,984  493,352  1,796  2,369  19,048  19,775 
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The detail of the impact on the consolidated income statement and the consolidated 
statement of recognized income and expense for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 

 
Profit/loss on hedging 

instrument  
Profit/loss on hedged 

instrument  
Profit/loss on hedging 

instrument  
Profit/loss on hedged 

instrument 
 Benefit  Loss  Benefit  Loss  Benefit  Loss  Benefit  Loss 
                
Forward transactions -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Swaps -  73  73  -  -  967  967  - 
Options -  399  399  -  -  1,166  1,166  - 
Other products -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
                
Total -  472  472  -  -  2,133  2,133  - 

 
The notional amount of the contracts entered into does not represent the actual risk 
assumed by the Group in relation to these instruments. 
 
The Parent Company applies fair value hedging accounting mainly to those operations 
in which the variations in the fair value of certain assets and liabilities sensitive to 
interest rate variations are exposed, in other words, mainly assets and liabilities 
referenced to a fixed interest rate, which is transformed into a variable interest rate by 
means of the corresponding hedging instruments. 
 
  



 
 
 
EUROCAJA RURAL GROUP 
 
CONSOLIDATED REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
 
 
 
 

79 

8. NON-TRADING FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY MEASURED AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 
The detail, by counterparty and type of instrument, of the balance of this heading on 
the assets side of the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 
as follows 

 
  Thousand of euros 
  2021  2020 
     

 

By partner type -    
 

Credit institutions  65,227  61,254 
Resident Public Adminsitrations  -  - 
Non-Resident Public Adminsitrations  -  - 
Other resident sectors  45,807  42,364 
  Other-non resident sectors  28,232  16,973 
    

 

(Impairment losses)  -  - 
Other valuation adjustments  -  - 
    

 

  139,266  120,591 
    

 

By type of instrument -    
 

Debt securities:  65,227  61,552 
Spanish Public Debt:  -  - 
      Treasury Letters  -  - 
      Government Bonds and debentures  -  - 
   Other Spanish Public Admnistrations  -  - 
   Foreign Public Debts    - 
   Issued by financial institutions  65,227  61,254 
   Other fixed income securities  -  298 
   (Impairment losses)  -  - 
   Other valuation adjustments  -  - 
     
Loans and advances:  -  - 
   Spanish Public Debt  -  - 
   Other Spanish Public Admnistrations  -  - 
   Foreign Public Debts  -  - 
 
 Issued by financial institutions     

   Other fixed income securities  -  - 
   (Impairment losses)  -  - 
   Other valuation adjustments  -  - 
    

 

Other equity instruments:  74,039  59,039 
   Shares of listed Spanosh companies  -  - 
   Shares of unlisted spanish companies  -  - 
   Shared of listed foreign companies  -  - 
   Shares of unlisted foreign companies  -  - 
   Units in the assets of investment founds, venture capital 
entities and publicly traded real estate investment companies   

74,039 
  

59,039 
     
  139,266  120,591 

 
The interest earned on the debt instruments classified in this portfolio of financial assets 
in 2021 and 2020 amounted to EUR 317 thousand and EUR 504 thousand, respectively, 
and was recognised under "Interest and Similar Income" in the consolidated income 
statement (see Note 26). 
 
The financial instruments recognised under this heading in 2021 and 2020 relate to 
equity positions measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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The detail of equity instruments at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
  Thousands fo euros 
  2021  2020 
     

 

Espiga Equity Fund, F.C.R.  2,413  3,924 
K Fund, F.C.R.E  1,561  1,091 
Olimpo Real Estate Socimi, S.A.  5,179  6,056 
Helia Renovables, F.C.R.  153  2,450 
Helia 2 Renovables, F.C.R. Clase A  4,653  5,501 
Atom Hoteles Socimi S.A.  4,552  4,871 
Encomenda Seed I B, F.C.R.E., S.A  292  246 
Vstudent Aulis, F.C.R.  2,177  1,300 
Andbank Real Estate Investment Fund, S.C.A., S.I.C.A.V.-S.I.F  1,296  1,657 
Everwood Fotovol Pool VI, F.C.R./P.T.  691  783 
MVB Fund, F.C.R.  610  436 
Trebol Core Properties, S.L.  5,849  5,937 
Helia Renovables III, F.C.R. (Clase A)  522  1,428 
Helia Renovables III, F.C.R. (Clase B)  652  - 
Helia Renovables IV, F.C.R.  3,291  2,044 
UBS Lux. Real Estate Funds Selec. Global  3,624  3,891 
Titan Infraestructuras, F.C.R.  5,307  2,967 
AYG Renewables Iberian Solar I  784  174 
Archmore Inter Infrastructure Fund III   4,500  4,993 
Bolsa Social Impacto FESE, F.C.R.             87  52 
Dunas Valor Flexible F.I. (Clase D)                 3,572  1,249 
Inveready Venture Finance III, F.C.R.   131  51 
LYNX Renovables Iberia  1,071  636 
Mapfre Infraestructuras, F.C.R.               693  795 
MCH Global Alternative Strategies, F.C.R.   151  76 
Pan European Infraestructure III, S.C.S.      2,500  1,360 
Stable Income European Real Estate Fund   6,333  5,071 
Bankinter Logistica SA SOCIMI  7,350  - 
EdR Euro Industrial Real Estate Fund  528  - 
Espiga Equity Fund II, F.C.R.  1  - 
Everwood V Renewables Europe F.C.R.  235  - 
March PE Global Fund I, F.C.R.  271  - 
MCH Global Real Asset Strategies F.C.R.  2,878  - 
Neuberger Berman Select Private Equity, F.C.R  132  - 

    
 

 
 74,039  59,039 

 
9. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 

LOSS 
 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Parent Company has no financial assets or 
liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss in its consolidated balance. 
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10. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME 
 

The breakdown of this heading on the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet is 
as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Debt securities 387,890 473,301 
Equity instruments 3,374 3,499 
Total 391,264 476,800 
 
All debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified 
as normal risk (stage 1) for credit risk purposes. 
 
10.1 Debt securities 
 
The detail of debt securities classified according to their counterparty is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Spanish public administrations 279,626 336,767 
Non-resident public administrations 19,817 16,961 
Resident and non-resident credit institutions 80,997 90,854 
Other resident and non-resident sectors 8,201 29,685 

Impairment adjustments  (751)   (966) 
 

Total 387,890 473,301 
 

Interest accrued in 2021 on the debt securities amounted to EUR 13.342 thousand 
(EUR 14.550 thousand in 2020), which is included under "Interest Income - Financial 
Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income" (see Note 26), with 
average returns of 3.07% band 2.11% for 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Of those assets and those acquired under repurchase agreement from credit 
institutions (Note 11.1), the Group had not transferred any cash to the customer at 31 
December 2021 or 31 December 2020. 
 
The detail, by remaining term to maturity, of this heading is detailed in Note 5.c) 
on liquidity risk. The detail of the movement in 2021 and 2020 in the debt 
securities is as follows: 

  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Balance as of January 1 473,301  685,539  

 
Registration 

 
736,216 

 
1,390,123  

Downloads (813,897) (1,599,285) 
Valuation adjustments (7,945) (3,129) 
Net impairment losses                        215                         53  

Balance as of December 31 387,890 473,301  
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At 31 December 2021, the nominal amounts pledged to this portfolio amounted to EUR 
965.964 thousand to secure monetary policy transactions and EUR 36,050 thousand 
to secure transactions on the Spanish stock exchanges and markets (BME) - Clearing. 
At 31 December 2020, the nominal amounts pledged to this portfolio amounted to EUR 
1,597,428 thousand, as security for monetary policy transactions and EUR 36,050 
thousand as security for transactions on the Spanish stock exchanges and markets 
(BME) - Clearing. 

 
10.2 Equity instruments 

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the breakdown of the balance of this heading, 
according to the issuer's sector of activity, is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
From credit institutions 1,014 1,012 
From other resident sectors 1,740 1,903 
From other non-resident sectors                  620                   584 

Total 3,374 3,499 
 

The detail of the movement in the year in other equity instruments is as follows: 
 

 Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Balance as of January 1              3,499   2,903 
Registration 59 152 
Downloads (7) - 
Valuation adjustments              (177)                444 

Balance as of December 31 3,374 3,499 
 

The detail of the Group's equity instruments classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 is as follows 

 
 Thousand of euros 
Company 2021  2020 
     
Colegio Mayol (*) 600  600 
Visa Inc.  619  584 
Acc. Aval Castilla La Mancha 900  1,038 
Banco de Crédito Social Cooperativo, S.A. 1,012  1,012 
Servired 35  38 
Redsys 83  68 
Sistema de Tarjetas y Medio de Pago 4  4 
Sociedad de bancos españoles para colaboración en pagos S.L. 112  151 
BIZUM S.L. (former name: Sociedad de Procedimientos de Pagos S.L.) 5  4 
     
Total 3,374  3,499 

 
(*) This shareholding, acquired in 2006, affects the Education and Promotion Fund (Note 23). 
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10.3 Impairment losses 
 

The breakdown of the impairment losses recognised by the Group at the end of 2021 
and 2020 for the assets in the "Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income" portfolio is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Opening balance 966 1,019 
Net provision/(recovery) for the year (215) (53) 
Other movements - - 
 
Final balance 751 966 
 
The foregoing amounts include EUR 215 thousand and EUR 53 thousand, 
respectively, for the release and collective allocation of debt securities classified in the 
"Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income" category in 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
10.4. Other accumulated overall result 
 
The detail of "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income" in equity at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 for "Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive 
Income" is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 

 
Debt securities 7,812 14,967 
Equity instruments  386  519 

Total 8,198 15,486 
 
The movement recorded under the heading "Accumulated Other Comprehensive 
Income" in 2021 and 2020, due to transactions in the securities in this portfolio, was 
as follows: 
 

 Thousands of euros 
 2021   2020 
    
Items that can be reclassified in results    
Opening balance 14,967  15,910  

    
Valuation gains (losses) (6,294)  9,971  
Transferred to profit and loss (3,378)  (12,284) 
Other reclassifications 132  1,056  
Tax effect 2,385  314  

    
Final balance 7,812  14,967  

    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss    
Opening balance 519  186  

    
Valuation gains (losses) (177)  444  
Tax effect 44  (111) 

    
Final balance 386  519  

 
The breakdown of this portfolio by residual maturity is included in Note 5.c). 
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11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 
 

The detail of this heading on the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Debt securities 2,130,953 2,535,272 
Loans and advances 4,588,301 4,957,722 

Central banks - - 
Credit institutions 12,280 12,432 
Clients 4,576,021 4,945,290 

Total 6,719,254 7,492,994 
 

11.1. Debt securities 
 

The detail of the "Debt Instruments" portfolio at 2021 year-end, classified under 
"Financial Assets at Amortised Cost" at 31 December 2020, is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros  
  2021  2020  

By type of counterpart: 
Resident Public Administrations 677,012 1,167,056 
Non-resident Public Administrations 215,697 207,982 
Other resident sectors 603,230 555,567 
Other non-resident sectors 635,014 604,667 

 2,130,953 2,535,272 
 

By instrument type : 
Spanish Public Debt 365,391 427,990 

Government bonds and debentures 365,391 427,990 
Other Spanish public administrations 311,621 739,067 
Other non-resident public administrations 215,697 207,982 
Issued by other entities 208,362 726,996 
Issued by financial institutions 1,029,882 433,237 

 2,130,953 2,535,272 
 

In 2021 and 2020, the interest accrued on the "Debt Instruments at Amortised Cost" 
portfolio amounted to EUR 27.314 thousand and EUR 25.948 thousand, respectively 
(see Note 26). 
 
The average return on the assets classified in this portfolio was 1.23% and 1.14% for 
2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 
11.2 Credit institutions 

 
The detail of this heading according to the nature of the instrument is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros  
  2021  2020  

 
Forward accounts - 43 
Temporary acquisition of assets - - 
Other accounts 8,507 9,200 
Checks payable by credit institutions 3,773 3,189 
Accrued interest - - 

Total 12,280 12,432 
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The detail by remaining term to maturity of this heading is detailed in Note 5.c). 
 
The average annual interest rate during 2021 and 2020 on deposits at credit institutions 
was - 0.00% and -0.15%, respectively. 
 
11.3 Customer loans 
 
The breakdown of this heading in the consolidated balance sheet, by type and status of 
the credit, interest rate, currency and counterparty sector, is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros  
  2021  2020  

 
By type and status of the credit:  

Commercial portfolio 38,824 28,252 
Secured Debtors 3,271,629 2,977,062 
Other receivables (*) 1,208,222 1,903,445 
Financial leasing 19,298 18,273 
Sight debtors and miscellaneous 45,301 39,382 
Doubtful assets 80,028 85,167 
Valuation adjustments (87,281) (106,291) 

 
Total 

 
4,576,021 

 
4,945,290 

 
By sector:   

Spanish Public Administration 325,774 219,513  
Other resident sectors 4,240,466 4,719,320  
Other non-resident sectors 9,781 6,940 

 
Total 

 
4,576,021 

 
4,945,290  

 
By type of interest rate: 

Fixed interest rate 
 

1,169,348 
 

1,606,810 
Variable interest rate 3,406,673 3,338,480 

 
Total 

 
4,576,021 

 
4,945,290  

 
By currency 

In euros 
 

4,575,644 
 

4,944,840  
In currency 377 450 
   
 4,576,021 4,945,290 

(*) There are no reverse repos at 31 December 2021. At 31 December 2020 there were reverse repos with central 
counterparties (BME Clearing) for a cash amount of Euros 864,734 thousand. 

 
The detail by remaining term to maturity of this heading is detailed in Note 5.c). 

 
“Receivables secured by real guarantees" includes EUR 3,175,630 thousand of 
mortgage-backed loans at 31 December 2021 (EUR 2,763,246 thousand at 31 
December 2020). Other receivables" includes a subordinated loan amount of EUR 
11,733 thousand at 31 December 2021 (EUR 14,563 thousand at 31 December 2020). 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, doubtful assets had the following guarantees or 
credit enhancements (at fair value on the date the risk was granted). 

 
Thousands of 

  euros 
 

Financial year 2021 74,249 
 

Financial year 2020  79,610 
 

The average annual interest rate in 2021 and 2020 was 1,74% and 0.68%, respectively. 
 

In 2009 and previous years, the Parent Company securitized credit operations on 
customers (mortgage loans), the outstanding balance of which on 31 December 2021 
and 2020 amounted to 165.954 thousand euros and 189.206 thousand euros, 
respectively. The detail of these assets, based on whether or not they were cancelled 
in accordance with the criteria described in Note 3.n, is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

Securitized assets: 
Loans and receivables 

Canceled 
Not cancelled 165,954  189,206 

Total 165,954 189,206 
 

The above assets were transferred to a securitisation fund, with the Parent Company 
significantly retaining the risks associated to said assets (credit risk), for which reason 
they have not been removed from the consolidated balance sheet. Below is a detail of 
the securitised assets that are maintained on the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 
December 2021 and 2020 as it is considered that the risks and benefits associated 
with the transferred financial asset have been substantially retained: 
 

 Thousands of euros 
 Securitized 

  assets 
Balance as of 

  31/12/2021 
Balance as 

 of 31/12/2020 
Assets transferred to:    
Rural Hipotecario XI, Asset Securitization Fund 153,920 40,544 47,803 
Rural Hipotecario XII, Asset Securitization Fund   369,300                 125,410            141,403 

Total 523,220 165,954 189,206 
 

At 31 December 2021, the Group holds in its portfolio bonds issued by the 
securitisation funds to which these assets were transferred for an effective amount of 
155,910 thousand euros (175,978 thousand euros in 2020). Likewise, subordinated 
loans were granted to these funds for an amount of 11.733 thousand euros as of 
December 31, 2021 (14.563 thousand euros as of December 31, 2020). At 31 
December 2021 and 2020, the amount of the aforementioned bonds is presented as a 
net amount within the "Households" account under the heading of Customer deposits 
in the consolidated balance sheets (Note 17.3). 
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The detail of the valuation adjustments made to transactions classified as "Customer 
loans" is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

Valuation adjustments: 
Impairment adjustments (103,970) (110,499) 
Accrued interest 591 605 
Commissions (11,266) (9,325) 
Others 27,364 12,928 
   
 (87,281) (106,291) 

 
The movement during the years 2021 and 2020 of the impaired financial assets 
removed from the asset due to lack of reasonable expectations of recovery (write-
offs) is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

Balance at the beginning of the year 114,378 103,426  

Additions 
Because there is no reasonable expectation of recovery 9,711 5,853 
For other reasons 10,193 14,203 
   

Recoveries   
For cash receipts without additional funding (2,987) (9,104) 
For the award of tangible assets - - 
   

Balance at the end of the year 131,295 114,378 
 
The classification of impaired assets pending collection according to their age is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 

 
Financial year 2021 

Up to 6 
months 

Between 6 
and 9 

months 

Between 9 
and 1  

months 
More than 12 

months Total 
Secured transactions 6,359 529 871 9,688 17,447 
Secured transactions on residential 
property finished 6,782 695 1,057 8,490 17,024 
Unsecured transactions 11,605 1,988 1,604 30,360 45,557 
      
 24,746 3,212 3,532 48,538 80,028 
 

 
 Thousands of euros 

 
Financial year 2020 

Up to 6 
months 

Between 6 
and 9 

months 

Between 9 
and 12 

months 
More than 12 

months Total 
Secured transactions 7,035 486 273 15,459 23,253 
Secured transactions on residential 
property finished 9,074 397 281 5,291 15,043 
Unsecured transactions 17,024 2,006 1,428 26,413 46,871 
      
 33,133 2,889 1,982 47,163 85,167 
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The classification of past due, unimpaired assets pending collection according to age 
is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 

 
Less than 1  

month 
Between 1 and  

2 months 
Between 2 and  

3 months Total 
Financial year 2021 
     
Unsecured transactions 249 41 40 330 
Secured transactions on completed homes 472 137 151 760 
Other secured transactions 3,623 785 502 4,910 
With partial collateral - - - - 

Total 4,344 963 693 6,000 
 

 Thousands of euros 

 
Less than 1  

month 
Between 1 and  

2 months 
Between 2 and  

3 months Total 
Financial year 2020 

     
Unsecured transactions 71 81 188 340 
Secured transactions on completed homes 152 104 410 666 
Other secured transactions 1,104 770 2,584 4,458 
With partial collateral - - - - 

Total 1,327 955 3,182 5,464 
 

11.4. Impairment losses 
 

The breakdown of impairment losses recorded during 2021 and 2020 for assets in the 
loan and advance payment portfolio with customers is as follows: 

 
  Thousand of euros 
2021  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 
Opening balance  69.360  3.168  38.937  111.465 
         
Origination increases  3,186  44  531  3,761 
Decreases due to derecognition  (20,664)  (29)  (618)  (21,311) 
Changes due to variations in credit risk  1,130  1,596  (1,723)  1,003 
Changes due to modifications without derecognition  -  -  324  324 
Changes due to updating the Entity’s estimation method   -  -  -  - 
Reduction in the allowance account due to write-offs  -  -  (7,732)  (7,732) 
Other  15,316  (864)  2,758  17,210 
         
Closing balance  68,328  3,915  32,477  104,720 

 
  Thousand of euros 
2020  Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 
Opening balance  69,118  5,291  39,479   113,888 
         
Origination increases  4,654  35  963  5,652 
Decreases due to derecognition  (2,524)  (475)  (1,827)  (4,826) 
Changes due to variations in credit risk  (1,945)  (1,199)  4,864  1,720 
Changes due to modifications without derecognition  -  7  (5,594)  (5,587) 
Changes due to updating the Entity’s estimation method   -  -  -  - 
Reduction in the allowance account due to write-offs  (1)  -  (5,489)  (5,490) 
Other  58  (491)  6,541  6,108 
         
Closing balance  69,360  3,168  38,937  111,465 
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In 2021 and 2020, movements between the different risk stages were as follows: 
 

  Thousand of euros 
 2021 2020 
Transfers between Stage 1 and Stage 2   
  To Stage 2 from 1 42,598 9,161 
  To Stage 1 from 2 2,285 38,863 
   
Transfers between Stage 2 and Stage 3   
  To Stage 3 from 2 3,566 4,353 
  To Stage 2 from 3 480 958 
   
Transfers between Stage 1 and Stage 3   
  To Stage 3 from 1 10,062 7,202 
  To Stage 1 from 3 308 740 

 
Also, in 2021 and 2020, a net loss provision of EUR 104 thousand and a net loss 
provision of EUR 132 thousand, respectively, were recognised under "Financial Assets 
at Amortised Cost" in the consolidated income statement. 
 
The detail of "Impairment/Reversal of Impairment of Financial Assets not Measured at 
Fair Value through Profit or Loss and Net Profit or Loss Due to Changes - Financial 
Assets at Amortised Cost" in the consolidated income statements for the years ended 
31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Net provision for the year as reflected in the income statement 3,429   3,997  
Suspended assets recovered (1,196)  (720) 
Direct asset depreciation 894  862  
    
 3,127  4,139  

 
11.5. Moratorium measures and financing operations with ICO Covid-19 
guarantees 
 
On March 18, 2020, Royal Decree-Law 8/2020 of urgent measures to face the 
economic and social impact of Covid-19 is published. 
 
On the one hand, in order to gain the protection of mortgage debtors in vulnerable 
situations, a moratorium has been awarded in the payment of their mortgage on their 
habitual residence. Royal Decree-Law 11/2020, incorporates loan contracts whose 
collateral is real estate linked to its economic activity and those guarantees for homes 
intended for rent, in addition to contracts in which the debtor has stopped receiving 
income due to the crisis sanitary. Likewise, the scope of the moratorium is expanded 
by being able to include loan and credit contracts without mortgage guarantee, 
including those intended for consumption. 
 
Additionally, since March 2020, the State has granted a line of guarantees of 100,000 
million euros administered by the Official Credit Institute (ICO), whose objective is to 
ensure compliance with the liquidity needs of credit institutions that may arise as a 
result of the new financing measures derived from Covid-19. 
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In this context, the Parent Entity has granted both public moratoriums, cited above, 
and moratoriums of a sectorial nature, included in the sector agreement of the National 
Union of Credit Cooperatives (UNACC) on postponement of financing operations of 
clients affected by the crisis coronavirus dated April 23, 2020. 
 
The detail of these operations as of December 31, 2021 is as follows: 
 
      Thousands of euros 

 Total  

Breakdown of 
outstanding balance 

by risk stages 

 
Number of 
operations   

Amount 
granted   

Outstanding 
balance   

Outstanding 
balance 

subjects to 
moratorium  

Stage 
1  

Stage 
2  

Stage 
3 

                 
Legal moratorium 18   1,575   863   863  863  -  - 

Mortgage operations 10   1,205   636   636  636  -  - 
Mixed operations 2   234   140   140  140  -  - 
Personal operations 6   137   87   87  87  -  - 

                 
 
Sector moratorium 28   3,619   2,213   2,213  1,357  547  309 

Mortgage operations 27   3,538   2,159   2,159  1,303  547  309 
Mixed operations 1   81   54   54  54  -  - 
Personal operations -   -   -   -  -  -  - 

                 
 
Legal moratorium 
converted to sectoral -   -   -   -  -  -  - 

Mortgage operations -   -   -   -  -  -  - 
Mixed operations -   -   -   -  -  -  - 

                 
Totals 46   5,194   3,076   3,076  2,220  547  309 

 

(*) Operations for which a moratorium of this type has been directly granted and those that have ended a legislative 
moratorium and for which a sector moratorium is awaiting activation are reported as sectoral moratoriums. 

 
 Thousands of euros 

 Total 
Breakdown of outstanding balance 

by risk stages 

 

Number of 
operations 

granted 
Amount 

financed 
Guaranteed 

amount 
Outstanding 

balance Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3 
        

ICO Covid-19 guarantees 2,597 139,532 110,781 122,932 116,282 4,277 2,373 
        

Self-employed and SMEs 2,581 130,127 104,534 114,990 109,706 3,577 1,707 
Other companies 16 9,405 6,247 7,942 6,576 700 666 

 
In relation to public moratorium, during a period of three months the mortgage debt will 
be suspended and, therefore, its application will be suspended during the period of 
validity of the moratorium of the early maturity clause that it should be on the home 
equity loan agreement. During said period, the creditor entity cannot demand the 
payment of the mortgage payment, nor of any of the concepts that comprise it, that is, 
neither the amortization of the capital nor the payment of interest. The moratorium 
could have retroactive effect for unpaid installments on or after March 18, 2020. 
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On the other hand, the sectoral moratorium will only apply to those borrowers who 
cannot enjoy the moratorium established by the Government (public moratorium) and 
who are faced with liquidity needs derived from the Covid-19 pandemic. In these 
cases, by virtue of the provisions of the UNACC sector agreement signed on April 23, 
2020, the Parent Entity will reduce the payment of the mortgage and personal loans. 
The term of the moratorium is a maximum of 12 months in loans or credits with 
mortgage guarantee, and a maximum of 6 months in the case of loans or personal 
credits (with the possibility of extension after modification of the sector agreement). 
Following the directives of the European Banking Authority (EBA), on June 25, 2020, 
the period for granting sectoral moratoriums was extended until September 29, 2020. 
In the same way, on December 30, 2020, An annex has been signed that allows 
requesting new moratoriums until March 31, 2021 with a maximum term equivalent to 
nine months for loans or credits with mortgage guarantee and six months for loans or 
personal credits. 
 
The effect of the postponement affects only in this case the amortization of the principal 
of the loan during the term of the moratorium. As of December 31, 2021, the Parent 
Entity had approved 28 sectoral moratorium operations, for an amount that amounts 
to 3,619 thousand euros, and 18 legal moratorium operations, for an amount that 
amounts to 1,575 thousand euros. 
 
Finally, in article 29 of Royal Decree-Law 8/2020, of March 17, on extraordinary urgent 
measures, the ICO line of guarantees establishes that the Ministry of Economic Affairs 
and Digital Transformation will grant up to 100,000 million euros to face the liquidity 
needs established in said Royal Decree. Companies and freelancers are having 
access to these guarantees through their financial institutions, by formalizing new 
financing operations or renovating existing ones. Until December 31, 2020, there are 
four lines of guarantees approved by the Agreements of the Council of Ministers of 
March 24, April 10, May 5, May 19, 2020 and June 16. 
 
Subsequently, according to Royal Decree-Law 25/2020, of July 3, a Guarantee Line 
of 40,000 million euros was approved, from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Digital 
Transformation, with the aim of meeting mainly the needs of SMEs and self-employed 
derived from new investments. Part of this line was approved by agreements of the 
Council of Ministers of July 28, 2020 and November 24, 2020. 
 
Eurocaja Rural S.C.C. has approved a total of 2,597 operations for the self-employed, 
SMEs and other companies, with a financing limit of 139,532 thousand euros, an ICO 
guarantee amount of 110,781 thousand euros, and an outstanding balance as of 
December 31, 2021 of 122,932 thousand euros (118,884 thousand euros at December 
31, 2020).  
 
Eurocaja Rural S.C.C. considers that the ICO Covid-19 guarantees are substantially 
part of the guaranteed financing (comprehensive guarantee), since in any case they 
are new operations or renewals of existing credit lines with substantial modifications 
of the original conditions. Therefore, the accounting treatment applied to them is based 
on the following premises: (i) the commission paid by the Parent to the ICO is 
incorporated as an incremental cost in the calculation of the effective interest rate of 
the operation as indicated in paragraph B5.4.1 of IFRS 9, and (ii) the flows that are 
expected to be obtained as a result of the execution of the guarantee are taken into 
account in the calculation of the expected loss of the operation as indicated in 
paragraph B5.5.55  of the IFRS 9. 
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The granting of legal and sectoral moratoriums as well as the granting of operations 
with ICO guarantees have not had a significant impact on the Entity's profit and loss 
account throughout the 2021 financial year. 
 
12. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's balance under "Investments in Joint 
Ventures and Associates" is nil. The relevant information on the investments in 
subsidiaries that were fully consolidated at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is included in 
Note 1. 
 
13. NON-CURRENT ASSETS FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED 

WITH NON- CURRENT ASSETS FOR SALE 
 

The breakdown of this heading in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   Asset   Liability   Asset   Liability 

Tangible assets awarded 22,561 - 22,690 - 
Impairment adjustments   (4,555)   -   (5,133)   - 

Total 18,006 - 17,557 - 
 
The fair value of the foreclosed assets calculated by independent valuers does not 
differ significantly from the value at which they are carried. 
 
The detail of the changes in this heading in the consolidated balance sheet in 2021 
and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 Assets Liability 
   
Balance as of December 31, 2019 24,447 - 

 
Registration 

 
2,396 

 
- 

Downloads             (4,153)   - 
Balance as of December 31, 2020 22,690 - 

 
Registration 

 
3,161 

 
- 

Downloads            (3,290)   - 
Balance as of December 31, 2021 22,561 - 

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the detail of non-current assets is shown in Note 5.a. 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the classification of foreclosed assets according to 
their purpose is as follows: 
 
 Thousand of euros 

2021 Gross value  

Value  
Corrections  
deteriorating  

Net book 
value 

      
Regular housing and assimilated 14,520  (2,978)  11,542 
Unusual housing 3,562  (456)  3,106 
Premises, warehouses and industrial buildings, 1,680  (473)  1,207 
Soil and assimilated 2,186  (570)  1,616 
Others 613  (78)  535 
      
Total 22,561  (4,555)  18,006 

 
 Thousand of euros 

2020 Gross value  

Value  
Corrections  
deteriorating  

Net book 
value 

      
Regular housing and assimilated 7,235  (1,906)  5,329 
Unusual housing 12,205  (2,143)  10,062 
Premises, warehouses and industrial buildings, 1,493  (428)  1,065 
Soil and assimilated 1,147  (568)  579 
Others 638  (88)  550 
      
Total 22,690  (5,133)  17,557 
 
The changes in 2021 and 2020 in the impairment losses on non-current assets and 
disposal groups classified as held for sale by the Group were as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Opening balance (5,133) (5,656) 
   
Provisions (Note 32) (170) (111) 
Recoveries (Note 32) 748 628 
Uses (*) -  6  
   
Final balance (4,555) (5,133) 

(*) Corresponds to the use of provisions as a result of the sale of foreclosed assets. 
 
As mentioned in Note 2.d), in 2012 the Parent incorporated Viveactivos, S.A.U. and 
Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U., to which all the assets 
foreclosed or received in payment of debts referred to in Article 1.1 of Royal Decree 
Law 18/2012, of 11 May, subsequently replaced by Law 8/2012, of 30 October, were 
transferred. 
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The breakdown of this heading in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Own use (net of accumulated depreciation) 63,059 61,512 
Investment property (net of accumulated depreciation) 6,700 6,902 
Impairment losses (838) (722) 
   

Total 68,921 67,692 
 
The breakdown of this heading in the consolidated balance sheet and of the 
changes in this heading in 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousand of euros 

For Own Use 
Computer 

Equipment  

Furniture, 
installations 

and others  Buildings  
Real Estate 

Investments  TOTAL 
          

Cost Value          
          

Balance as 31.12.19 17,630   37,596   57,980   7,418   120,624  
          

Registration 2,074   2,900   1,723   -   6,697  
Downloads (1,372)  (72)  (134)  -   (1,578) 
Transfers -   -   -   -   -  
          

Balance as 31.12.20 18,332   40,424   59,569   7,418   125,743  
          

Registration 973  2,730  5,947  -   9,650 
Downloads -   (220)  (2,827)  -   (3,047) 
Transfers -   7  (7)  -   -  
          

Balance as 31.12.21 19,305  42,941  62,682  7,418  132,346 
          

Accumulated Depreciation          
          

Balance as 31.12.19 (12,442)  (22,702)  (16,093)  (315)  (51,552) 
          

Registration (1,583)  (1,856)  (2,896)  (202)  (6,537) 
Downloads 792   27   46   1   866  
Transfers (106)  -   -   -   (106) 
          

Saldo al 31.12.20 (13,339)  (24,531)  (18,943)  (516)  (57,329) 
          

Registration (1,520)  (2,012)  (2,996)  (202)  (6,730) 
Downloads -  168  1,304  -  1,472 
Transfers -  -  -  -  - 
          

Balance as 31.12.21 (14,859)  (26,375)  (20,635)  (718)  (62,587) 
          

Impairment losses          
          

Balance as 31.12.19 -   -   (722)  -   (722) 
          
Registration -   -   -   -   -  
Downloads -   -   -   -   -  
Transfers -   -   -   -   -  
          

Balance as 31.12.20 -   -   (722)  -   (722) 
          

Registration -   -   (116)  -  (116) 
Downloads -   -   -  -  - 
Transfers -   -   -  -  - 
          

Balance as 31.12.21       (838)    (838) 
          

Net value at 31.12.20 4,993   15,893   39,904   6,902   67,692  
          

Net value at 31.12.21 4,446  16,566  41,209  6,700  68,921 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group has no property, plant and equipment that 
is temporarily out of service or retired from active use. 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the group had no signed commitments to purchase 
or sell tangible assets for significant amounts. 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have fully depreciated property, 
plant and equipment with an original cost of EUR 26,166 thousand and EUR 24,055 
thousand, respectively, that are still in use. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004, the Parent 
Company revalued the "Buildings for own use" and for free disposal on January 1, 
2004. The accounting impact of this revaluation was 17,875 thousand euros net of 
taxes. Likewise, the Parent Company does not carry out periodic valuations unless 
there is evidence of potential deterioration, however, the Administrators of the Parent 
Company annually commission an independent expert to analyse the market for said 
asset, registering, where applicable, any deterioration that may occur in the 
consolidated profit and loss account. In this way, the Administrators understand that 
the fair values of property, plant and equipment do not differ significantly from the 
recognized amounts. 
 
There are no tangible assets of significant amount for which there are restrictions on 
use or ownership, or which the Entity has delivered as security for debt performance. 
 
Rights of use by lease 
 
The Group holds rights of use through leasing mainly of buildings, premises and offices 
for the performance of its activities. 
 
The breakdown of the rights of use under finance leases and of the changes therein in 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
  Thousand of euros 

  
Land and 
buildings  Others  Total 

       
Balances as of 31 diciembre de 2019  11,123   120    11,243   
       
Additions  1,723    250    1,973   
Downloads  (134)  -   (134) 
Amortization  (2,447)  (72)  (2,519) 
Other movements  46   -    46   
       
Balances as of 31 de diciembre de 2020  10,311   298    10,609   
       
Additions  3,852  95  3,947 
Downloads  (2,827)  (205)  (3,032) 
Amortization  (2,536)  (123)  (2,659) 
Other movements  1,303  156  1,459 
       
Balances as of 31 de diciembre de 2021  10,103  221  10,324 
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The breakdown of the lease liabilities associated with the rights of use (which are 
recognised under "Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost" in the consolidated balance 
sheet) at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Lease liabilities   

For current leases 10,346 10,496 
For non-current leases - - 

 10,346 10,496 
 

Also, the impact on the consolidated income statement of the rights of use under the 
Group's leases at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 

 2021 2020 
   
Expenses for amortization of rights of use   

Land and buildings 2,536 2,447 
Others 123 72 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1 5 
   

 2,660 2,524 
 

Finally, the Group has excluded from the general treatment of leases those contracts 
with a term of 12 months or less, as well as those contracts where the value of the 
leased item is low. Although these exclusions were not material, their impact on the 
Group's consolidated income statement at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is presented 
below: 

 
  Thousands of euros 

 2021 2020 
   
Short-term lease expenses 712 484 
Low value lease expenses - - 
   

 712 484 
 
These lease expenses are recognised income statement. under "Other Operating 
Expenses" in the consolidated 
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The breakdown of the balance and movement in this heading in the consolidated 
balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 

 

 Cost Amortization Deterioration Net value 
Balance as of 31.12.19 3,527 (3,166) - 361 

 
Registration 
Downloads 

 
495 

 
(171) 

 
- 

 
324 

Balance as of 31.12.20 4,022 (3,337) - 685 
 

Registration 
Downloads 

 
305 

- 

 
(218) 

- 

 
- 
- 

 
87 

- 
Balance as of 31.12.21 4,327 (3,555) - 772 

 
16. OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

 
The breakdown of the balances of these asset and liability headings in the 
consolidated balance sheet for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

Active 
 
Accruals:       

Other accruals 2,180 2,966 
 
Rest of other assets   

Stocks 306 310 
Other concepts 3,628 4,855 

Total other assets 6,114 8,131 
 
Liability   
Accruals 6,598 4,407 
Other liabilities 

Other concepts 12,604 11,447 
Social work fund 7,506 7,763 

Total other liabilities 26,708 23,617 
 
17. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 
 
The breakdown of this heading on the liabilities side of the consolidated balance 
sheet at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Central banks (Note 17.1) 570,233 666,400 
Credit institutions (Note 17.2) 4,303 89,891 
Customers (Note 17.3) 6,627,194 6,372,545 
Debt securities issued (Note 17.4) 1,196,525 1,002,585 
Other financial liabilities (Note 17.5) 71,135 48,353 
   
Total 8,469,390 8,179,774 
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17.1 Central bank deposits 
 
The breakdown of the balances of this heading in the consolidated balance sheets is as 
follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 

 
Bank of Spain   

Time deposits 570,233 666,400 
   
Total 570,233 666,400 

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Parent Company had a Credit Policy Agreement 
with the Bank of Spain with a pledge of securities and other assets, the limits of which 
amounted to EUR 931,157 thousand and EUR 1,557,157 thousand, respectively. At 
31 December 2021, the amount drawn down under this agreement was EUR 572,000 
thousand (31 December 2020: EUR 670,000 thousand). 
 
This amount drawn down is secured by fixed-income securities recognised under 
"Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income" for an 
equivalent amount, in addition to the asset-backed securities described in Note 10. 
 
17.2 Deposits from credit institutions 
 
The breakdown of this heading on the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet 
at 31 December 2021 and 2020, based on the nature of the instrument, is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros  
 2021 2020 

Current accounts / intraday deposits 3,269 88,521 
Time deposits 1,034 1,370 
Repurchase agreements - - 

Total 4,303 89,891 
 
The breakdown by remaining term to maturity of this heading is detailed in Note 5.c). 
 
As of December 31, 2021, and 2020, the nominal amount of the repurchase 
agreements is zero thousand euros. 
 
The average annual interest rate during 2021 and 2020 on deposits from credit 
institutions was 0.08%. 
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17.3 Customer deposits 
 
The breakdown, by counterparty and type of financial liability, of this heading on the 
liability side of the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros  
 2021  2020 

Public administrations 870,339  640,010 
Current accounts / intraday deposits 834,269  602,835 
Time deposits 36,070  37,175 

Other financial companies 567,549  911,195 
Current accounts / intraday deposits 34,760  19,792 
Time deposits 12,303  15,252 
Repurchase agreements (*) 520,486  876,151 

Non-financial companies 934,498  784,636 
Current accounts / intraday deposits 826,513  632,125 
Time deposits 107,985  152,511 

Homes 4,254,808  4,036,704 
Current accounts / intraday deposits 3,054,287  2,680,352 
Time deposits 1,200,521  1,356,352 

    
Total 6,627,194  6,372,545 
    
By currency In Euros 6,626,817  6,372,096 
    
Currency 377  499 
    
Total 6,627,194  6,372,545 
    
By interest rate modality Fixed interest rate 5,980,051  4,927,726 
Variable interest rate 647,143  1,444,819 
    
Total 6,627,194  6,372,545 

(*) At 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were repo with central counterparties (MEEF) for a nominal amount of EUR 
460,000 thousand and EUR 754,000 thousand, respectively, in which the contracting entities were Ibercaja Banco, 
Societe General Unicaja Banco and Cecabank at 31 December 2021 and Ibercaja Banco and Unicaja Banco at 31 
December 2020. The effective amounts recognised at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were EUR 520,972 thousand and 
EUR 876,307 thousand, respectively, and the interest accrued at those dates was EUR 3,188 thousand and EUR 3,350 
thousand, respectively, recognised under "Interest Income". In 2021 and 2020, the average rate of these sales was 

 -0.58% and -0.54%, respectively. 
 
The amount shown as "Valuation Adjustments" under the "Customer Deposits" caption 
relates practically in full to accrued interest. The average annual interest rate during 
2021 and 2020 on customer deposits was 0.01% and 0.03%, respectively. 
 
The breakdown by remaining term to maturity of this heading is detailed in Note 5.c). 
 
17.4 Debt securities issued 
 
The debt securities issued include bearer or orderly debt, such as cash or treasury 
bonds, bonds, mortgage securities, debentures, promissory notes, certificates of 
deposit or similar instruments. 
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The negotiable securities issued by the Parent Company that are in the possession of 
third parties outside the Group, valued at amortised cost, are detailed by instrument in 
the following table: 
 
  Thousands of euros 
  2021  2020 
     
Mortgage securities     

Mortgage bonds issued (Vto. 2021)   -  500,000 
Mortgage bonds issued (Vto. 2024)  500,000  500,000 
Mortgage bonds issued (Vto. 2031)  700,000  - 
Premiums/Discounts Issue (Vto. 2021)  -  (1,830) 
Premiums/Discounts Issue (Vto. 2024)  (345)  (345) 
Premiums/Discounts Issue (Vto. 2031)  (3,948)  - 

     
Valuation adjustments      

Accrued interest   2,867  3,728 
Premiums/Discounts  345  1,784 
Transaction Costs   (2,394)  (752) 

     
Total  1,196,525  1,002,585 

 
"Mortgage Securities" section includes the outstanding balance held by third parties in 
the issue of Mortgage Notes issued under the Base Prospectus for Fixed-Income and 
Structured Securities registered in the official registers of the Spanish National 
Securities Market Commission. The name of the issue is "I Issue" and "II Issue" of 
Cédulas Hipotecarias Caja Rural Castilla La Mancha Sociedad Cooperativa de 
Crédito". Mortgage bonds are securities that represent a debt for their issuer, bear 
interest and are repayable on the date(s) stipulated in the terms and conditions of the 
issue. 
 
The nominal amount of the securities forming these issues is Euros 500,000 thousand, 
represented by 5 thousand covered bonds each with a par value of Euros 100 
thousand for the issue maturing in 2024 and Euros 700,000 thousand, represented by 
7 thousand covered bonds each with a par value of Euros 100 thousand for the issue 
maturing in 2031.  The issue price is 99.93% (maturity in 2024) and 99.44% (maturity 
in 2031), therefore the effective amount of the issue is Euros 499,655 thousand and 
Euros 696,052 thousand, respectively and the effective amount per unit is Euros 
99,931 thousand and Euros 99,436 thousand, respectively. Details of the issue are as 
follows: 
 
The details of the broadcast are as follows: 

 

ISIN 
Balance issued 

(in euros) Date of issue 
Expiration 

date 
Single VN 
(in euros) Interest 

      
ES0457089011 500,000,000 27/05/2016 27/05/2024 100,000 0.8840 
ES0457089029 700,000,000 22/09/2021 22/09/2031 100,000 0.1250 
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Overed bonds in this issue earn interest for the holders at a fixed annual nominal rate 
from the date of disbursement (included) until their redemption date (excluded) of 
0.884% and 0.125% per annum calculated on an Act/unadjusted Act basis. The last 
coupon shall be paid upon maturity of the issue (maturity dates on 27 May 2024 and 
22 September 2031). Payments of coupons and the principal will be made by Banco 
Cooperativo Español, S.A. in the issue maturing in 2024 and by Cecabank, S.A. in the 
issue maturing in 2031. 

 
The changes in 2021 and 2020 in "Debt securities issued" were as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Balance at the beginning 1,002,585   1,001,857 
     
     Emissions 700,000   - 
     Amostization (500,000)   
     Premiums/Discounts Issue (2,118)  - 
     Accrual of premiums/discounts Issue (1,439)  334 
     Transaction Costs (1,642)  384 
     Net movement of accrued interest (861)  10 
     
Saldo a final 1,196,525   1,002,585 

 
The movement in the outstanding nominal value of the issues during the financial years 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 

  Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Nominal outstanding at the beginning of the year 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Nominal issued 700,000 - 
Nominal value amortized (500,000) - 
   
Nominal value outstanding at year-end 1,200,000 1,000,000 
 
In 2021 and 2020, the mortgage bonds bore interest of EUR 7,889 thousand and EUR 
8,760 thousand, respectively. Also, in 2021 and 2020 these mortgage bonds bore 
interest of EUR 778 thousand and EUR 718 thousand, respectively, on the assumption 
of risk premium and issue costs, which were included in the consolidated income 
statement under "Interest Expenses" (see Note 26). 
 
17.5 Other financial liabilities 
 
All the financial liabilities recognised under this heading in the consolidated balance 
sheet are classified under "Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost" and, accordingly, 
are measured at amortised cost. It includes the amount of the obligations payable that 
are in the nature of financial liabilities not included under other headings. 
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The breakdown of other financial liabilities, grouped by type of financial instrument, is 
as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Obligations to be paid (*) 35,501 24,171 
Revenue accounts 24,640 11,835 
Special accounts 8,506 9,364 
Contribution to the DGF (Note 2.f) 650 1,336 
Financial guarantees 1,837 1,647 
   
Total 71,135 48,353 

 
18. PROVISIONS 
 
The breakdown of this heading in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 
2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 
(Note 3.r) 854 698 
Commitments and guarantees granted 2,342  1,844 
Remaining provisions 12,334 12,306 

Total 15,530 14,848 
 
The movement in these headings in 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 

 

Pensions 
and other 

obligations 

Conceived 
commitments 

and 
guarantees 

Remaining 
provisions Total 

     
Balance as of December 31, 2019 386  1,919  12,080  14,385  
     
Provisions (Note 31) - 1,114 14,663 15,777 
Recoveries (Note 31) - (1,353) (3,201) (4,554) 
Other movements 312 164 (11,236) (10,760) 
     
Balance as of December 31, 2020 698 1,844 12,306 14,848 
     
Provisions (Note 31) - 887 17,140 18,027 
Recoveries (Note 31) - (369) (12,735) (13,104) 
Other movements 156 (20) (4,378) (4,242) 
     
Balance as of December 31, 2021 854 2,342 12,334 15,530 
 
The provisions recorded by the Group represent the best estimate of future obligations. 
The Parent Company Directors consider that there is no significant risk that the 
materialisation of these estimates, taking into account the amount of these provisions, 
will mean a material adjustment to the book value of the Group's assets and liabilities 
in the next accounting period. The financial effect estimated in the calculation of 
provisions and the amount of their recovery was not material in 2021 and 2020. 
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The Group quantifies the provisions taking into account the best information available 
on the consequences of the event giving rise to them. These provisions are re-
estimated at each accounting close and are used to meet the specific obligations for 
which they were originally recognised; they are reversed, in full or in part, when these 
obligations cease to exist or are reduced. 
 
The Group periodically reassesses the risks to which its activity is exposed in 
accordance with the economic context in which it operates. Once the provisions have 
been initially measured and recognised, they are reviewed at each date of the 
consolidated balance sheet and adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect the best 
estimate at that time. 
 
The provisions recorded are used to meet the specific obligations for which they were 
originally recognised and are reversed, in full or in part, when these obligations cease 
to exist or are reduced. 
 
The following items are recorded in each of the provision items: 
 
o Pensions and other obligations: This corresponds to the provisions recorded to 

cover the commitments assumed by the Group with its employees, as described 
in Note 3-r) to these notes to the financial statements. 

 
o Commitments and guarantees granted: this includes the amount set aside for 

general and specific provisions for contingent liabilities, understood as those 
transactions in which the Group guarantees obligations to a third party arising 
from financial guarantees granted or other types of contracts, and contingent 
commitments, understood as irrevocable commitments that may lead to the 
recognition of financial assets. 

 
o Remaining supplies: This item includes provisions for legal proceedings, as well 

as others of a similar nature, in which it is considered probable that the Group 
will have to divest  itself of resources that incorporate profit. Similarly, it includes 
the coverage of various risks, for which provisions have been made to cover 
unresolved issues for which the Group estimates a probable outlay, as well as 
the coverage of probable outlays that the Group estimates it will have to make 
as a result of its normal activity. The final date for the outflow of resources 
depends on each of the contingencies and, therefore, in some cases the 
obligations do not have a fixed settlement date and, in others, depend on the 
legal proceedings in progress. The amounts to be provisioned are calculated in 
accordance with the best estimate of the amount required to settle the related 
claim, based, inter alia, on the individual analysis of the facts and legal opinions 
of internal and external advisors. 
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19. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 
 

19.1 Guarantees granted 
 

The breakdown of the guarantees granted, understood as the amounts that the Group 
must pay on behalf of third parties in the event that those originally obliged to pay do 
not do so, at the end of 2021 and 2020 is shown below: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Financial guarantees granted 26,207  22,791 
Other commitments granted 90,389  69,565 
    
Total 116,596  92,356 

 
A significant portion of these amounts will mature without any payment obligation 
materialising for the Group and, therefore, the aggregate balance of these 
commitments cannot be considered to be a real future need for financing or liquidity to 
be granted to third parties by the Group. 
 
The income obtained from the financial guarantees is recognised under "Fee and 
commission income" in the consolidated income statement and is calculated by 
applying the rate established in the contract from which the guarantee arises to the 
nominal amount of the guarantee. 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had no assets to guarantee transactions 
carried out by itself or by third parties. 
 

 
19.2 Loan commitments granted 

 
The breakdown of "loan commitments granted" at 31 December 2021 and "contingent 
commitments granted" 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Credit commitments 490,990  535,493 
Other contingent commitments 3,420  2,810 
    
Total 494,410  538,303 

 
This item comprises irrevocable commitments to provide financing in accordance with 
certain pre- agreed conditions and deadlines. All the credit commitments of the Parent 
Company are immediately available. 
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The breakdown of credit commitments in 2021 and 2020, grouped by counterparty, is 
as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 

Available from third parties    
    
Credit institutions 60  41 

Public Administrations 68,178  46,114 
Other resident sectors    
Credit cards 76,913  68,486 
From accounts with immediate availability 262,533  332,229 
Others 83,065  88,467 
Non-residents 241  156 
    
 Total 490,990  535,493 
 
The average 2021 interest rate offered for these commitments is 0.99% (1.00% in 2020). 
 
20. OTHER ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
This heading in the consolidated balance sheets at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
includes the net amount of the changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income which, in accordance with Note 9.3, should 
be classified as an integral part of the Group's equity. These changes are recognised 
in the income statements when the assets in which they arise are sold. 
 
The changes in the balance of this heading in 2021 and 2020 are presented below: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Opening balance 14,510  18,844  
    
Changes in the fair value of debt securities (Note 10.4) (7,155)  (943) 
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments (Note 10.4) (133)  333  
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 362  (3,724) 
Changes in fair value due to exchange rate differences -  -  
    
Final balance 7,584   14,510  

 

 
21. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
The changes in "Equity - Capital" and "Equity - Reserves" in those years are presented 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity for 2021 and 2020, which forms an 
integral part of the statement of changes in equity. 
 
21.1 Authorised Capital 
 
As indicated in Royal Decree 84/1993, of 22nd January, which approves the 
Regulation for the development of Law 13/1989, of 26th May, and in the Statutes of 
the Parent Company, the share capital is made up of the capital contributions made 
for this concept by the shareholders who comply with the legally established 
conditions. 
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With the publication by the Bank of Spain of its Circular 7/2012 of 30 November, 
compulsory and voluntary contributions are equated so that both have equal rights, 
both economic and political. This modification implied the revision of nomenclature in 
the statutes of the Parent Company, which were duly approved in the General 
Assembly of 19th April 2013, although in practice it has no effect on the members of 
the Parent Company, as prior to said circular there was already equality of rights 
between both types of contributions. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the capital of the Parent Company amounts to 102,555 
thousand euros (101,795 thousand euros on 31 December 2020), made up of 1,462,989 
shares with a nominal value of 70.10 euros (1.452.145 shares on 31 December 2020 
with a nominal value of 70.10 euros) which is fully subscribed and paid up. 
 
The Statutes of the Parent Company contemplate, among others, the following aspects 
in relation to its share capital: 
 

• The Bank's share capital, which will be variable, is set at a minimum of EUR 
4,808 thousand and will be fully subscribed and paid up. 

 
• All the contribution certificates will be registered and will have a nominal value 

of 70.10 euros. Each individual must hold at least one contribution certificate. 
However, in the case of a legal person, the minimum number of shares to be 
held shall be five. 

 
• The total amount of the contributions directly or indirectly controlled by each 

partner may not exceed 3.5% of the share capital in the case of a legal entity, 
and 2.5% in the case of an individual. Under no circumstances may any of the 
legal entities that do not have the status of cooperative societies hold more 
than 50% of the share capital. 

 
Furthermore, as explained in Note 3, at the General Assembly held on 28 April 2006, 
the Parent Company's Bylaws were modified to adapt the contributions to the capital 
of the cooperatives to the requirements established by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004, 
in order to be considered as "Equity instruments". 
 
On 15 June 2012, the General Assembly agreed to admit contributions to the Share 
Capital in a maximum amount of 123 million euros and for a maximum period of 5 
years, delegating the execution of this agreement to the Governing Council. In 
accordance with this delegation, at its meeting on 26 February 2013 the Governing 
Board decided to make voluntary contributions to the share capital of up to EUR 
41,202 thousand, the main features of which are as follows 

 
• Nominal value: 60,11 euros 

 
• Expiration: Indefinite 

 
• Representation: Nominative titles 

 
• Remuneration: The one established at any time by the General Assembly of 

the Parent Company for the obligatory contributions. However, remuneration 
is conditioned to the existence of net results or sufficient free resources and 
compliance by the company with the solvency ratio or minimum equity 
requirements. 
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At 31 December 2013, the share capital, after the capital increase process that was 
open from 13 March to 7 August 2013, was set at EUR 50,321 thousand in 
contributions, and no distinction was made between voluntary and mandatory 
contributions. 
 
On 29 April 2016, the General Assembly approved an increase in the nominal value 
of the shares by 5.71 euros per share, raising the nominal value of the shares from 
60.11 euros to 65.82 euros. This increase in the nominal value of the shares was 
carried out on the basis of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2015. The 
maximum amount of this increase is limited to the use of EUR 4,8 million of the 
Bank's voluntary reserves, which finally amounted to EUR 4,843 thousand at 31 
December 2016. 
 
The Extraordinary Governing Council of 30 November 2016 approved a second capital 
increase to be carried out in December for a maximum amount of During the month of 
December, subscriptions to the capital increase amounted to 36,881 thousand euros. 
The Governing Council decided on 20 December to extend this period to January 
2017. The total capital increase at 31 January 2017 amounted to 37,256 thousand 
euros. 
 
The General Meeting on April 28, 2017 approved the modification of the entity's 
concentration limits from 5% of the capital stock in the case of a legal entity, and 1.5% 
in the case of an individual, to those present, where the total amount of the 
contributions of each partner may not exceed 3.5% of the capital stock in the case of 
a legal entity or joint venture, and 2.5% in the case of an individual. 
 
At the General Assembly held on 30 June 2020, an increase in the par value of 
shares by Euros 4.28 per share was approved, raising the par value from Euros 
65.82 to Euros 70.10 per share. This increase in the par value of shares was based 
on the balance sheet at 31 December 2019. The maximum amount of the capital 
increase is limited to the use of Euros 6.1 million of the Entity’s voluntary reserves, 
ultimately amounting to Euros 6,194 thousand at 31 December 2020. 
 
The Bank's contributions meet all the requirements of Royal Decree 84/1993 and Bank 
of Spain Circular 5/1993 for inclusion in the capital stock, which are, as detailed in the 
Bank's bylaws, as follows: 

 
• Their possible remuneration is effectively conditioned by the existence of net 

positive results or sufficient unrestricted reserves to satisfy it, in the latter case 
subject to the prior authorization of the Bank of Spain. 

 
• It lasts indefinitely. 

 
• Any such repayment shall be subject to the condition that the minimum capital 

requirement, reserves, own resources or solvency ratio is not insufficient. 
 

The interest for 2021 will be set by the General Assembly in 2022. 
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21.2 Reserves 
 

The breakdown, by item, of the balances of these captions in the consolidated balance 
sheet is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
Reserves of the Parent Company (*)     
Accumulated earnings 386,313  354,992 
Mandatory reserves (Mandatory Reserve Fund) -  - 
Voluntary reserves -  - 
Revaluation reserves 10,225  10,300 
Other reserves (2,618)  (2,576) 
    
 393,920  362,716 
    
Reserves of consolidated companies 

Eurocaja Rural, Mediación Operador Banca y Seguros Vinculado, S.L.U. 1,042  953 
TEC Soluciones de Negocio, S.L.U. (3,790)  (2,385) 
Viveactivos, S.A.U. 5  - 
Rural Broker, S.L.U. 213  202 
Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. 14  - 
    
 (2,516)  (1,230) 
    
Total 391,404  361,486 

 
The contributions made to the Mandatory Reserve Fund (not distributable among the 
members) from the application of the surpluses from previous years have been carried 
out following that indicated in Law 13/1989, of 26th May, on Credit Cooperatives, 
partially modified by Law 20/1990, of 19th December, on the Tax Regime of 
Cooperatives and in the Statutes of the Parent Company. According to the current 
bylaws of the Entity, this Fund will be endowed with 75% of the available surplus of 
each financial year. 
 
22. CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 
 
The contribution by company to consolidated profit, net of consolidation adjustments, 
for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 

 2021 2020 
 Group Minority Group Minority 
     
Eurocaja Rural (Parent Company) 35,055 - 32,236 - 
TEC Soluciones de Negocio, S.L.U. 3,730 - 2,240 - 
Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador Banca y Seguros 
Vinculado, S.L.U. 593 - 455 - 
Viveactivos, S.A.U. (118) - (237) - 
Rural Broker, S.L.U. 173 - 165 - 
Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. (23) - 24 - 
     
Total 39,410 - 34,883 - 
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23. EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT FUND 
 

In accordance with the provisions of Law 13/1998 on Credit Cooperatives, Law 
27/1999 on Cooperatives and the Articles of Association of the Entity, the Education 
and Promotion Fund will be used for activities that fulfil one of the following purposes 

 
a) The training and education of Caja Rural's members and workers in the principles 

and values of cooperation, or in specific matters of their corporate or labour activity 
and other cooperative activities. 
 

b) The dissemination of cooperativism, as well as the promotion of inter-cooperative 
relations. 
 

c)  The cultural, professional and welfare promotion of the local environment or the 
community in general, as well as the improvement of the quality of life and 
community development and environmental protection actions. 

 
The General Assembly shall establish the basic lines of application of the Education 
and Promotion Fund, with the management of the Fund falling to the Governing 
Council. 
 
In order to fulfil the aims of the Fund, it may collaborate with other companies and 
entities, and may contribute all or part of its endowment. 
 
The Education and Promotion Fund cannot be disbursed, and its provisions must be 
shown on the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet separately from other 
items, in accordance with the rules governing the activities of credit institutions. 
 
During the years 2021 and 2020, considering the basic lines established in the General 
Assembly, the Education and Promotion Fund has been applied to these purposes, 
through the development of the following activities: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Training 651  384 
Cooperative and professinoal promotion 2,589  547 
Cultural and welfare promotion 280  258 
Eurocaja Rural Fundation 462  481 
Educational institutions 2  5 
     
Total 3,984  1,675 

 
The number of aid measures granted in 2021 and 2020 is presented below: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Less than 1,000 euros 271  272 
More than 1,000 euros 122  160 
    
Total 393  432 
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The Education and Promotion Fund's expenditure and investment budget for 2021 
amounts to 4,090 thousand euros (2,155 thousand euros in 2020). 

 
The movements in the Education and Promotion Fund during the financial year 2021 
and 2020 were as follows: 

 
 

 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020  
    
Opening balance 7,763   7,498    
    
Amount committed in previous year (*) (4,291)  (3,094) 
Maintenance costs for the year (3,984)  (3,779) 
Surplus 218  411  
Uncommitted amount (**) 7,200   6,127   
Amount invested in available-for-sale financial assets (Note 9) 600  600  
    
Final balance 7,506  7,763   

 
(*) Represents the application of the surplus for 2021 and 2020, respectively, and the amount invested in financial assets 

at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 
(**) In 2021 and 2020, this relates to the mandatory contributions to welfare funds recognised in the consolidated income 

statement amounting to EUR 3.509 thousand and EUR 3.472 thousand, respectively, together with the surplus 
amounting to EUR 3.691 thousand and EUR 2.655 thousand, respectively (Note 27). 

 
24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

 
The Group entities file their tax returns separately. The Parent Company has the last 
four years open for inspection. Due to the different interpretations that can be made of 
the tax regulations applicable to the operations carried out by the Company, certain 
contingent tax liabilities could exist for the years pending inspection, which are not 
susceptible to objective quantification. However, in the opinion of the Administrators of 
the Parent Company, as well as its tax advisors, the possibility of said contingent 
liabilities materialising in future inspections is remote and, in any case, the tax debt 
that could be derived from them would not significantly affect these consolidated 
annual accounts. 
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The reconciliation between the consolidated profit for the year and the taxable profit 
for 2021 and 2020, excluding the income tax expense arising from transactions 
recognised directly in equity, is as follows: 
 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Consolidated accounting profit before tax (*) 42,919  43,558  
Increases (decreases) due to permanent differences (24,330)  (23,962) 
    
Adjusted consolidated accounting profit 18,589  19,596  
Increases (decreases) due to temporary differences 2,630  17,497  
Offsetting of tax losses from previous years -  (283) 
    
Taxable income 21,219  36,810  
 
Full fee (25% cooperative, 30% non-cooperative) 

 
6,500  

 
9,812  

Deductions and bonuses (27)  (27) 
    
Liquid quota 6,473  9,785  
Withholdings (474)  (462) 
Payments on account (6,122)  (10,015) 
    
Cuota a pagar (123)  (692) 

 
(*) Corresponds to the accounting profit before taxes and mandatory provisions to welfare funds recorded in the 

consolidated income statement (Note 23). 
 

The amount payable to the tax authorities is included under "Current Tax Assets" in 
the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the reconciliation of the consolidated income tax 
expense (income) is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Adjusted consolidated accounting profit 18,589  19,596 
    
Accrued tax (25% Cooperative Income, 30% Extra-cooperative Income) 5,784  5,249 
Adjustments to prior year's corporate income tax expense 77  (45) 
    
Income Tax Expense/ (Income) 5,861  5,204 

 
The balance of the "Tax Assets" caption includes the amounts to be recovered for 
taxes in the next twelve months ("Current Tax Assets") and the amounts of taxes to be 
recovered in future years, including those arising from tax loss carryforwards or credits 
for tax deductions or tax credits to be offset ("Deferred Tax Assets"). The balance of 
"Tax Liabilities" includes the amount of all liabilities of a tax nature, distinguishing 
between current and deferred liabilities, except for tax provisions, which are included 
under "Provisions" in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
The Group companies have availed themselves of the tax benefits relating to the tax 
credits and tax relief provided for in the corporate income tax legislation. 
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On 30 November 2013, Royal Decree-Law 14/2013 of 29 November entered into force, 
which amended the revised text of the Corporate Income Tax Law, establishing that, 
with effect from tax periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011, impairment losses 
on loans or other assets arising from the possible insolvency of debtors not related to 
the taxpayer, as well as provisions or contributions to social welfare systems and If 
applicable, pre-retirement, which have generated deferred tax assets, will be included 
in the tax base in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Income Tax Law, 
with the limit of the positive tax base prior to their inclusion and the offsetting of 
negative tax bases. The entry into force of this rule has not had any effect on the Group 
to the extent that it has sufficient positive tax base for the application of the reversal of 
existing deferred tax assets. 

 
Also, the aforementioned Royal Decree establishes that deferred tax assets 
corresponding to provisions for impairment of receivables or other assets arising from 
possible insolvencies of debtors not related to the taxpayer, as well as those arising 
from provisions or contributions to social welfare systems and, where appropriate, 
early retirement, shall become a claim against the tax authorities (and may be 
monetized) in the event that the taxpayer presents accounting losses  or the entity is 
subject to liquidation or judicially declared insolvency. The amount of the monetisable 
tax assets at 31 December 2021 was EUR 22.299 thousand euros, of which EUR 
21.387 thousand euros related to provisions for impairment of receivables. At 31 
December 2020, the amount of tax assets qualifying for recognition as a result of the 
tax audit was EUR 22.825 thousand euros, of which EUR 22.008 thousand euros 
related to impairment losses. The Entity considered that the classification of the 
monetisable deferred tax assets as a tax asset rather than as a financial asset was 
appropriate since they were based on a tax standard. 

 
Subsequently, on 28 November 2014, Law 27/2014 on Corporate Income Tax was 
published, which is in force for tax years beginning on or after 1 January 2015, except 
for the fourth to seventh final provisions which came into force on 29 November 2014. 

 
The main amendments to Law 27/2014 are as follows: 

 
• The tax losses pending compensation as of 1 January 2015 may be 

compensated in the following tax periods, without any time limit. 
 

• Modification of the general tax rate from the current 30% to 25%. However, the 
Law establishes that Financial Institutions and their tax consolidation groups will 
maintain the tax rate of 30% although the tax rate for cooperative activities is 
set at 25%. 

 
• Limitation to the inclusion of monetizable deferred assets in the tax base and 

offsetting of tax bases to 70% for 2017 and subsequent years. 
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On 3 December 2016, Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 was published, adopting measures 
in the field of taxation aimed at consolidating public finances and other urgent 
measures in the social field. This Royal Decree, in relation to corporate income tax, 
includes, inter alia, the following measures with effect from 1 January 2016: 

• Limitation on the compensation of negative tax bases: The compensation of 
negative tax bases from previous years for large companies (with a turnover of 
more than EUR 60 million) is limited to 25 per cent of the tax base. 

 
• Limitation on the application of tax credits for double taxation: A new limit is 

established for the application of tax credits for international or domestic double 
taxation, generated or pending application, which is set at 50 per cent of the 
total tax liability, for companies with a net turnover of at least EUR 20 million. 

 
• Reversal of impairment of investments: The reversal of impairments on 

investments that became tax-deductible in tax periods prior to 2013 must be 
carried out at least on a straight-line basis over five years. 

 
The breakdown of "Tax Assets" and "Tax Liabilities" at 31 December 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, is as follows: 

 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021  2020 
 Active  Liability  Active  Liability 

        
Currents 1,235   2,485   1,700  1,765 
Deferred 38,058   6,364   37,395  8,671 
        
Total 39,293  8,849  39,095  10,436 

 
The detail of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 

    
Deferred tax assets 38,058  37,395 
Impairment losses on financial assets 21,387  22,008 
Opening fees pending accrual 13  17 
Pension insurance premiums 595  500 
Allocation to other special funds and early retirements 1,432  3,915 
IFRS reserves 9 316  316 
Others 14,315  10,639 
    
Deferred tax liabilities 6,364  8,671 
Revaluation of tangible assets 4,456  4,481 
Debt securities 1,636  3,918 
Others 272  272 
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The changes in current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
 Tax assets  Tax liabilities  Tax assets  Tax liabilities 
 Currents  Deferred  Currents  Deferred  Currents  Deferred  Currents  Deferred 
                

Opening 
balance 1,700   37,395   1,765   8,671   1,287   32,999   2,075   10,201  
                
Registration 1,252  5,264  4,906  1,718,953  1,700   5,865   3,509   1,775,870  
Downloads (1,717)  (4,601)  (4,186)  (1,721,260)  (1,287)  (1,469)  (3,819)  (1,777,400) 
Others                
                
Final balance 1,235  38,058  2,485  6,364  1,700   37,395   1,765   8,671  
 

Law 35/2006, of 28 November, established a tax rate of 30% for tax periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2008. However, according to the corporate form of 
the Entity (Cooperative Society) the tax rate for cooperative activities is set at 25%. 
 
The following are the Group's estimated reversal periods for deferred tax assets and liabilities: 
 

 Thousands of euros 
 Assets  Liability 

    
2022 165   249 
2023 173   251 
2024 167   248 
2025 181   327 
2026 and subsequent years 37,372   5,289 
       
Total 38,058   6,364 
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25. RELATED PARTIES 
 

25.1 Balances and transactions with related parties 
 

The Group's balances with related parties at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 Other related parties (*) 
 2021  2020 
ASSETS    
    
Credits 9,064  9,176 
     
LIABILITY     
     
Deposits 28,157  48,156 
Other liabilities -  - 
     
MEMORANDA ACCOUNTS     
     
Contingent liabilities 243  418 
Available 60  54 
Deposited securities 1,312  564 
    
PROFIT AND LOSS    
    
Income:    
Interest income, commissions collected and other 86  103 
    
Expenses:    
Interest and commission expenses 5  30 

 
(*) Includes balances with members of the Governing Board, senior management and companies related to all of them. 

 
The loans and credits granted to members of the Governing Council and to companies 
related to the aforementioned directors have accrued an annual interest rate of 
between 0.00% and 9.95% in 2021 and 2020.  
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25.2 Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management 
 

The gross remuneration received by the members of the Parent Company's Governing 
Board, corresponding to the 2021 and 2020 financial years was as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 Post- Other long     
 Short-Term employment term Severance Equity 
 Remuneration benefits benefits payments instruments 
 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 
           
D. Javier López Martín 253 256 - - - - - - - - 
D. Gregorio Gómez López 50 52 - - - - - - - - 
D. Francisco Buenaventura Mayol 
Solis 50 52 - - - - - - - - 
D. Francisco Martin Gómez* 50 51 - - - - - - - - 
D. José Luis Álvarez Gutiérrez 49 52 - - - - - - - - 
D. Santiago Mendez Villarrubia 49 52 - - - - - - - - 
Dª. Ángela María Bejarano De 
Gregorio 48 52 - - - - - - - - 
D. Pablo Díaz Peño 15 19 - - - - - - - - 
D. José María Arcos González 15 19 - - - - - - - - 
D. Ángel Mayordomo Mayordomo 14 19 - - - - - - - - 
Dª. María Jesús Rincón Mora 14 19 - - - - - - - - 
Dª. Inés Teullet García 14 18 - - - - - - - - 
D. Jesús Rodriguez Bahamontes 14 18 - - - - - - - - 
D. Alberto Fernando Azaña 
Rodríguez* 14 18 - - - - - - - - 
D. Humberto Carrasco González 1 - - - - - - - - - 
D. Javier De Antonio Arribas - - - - - - - - - - 
           
Total 650 697 - - - - - - - - 

(*) Members who are also employees of the Entity 
 
Short-term remuneration" includes the amounts corresponding to allowances and 
expenses for attending the Governing Board or the Committees to which the director 
belongs. In addition, the directors who are employees of the Company have received 
remuneration amounting to 75 thousand euros in 2021 (76 thousand euros in 2020). 
 
Additionally, the Parent Company has taken out a civil liability insurance policy that 
covers the members of the Governing Board. 
 
The Parent Company does not have any obligations with the current members of its 
Administrative Bodies, or with those who preceded them, in terms of pensions and life 
insurance, except for those corresponding to the Directors representing employees 
that derive from those established in general terms in the Collective Agreement. 
 
The Parent Company, in accordance with the provisions of article 32 of Law 10/2014 
dated June 26th , on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions, 
applies the requirements in terms of remuneration policy to the members of the group 
identified, specifically on "senior management, employees who assume risks, those 
who exercise control functions and any worker who receives a global remuneration 
that includes him in the same remuneration scale as that of senior management and 
employees who assume risks". 
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1º) The remuneration of this member of staff is equal to or exceeds Euros 500 thousand 
and is equal to or higher than the average remuneration paid to members of the board 
of directors or equivalent body and that of senior management personnel of the entity 
or; 

 
2º) The member of staff carries out their professional activity in an important business unit 

and, due to its nature, this activity has a significant effect on the risk profile of the 
business unit where it is carried out”. 

 
In addition to the members of the Governing Board, the professionals who made up 
the identified group during the 2021 financial year are the Management Committee of 
the savings bank, made up of 8 members, and the heads and those responsible for 
the Audit and Regulatory Compliance departments, and the Money Laundering 
Prevention and Financial Risk Units, a total of 13 professionals, whose total 
remuneration amounted to 2.487 thousand euros; in 2020, the group identified 
consisted of 8 members, and the heads of the Audit and Compliance Department, the 
Money Laundering Prevention Unit and the Financial Risk Unit, a total of 13 
professionals, whose total remuneration amounted to 2.374 thousand euros. 
 
The Parent Company has the commitment to compensate in case of dismissal or 
cessation of certain members of the Management Committee with additional amounts 
to those legally established. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 no provision has been 
made for this contingency. 

 
26. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES 

 
The breakdown of the balances of these headings in the consolidated income 
statements for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021   2020 
Interest income    
     
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (Note 8) 317  504 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (Note 
9) -  - 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(Note 10) 13,342  14,550 
Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 11) 81,615  81,400 
Derivatives - hedge accounting, interest rate risk (Note 7) 1,991  776 
Other Assets (Note 16) 3,109  3,999 
    
Total 100,374  101,229 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021   2020 
Interest expenses    
     
Deposits 11,940  13,369 
Debt securities issued (Note 17,4) 4,888  - 
Other interests 557  1,123 
    
Total 17,385  14,492 
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27. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 
 
The sections "Income from commissions" and "Expenses from commissions" of the 
consolidated profit and loss account, include the amount of all commissions in favour 
of or paid or to be paid by the Parent Company accrued during the year, except those 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the financial instruments. The 
criteria followed for recording them in results are detailed in Note 3. 
 
The breakdown by product that has generated the commission income or expense 
during the years 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021   2020 
Commission income    
     
Securities - Transfer Orders 173  251 
Custody 139  131 
Payment services 24,339  26,555 
Distributed but unmanaged customer resources 21,247  17,839 
Loan commitments given 4  - 
Financial guarantees granted 347  347 
Loans granted 2,856  2,664 
Currencies 27  23 
Otros 7,669  6,227 
    
Others 56,801  54,037 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
Commission expenses    
     
Values 52  5 
Clearing and Settlement -  - 
Others 10,975  7,553 
    
Total 11,027  7,558 

 
28. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 
The breakdown of "Other Operating Income" in the consolidated income statements 
for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020  
Other operating income   
Sales and other income from the provision of non-financial services 8,426 5,012 
Other non-recurring income 11 91 
Other concepts 57 83 
Total 8,494 5,186 
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The breakdown of "Other Operating Expenses" in the consolidated income statements 
for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020  
Other operating expenses   
   
Contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund (Note 2.f) 6,598 6,844 
Mandatory allocation to social works and funds (Note 22) 3,509 3,472 
Other concepts 4,265 3,894 
   
Total 14,372 14,210 

 
The expenses associated with the contribution to the Single Resolution Fund have 
amounted to 2,355 thousand euros and 2,109 thousand euros in 2021 and 2020. 
These expenses are included in Other items (Note 2.f). 

 
29. STAFF COSTS 

 
The breakdown of the balance of this heading in the consolidated income statements 
for 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Salaries and bonuses for active personnel 33,025 32,128 
Social Security contributions 10,067 9,738 
Contributions to defined benefit plans 368 383 
Severance payments 2,155 1,550 
Other staff costs 50 35 
   
Total 45,665 43,834 

 
In 2021 and 2020, the figures relating to the average number of Group employees and 
their distribution by professional category were as follows, set out in terms of annual 
average and percentage: 

 
 2021  2020 
 Men  Women  Men  Women 
         
Senior Management 1   -  1  - 
           
Group I 5   1  5  1 
           
Group II           

- - Level I 3   1  2  - 
- - Level II 19   3  19  1 
- - Level III 17   4  19  5 
- - Level IV 4   2  5  2 
- - Level V 4   4  4  5 
- - Level VI and VII 238   220  256  207 
- - Level VIII, IX, X and XI 192   263  171  239 

            
Group III 2   -  2  - 
           
Parent Company of the Group 485   498  484  460 
         
Employees of other Group companies 22    30   21  28 
            
Total Group 507    528   505  488 
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the company has 6 and 9 employees, respectively, 
with a disability of 33% or more. 
 
The remuneration of the personnel of the Parent Company is determined by that 
established in current labour legislation in general and in particular by the applicable 
Collective Bargaining Agreement for Cooperative Credit Companies, distributed into 
twelve ordinary payments, 4 extraordinary bonuses and three quarters of a monthly 
payment, as a participation in the company's surplus, as established in article 35 of 
the XXI Collective Bargaining Agreement, aid for studies and holiday allowance. 
 
Social loans granted for personal care and the purchase of housing are considered to 
be remuneration in kind and are valued at the difference between the interest rate 
agreed in the applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement and the current Assets Rate 
and the market reference interest. 

 
30. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 
The breakdown of the balance of this heading in the consolidated income statement 
is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Of buildings, facilities and equipment 3,066 1,440 
Computing 12,215 11,189 
Communications 3,592 3,878 
Advertising and publicity 1,311 1,123 
Legal expenses 482 269 
Technical Reports 1,798 1,038 
Monitoring and fund transfer services 2,371 2,093 
Insurance premiums and self-insurance 776 766 
By governing and control bodies 546 562 
Representation and travel expenses of staff 351 322 
Association fees 103 90 
Outsourced administrative services 183 199 
Contributions and taxes 1,248 1,116 

About properties 584 496 
Others 664 620 

Other expenses 158 121 
   
Total 28,200 24,206 

 
31. PROVISIONS / REVERSAL OF PROVISIONS 

 
The breakdown of the balance of this heading in the consolidated income statement is as 
follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
    
Provision (release) for contingent liabilities and commitments (Note 

18) 517  (239) 
Allocation (release) of other provisions (Note 18) 4,406  11,462 
    
Total 4,923  11,223 
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32. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 
 

The detail of the balances of these headings in the consolidated income statements 
is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Gains/losses on derecognition of non-financial assets and 
investments, net 

  

Other equity instruments - - 
Other Gain/(loss) (249) (859) 

   
Total (249) (859) 
   

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Gains/losses on non-current assets and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale not eligible for discontinued operations 

  

Net provision for foreclosures (Note 13) 578 517 
Gain/(loss) on sales of foreclosed assets (324) (507) 
Other concepts - (39) 

   
Total (253) (29) 
   

 
33. OTHER INFORMATION 

 
33.1 Business segment information 

 
The fundamental business of the Parent Company is retail banking, without there being 
any other significant business lines that require, in accordance with the regulations, 
the Company to segment and manage its operations in different business lines. 
 
The Parent Company carries out its activity in the national territory and the typology of 
the clientele is similar throughout the territory. Therefore, the Parent Company 
considers a single geographical segment for all the operations of the Parent Company. 
 
33.2 Trust and investment services 
 
The breakdown of the Group's off-balance sheet customer funds at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Funds and Investment Companies 377,035 280,753 
Pension Fund 198,963 188,568 
Insurance Products 166,229 183,318 
   
Resources marketed but not managed by the Group 742,227 652,639 
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The Parent Entity does not directly manage funds under administrative or financial 
agreements, but rather only performs marketing tasks. 
 
The net commission income generated by the above activities during 2021 and 2020 
was as follows: 

 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021 2020 
   

Marketing commissions   
 Investment Companies and Funds 2,011 1,418 
 Pension Fund 1,858 1,762 
 Insurance 17,378 14,659 
   
Total 21,247 17,839 

 
In addition, the Group's Parent Company provides administration and custody services 
for its customers. The fixed income and equity securities entrusted by third parties to 
the Company as of 31st December 2021 and 2020 in relation to this service are as 
follows: 

 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021 2020 
   

Securities owned by third parties   
Equity instruments 47,317 42,144 
Debt instruments 28,474 30,631 

   
Total 75,791 72,775 

 
33.3 Information from issuers in the mortgage market and on the 

special accounting register 
 

As indicated in Note 11.3 and Note 17.4, the Parent Company has issued mortgage 
bonds and mortgage certificates, for which reason the following information is included 
on the data from the special accounting register of the issuing company, referred to in 
article 21 of Royal Decree 716/2009, of 24th April, by virtue of the provisions of Circular 
7/2010, to credit institutions, which develops certain aspects of the mortgage market 
and with the level of breakdown established in Bank of Spain Circular 5/2011, of 30th 
November. 

 
a) Active transactions 

 
The nominal value of the total outstanding mortgage loans and credit facilities at 
31 December 2021 and 2020 amounted to EUR 3.363.358 thousand and EUR 
3.004.252 thousand, respectively, of which the eligible loans and credit facilities 
(disregarding the limits on their calculation established in Article 12 of the 
aforementioned Royal Decree) amounted to EUR 2.267.017 thousand and EUR 
2.050.901 thousand, respectively. 
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The following table shows the nominal value of the total loans and credits with 
mortgage guarantee of the Entity, as well as those that are eligible in accordance 
with the provisions of the applicable regulations for the purpose of calculating the 
limit of the issue of mortgage bonds and mortgage certificates: 
 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021 2020 
   
Total loans (a)   
Mortgage units issued 165,595 188,820 
Of which: Loans held on balance sheet 165,595 188,820 
Mortgage transfer certificates issued 359 386 
Of which: Loans held on balance sheet 359 386 
   
Loans that support the issuance of mortgage bonds and 
covered bonds 

 
3,231,959 2,842,785 

   
Eligible loans (b) 2,267,017 2,050,901 

 
(a) Drawn down balance pending collection of the loans and credits guaranteed by mortgages 

registered in favour of the entity (including those acquired through mortgage participations and 
mortgage transfer certificates), even if they have been removed from the consolidated balance 
sheet, regardless of the percentage represented by the risk on the amount of the last valuation 
(loan to value). 

 
(b) Loans eligible for the issue of mortgage bonds and covered bonds according to Article 3 of Royal 

Decree 716/2009, without deducting the limits on their calculation established by Article 12 of 
Royal Decree 716/2009. 

 
The following is a breakdown of the principal of the securitized loans and 
mortgage credits according to different attributes of these amounts, as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020: 

 
 Thopusand of euros 
 2021 2020 

 

Loans that have supported 
the issuance 

of mortgage bonds 

Loans that have 
supported the issuance 

of mortgage bonds 
 (a) (a) 
   
1 ORIGIN OF OPERATIONS 

1.1 Originated by the entity 165,954 189,206 
1.2 Subrogated from other entities - - 

2 CURRENCY 
2.1 Euro 165,954 189,206 

3 PAYMENT STATUS 
3.1 Normalization of payment 164,992 188,011 
3.2 Other situations 962 1,195 

4 AVERAGE RESIDUAL MATURITY 
4.1 Up to ten years 154,249 173,949 
4.2 More than ten years and up to twenty years 11,705 15,257 
4.3 Over twenty and up to thirty years - - 
4.3 Over thirty years - - 

5 TYPES OF INTEREST 
5.1 Fixed - - 
5.2 Variable 165,954 189,206 
5.3 Mixed - - 

6 TYPE OF COLLATERAL 
6.1 Assets/Finished Buildings 165,954 189,206 

6.1.1 Residential 165,954 189,206 
Of which: Public housing 7 27 

 
(a) Outstanding balance of loans secured by a mortgage, whatever their percentage of risk over the 

amount of the last valuation (loan to value) previously securitised. 
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In accordance with the criteria established in Article 12 of the aforementioned 
Royal Decree, the amount that can be computed to cover the issue of mortgage 
securities at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was EUR 165.954 thousand and EUR 
189.206 thousand, respectively. 

 
The detail of the mortgage bond portfolio at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 

Amount 3,231,959 2,842,785 
Eligible amount 2,267,017 2,050,901 
Eligible %. 70.14% 72.14% 
Number of loans 37,246 33,393 
Number of eligible loans 29,339 26,595 
Average amount 86,77 85,13 
Average eligible amount 77,27 77,11 
Legal investment limit (80%) 1,813,614 1,640,721 
Amount issued pending sale 1,200,000 1,000,000 
Average LTV 58.68% 57.39% 
Eligible average LTV 52.95% 51.96% 
Delinquency reg 90 days 1.60% 2.09% 
Average type 1.04% 1.34% 
Eligible Average Type 1.02% 1.26% 

 
In relation to the nominal and updated values, calculated in accordance with the 
provisions of article 23 of said Royal Decree, the Parent Company has issued 
mortgage certificates as of 31 December 2021 and had issued mortgage certificates 
as of 31 December 2020. The nominal value of the mortgage loans and credits which, 
still appearing in the portfolio, have been mobilised through mortgage participations or 
mortgage transfer certificates as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 amounted to 165.954 
thousand euros and 189.206 thousand euros, respectively. 
 
The distribution of the nominal values of eligible and unsecured mortgage loans and 
credits for the issue of mortgage bonds and covered bonds according to the 
percentage that the risk represents of the amount of the last available valuation for 
mortgage market purposes, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, is as follows: 
 
 Thousands of euros 

2021 

Lower or 
equal to 

40% 

More than 
40% and not 

more than 
60% 

Superior to 
60% e lower 

or equal to 
80% 

Superior 
80% TOTAL 

      
Loans eligible for the issuance of 
Mortgage Bonds and Mortgage 
Certificates (a) 
-On housing 450,280 702,007 901,293 208 2,053,788 
-On the rest 95,601 97,831 19,797 - 213,229 
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 Thousands of euros 

2020 

Lower or 
equal to 

40% 

More than 
40% and not 

more than 
60% 

Superior to 
60% e lower 

or equal to 
80% 

Superior 
80% TOTAL 

      
Loans eligible for the issuance of 
Mortgage Bonds and Mortgage 
Certificates (a) 
-On housing 427,754 661,390 770,284 81 1,859,509 
-On the rest 89,605 88,372 13,415 - 191,392 

 
(a) Loans eligible for the issue of mortgage bonds and covered bonds, less the limits on 

their calculation established in article 12 of Royal Decree 716/2009, and which have not 
been previously securitized. 

 
(b) The loan to value is the ratio resulting from dividing the risk in force at the date of the information 

on the amount of the last valuation. 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Entity has not identified any replacement 
assets for the issue of live mortgage bonds, since it does not consider it necessary 
to do so since the percentage of issues made on those dates was below the 
maximum of 80% established in Article of Law 2/1981, of March 25, on the 
Regulation of the Mortgage Market. 

 
b) Liability transactions 

 
The following table shows the issues made and collateralized (own shares) from 
the Bank's mortgage loan and credit portfolio at 31 December 2021 and 2020: 

 
 2021 2020 

 Average residual Average residual 

Mortgage securities Nominal value 

Average 
residual 
maturity Nominal value 

Average 
residual 
maturity 

     
1 Mortgage bonds issued alive - - - - 
3 Mortgage units issued (a) 155,910 4.5 175,978 5.31 
3.1 Issued by public offering - - - - 
3.2 Remaining emissions 155,910 4.951 175,978 5.31 
4 Mortgage transfer certificates 

issued (a) - - - - 
4.1 Issued by public offering - - - - 
4.2 Remaining emissions - - - - 
5 Mortgage bonds 1,200,000 6.68 1,000,000 2.08 
5.1 Issued by public offering - - - - 
5.2 Remaining emissions 1,200,000 6.68 1,000,000 2.08 

 
(a) Amount of mortgage units and mortgage transfer certificates issued corresponding exclusively to 

the mortgage loans and credits recorded on the assets side (retained on the balance sheet). 
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In accordance with the provisions of Royal Decree 716/2009 of 24 April 2009 
developing certain aspects of Law 2/1981 of 25 March 1981 regulating the 
mortgage market and other regulations on the financial mortgage system, the 
Board of Directors states that at 31 December 2012 the Bank has a set of policies 
and procedures to guarantee compliance with the regulations governing the 
mortgage market, for which it is responsible. These policies and procedures 
include, inter alia, criteria on the following points: 

 
- Relationship between the amount of the loan and appraised value of 

the mortgaged property, as well as the influence of other 
supplementary and the selection of appraisal companies. 

 
- Relationship between the borrower's debt and income, as well as the 

verification of the information reported by borrowers, and their 
solvency. 

 
- Avoid imbalances between the flows from the hedge portfolio and 

those deriving from the payments made as a result of the securities 
issued. 

 
33.4 Agency contracts 

 
Appendix I shows the list of agents with whom the Parent Company has maintained 
"agency agreements" in force during 2021 and 2020. 

 
33.5 Audit fees 

 
Fees for the services provided to the Group by KPMG Auditores, S.L. for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 are as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 
   
Audit Services 93 
   
Total 93 

 
Fees for the services provided to the Group by the audit firm PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Auditores, S.L. are as follows: 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021  2020 
     
Audit Services -  159 
Audit-related services 22  29 
Other non-audit services 320  15 
     
Total 342  203 

 
Audit Services" in 2021 and 2020 includes the fees for the financial statements of the 
various Group companies for that year. 
 
The main concepts included under the heading "Audit-related services" correspond to 
reviews required by different regulations or regulators. 
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The services contracted to our auditors comply with the independence requirements 
set out in the Accounts Auditing Act and other applicable regulations, and do not 
include work that is incompatible with the audit function. 

 
33.6 Abandoned balances and deposits 

 
The Parent Company does not have any balances that have been abandoned as 
defined in article 18 of Law 33/2003 dated November 3rd on the assets of public 
administrations. 

 
33.7. Information on payment deferrals made to suppliers Third additional 
provision. "Duty to inform" of Law 31/2014, of 3 December 

 
In accordance with the provisions of the second final provision of Law 31/2014 of 3 
December, which modifies the third additional provision of Law 15/2010 of 5 July, 
amending Law 3/2004 of 29 December, which establishes measures to combat late 
payment in commercial transactions, and with regard to the information to be included 
in the notes to the financial statements on payment deferrals to suppliers in commercial 
transactions calculated on the basis of the Resolution of 29 January 2016 of the 
Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute, the detail of the average period for payment 
to suppliers made by the Parent Company in 2021 and 2020 is as follows: 

 
 Days 
 2021 2020 

Average payment period of suppliers 17.15 14.53 
Paid Transaction Ratio 17.04 14.52 
Outstanding transactions ratio 26.54 19.66 

 
 Thousands of euros 
 2021 2020 
Total payments made 52,730 60,070 
Total outstanding payments 1,286 1,058 

 
33.8 Customer service 

 
Article 17 of Order ECO/734/2004, of 11 March, of the Ministry of the Economy 
establishes the obligation for customer service departments and services and, where 
appropriate, customer ombudsmen, of financial institutions, to submit an annual report 
to the Board of Directors explaining the performance of their duties during the previous 
year. 

 
The summary of this report is as follows: 

 
• Statistical summary of complaints and claims handled 

 
In 2021, 2,396 claims and 27 complaints were dealt with, increasing the number 
of complaints in 33 files processed in this period with respect to 2020 and 
reducing the number of claims by 5 files processed with respect to the previous 
year. 26 complaints and 2,209 claims were accepted for processing, with 187 
claims rejected and a total of 52 files pending resolution at the end of 2021 (43 
files at the end of 2020). 
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The statistical summary of the reasons for the complaints and claims resolved 
for the year 2021 is as follows: 
 
2021 Complaints Claims Total 
Type of case Number % Number % Number % 
       
Asset operations 2 7.41% 982 45.53% 984 45.05% 
Liability operations 3               11.11% 799 37.04% 802 36.72% 
Others 22  81.48% 376 17.43% 398 18.23% 
       
Total 27 100% 2,157 100% 2,184 100% 

 
El resumen estadístico del ejercicio 2020 fue el siguiente: 
 

2020 Complaints Claims Total 
Type of case Number % Number % Number % 
       
Asset operations 1 3.12% 557 24.78% 558 24.19% 
Liability operations 1               3.12% 1,316 57.34% 1,317 57.09% 
Others 30  93.76% 402 17.88% 432 18.72% 
       
Total 32 100% 2,275 100% 2,307 100% 

 
• Defaults: 

 
Defaults araising in 2021 and 2020 as a result of claims received were as 
follows: 

 
 Thousand of euros 
 2021 2020 

   
Asset operations 28.22 - 
Liability transactions 0.25 0.80 
Others 7.03 2.31 
   
Total 35.50 3.11 

 
At the end of the 2021 financial year there are 51 files (43 files at the end of 2020) 
with pending lawsuits. 

 
• Areas of improvement 

 
The number of complaints and claims presented by customers of the Parent 
Company in the current year and the positive evolution, which shows its trend in 
recent years, show that it is not necessary to design specific action plans. 

 
33.9 Environmental impact 

 
Given the business activity carried on by the Group, it does not have any environmental 
liability, expenses, assets, provisions or contingencies that might be material with 
respect to its equity, financial position and results. Therefore, no specific disclosures 
relating to environmental issues are included in these notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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33.10 Other commitments 
 

At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group did not have any commitments in addition 
to those disclosed in the preceding Notes. 

 
34. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

 
After 31 December 2021 until the date of formulation by the Parent Company's Board 
of Directors of its consolidated annual accounts, no significant event has occurred, 
which must be included in these consolidated annual accounts for them to adequately 
show a true and fair view of the Group's assets, financial situation and results. 
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ANNEX I 
LIST OF FINANCIAL AGENTS FOR THE YEAR 2021 

 
Name Agency 
Silvia Doñate Teruel Alatoz, Albacete 
Laura Garvi Martínez Alcaraz, Albacete 
Iluminada Buendia Romero Corral Rubio, Albacete 
Javier Jiménez Tárraga Higueruela, Albacete 
Jorge García Rey La Gineta, Albacete 
Rocio de los Angeles García Sánchez Lietor, Albacete 
Enrique Oñate Talaya Madrigueras, Albacete 
Rafael Muñoz Megias Montealegre Del Castillo, Albacete 
Diego Fernández Gabaldón Ossa De Montiel, Albacete 
María Flor Beteta Rubio Socovos, Albacete 
Marta González Rodriguez Yeste, Albacete 
Elena Castillo Gómez Albaladejo, Ciudad Real 
Coral Martín Rivero Alcoba De Los Montes, Ciudad Real 
Pedro Tapiador Ruiz Alcolea De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Juan Bautista Alañón Pardo Aldea Del Rey, Ciudad Real 
Antonio Sánchez Muñoz De La Nava Almadén, Ciudad Real 
Celia Mª Montero Úbeda-Portugués Arenas De San Juan, Ciudad Real 
Yonatan Nevado Almodóvar Argamasilla De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Raquel Privado Fernández El Robledo, Ciudad Real 
Leonor Martínez Martín Granátula De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Elena Alcaide Hontanilla Horcajo De Los Montes, Ciudad Real 
Victoria Nicolás Blasco La Puebla De Don Rodrigo, Ciudad Real 
Jose Antonio Segovia Mecinas Moral De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Jorge López Acosta Poblete, Ciudad Real 
Marta García Doral Villarta de San Juan, Ciudad Real 
María Del Carmen Bellón Navas San Carlos Del Valle, Ciudad Real 
Francisco Torres Bellón Santa Cruz De Mudela, Ciudad Real 
María Angeles Castillo Cabrera Terrinches, Ciudad Real 
Jesús Francisco Rivera Madrigal Torralba De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Miriam Granados Perea Torrenueva, Ciudad Real 
Francisco Javier Piñero Diaz Villahermosa, Ciudad Real 
Rocio Sánchez Felguera Villamanrique, Ciudad Real 
María Jose de la Gama Zarcero Viso Del Marqués, Ciudad Real 
María Asunción Mena García Montiel, Ciudad Real 
Luis Martínez Chana Almonacid Del Marquesado, Cuenca 
David Roldán Mejía Casas De Haro, Cuenca 
Esperanza Huerta Navarro El Peral, Cuenca 
Raymond Redondo De San Juan El Provencio, Cuenca 
Felipe Millán Honduvilla Las Valeras, Cuenca 
Julia Terrádez Valero Mira, Cuenca 
Jose Julián Fraile López Villagarcía Del Llano, Cuenca 
María Esther Medina Rodríguez Villar De Cañas, Cuenca 
Raquel Rejas Fernández Casas de Fernando Alonso, Cuenca 
Pedro Luis Pérez García Segurilla, Toledo 
Jesús Moreno De Castro El Puente Del Arzobispo, Toledo 
Jose María de la Flor Villarrubia Cazalegas, Toledo 
Yolanda Sánchez González Pelahustán, Toledo 
Laura Martín Talavera Mejorada, Toledo 
David Delgado Castells Burgohondo, Ávila 
Yurena Véguez López Casavieja, Ávila 
Lara Pato Sánchez El Hoyo De Pinares, Ávila 
David López Moreta Fontiveros, Ávila 
Laura Sánchez Soto Gavilanes, Ávila 
Gonzalo Sánchez García La Adrada, Ávila 
David Gómez González Mombeltrán, Ávila 
David Bermejo Carrasco Solosancho, Ávila 
María Beltrán Hernández Casillas, Ávila 
Carolina Charriel Jiménez Lanzahita, Ávila 
Antonio Pérez Benítez Torrejón De La Calzada, Madrid 
Jesús Cook Aroca Soto del Real, Madrid 
Silvia Villar Ramos Sevilla la Nueva, Madrid 
Sergio Farías Navarro Velilla de San Antonio, Madrid 
Elena Ramos Prados Cenicientos, Madrid 
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Name Agency 
Diego Alberto Caparros López Venturada, Madrid 
Rosa Isabel Fernández Jordá Griñón, Madrid 
Alejandra Barranco Gómez Galapagar, Madrid 
David Burgada Izquierdo Cañada, Alicante 
Ana Isabel Núñez García Pinoso, Alicante 
Francisco Miguel Romero Jover Salinas, Alicante 
Francisca Palencia Sellés Algueña, Alicante 
Daniel Juan Sepulveda Novelda, Alicante 
Yurema Frutos Ortega Monóvar, Alicante 
Alejandro López Bernabéu Tibi, Alicante 
Jaume Joan Albors Giménez Muro de Alcoy, Alicante 
Javier Domingo Hinojosa Rojas El Altet, Alicante 
Saúl Mira Vidal Castalla, Alicante 
Jesús Coello Picazo Cocentaina, Alicante 
Javier Seva Vera San Vicente de Raspeig, Alicante 
Eugenia Santamaria Cortes San Juan de Alicante, Alicante 
María Del Pilar Patiño Franco Mutxamel, Alicante 
Carlos Jose Cascales Climent Busot, Alicante 
Ángela Massó Carretero Aspe, Alicante 
Rosa Molina Berná Albatera, Alicante 
Lorena Martínez Rosado L´Afàs del Pi, Alicante 
María Isabel Herráez Vizcaino Yecla, Murcia 
Eva María López Sánchez Almâssera, Valencia 
María Jesús López de Lamo Vinalesa, Valencia 
Oscar Serrano Rojas Quart de Poblet, Valencia 
Francisco Biendicho Martínez Masarrochos, Valencia 
David Yuste Álvarez La Pobla de Vallbona, Valencia 
Juan de Dios del Campo Sanz Aldaia, Valencia 
Francisco Vicente Tecles Miñano Alcàntera de Xúquer, Valencia 
Salvador Piera Escolá Alzira, Valencia 
Daniel Libros Solaz Paterna, Valencia 
Jose Vicente Lázaro López Rafelbunyol, Valencia 
David Tejero García Paiporta, Valencia 
Raúl Sáez Utiel Catarroja, Valencia 
Omar Mancebo Vidal Bétera, Valencia 
Javier Llorca Climent Villajoyosa, Alicante 
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LIST OF FINANCIAL AGENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020 
 

Name Agency 
Silvia Doñate Teruel Alatoz, Albacete 
Laura Garvi Martínez Alcaraz, Albacete 
Iluminada Buendia Romero Corral Rubio, Albacete 
Javier Jiménez Tárraga Higueruela, Albacete 
Jorge García Rey La Gineta, Albacete 
Rocio de los Angeles García Sánchez Lietor, Albacete 
Enrique Oñate Talaya Madrigueras, Albacete 
Rafael Muñoz Megias Montealegre Del Castillo, Albacete 
Diego Fernández Gabaldón Ossa De Montiel, Albacete 
Juan José Simarro Gómez Salobre, Albacete 
María Flor Beteta Rubio Socovos, Albacete 
Marta González Rodriguez Yeste, Albacete 
Elena Castillo Gómez Albaladejo, Ciudad Real 
Coral Martín Rivero Alcoba De Los Montes, Ciudad Real 
Pedro Tapiador Ruiz Alcolea De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Juan Bautista Alañón Pardo Aldea Del Rey, Ciudad Real 
Antonio Sánchez Muñoz De La Nava Almadén, Ciudad Real 
Luis Fernando Moreno Rincón Arenas De San Juan, Ciudad Real 
Yonatan Nevado Almodóvar Argamasilla De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Manuela Fernández Fernández Carrión De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Raquel Privado Fernández El Robledo, Ciudad Real 
Leonor Martínez Martín Granátula De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Elena Alcaide Hontanilla Horcajo De Los Montes, Ciudad Real 
Victoria Nicolás Blasco La Puebla De Don Rodrigo, Ciudad Real 
Sergio González Ruiseco Moral De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Jorge López Acosta Poblete, Ciudad Real 
Marta García Doral Villarta de San Juan, Ciudad Real 
María Del Carmen Bellón Navas San Carlos Del Valle, Ciudad Real 
Francisco Torres Bellón Santa Cruz De Mudela, Ciudad Real 
María Angeles Castillo Cabrera Terrinches, Ciudad Real 
Jesús Francisco Rivera Madrigal Torralba De Calatrava, Ciudad Real 
Rafael Serrano Martín Torrenueva, Ciudad Real 
Francisco Javier Piñero Diaz Villahermosa, Ciudad Real 
Rocio Sánchez Felguera Villamanrique, Ciudad Real 
Julia Montoya Maroto Villanueva De La Fuente, Ciudad Real 
María Jose de la Gama Zarcero Viso Del Marqués, Ciudad Real 
María Asunción Mena García Montiel, Ciudad Real 
Maria Jose Castañeda Puente Almonacid Del Marquesado, Cuenca 
David Roldán Mejía Casas De Haro, Cuenca 
Esperanza Huerta Navarro El Peral, Cuenca 
Raymond Redondo De San Juan El Provencio, Cuenca 
Felipe Millán Honduvilla Las Valeras, Cuenca 
Virginia Laguia Moral Los Hinojosos, Cuenca 
Julia Terrádez Valero Mira, Cuenca 
Jose Julián Fraile López Villagarcia Del Llano, Cuenca 
María Esther Medina Rodríguez Villar De Cañas, Cuenca 
Raquel Rejas Fernández Casas de Fernando Alonso, Cuenca 
Pedro Luis Pérez García Segurilla, Toledo 
Jesús Moreno De Castro El Puente Del Arzobispo, Toledo 
Jose María de la Flor Villarrubia Cazalegas, Toledo 
Silvia de Bernardo Murillo Hinojosa De San Vicente, Toledo 
Yolanda Sánchez González Pelahustan, Toledo 
Sara Rodríguez Rodríguez Arenas De San Pedro, Ávila 
Manuel Nieto Jiménez Arévalo, Ávila 
David Delgado Castells Burgohondo, Ávila 
Yurena Véguez López Casavieja, Ávila 
Beatriz Fernández González El Hoyo De Pinares, Ávila 
David López Moreta Fontiveros, Ávila 
Laura Sánchez Soto Gavilanes, Ávila 
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Name Agency 
Gonzalo Sánchez García La Adrada, Ávila 
David Gómez González Mombeltrán, Ávila 
David Bermejo Carrasco Solosancho, Ávila 
María Luisa Rodríguez Trapote Casillas, Ávila 
Antonio Pérez Benítez Torrejón De La Calzada, Madrid 
David Álvarez Merino Soto del Real, Madrid 
Silvia Villar Ramos Sevilla la Nueva, Madrid 
Sergio Farías Navarro Velilla de San Antonio, Madrid 
Leticia Castro Cepeda San Martín de Valdeiglesias, Madrid 
Elena Ramos Prados Cenicientos, Madrid 
Marta Alvarado Silva Arroyomolinos, Madrid 
Diego Alberto Caparros López Venturada, Madrid 
Héctor Martínez Penadés Cañada, Alicante 
Isabel María Carbonell Serna Benilloba, Alicante 
Ana Isabel Núñez García Pinoso, Alicante 
Francisco Miguel Romero Jover Salinas, Alicante 
Francisca Palencia Sellés Algueña, Alicante 
Daniel Juan Sepulveda Novelda, Alicante 
Yurema Frutos Ortega Monóvar, Alicante 
Eva Cremades Martínez Tibi, Alicante 
María Isabel Herráez Vizcaino Yecla, Murcia 
Inmaculada Latorre Cana Mislata, Valencia 
Jose Lorenzo Gimeno Zaragoza Silla, Valencia 
Eva María López Sánchez Almâssera, Valencia 
María Jesús López de Lamo Vinalesa, Valencia 
Gonzalo Moya Pérez Camporrobles, Valencia 
Oscar Serrano Rojas Quart de Poblet, Valencia 
María del Mar Moscardó Palop Masarrochos, Valencia 
David Yuste Álvarez La Pobla de Vallbona, Valencia 
Juan de Dios del Campo Sanz Aldaia, Valencia 
Francisco Vicente Tecles Miñano Alcàntera de Xúquer, Valencia 
Salvador Piera Escolá Alzira, Valencia 
Rodrigo de la Fuente Gutiérrez Mahora, Albacete 
Jaume Joan Albors Giménez Muro de Alcoy, Alicante 
Javier Domingo Hinojosa Rojas El Altet, Alicante 
Saúl Mira Vidal Castalla, Alicante 
Rosa Isabel Fernández Jordá Griñón, Madrid 
Jesús Coello Picazo Cocentaina, Alicante 
Daniel Libros Solaz Paterna, Valencia 
Jose Vicente Lázaro López Rafelbunyol, Valencia 
Javier Seva Vera San Vicente de Raspeig, Alicante 
Eugenia Santamaria Cortes San Juan de Alicante, Alicante 
Juan Estevan Rubio Mutxamel, Alicante 
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ANNEX II: ANNUAL BANKING REPORT YEAR 2021 
 

In compliance with the provisions of article 87 and the Twelfth Transitional Provision of 
Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit 
institutions, regarding the Annual Banking Report, the following information is published 
on a consolidated basis for the year 2021. 

 
1. Entity Identification 

 

Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito, with registered office at Calle Méjico, 
2. 45004 Toledo. NIF F45003993. It is registered in the Register of Cooperatives -
Central Secction- of the Ministry of Labour and Social Security in the Book of 
Registration of Cooperative Societies in volume XXI, page 2,051, entry no. 28, in the 
Commercial Register of Toledo in volume 475 Sec.Gral.Libro Sdes. F/18.H./TO-5618, 
as well as in the Bank of Spain's Register of Credit Institutions under number 3081. 

 
2. Corporate Purpose 

 

The purpose of the Fund is to serve the financial needs of its members and third parties 
by carrying out the activities of credit institutions. To this end, it may carry out all kinds 
of active and passive operations and services permitted to other credit institutions, which 
it will preferably carry out in rural areas. 

 
In order to facilitate and guarantee the business activities it carries out to achieve its 
corporate purpose, it may enter into corporate links or form consortia with any natural 
or legal person. 

 
3. Scope of action 

 

Its scope of action extends to the State, without prejudice to the possibility of carrying 
out legally permitted operations outside it. 

 
4. Key indicators 

Year 2021 

 

(*) Amount in thousands of euros. 
(1) Defined as (i) loans and receivables plus (ii) customer funds (both deposits and off-balance sheet funds). 
(2) Calculation: Net profit / Total balance sheet assets. 

 
As indicated in Note 2.a, the balances for the year were prepared in accordance with 
the criteria of the new statements required by current regulations. 

Indicator Figures 

 
45,271 

 
 

0.43% 

Turnover (*) (1) 
Gross profit before tax (*) Number 
of full-time employees Income tax 
(*) 
Subsidies or public aid received 
Return on assets (2) 
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Results 
 

The Group's profit after tax at 2021 year-end amounted to EUR 39.410 thousand 
euros, decrease 12,98% on 2020. 

 
The Group's total assets amounted to EUR 9.080.478 thousand euros, up 3,65% on 2020. 

 
As indicated in Note 2.a, the balances were prepared in accordance with the criteria of 
the new statements required by current regulations. 

 
Other demand deposits with credit institutions and central banks 

 

The optimisation of the Group's active cash management has resulted in movements in 
this balance sheet mass with other financial intermediaries fluctuating from EUR 
756.291 thousand euros in 2020 to EUR 585.521 thousand euros in 2021. 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost. Clients 

 

Under the heading of loans and receivables, specifically loans to customers without 
valuation adjustments and without repurchase agreements, the figure amounted to EUR 
4.663.302 thousand euros in 2021, compared with EUR 4.186.835 thousand euros in 
2020, representing an increase of 11.38%.  
The Group's non-performing loans ratio stood at 1.72% at 2021 year-end, making it one 
of the best ratios in the sector in Spain. 

 
The containment of the doubtful balance gives a clear idea of the effort being made to 
monitor and report irregular transactions, whether through the courts or amicably, as 
well as the high quality of the loan portfolio, which is the result of the traditional policy of 
control, minimization and diversification of risk. 

 
Likewise, and as a complement, it is convenient to make a review of the interest rate on 
financing operations, especially those related to cooperative members, in which in all 
cases the Group offers very competitive conditions in line with the market. All this policy 
is a consequence of the principle of solidarity and cooperation that drives the Group in 
the vast majority of its actions. 

 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost. Customer deposits 

 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost of customer deposits, without repurchase 
agreements, grew by 10.90% with respect to the figure at the end of 2020 to EUR 
6.095.238 thousand euros, with the greatest increase in savings accounts. The 
contribution made by the branches opened as part of the Group's expansion plan should 
be highlighted (see Note 2.a). 

 
With these data it is important to emphasize the confidence that Eurocaja Rural's clients 
continue to have in their Entity, as a consequence of the excellent global investment 
conditions that it offers, as well as the professionalism and closeness in the treatment. 

 
1 This ratio represents doubtful loans, that is, those balances that are overdue for more than 3 months and not paid,  
together with those balances, overdue or not, about which there are reasonable doubts about their full reimbursement in 
the time and form contractually provided for total loan portfolio. 
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Equity 
 

In 2021, the Group's equity amounted to EUR 533.369 thousand euros. 
 

According to the calculations made in accordance with the regulations in force at 31 
December 2021, the computable capital amounted to EUR 532.623 thousand euros, 
implying a solvency ratio of 17.15%. 

 
On 17 December 2021, the Group notified the CNMV of the relevant event regarding 
the results of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process. The Bank of Spain (BoE) 
has required the Bank, on a consolidated basis, once the results of the Supervisory 
Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) are known, to maintain a minimum Common 
Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 8.375% and a minimum Total Capital ratio of 11.875% 
during 2021, both measures on transitional regulatory capital (Phase In). 

 
These capital ratios include the minimum required by Pillar 1 (4.5% of CET 1 and 8.0% 
of Total Capital); the Pillar 2 Requirement (1.375%) and the capital conservation buffer 
(2.50%). 

 
This means, together with the above-mentioned provisions for doubtful loans, continuing 
to strengthen the Bank's solvency. 

 
Information on average period of payment to suppliers 

 

The weighted average period for payment to suppliers in 2021 was 17 days (15 days 
in 2020), which means it is within the legal deadlines. 

 
Outlook for 2022 

 

The year 2021 has represented a firm step in the consolidation of the savings bank as 
the leading institution in its sector in its area of influence, which traditionally was centred 
on the provinces of Toledo, Guadalajara, Madrid and Ávila (in the towns bordering on 
the province of Toledo) and it has incremented the branches in other areas (Comunidad 
Valenciana and Castilla y León). 

 
At the present date, the Entity has 417 branches. In 2022 new branches will continue 
to be opened in various localities in the provinces subject to the expansion plan (Ciudad 
Real, Cuenca and Albacete). Points of sale will also be opened in the provinces of 
Alicante, Valencia, Castellón, Murcia, Madrid and Castile and León. 

 
As a result of its robust and healthy balance sheet, the Entity plans to expand its 
commercial network, offering services to new partners and customers. 

 
Events after the end of the year 

 

There have been no events subsequent to the end of 2021 that have not been 
mentioned in the Group's Annual Accounts. 
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Other information 
 
A Code of Ethics and Conduct was approved in 2019, serving as a guide to promote 
the responsibility of all the organisation’s employees and collaborators. This Code was 
revised and updated in September 2021.  
 
The Governing Board is ultimately in charge of the existence and correct working of 
internal control over financial reporting (ICOFR), verifying its accuracy, as well as the 
mechanisms implemented for the generation and processing of information.  
 
The Audit Committee’s main purpose is to support the Governing Board in its oversight 
tasks by, inter alia, regularly reviewing the process, policies and criteria for preparing 
the economic and financial information. It is also in charge of checking compliance with 
internal standards, regulations and laws affecting Eurocaja Rural's activities, whilst 
ensuring that the ethics and values governing the Entity are upheld. The consolidated 
Group, together with the Financial Risk Unit and the Strategic Information Department 
are in charge of specifically and individually defining all of the mechanisms, procedures 
and tools for adequately processing the financial information.  
 
On the other hand, the Entity is aware of those areas, departments and units with an 
impact on the financial information and therefore, of the potential related risks with 
regard to financial information.  Both quantitative and qualitative criteria are followed for 
all types of risks to be identified, whilst also taking into consideration other operational, 
financial, legal or reputational risks in addition to the risk of error. This process is carried 
out at least once a year, although it is also carried out when unforeseen circumstances 
arise that bring to light possible errors in the financial information.   
 
Lastly, within the framework of specific control activities, the implementation of which 
aims to mitigate the risks deriving from possible errors, inaccuracies or irregularities in 
financial information, Eurocaja Rural has controls in place that guarantee that the 
accounting close process is carried out appropriately, including the permanent 
reconciliation of inventories and accounting, specific review of accounting entries, etc., 
all of which are performed to ensure the accuracy, reliability and integrity of the 
information. In addition, the statements are validated by matching controls defined by 
the Banco de España to ensure consistency between the information. 
  
The Company did not conduct any own share transactions or research and 
development (R&D) activities in 2021 or 2020. 
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Annex III 
 

Consolidated Non-Financial Information Statement 
 

In accordance with Law 11/2018, of 28 December 2018, amending Spain's Code of 
Commerce, the revised Spanish Companies Act, enacted by Royal Legislative Decree 
1/2010, of 2 July 2010, and Spanish Audit Law 22/2015, of 20 July 2015, regarding the 
disclosure of non-financial and diversity information, the Eurocaja Rural Group has 
prepared a consolidated Non-financial Information Statement for 2021 which, in 
accordance with article 44 of the Code of Commerce, forms part of this consolidated 
directors’ report and is attached as a separate document. 
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Independent Assurance Report on the Consolidated Non-
Financial Information Statement of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad 

Cooperativa de Crédito and subsidiaries for 2021 

(Translation from the original in Spanish. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish language version prevails.) 

 

   
Reg. Mer Madrid, T. 14.972, F. 53, Sec. 8 , H. M -249.480, Inscrip. 1.ª 
N.I.F. B-82498650 

To the cooperative members of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito: 

 

Pursuant to article 49 of the Spanish Code of Commerce, we have performed a limited assurance 
review of the (accompanying) Consolidated Non-Financial Information Statement (hereinafter NFIS) of 
Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito (hereinafter the Parent) and subsidiaries (hereinafter 
the Group) for the year ended 31 December 2021, which forms part of the accompanying consolidated 
Directors’ Report of the Group for 2021. 

The consolidated Directors’ Report includes additional information to that required by prevailing 
mercantile legislation concerning non-financial information, which has not been the subject of our 
assurance work. In this respect, our work was limited exclusively to providing assurance on the 
information contained in the “Appendix I. Information requested under Law 11/2018 of 28 December 
2018, linked to the GRI standards” table of the accompanying consolidated Directors’ Report. 

Directors’ Responsibility _______________________________________________  

The Directors of the Parent are responsible for the content and authorisation for issue of the NFIS 
included in the Group’s consolidated Directors’ Report.  The NFIS has been prepared in accordance 
with prevailing mercantile legislation and selected Sustainability Reporting Standards of the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI Standards) based on each subject area in the “Appendix I. Information 
requested under Law 11/2018 of 28 December 2018, linked to the GRI standards” table of the 
aforementioned consolidated (NFIS/ Directors’ Report). 

This responsibility also encompasses the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control 
deemed necessary to ensure that the NFIS is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

The Directors of the Parent are also responsible for defining, implementing, adapting and maintaining 
the management systems from which the information required to prepare the NFIS was obtained. 
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(Translation from the original in Spanish. In case of discrepancy, the Spanish language version prevails.) 

 

Our Independence and Quality Control __________________________________  

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including international independence standards) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA), which is founded on fundamental 
principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and 
professional behaviour. 

Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 (ISQC1) and accordingly maintains a 
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

The engagement team was comprised of professionals specialised in reviews of non-financial 
information and, specifically, in information on economic, social and environmental performance. 

Our Responsibility ____________________________________________________  

Our responsibility is to express our conclusions in an independent limited assurance report based on 
the work performed. 

We conducted our review engagement in accordance with the requirements of the Revised 
International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000, “Assurance Engagements other than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” (ISAE 3000 Revised), issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the International Federation of Accountants 
(IFAC), and with the guidelines for assurance engagements on the Non-Financial Information 
Statement issued by the Spanish Institute of Registered Auditors (ICJCE). 

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are 
less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement, and consequently, the level of assurance 
provided is also lower. 

Our work consisted of making inquiries of management, as well as of the different units and areas of 
the Parent that participated in the preparation of the NFIS, reviewing the processes for compiling and 
validating the information presented in the NFIS and applying certain analytical procedures and sample 
review tests, which are described below: 

– Meetings with the Parent’s personnel to gain an understanding of the business model, policies and 
management approaches applied, the principal risks related to these matters and to obtain the 
information necessary for the external review. 

– Analysis of the scope, relevance and completeness of the content of the NFIS for 2021 based on 
the materiality analysis performed by the Parent and described in the “Materiality analysis in relation 
to non-financial information” section, considering the content required by prevailing mercantile 
legislation. 

– Analysis of the processes for compiling and validating the data presented in the NFIS for 2021. 

– Review of the information relative to the risks, policies and management approaches applied in 
relation to the material aspects presented in the NFIS for 2021. 
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– Corroboration, through sample testing, of the information relative to the content of the NFIS for 
2021 and whether it has been adequately compiled based on data provided by the information 
sources. 

– Procurement of a representation letter from the Directors and management. 

Conclusion___________________________________________________________  

Based on the assurance procedures performed and the evidence obtained, nothing has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that the NFIS of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito 
and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021 has not been prepared, in all material respects, 
in accordance with prevailing mercantile legislation and selected GRI Standards based on each subject 
area in the “Appendix I. Information requested under Law 11/2018 of 28 December 2018, linked to 
the GRI standards”  table of the aforementioned consolidated Directors’ Report. 

Emphasis of Matter ___________________________________________________  

Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020 on the 
establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment stipulates the obligation to disclose 
information on how and to what extent the undertaking’s investments are associated with Taxonomy-
eligible economic activities. This obligation applies for the first time for the 2021 fiscal year, provided 
that the Non-Financial Information Statement is published from 1 January 2022 onwards. 
Consequently, the attached Directors’ Report does not contain comparative information on this matter. 
Additionally, certain information has been included in respect of which, at the date of preparation of 
the accompanying Directors’ Report, the Directors of the Parent have opted to apply the criteria that, 
in their opinion, best allow them to comply with the new obligation, and which are those defined in 
the “Response to the European Union Taxonomy Regulation” section of the accompanying Directors’ 
Report. Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Matters ________________________________________________________  

On 10 March 2021 a different assurance provider issued a favourable independent assurance report 
on the Consolidated Non-Financial Information Statement of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de 
Crédito and subsidiaries for 2020. 

Use and Distribution __________________________________________________  

This report has been prepared in response to the requirement established in prevailing mercantile 
legislation in Spain, and thus may not be suitable for other purposes and jurisdictions.  

KPMG Asesores, S.L.  

(Signed on original in Spanish) 

Ramón Pueyo Viñuales 

16 March 2022 
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1. PURPOSE 
 

Royal Decree-Law 18/2017 of 24 November amending the Commercial Code, the revised text 
of the Companies Act approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010 of 2 July and Act 22/2015 
of 20 July on the Auditing of Accounts, in the area of non-financial information and diversity and 
the subsequent Act 11/2018, of 28 December introduced the obligation to incorporate a report 
on the state of non-financial information in order to understand the evolution, results and 
situation of the group, and the impact of its activity with regard at least to environmental and 
social issues, as well as those relating to personnel, respect for human rights and the fight 
against corruption and bribery. 

This statement of non-financial information is intended to respond to this regulatory requirement, 
by providing the various sections with the information required by the provision. 

The matters included in this section are dealt from the perspective of the Eurocaja Rural Group, 
comprising Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito; TEC Soluciones de negocio, 
S.L.U.; Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador Banca Seguros Vinculado, S.L.U.; Rural Broker, 
S.L.U.; Viveactivos, S.A.U. and Eurocaja Rural Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. 
Similarly, the Eurocaja Rural Foundation must be included within the sphere of the Group, 
insofar as it is a vehicle for channelling Corporate Social Responsibility and collaborating with the 
environment in which the Entity is present, taking into account, furthermore, as established in 
the Foundation's Articles of Association, that at least half plus one of its Trustees are 
representatives (Directors) or employees of Eurocaja Rural. 

2. BUSINESS MODEL INFORMATION 

2.1 Description of the Entity 

Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito (hereinafter referred to as the Caja or the 
Entity) is a credit institution constituted on 27 February 1963 under the name of Caja Rural 
Provincial de Toledo. Its current name was unanimously approved by the General Assembly on 
20 April 2018. It has its own legal personality and enjoys full capacity to act, of a foundational 
nature and a charitable and social nature and is non-profit making. 

Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito is the parent entity in a consolidated group of 
credit institutions ("the Group"). The business and risks of the consolidated group and the Parent 
are virtually identical, since the consolidated companies contribute a small portion of these risks. 
Thus, at 31 December 2021, the Parent's total assets amounted to EUR 9.118.914  thousand 
(31 December 2020: EUR 8,783,889 thousand) and its equity amounted to EUR 541,771 
thousand (31 December 2020: EUR 515,190 thousand) and the profit for the year amounted to 
EUR 37,712 thousand (EUR 36,168 thousand at 31 December 2020), representing practically 
100% of the consolidated group's balances EUR 9,080,478 thousand (EUR 8,761,125 thousand 
at 31 December 2020), EUR 540,953 thousand (EUR 512,673 thousand at 31 December 2020) 
and EUR 39,410 thousand (EUR 34,883 thousand at 31 December 2020), respectively. 
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The Entity’s typical and customary activity is to receive funds from the public in the form of 
deposits, loans, repurchase agreements or other similar operations involving an obligation to 
repay, and to apply such funds on its own account to the granting of loans, credits or other 
operations of a similar nature to meet the financial needs of its members and of third parties. To 
this end, it may carry out all kinds of asset, liability and service operations allowed to other credit 
institutions, with preferential attention to the financial needs of its members, including insurance, 
which it shall develop and provide mainly in rural areas. In order to facilitate and guarantee the 
business activities it carries out to achieve its corporate purpose, it may enter into corporate 
links or form consortia with any natural or legal person. Its scope of action, from the statutory 
point of view, extends to the State, without prejudice to the possibility of carrying out legally 
permitted operations outside the State. 

La Caja has its registered office at Calle Méjico, number 2, in Toledo, and carries out its activity 
through 417 offices distributed throughout Spain, of which 99 are agencies (410 offices in 2020, 
of which 103 are agencies) and employs 983 people (944 people in 2020). 

 

2.2 Environment in which the Entity operates 

 

At the regulatory level, the Entity is governed by the rules contained in Law 27/1999 of 16th July 
1999 on Cooperatives and Law 13/1989 of 26th May 1989 on Credit Cooperatives and other 
complementary provisions as well as Law 10/2014 of 26th June on management, supervision 
and solvency of credeit institutions and its implementing regulations (Royal Decree 84/2015, of 
13th February and Circular 2/2016 of 2nd February). 

La Caja is a member of the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions (FGDEC), created 
by Royal Decree-Law 18/1982, of 24 September, and of the Single Resolution Fund (FUR), 
created by Regulation (EU) No. 806/2014, of the European Parliament and of the Council, of 15 
July 2014, and is registered in the Register of Cooperatives -Central Section- of the Ministry of 
Labour and Social Security in the Book of Registration of Cooperative Societies in volume XXI, 
page 2.051, entry no. 28, as well as in the Bank of Spain's Register of Credit Institutions under 
number 3081. 

It is governed by its articles of association, approved by the General Assembly on 30th June 
1993 and, insofar as not provided for therein, by Law 13/1989 and Royal Decree 84/1993 on 
Credit Cooperatives and their implementing regulations, without prejudice to the provisions that 
may be approved, in the exercise of the powers vested in them, by the Autonomous 
Communities in their field of activity. The rules which, in general, govern the activity of credit 
institutions, as well as other provisions which may be applicable, shall also be applicable to it. 
In addition, the legislation on cooperatives shall apply. 
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Finally, the Entity is subject to certain legal rules, which govern, among other things, such 
aspects as: 

- Maintenance of a minimum percentage of funds deposited with the Bank of Spain to 
cover the minimum reserve ratio. 

- Distribution of part of the net surplus for the year to the Obligatory Reserve Fund and 
the Education and Promotion Fund. 

- Maintenance of a minimum level of own resources, in accordance with Regulation 
(EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26th June 2013 
on the prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms. 

- Annual contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund for Credit Institutions and the Single 
Resolution Fund, as an additional guarantee to that provided by the Entity’s own 
resources to its creditors. 

 

2.3 Organization and structure of the entity 

 

2.3.1 Structure of the Eurocaja Rural Group 

 

La Caja, together with its subsidiaries TEC Soluciones de negocio, S.L.U., Eurocaja Rural 
Mediación Operador Banca y Seguros Vinculado, S.L.U., Rural Broker, S.L.U., Viveactivos, 
S.A.U., and Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U., in which it holds a 100% 
interest, forms a consolidable group of credit institutions, Group Eurocaja Rural ("the Group"). 

• TEC Soluciones de negocio, S.L.U. was incorporated in February 2005 and is mainly 
engaged in IT services and developments. 

• Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador de Banca y Seguros Vinculado, S.L.U. Eurocaja 
Rural, S.L.U., incorporated in July 2007, is mainly engaged in the insurance agency 
business as a linked bank and insurance operator and is domiciled in Toledo. 

• Viveactivos, S.A.U. and Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad de Gestión de Activos, S.A.U. were 
incorporated in December 2012 and their registered office is in Toledo. Their company 
object is to carry on activities in the real estate industry, in particular the administration 
and disposal, either directly or indirectly, of the assets to be contributed thereto, 
specifically: (i) promotion of land, as well as the urbanization, parcelling, etc., of land, in 
order to promote its sale, and (ii) promotion of buildings, also with the aim of promoting 
their sale. 

• Rural Broker, S.L.U. is an insurance brokerage firm dedicated to the activity of private 
insurance and reinsurance mediation and is based in Toledo. The company is registered 
with the Directorate General of Insurance and Pension Funds since 7 April 2014. 
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Furthermore, as indicated in the introductory section of this statement of non-financial 
information, the Eurocaja Rural Foundation must be included within the sphere of the Group, 
insofar as it is a vehicle through which Corporate Social Responsibility and collaborating with 
the environment in which the Entity is present, taking into account, furthermore, as established 
in the Foundation's bylaws, that at least half plus one of its trustees are representatives 
(directors) or employees of Eurocaja Rural. 

2.3.2 Organization of Eurocaja Rural 

 

The governing bodies at Eurocaja Rural are reflected in the Entity's by-laws, in Chapter IV "The 
corporate bodies and management of the Savings Bank". In this regard, article 39 of the By- 
laws establishes that the following are the corporate bodies of the Entity: the General Assembly, 
the Governing Council, the Auditors and the Resources Committee. Likewise, Article 61.1 of the 
by-laws includes the figure of the Executive Committee. Finally, the by-laws provide that "there 
shall also be a General Management, with the functions and powers provided for in these by- 
laws, and with the powers that would have been conferred on it in the deed of attorney". 

The essential roles and functions of the major organs are as follows: 

- General Assembly: The General Assembly, constituted by the members to deliberate 
and take agreements, is the supreme organ of expression of the social will. The 
agreements of the General Assembly, adopted in accordance with the Laws and the 
Articles of Association, are binding on all members. The General Assembly of Eurocaja 
Rural is organized in two successive phases: Preparatory Meetings and Assembly of 
Delegates. 

- Board of Governors: The Board of Governors is the governing body responsible for 
the senior management, supervision of the directors and representation of the Entity, 
subject to the Law, the Articles of Association and the general policy set by the General 
Assembly. The Governing Council is responsible for establishing the general guidelines 
for the actions of the Entity, and any other powers not reserved by law or the Articles of 
Association for other corporate bodies. The representation of the Entity attributed to the 
Governing Board extends, in and out of court, to all acts related to the activities that 
make up its corporate purpose. 

- Executive Committee: The Governing Council of Eurocaja Rural has appointed from 
among its members an Executive Committee, made up of seven members, of which, in 
addition to the President and the Secretary of the Governing Council, at least two 
Directors of recognized commercial and professional honorability and who possess 
knowledge and experience appropriate for the exercise of their functions, form part. The 
Governing Board may temporarily delegate to the Executive Committee some of its 
powers which, being of a legal nature to be delegated, are specifically and specifically 
indicated in the resolution on the constitution and functioning of the Executive 
Committee, which shall be governed by the provisions of the Articles of Association 
relating to the Governing Board in all matters not provided for therein. 
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In addition, the Directorate General and the management team of Eurocaja Rural are structured 
as follows: 

 

 
 

2.4 Markets in which the Entity operates 

 

Although, according to its articles of association, the scope of action of the savings bank extends 
to the whole of Spain, and it is expected that it may carry out legally permitted operations outside 
this territory, Eurocaja Rural is an entity with strong roots in its area of origin, the Community of 
Castilla-La Mancha, where it mainly carries out its activity. In 2021, Eurocaja Rural has become 
the only credit institution providing complete financial services to the inhabitants of 46 towns. 
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2.5 The Entity's main business lines 

 

Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito has 417 customer service points (410 
customer service points in 2020), including offices and financial agencies in the five provinces 
of Castilla la Mancha, Madrid, Ávila, Comunidad Valenciana and Murcia. 

The Entity’s social objective is to serve the needs of its members and third parties by carrying 
out the activities of credit institutions. 

The main lines of business are considered to be those business lines and associated services 
that represent important sources of income, benefits or franchise value for the Entity. According 
to the methodology established by the European Banking Authority (EBA) for the definition of 
the main lines of business, the Entity's main line of business is Private Banking (which includes 
the distribution of insurance and investment products), with the rest of the activities having no 
significant relevance within the business model. 

 

2.6 Sectorial context and challenges for the Entity 

 

Economic growth in 2021 was lower than expected due to the emergence of new COVID 
variants, rising raw material prices and the disruption to supply chains. The year also suffered 
from the adverse effects of inflation, which reached levels not seen since 1992. Despite all this, 
lending actually increased significantly with respect to the previous year. 

   The major challenges facing financial institutions over the short to medium term are as follows: 

• The COVID crisis. The pandemic is gradually remitting as vaccination rates climb and 
there are signs that the public health situation is beginning to normalise. The risk lies in 
new variants emerging that could affect the forecast growth of particularly vulnerable 
economic sectors, such as tourism. 

• Economic trends. Banco de España has forecast GDP growth for Spain of 5.4% for 
2022, which points to a slower-than-initially-expected economic recovery. An 
appropriate allocation of the Next Generation EU recovery funds will be decisive in this 
regard. 

• Regulatory developments. Primarily the implementation of the final part of Basel III (the 
package known as Basel IV), which introduces even more stringent solvency 
requirements. 

• Sustainable financing. Financial institutions must discharge their primary function (to 
ensure an orderly transition towards a carbon-free economy. This involves developing 
a complete taxonomy and quality data so that risks can be modelled and reported. 

• The digital transformation and its associated risks, such as cybersecurity and the threat 
posed by new competitors (Fintech). 
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• The demand for banking services in what are principally rural areas. The ongoing 
closure of bank branches and falling employment levels in the banking sector have left 
a significant percentage of the population without banking services. 

Eurocaja Rural is successfully taking on these challenges thanks to its business model built on 
proximity to and knowledge of its customers. Its multi-channel approach, with physical branches 
and online banking, enables Eurocaja Rural to attend to the needs of its customers, while 
continuing to broaden its footprint into other geographical regions. All of this is underpinned by 
the solid solvency data reflected in Eurocaja Rural Group’s financial indicators. 

 

3. MAIN RISKS 

 

The primary objective of risk management is to safeguard the solvency of the Entity’s asset base 
and its financial stability, by identifying, assessing, controlling and monitoring the risks inherent 
to its activity, while ensuring an optimum risk-return ratio that falls within the tolerance levels set 
by the Entity’s Governing Board as part of its Risk Appetite Framework. 

This management is understood by the Entity from a double perspective: 

- A threat to be avoided. Inadequate risk management would have very negative effects 
on the profitability, financial soundness and solvency of the institution. 

- One chance. On the contrary, advanced risk management will allow us to obtain 
sustainable competitive advantages and positive differentiation from other entities. 

The Entity devotes the necessary efforts to perform this function, emphasizing prudent 
management and correct identification, measurement and control of the various risks, with the 
aim of maximizing the relationship between profitability and risk. For all this, it is necessary to 
have the corresponding organization and means. 

The basic principles governing risk management at our Entity are as follows: 

- Risk profile appropriate to the strategic objectives, including a high level of solvency. 

- The Governing Council defines the Entity's risk policy and delimits the powers of the 
different decision-making levels. It delegates the implementation of these policies to the 
Risk Committee, which in turn delegates them to the various committees set up for this 
purpose. 

- Establishment of well-defined and communicated policies and procedures within the 
Entity to facilitate the management of the various risks. 

- Prudence. The Entity has as a principle not to carry out speculative activities, so its 
trading portfolio is irrelevant. 

- Segregation of functions. The risk analysis, monitoring and control functions are totally 
independent from the risk generating units. 
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- Risk overview, which requires a robust function for admission, identification and 
monitoring of authorized risk. 

- Consistency with the Entity's strategy for sustainable growth. 

- Pricing policy and capital allocation appropriate to the level of risk assumed. 

- Integration of risk management tools and policies in daily operations, which implies the 
existence of robust methodologies for measuring risks, the establishment of limits to 
ensure that exposures to the various risks are within authorized levels and the existence 
of adequate information systems to enable efficient management. 

- Ensure an adequate internal control framework over risk management processes based 
on independent internal and external reviews. 

- Adaptation of the risk management model to the size of the Entity and to the diversity 
and complexity of the activities it carries out. 

These principles are reflected in internal policies related to the approval, monitoring and control 
of risks and are set forth in the corresponding manuals and monitored on an ongoing basis. Of 
particular importance is the Entity’s Risk Appetite Framework, which is the tool that forms the 
backbone of its risk management system, as well as constituting the Entity’s highest-ranking 
strategic component in this regard.  

The Risk Appetite Framework is a self-monitoring measure that reflects the policies and limits 
approved by the Governing Council, establishing quantitative and qualitative metrics for all 
material risks affecting the Entity and promoting comprehensive and systematic management 
of all of them. Its main objective is to identify risk limits and risk appetite (target), consistent with 
the Entity's strategy, profitability and reputation. 

• Credit and concentration risk. Credit risk arises from the possible loss caused by the 
failure of the Group's counterparties to meet their contractual obligations. In the case of 
reimbursable financing granted to third parties (in the form of credits, loans, deposits, 
securities and others) it arises as a result of the non-recovery of the principal, interest 
and other concepts in the terms of amount, term and other conditions established in the 
contracts. In the case of off-balance sheet risks, it arises from the failure of the 
counterparty to meet its obligations to third parties, which requires the Entity to assume 
them as its own by virtue of the commitment it has undertaken. Credit risk is the most 
significant risk to which the Group is exposed as a result of carrying on its banking 
business and is understood to be the risk that the counterparty will be unable to fully 
repay the amounts due. Credit risk management in the Eurocaja Rural Group is a 
comprehensive and homogeneous process that extends from the time the customer 
requests financing through the branch network until the full amount of the funds lent is 
returned. In addition, the different basic criteria for credit risk acceptance at the savings 
bank are established, as well as the minimum documentation required to comply with 
the regulations in force at any given time, always with reference to fundamental aspects 
of liquidity, security, profitability and collateral business. 
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• Counterparty risk. It is the risk that an economic loss occurs as a result of a wholesale 
counterparty that (basically the activity of the Treasury and Capital Market Area), stops 
complying with its payment obligations and, as a consequence of this, a bankruptcy 
occurs for the Entity. The major organ responsible for supervising the counterparty risk 
of the Entity is the Assets and Liabilities Committee. 

• Structural interest rate risk. Structural interest rate risk is understood as the Entity’s 
exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates stemming from the timing mismatches 
of maturities and the repricing of the different balance sheet items. To measure this risk, 
the Entity uses the sensitivity of its financial margin and economic value to interest rate 
fluctuations. The responsibility for managing this risk is entrusted to the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee.  

• Liquidity risk. This risk reflects the possible difficulty for the Group to have, or to 
access, sufficient liquid funds at an appropriate cost to enable it to meet its payment 
obligations at all times. The body responsible for supervising the Entity's liquidity risk is 
the Assets and Liabilities Committee. 

• Operational risk. It is the possibility of suffering losses as a consequence of the 
inadequacy or failure of processes, systems, technical and/or human equipment, or by 
external events. Historically, the Entity's exposure to this risk has been low, and there 
are mitigating factors for this risk, among which the following should be highlighted (i) 
The IT platform that supports the Entity's basic banking activity, which has Business 
Continuity Plans that guarantee an adequate response to any type of contingency that 
could impact the availability of the systems. (ii) The Entity's subscription to a 
comprehensive banking policy that covers some of the main operational risks. (iii) The 
subscription by the Entity of several industrial multi-risk policies. (iv) The subscription 
by the Entity of an insurance policy for civil liability of administrators and senior 
managers. 

• Risk of excessive leverage. This risk lies in the possibility of incurring losses as a 
result of a decline in asset prices stemming from the need to reduce leveraging or in 
mismatches between an entity’s assets and obligations. The leverage ratio is the 
methodology employed to measure this type of risk. 

• Market risk. Market risk (or price risk) is defined as risk arising from changes in market 
prices caused either by factors specific to the instrument itself or by factors affecting all 
instruments traded in the market. Given the small size of the trading book, the 
mechanism used as a risk assessment tool is comparison with monthly market values. 
In addition, the exposures are estimated at the time of acquisition of the product, as well 
as when it is considered appropriate, using the VaR methodology. 

• Business risk. This is defined as the possibility of suffering losses arising from the 
occurrence of hypothetical adverse events (internal or external) that adversely affect 
the Entity's ability to achieve its objectives and, as a result, its profits (income statement) 
and solvency. The Entity's Risk Appetite Framework incorporates a category of 
indicators called "Profitability Indicators"; the indicators in this category are ROA, ROE 
and Efficiency Ratio. 
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• Reputational risk. This is the risk arising from a negative perception by customers, 
counterparties, shareholders, investors and regulators and may affect the ability to 
maintain or establish business relationships and continue to access sources of funding. 
Notwithstanding the above, the Entitys reputation is affected by the situation of the 
Spanish financial sector. Future situations with a relevant adverse impact from the point 
of view of the reputation of these entities could have a relevant repercussion on the 
image of the Entity, which in these circumstances would deploy a communication 
strategy aimed at minimizing such impact and would proceed to undertake any other 
actions it deemed necessary. In order to manage this aspect, the Governing Council 
approved the policy for the management and control of reputational risk, the aim of 
which is to define the guidelines that identify the signs of reputational risk and to activate 
appropriate mitigation instruments, through a clear assignment of tasks and 
responsibilities, thus ensuring the correct management of reputational risk by the Entity. 

• Legal risk. This is the risk arising from regulatory changes that could affect the entity 
in its various spheres. Poor compliance with these modifications or new regulations 
could result in sanctions for the Entity. 

• Capital risk. It is defined as the risk that the Entity has insufficient quantity and/or quality 
of capital to meet the minimum regulatory requirements set by the authorities, respond 
to market expectations and support the growth of the business. The Entity's Risk 
Appetite Framework incorporates a category of indicators called "Capital Indicators", 
the indicators of this category are CET1, Total Capital Ratio and Leverage Ratio. 

• Sustainability risk.  Sustainability risks are considered those of a social, good 
governance or environmental nature (stemming from climate change or the environment 
itself). 

As a result of the mechanisms and procedures established for the adequate control of the 
various types of risk that may affect the Entity, no circumstance or incidence that has affected 
the normal functioning of the Entity can be highlighted in this regard. 

Materiality analysis in relation to non-financial information 

The Eurocaja Rural Group periodically carries out an analysis to identify those aspects which, 
in accordance with the guidelines of the GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) standards, especially 
GRI 101 "Fundamentals" and GRI 102 "General Contents", are most relevant to its different 
stakeholders. This identifies those aspects that influence the Group's capacity to generate value 
and which are of interest to the groups and individuals with which it relates. 

As a result of the publication of Law 11/2018, this analysis has been more clearly aligned with 
the non-financial risks identified in the Eurocaja Rural Group, so that the result of the 
identification of relevant aspects reflects which risks are more material both from an internal 
perspective and from the perspective of stakeholders. 

To assess whether an issue is material in the context of sustainability, a combination of factors 
internal and external to the Eurocaja Rural Group has been considered. Any reference to 
materiality contained in this Statement of Non-Financial Information (EINF) must be understood 
to be related to the area of sustainability. 
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Thus, the most relevant non-financial risks for the Group's stakeholders, which may influence 
their assessments and decisions more significantly, are those arising from "Information on 
Society" (especially in relation to "Consumers") and "Combating Corruption and Bribery", taking 
into account the financial activity in which the Group is engaged. In addition, considering its 
status as a credit institution that employs a significant number of people, all aspects associated 
with "Social and Personnel Issues" become equally relevant. 

Nevertheless, given the Entity’s nature as a financial institution, aspects related to 
“environmental issues” and “respect for human rights” are considered to have a lesser impact, 
at least directly, with respect to the Entity’s stakeholders. Turning to environmental issues 
specifically, the following aspects are not considered relevant in view of the Group’s activity: 
actual and foreseeable effects of the Group’s activities on the environment; initiatives for 
combatting food waste; consumption of raw materials other than those expressly disclosed in 
this report; water consumption; greenhouse gas emissions and issues related to biodiversity. As 
regards issues tied to respecting human rights, these issues are not deemed relevant to the 
Group’s activity and, as such, there are no disclosures of relevant information on the elimination 
of forced or compulsory labour, for example, nor are there disclosures on the effective abolition 
of child labour. The description of these matters in this NFIS does not contain any quantitative 
information indicators in view of their relatively limited importance. 

 

4. ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING 

 

4.1 Contamination 

 

The Entity continues with its purpose of achieving maximum energy efficiency in order to 
prevent, as far as possible, the carrying out of actions that may contribute to the pollution of our 
natural environment. 

This strategy of protection and respect for the environment has been implemented transversally 
to all lines of business, remaining latent in the common management carried out by all 
departments, offices and agencies. 

 

4.2 Circular economy and waste prevention and management 

 

A fundamental guideline of Eurocaja Rural is the proper management and recycling of the 
resources used by the entity. In this way, all the paper is destroyed, for which we have a 
company that ensures the destruction of the documentation respecting both the indications of 
the data protection regulations and the indications of corporate social responsibility. 
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According to the latest Environmental Report of the company dedicated to this task (DESDOCO 
S.L.), Eurocaja Rural issued last year about 9,636 kilos of paper compared to 9,257 kilos in 
2020, which were destroyed and subsequently recycled. This meant that 133.94 trees (128,67 
in 2020) of average size or the equivalent of 56.85 months of average household energy savings 
(54.62 months in 2020), 91.54 m3 of unconsumed water (87.94 m3 in 2020) and 34.69 m3 of 
unused landfill (33.33 m3 in 2020) were not cut down. 

On the other hand, the management of halogenated and non-halogenated waste and reagents 
produced by the laboratory is entrusted to an external company (DILABO S.A.) which issues a 
certificate of transport. 

Finally, the management of construction and demolition waste generated is intended, among 
other things, not to burn waste. Likewise, no uncontrolled dumping is carried out, because our 
main objective is to safeguard the environment and natural resources. 

 

4.3 Sustainable use of resources 

 

The United Nations Global Compact for sustainable development and corporate social 
responsibility, launched in 2000, is a call to companies and organisations to align their strategies 
and operations with ten universal principles on human rights, labour, the environment and anti-
corruption. It is backed by a UN mandate aimed at fostering the Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDG) in the private sector. 

Its mission is to mobilise a global movement of sustainable companies to create a better world. 
It also has the peerless ability to unite companies with other players that work to promote 
sustainable development: governments, civil society and the UN itself. 

The United Nations Global Compact is the world’s largest corporate sustainability initiative with 
over 19,000 signatories in more than 160 countries, and has 70 local networks.  

The Spanish Network of the UN Global Compact has been one of the initiative’s leading national 
platforms since its inception, as well as the local network with the greatest number of signatories.  

The organisations that sign up to the compact undertake to implement socially responsible 
measures that are based on the initiative’s guiding principles and to report progress annually 
via Progress or Sustainability Reports. 

In order to support and implement the Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact within its sphere 
of influence, Eurocaja Rural took the required steps in 2021 to join the initiative as a signatory 
member, a process that was finally completed at the beginning of 2022. 

The Entity has thus taken another step to factor in and integrate sustainability into its 
performance; it is committed to making the Global Compact and its principles a cornerstone of 
its strategy, culture and day-to-day operations. 

This also marks a renewal of Eurocaja Rural’s commitment to the compliance and monitoring of 
its core principles in terms of human rights, the environment, labour and anti-corruption. 
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The Entity therefore promotes a sustainable and efficient use of its resources, which is why it 
has implemented a series of measures in this regard.  For instance, new lighting has been 
installed at the Entity’s branches, toilets and lobbies which is equipped with motion sensors that 
automatically turn the lights on and off, which results in energy savings. 

Eurocaja Rural’s facilities are also equipped with daylight harvesting systems that regulate the 
level of electric lighting required depending on the amount of exterior natural light. This energy 
conservation measure is essentially the strategic placement of electric illumination taking into 
account existing natural light sources, thus reducing the amount of electric lighting required. 

All our lighting consumes a low amount of energy and, thanks to the work carried out in previous 
years, the LEDs and halogen lamps used for perimeter lighting only consume 1 watt.  

Finally, Eurocaja Rural has adopted an entirely responsible approach to water consumption. 
Our plant irrigation systems are fed by non-potable water from a well located within the Head 
Office compound. Nevertheless, in an effort to conserve the local aquifer, we have scaled back 
the irrigation cycle to the bare minimum required for the plants’ survival.  We also pared back 
the lawns at our gardens in 2021 by replacing 900 sqm with artificial grass. This measure also 
reduces the amount of water drawn from the well, helping to preserve the aquifer. 

 

4.4 Climate change 

 

The entity aims to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by improving energy efficiency and 
developing telecommunications services. 

Thus, the air-conditioning of the facilities is designed to meet the needs of the different areas 
that make up the office. The office premises are isolated in the ceiling area from both heat and 
cold. To this end, the regulation and control equipment is responsible for reducing the thermal 
power supplied as the demand for the premises varies, in order to obtain greater energy 
efficiency, reducing energy consumption by 30% and 40% with the latest equipment installed. 

Such is the evolution in this sense that we proceeded to sectorize the areas to be air- 
conditioned, or to detect through thermostats the unfitted or unused areas of the offices to 
prevent them from receiving the climate that the rest of the office has. In other words, the 
conditioning provided by the air-conditioning machines is focused on the workstations, thus 
avoiding unnecessary consumption and achieving greater efficiency in the emissions produced. 

The Entity installed a photovoltaic plant in 2021 at its Head Office building on Calle Méjico 
(Toledo). The plant is composed of 146 photovoltaic panels, providing a total installed 
generating capacity of 78.11 kWp. 

The Head Office building at Calle Méjico underwent a refurbishment in 2021 which consisted of 
replacing exterior windows and panes, as well as restoring the insulation on the façade. The 
result is an evident reduction in the need to use HVAC systems to reach the required comfort 
level. 
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Work was also undertaken in 2021 to replace the air recovery systems in work station areas:  

“HEAT RECOVERY UNIT, INVERTER MODEL RCE 11500-EC / V / F7+F7+F8 VERTICAL 
Highly-efficient recovery unit, VERTICAL model RCE-11500-EC  
with a highly efficient EC inverter motor, cross-flow aluminium plate 
heat exchanger with an efficiency in excess of 73%, motorised by-pass 
valve with temperature measuring probes, F7 in-take filters and 
F8 outflow filters. ECODESIGN standards 2018”  

Thanks to the adoption of these measures, the Entity consumed 4,592,185.49 kW at 418 cost 
centres in 2021 (4,537,155 kW at 411 centres in 2020), which results in 10,986.09 kW per centre 
(11,039.30 kW in 2020), whereas the consumption of an average family home is 15,315 kW. 
Furthermore, the Entity consumed 50,566.14 litres of type-A diesel and 646.94 litres of petrol in 
2021 (figures calculated on the basis of the historical fuel prices published on the website of the 
Ministry for the Ecological Transition and the Demographic Challenge). 

This commitment to the fight against climate change is clearly reflected in the Entity’s financial 
operations. For example, the Entity has issued 10-year sustainable mortgage bonds in 
wholesale markets in an amount of Euros 700 million, which bear interest at a rate of 0.18%. 
This mortgage bond issuance has been given an Aa1 rating by Moody’s. 

To secure this sustainable rating, the Entity must allocate the funds raised to “green” and 
socially-orientated projects, as stipulated in the sustainable framework of the issuance. 

The green projects stipulated in the framework include the financing of energy efficient homes 
and buildings, renewable energy, and transport initiatives with either low or zero carbon 
emissions. On the social side, eligible projects must correspond to mortgages or personal loans 
extended to individuals considered at risk of social exclusion, or to the elderly and the young, 
financing projects for SMEs located in disadvantaged areas of Spain in a bid to drive economic 
activities that either safeguard employment or create new jobs, and initiatives that combat rural 
depopulation. 

As regards lending activity, the Entity can lower the tariffs on various types of product if the 
borrower meets ESG requirements (Environmental, Social and Governance criteria). 

Eurocaja will foster the arrangement of sustainable investment products, ensuring that they 
meet transparency requirements throughout the arrangement process, and notifying customers 
as to the sustainability risks inherent in investment decisions, as well as the rate of return of 
each financial product. 

In 2021 the Entity also made arrangements to obtain “Scope I and II CARBON FOOTPRINT 
Certification” for 2019 and 2020. This was ultimately secured at the beginning of 2022 and 
inscribed in the public register for such purposes at the Ministry for the Ecological Transition. 
This is a voluntary register that was created to enable Spanish organisations to calculate and 
then reduce their carbon footprint. Certification group AENOR has verified that the Entity’s 
carbon footprint calculation complies with the GHG PROTOCOL guidelines. A plan was also 
drawn up to reduce greenhouse gas emissions at the Entity’s Head Offices in both 2021 and 
2022. 
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The carbon footprint is the amount of greenhouse gases emitted (either directly or indirectly) by 
an organisation during the performance of its activity. It can therefore quantify the impact caused 
by an activity on global warming. It also enables organisations to pinpoint all sources of their 
greenhouse gas emissions and, based on that knowledge, put in place measures to effectively 
reduce them. Ultimately, this is not merely a calculation exercise, but rather the first step to 
improve and make a commitment to reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

4.4.1 Response to the European Unio Taxonomy Regulation 

 

Among the EU’s ambitions, the need to establish an internal market to foster sustainable 
development across the continent has taken on considerable importance in recent years. This 
internal market is based on balanced economic growth and a high degree of protection for and 
improvement to the quality of the environment, thereby ensuring sustainability and the transition 
to a more secure economy; one that protects and is protected from the climate and based on a 
more efficient use of resources. Against this backdrop, article 10.3 of the Commission Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 of 6 July 2021 supplementing Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council by specifying the content and presentation of 
information to be disclosed by undertakings subject to Articles 19a or 29a of Directive 
2013/34/EU concerning environmentally sustainable economic activities, and specifying the 
methodology to comply with that disclosure obligation, specifies the disclosure obligations for 
financial undertakings for the period from 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2023. To this end, 
the required indicators are specified below. 

Context information to support the quantitative indicators, including assets and the 
activities that cover the key results indicators, information on sources of data and 
limitations 

Eurocaja is a rural savings bank which, given its nature and designation as a credit cooperative, 
as well as its local roots in the areas where it operates, is committed to sustainability. The Entity 
has drawn up a roadmap to integrate sustainability. One of its goals in this regard is the 
promotion of sustainable financing.  

This commitment can be observed in the disclosure of key performance indicators as regards 
alignment with the new taxonomy. Pursuant to the requirements of article 10.3 of Commission 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178, the Entity has disclosed information on the proportion in 
its total assets of exposures to taxonomy non-eligible and taxonomy-eligible economic activities. 
Eurocaja also voluntarily discloses information on the sustainability of other assets not aligned 
with the EU environmental taxonomy.  

a) The proportion in its total assets of exposures to taxonomy non-eligible and taxonomy-
eligible economic activities. To determine the eligible and non-eligible activities, the 
recommendations established in Annex V of the Delegated Regulation are taken into 
account, specifically those detailed under section 1.2.1.1 GAR which apply to exposures to 
non-financial undertakings, and those contained in the Commission Q&A and in the Annex 
on voluntary reporting considerations of the EU Platform on Sustainable Finance.  
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To build this metric, the Entity has taken into consideration Annex VI of the Delegated 
Regulation. Subsection 1.2.1.1, “GAR applying to exposures to non-financial undertakings”, 
includes various steps to calculate the ratio (first step, second step and, finally, the Green 
Asset Ratio). The information requested in the first step refers solely to taxonomy-eligible 
activities (pursuant to that indicated in article 10.3.c). Disclosing this information during the 
first step is therefore consistent with the transitional period. Calculating the ratio based on 
GAR criteria is voluntary in 2021 and not mandatory, as per the EU Taxonomy Regulation. 

Accordingly, the proportion of loans and advances, debt securities or equity instruments 
financing taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy non-eligible economic activities for the objective 
of climate change mitigation and adaptation compared to total loans, debt securities or 
equity instruments of non-financial undertakings and all other covered on-balance sheet 
assets.  

• Eligible economic activities: to determine the exposure to eligible economic activities, 
the methodology applied is as follows: 

o Segmenting the lending portfolio and securities portfolio by type of counterparty 
and extracting the exposures to non-financial undertakings that are potentially 
subject to the non-financial information disclosure requirements of Law 11/2018, 
i.e., large companies.  

o Segmenting transactions derived from certain economic activity sectors (CNAE per 
its Spanish acronym) 

o Identifying transactions whose CNAE coincides with the taxonomy-eligible 
economic activities1.  

  

 
1 Economic activities described in the delegated acts adopted, as per article 10, section 3, article 11, section 3, article 12, section 2, article 13, section 2, 

article 14, section 2 and article 15, section, of the Regulation (EU) 2020/852. 
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o Ensuring that the CNAE indicated in the potentially eligible transactions is up to 
date and in line with the Entity’s surveillance registers and consultation tools. If the 
CNAE is not up to date or the transaction has more than one CNAE, analysis is 
undertaken to ensure it is aligned with the taxonomy-eligible activities.  

o Disclosing the accounting values of the transactions grouped together by CNAE. In 
the event of transactions with more than one eligible CNAE, it was decided to 
prorate the amount of all eligible CNAEs. 

• Non-eligible activities: in this regard, exposures to loans and advances, debt securities 
or equity instruments are taken into consideration vis-à-vis large non-financial 
undertakings that engage in economic activities not envisaged in the taxonomy2. 

As regards reporting this information, pursuant to the above, to enhance the 
transparency and comparability of the information disclosed, Eurocaja has voluntarily 
opted to organise the information based on the reporting template associated with this 
indicator.  

Ratio of eligible economic activities to total assets:  0.09%3.  

Note that the eligible CNAEs refer to the following activities: 

• 2042 – Manufacture of perfumes and cosmetics  

• 2229 – Manufacture of other plastic products 

• 2444 – Production of copper 

• 4110 – Real estate development 

• 4121 – Residential construction 

• 4941 – Road haulage 

• 5221 – Land transport ancillary activities 

• 6832 – Real estate administration and management 

• 7112 – Engineering technical services and other technical advisory services. 

Ratio of non-eligible economic activities to total assets: 2.60%4.  

b) The proportion in total assets exposed to central governments, central banks and 
supranational issuers; and the proportion in total assets exposed to derivatives. 

This has been calculated as the exposure of loans, advances and debt securities vis-à-vis 
central governments, central banks and supranational issuers, based on data extracted 
from the lending portfolio and the securities portfolio.  

  

 
2 Non-eligible activity is considered all activity not described in the delegated acts adopted, as per article 10, section 3, article 11, section 3, article 12, 

section 2, article 13, section 2, article 14, section 2 and article 15, section 2 of the Regulation (EU) 2020/852. 
3 To calculate the ratio, the exposure to central governments, central banks and supranational issuers has been excluded from the denominator (total 

assets). Non-mandatory voluntary information as per the Taxonomy Regulation for 2021. 
4 To calculate the ratio, the exposure to central governments, central banks and supranational issuers has been excluded from the denominator (total 

assets). Non-mandatory voluntary information as per the Taxonomy Regulation for 2021. 
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As regards derivatives, all exposures to these instruments have been totalled in the 
securities portfolio. The proportion of derivatives has been taken into consideration in the 
denominator (total asset).  

Ratio of public administrations over total assets: 34.13%  

Ratio of derivatives over total assets: 0.03%  

c) The proportion in their total assets of exposures to undertakings that are exempt from the 
obligation to disclose non-financial information, pursuant to Articles 19a or 29a of Directive 
2013/34/EU. 

This indicator has been calculated as the exposure of loans and advances in the lending 
portfolio to non-financial counterparties that are not considered large companies. The 
exposures of debt securities and equity instruments have been excluded in this case given 
that, as they are issued on organised markets, the counterparties of these exposures are 
subject to non-financial information disclosure requirements.  

Ratio of undertakings exempt from obligation to disclose information over total assets: 
9.58%  

d) The proportion of the Entity’s trading portfolio and portfolio of on-demand interbank loans 
in its total assets. 

Eurocaja does not hold a trading portfolio. Consequently, this indicator has been calculated 
on the basis of the exposures of the Entity’s on-demand interbank loans.  

Ratio of trading portfolio and on-demand interbank loans over total assets: 0.47%  

Description of compliance with Regulation (EU) 2020/852 in terms of the strategy of 
the financial undertaking, the process to design products and relationships with 
customers and counterparties. Additional or supplementary information on the 
strategies of the financial undertaking and the ratio of the financing of taxonomy-
eligible economic activities over total activity  

Eurocaja is aware that these challenges and sustainability-related issues have always been 
a major area of concern for the Entity. From its beginnings and in view of its nature as a 
Credit Cooperative, ethical management, concerns over the impact of the Entity’s banking 
activity, good corporate governance and the protection of the environment have 
consistently been core values for the Entity. 

To that end, Eurocaja has drawn up a roadmap aimed at fully integrating sustainability into 
the Entity’s operations. The roadmap contains the initiatives to be implemented in the area 
of corporate governance, the business model and strategy, risk management and the 
Taxonomy. In this last area, Eurocaja has assumed the following commitments: 

• To draw up an environmental taxonomy, i.e. define internally the activities to be 
considered sustainable from an environmental perspective, in line with the EU 
Taxonomy, but broadened in scope to include areas not included in the EU Taxonomy, 
but which are relevant for the Entity.  
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• Foster sustainable financing, through the design, issue and marketing of financial 
products and services that promote environmentally sustainable activities and that aid 
customers in their transition to a sustainable economy. In this regard, the Entity has 
undertaken to incorporate the taxonomy into its sustainable financing strategy, fusing it 
into the design of “green” products and in the inclusion criteria for financing approvals.  

• In terms of improving the quality of non-financial data and reporting requirements, 
identify the main data gaps and reporting requirements to analyse to what extent 
operations are in line with the taxonomy and update current tools and procedures to 
compile this information. 

• Expand non-financial disclosures by, for example, reporting on green asset ratios 
(GAR). 

As has been shown, protection of the environment has always been a core objective in 
Eurocaja’s activity. In view of its close relationship with the agricultural, forestry and livestock 
sectors, the Entity is acutely aware of the need to conserve and sustain the natural surroundings 
where these customers operate. In this respect, in addition to fostering sustainable financing, 
the Entity has also undertaken to take the following steps to protect the environment: 

- Gradually reduce the Entity’s environmental impact by identifying, measuring and managing 
its environmental footprint.  

- Raise awareness within the Entity of the importance of mitigating and adapting to climate 
change, the sustainable use of resources, the circular economy, waste prevention and 
management, the prevention and control of pollution, the protection and recovery of 
biodiversity and ecosystems. 

- Align the Entity’s activity with the supervisor’s expectations regarding the management of 
climate risks and those stemming from environmental degradation. 

Furthermore, in line with the commitments stemming from the Entity’s adherence to the UN 
Global Compact, Eurocaja has undertaken to adopt a preventative approach that benefits the 
environment, fosters initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility, and favours the 
development and dissemination of technology that is respectful to the environment. 

 

4.5 Protection of biodiversity 

Eurocaja Rural is characterized by being an entity whose support to the rural environment is 
one of its fundamental objectives, including among its main activities the application and 
management of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) for the benefit of applicants. 

That is why, due to the close relationship it maintains with the agricultural, forestry and livestock 
sector, the Entity is especially aware of the need to preserve and sustain the natural environment 
in which they operate. Consequently, the protection of the diversity of plant and animal species 
in the areas where the Entity operates is directly related to the activities promoted by it. 

In this sense, the Entity has a laboratory that carries out analysis and studies of the different 
lands and species to cooperate with the agricultural sector in the development, viability and 
sustainability of the crops and lands in the area. The laboratory is accredited by the National 
Accreditation Entity (ENAC) according to the criteria set out in the UNE-EN ISO/IEC 17025 
standard for physical-chemical testing activities on olive oil. 
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5. INFORMATION ON SOCIAL AND PERSONNEL ISSUES 

5.1. Employment 

5.1.1 Total number and distribution of employees by sex, age, country and 
professional classification. 

All employees of the Eurocaja Rural Group work in Spain. 

  Women  Men 
  2021  2020  2021  2020          

Under 30 years old  110  101  86  68 
Area 1: Group C Level 1  1  1  -  - 
Area 1: Group C Level 3  2  -  1  - 
Area 1: Group E Level 2  4  5  4  4 
Area 3: Group E Level 1  -  -  1  - 
Area 3: Group B Level 2  1  1  1  1 
Group II - Access to the profession  -  -  1  2 
Group II - Level 10  -  -  -  - 
Group II - Level 6  13  13  11  11 
Group II - Level 7  6  7  7  5 
Group II - Level 8  37  29  16  18 
Group II - Level 9  44  44  44  26 
III. B2  2  1  -  1 

         
Between 30 and 50 years old  332  321  311  323 
Area 1: Group A Level I  1  1  1  - 
Area 1: Group B Level 2  -  -  1  1 
Area 1: Group C Level 1  3  4  -  - 
Area 1: Group C Level 3  2  3  1  1 
Area 1: Group E Level 2  3  -  2  - 
Area 3: Group A Level I  1  4  -  2 
Area 3: Group C Level 2  1  1  -  - 
Area 3: Group D Level 1  -  -  1  1 
Area 3: Group E Level 1  1  1  3  3 
Group I  2  2  4  4 
Group II – Access to the profession  -  -  2  2 
Group II - Level 1 (minimum)  1  -  2  1 
Group II - Level 10  2  -  9  10 
Group II - Level 2  2  3  7  9 
Group II - Level 3  1  2  1  1 
Group II - Level 4  1  4  3  4 
Group II - Level 5  77  71  109  106 
Group II - Level 6  73  80  53  66 
Group II - Level 7  71  72  59  56 
Group II - Level 8  46  47  27  28 
Group II - Level 9  23  17  16  21 
Group III - Assisstants  17  5  8  4 
Ad Personal: Higher degree education  -  -  1  1 
II A  3  3  -  - 
II. B, V.A  -  -  1  1 
III. B2  1  1  -  - 
III.B1, V.C1  -  -  -  1 
Area 1: Group A Level I         
Over 50 years old  86  66  109  113 
Area 3: Group B Level 2  1  -  -  - 
Group I  1  -  -  - 
Group II - Level 1 (minimum)  -  -  1  1 
Group II - Level 2  1  1  3  3 
Group II - Level 3  -  -  1  1 
Group II - Level 4  1  1  10  9 
Group II - Level 5  2  2  10  10 
Group II - Level 6  1  -  3  4 
Group II - Level 7  3  1  1  - 
Group II - Level 8  10  8  33  36 
Group II - Level 10  60  48  42  46 
Group III- Officials/Drivers  5  5  4  2 
Area 3: Group B Level 2  1  -  -  - 
Group I  -  -  1  1          
Total employees  528  488  506  504 

  



Consolidated Statement of Non-Financial Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21 
Toledo Commercial Registry 475. Sec. Gral. Libro Sdades. F/18.H/ TO-5618 Registered at Bank of Spain 3081. C.I.F. F-45003993 
 

5.1.2 Total number and distribution of types of employment contract, annual 
average of permanent contracts, temporary contracts and part-time 
contracts, by sex, age and professional classification. 

   Women  Men 
Average annual contracts by sex  2021  2020  2021  2020 
          
Indefinite  460.02   438.99   445.35  451.03 
Work or service  2.28   0.70   7.35  1.47 
Eventually  36.79   23.78   24.53  15.90 
Interim  16.66   14.19   12.74  6.31 
Internship  2.69   4.62   0.97  2.96 
Partial Time  0.79   -   19.71  26.22 
               
Average number of contracts 519.23   482.28   510.66  503.89 

 
Average annual contracts by age group  2021  2020      
Under 30 years old 179.08  145.77 

Indefinite  101.56  91,99 
Work or service  7.36  1,21 
Eventually  41.90  30,05 
Interim  24.59  16,05 
Internship  3.66  6.47 

      
Between 30 and 50 years old 641.16  652.11 

Indefinite  614.67  635.97 
Work or service  2.28  0.95 
Eventually  19.41  9.63 
Interim  4.81  4.45 
Internship  -  1.11 

      
Over 50 years old 209.64  188.29 

Indefinite  189.15  162.07 
Partial Time  20.50  26.22 

      
Average number of contracts 1029.89  986.17 
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Average annual contracts per professional category 2021  2020 
     

Indefinite 905,38  890,02 
Group I 6.00  6.00 
Group II - Level 1 4.00  2.00 
Group II - Level 2 20.28  18.72 
Group II - Level 3 19.87  21.12 
Group II - Level 4 5.00  5.00 
Group II - Level 5 8.11  9.83 
Group II - Level 6 231.18  221.00 
Group II - Level 7 229.52  232.37 
Group II - Level 8 162.71  155.69 
Group II - Level 9 86.16  88.75 
Group II - Level 10 72.25  72.84 
Group II – Access to the profession 16.56  12.18 
Group III - Assistants 1.00  1.00 
Group III- Oficials/Drivers 1.00  1.00 
AD PERSONAN: Higher Degree Edcation -  0.92 
Area 1: Group B Level 2 1.16  1.00 
Area 1: Group C Level 1 1.00  1.00 
Area 1: Group C Level 3 3.19  4.45 
Area 1: Group E Level 2 5.00  5.00 
Area 3: Group A Level I 9.00  - 
Area 3: Group B Level 2 0.73  9.93 
Area 3: Group C Level 2 1.00  1.00 
Area 3: Group D Level 1 1.00  1.00 
Area 3: Group E Level 1 1.00  1.00 
Area 1: Group B Level 2 5.33  3.33 
Area 1: Group C Level 1 6.40  6.50 
II A 3.00  2.76 
II. B, V.A 1.00  1.00 
III.B1, V.C1 0.72  1.00 
III.B2  2.21  2.63 

     
Work or service 9.64  2.17 

Group II - Level 9 -  0.17 
Group II - Level 10 2.75  - 
Group II – Access to the profession 4.70  0.82 
Area 1: Group E Level 2 1.81  1.18 
Group II - Level 9 0.38   

     
Eventually 61.32  39.67 

Group II - Level 8 1.39  3.57 
Group II - Level 9 2.62  0.88 
Group II - Level 10 7.60  3.53 
Group II - Access to the profession 43.34  27.59 
Area 1: Group E Level 2 4.77  1.84 
Area 3: Group D Level 1 0.53  0.47 
Area 3: Group E Level 1 0.31  1.43 
III.B2 0.74  0.36 

     
Interim 29.40  20.50 

Group II - Level 10 1.87  2.29 
Group II - Access to the profession 26.82  17.58 
Area 1: Group E Level 2 0.31  0.63 
III.B2 0.40  - 

     
Internship 3.66  7.58 

Group II - Level 8 -  0.36 
Group II - Level 9 -  0.08 
Group II - Level 10 3.66  6.99 
Area 1: Group C Level 1 -  - 
Area 1: Group E Level 2 -  0.15 
III.B2 -  - 

     
Partial Time 20.50  26.22 

Group II - Level 2 2.10  1.46 
Group II - Level 3 1.94  3.00 
Group II - Level 4 1.84  2.67 
Group II - Level 6 5.07  7.48 
Group II - Level 7 9.55  11.61 

     
Average number of contracts 1029.89  986.16 
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5.1.3. Number of dismissals by sex. age and professional classification 
 

  Women  Men 
  2021  2020  2021  2020          
Under 30 years old  -  -  -  1 

Grupo II - Acceso a la profesión -  -  -  1 
         

Between 30 and 50 years old  8  5  9  10 
Grupo II - Nivel 5  1  -  -  - 
Grupo II - Nivel 6  1  2  1  3 
Grupo II - Nivel 7  2  -  5  1 
Grupo II - Nivel 8  1  3  1  4 
Grupo II - Nivel 9  1  -  1  2 
Grupo II - Nivel 10  1  -  1  - 
Grupo II - Acceso a la profesión  1  -  -  - 

         
Over 50 years old  3  4  11  8 

Grupo II - Nivel 5  -  -  -  1 
Grupo II - Nivel 6  1  -  4  2 
Grupo II - Nivel 7  2  3  7  5 
Grupo II - Nivel 8  -  -  -  - 
Grupo II - Nivel 10  -  1  -  - 

         
Grand total  11  9  20  19 
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5.1.4. Average salaries and their evolution disaggregated by sex. age and 
professional classification or equal value (figures in thousands of euros) 
 
  Women  Men 

  2021  2020  2021  2020 
          

Under 30 years old  23  21  22  22 
Area 1: Group D Level 1                       17  -  16  - 
Area 1:  Group  C  Level  3  17  14  -  - 
Area 1:  Group  E  Level  2  14  13  14  13 
Area 3:  Group  D  Level  1  -  -  24  - 
Area 3:  Group  E  Level  1  21  16  23  16 
Group II -  Level 6  -  -  36  36 
Group II -  Level  7                            -  -  -  - 
Group II -  Level 8  31  28  31  30 
Group II -  Level 9  27  25  26  25 
Group II -  Level 10  24  22  23  22 
Group II – Access to profession  20  19  20  19 
III. B2  19  19  -  19 

          

Between 30 and 50 years old  32  30  36  34 
Area 1:  Group  A Level 1                    34  33  36  - 
Area 1:  Group  B  Level  2                       -  -  19  18 
Area 1:  Group  C  Level 1  22  24  -  - 
Area 1:  Group  C  Level  3  20  17  17  13 
Area 1:  Group  D  Level 1  17  -  17  - 
Area 1:  Group  E  Level 2 14  14  -  13 
Area 3:  Group  C  Level 2                       -  -  34  33 
Area 3:  Group   D  Level  1  34  33  27  26 
Area 3:  Group  E  Level 1  28  26  21  22 
Group  II -  Level  1 (mínimo)  -  -  102  91 
Group  II -  Level 2  81  -  77  73 
Group  II -  Level 3  42  39  50  47 
Group  II -  Level 4  61  61  61  59 
Group  II -  Level 5  40  45  49  47 
Group  II -  Level 6  39  37  40  38 
Group  II -  Level 7  35  33  35  33 
Group  II -  Level 8  30  28  31  28 
Group  II - Level 9  27  25  26  25 
Group  II -  Level 10  24  22  24  22 
Group  II – Access to profession  19  19  20  19 
Group  III - Assistants                         -  -  29  26 
II. B, V.A                                    -  -  47  46 
III. B2  21  19  -  - 
III.B1, V.C1                                   -  -  -  31 

          

Over 50 years old  37  36  41  36 
    Area 1: Group C Level 3                        17  -  -  - 

Area 1:  Group  D  Level  1                       17  -  -  - 
Area 3:  Group  B  Level  2                       -  -  61  61 
Group  II -  Level  1 (mínimo) -  -  71  68 
Group  II -  Level  2  51  47  53  53 
Group  II -  Level  3  43  41  51  41 
Group  II -  Level  4  65  -  43  33 
Group  II -  Level  5  49  50  54  - 
Group  II -  Level  6  40  38  42  37 
Group  II -  Level  7  37  35  34  30 
Group  II -  Level  8  31  28  31  29 
Group  II -  Level  9  29  -  -  - 
Group  III 
Officials/Drivers               -  -  43  40 

        

Overall average  31  29  34  33 

(*) Note: The salary data for 2021 includes the payment of a share in the Entity’s profit for 2020, which was paid, 
following a change in criteria, in March 2021. However, the share in the Entity’s profit for 2019 was actually paid in 
the month of December of that same year. Consequently, the difference in salary between 2021 and 2020 is 
primarily due to no share in the Entity’s profit being disbursed in 2020.. 
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5.1.5. Wage gap. remuneration for equal or average jobs in the company (figures in 
thousands of euros) 

 
2021 

 
  Women   Men   Wage Gap 

 
Director 37 42 12% 
Attached 36 39 8% 
Analyst– Programmer 27 25 -8% 
Technical (*) 35 16 -119% 
Administrative - Commercial 28 28 0% 

 
Note: The salary gap has been calculated as the difference between men's salary minus women's salary. divided by men's 
salary. for each of the jobs indicated in the attached table. 

 

 
(*) It should be mentioned regarding the Technician position that the existence of a salary gap is due to 

the fact that during the 2021 financial year this position has become occupied only by women. unlike 
in 2020. 

 
2020 

 
  Women  Men  Brecha salarial 

 
Director 34 40 15% 
Attached 34 38 11% 
Analyst – Programmer 24 24 -   
Technical 31 0 -  
Administrative - Commercial 27 26 -4% 

 
Note: The salary gap has been calculated as the difference between men's salary minus women's salary. divided by 
men's salary. for each of the jobs indicated in the attached table. 
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(*) Please note that the existence of a pay gap for the post of Technician is due to the fact that, unlike 

2019, this position was only held by women during 2020. 

5.1.6. The average remuneration of directors and executives. including variable 
remuneration. allowances. indemnities. payment of long-term savings 
schemes and any other payment broken down by gender (in thousands of 
euros). 

 
Directors and Officers   2021    2020  
Female 44 52 
Male 77 74 
Grand Total 68 69 
Wage Gap 43% 30% 

The Board of Governors and the Remuneration and Appointments Committee have established 
a representation objective for the less represented sex on the Governing Council and prepare 
guidelines on how to achieve said objective. by virtue of the provisions of article 31.3 of Law 
10/2014. as well as what was developed through Royal Decree 84/2015. of February 13th. 
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In this respect, at its meeting on 22 September 2020, the Remuneration and Appointments 
Committee unanimously agreed to recommend that the Governing Board of the Entity foster, 
promote and favour the candidacy of women standing for election as new Board Members, while 
respecting at all times the wishes of Partners and their Delegated Representatives in the 
electoral process, in an effort to increase the representation of both genders. This is in line with 
the recommendations issued by the supervisory bodies within the framework of the good 
corporate governance manuals and systems; for example, through that set out in the Spanish 
Unified Good Governance Code of Listed Companies published by the Spanish National 
Securities Market Commission (CNMV) which, although not applicable to the Entity, is taken into 
consideration in this regard. Nevertheless, the appointment of members to the Governing Board 
is a democratic process based on the wishes of the partners and expressed through the electoral 
process. In 2021 another woman was appointed to the Governing Board of Eurocaja Rural. 

As regards the pay gap detected in the average gross remuneration of Board Members in 2021, 
it is important to note that the Members of the Governing Board are entitled to receive per diems 
for attending Board Meetings, as well as the meetings of the various committees. The quantity 
of this per diem is the same for men and women, is updated annually in line with the CPI, and 
is approved by the General Assembly. Pursuant to the foregoing, total remuneration can vary 
depending on the number of meetings attended, which in no way can be deemed discriminatory. 
The male and female Board Members of the remaining investees do not receive remuneration 
for their position. Given that the number of women in these posts has increased, it appears that 
the average remuneration of women has decreased with respect to previous years. 

In terms of directors, a Salary Audit report prepared by Mercer Consulting in November 2021 
did not detect any pay gap, nor did the Remuneration Policy Assessment Report for 2021 issued 
by Ernst&Young in January 2022; however, at a consolidated level, there is a pay gap depending 
on the position held at each of the companies, although under no circumstances do these 
discrepancies stem from instances of sex-based discrimination. 

 

5.1.7. Employees with disabilities. 

 
  Women   Men  
 

   2020    2019    2020    2019  
Grade between 33% y 65% 2 2 3 5 
Grade equal or higher then 65%   -    -    1    2  

Total employees with disabilities 2 2 4 7 
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5.1.8. Implementation of digital switch-off policies 

 

On 17 December 2021, the Entity’s management and trade union representatives signed the 
Eurocaja Rural Group Protocol for the Use of Technological Resources, section 3.8 of which 
stipulates the following as regards the Group’s digital disconnection policy: 

“3.8. Digital disconnection. Eurocaja Rural employees shall be fully entitled to effective digital 
disconnection outside of established working hours, so as to ensure the rest and work-life balance 
of employees, as well as to prevent occupational health risks. The “right to disconnection” is the 
procedure that sets out to ensure that employee’s rest, authorised absences, leave and vacation 
time, as well as their personal and family time, are respected outside of the legally established 
working hours or those stipulated in the collective bargaining agreement. Article 69 “Digital Rights” 
of the Collective Bargaining Agreement for Credit Cooperatives envisages the right to digital and 
workplace disconnection and establishes the measures required to ensure this right is upheld, as 
well as to regulate any possible exceptions.” 

Article 69 of the 22nd Collective bargaining agreement for Credit Cooperatives also regulates and 
supplements the right to employees’ digital and workplace disconnection: 

“Article 69. Digital rights. 

Right to digital and workplace disconnection. 

The signing parties consider digital disconnection a right, the regulation of which contributes to the 
health of employees. The digital disconnection is also necessary to ensure the viability of the work-
life balance of employees, thereby underpinning the various measures approved in this regard. 

To that end, and in accordance with that set out in article 20 bis of the Workers' Statute, the parties 
acknowledge that employees are entitled to digital disconnection in order to ensure that rest, 
authorised leave, as well as personal and family time are respected outside of the legally 
established working hours or those stipulated in the collective bargaining agreement. 

For the purposes of regulating this right, all devices and tools that could conceivably extend the 
working day beyond those established legally or in the collective bargaining agreement shall be 
taken into account: mobile telephones, tablets, in-house mobile applications, e-mail and messaging 
systems or any other as may be employed. 

To ensure this right is upheld and that all possible exceptions are regulated, the following measures 
are agreed: 

The right of employees to not reply to digital devices outside of their working hours, nor during their 
rest, authorised absences, leave or vacation time is hereby recognised, except for the highly 
justified urgent grounds stipulated in point 3, the only exception being those persons designated 
as “on call” or similar. 

In general terms, all work-related communication shall take place within working hours. 
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Consequently, all efforts shall be made to avoid making telephone calls, sending e-mails or 
messages of any kind outside of working hours, except for the urgent situations stipulated in point 
3. 

Highly-justified exceptional circumstances are deemed to exist if there is a risk to persons or 
potntial damage to the business, the urgency of which necessitate the adoption of special 
measures or an immediate response. 

To better manage working hours, adoption of the following measures shall be considered good 
practice: 

Programme automatic responses during absences, indicating the dates in which you will not be 
available, and designating the e-mail address and contact details of the person assigned your tasks 
during your period of absence. 

Avoid scheduling mandatory training, meetings, video-conferences, presentations, information, 
etc. outside of each employee’s normal working hours. 

Organise the sessions indicated in the paragraph above sufficiently in advance so that attendees 
may plan their working day. 

Include the start and end times of sessions/meetings in e-mail invitations, as well as all 
documentation to be discussed, so that attendees may see and analyse the topics beforehand to 
avoid meetings overrunning unnecessarily. 

To supplement these measures, the Company may also establish action protocols that expand 
upon, implement and/or improve those detailed in this article.” 

 

5.2. Organization of work 

 

The maximum working day established for employees of Eurocaja Rural is regulated in article 
19 of the 22nd Collective Bargaining Agreement for Credit Cooperatives, which is set at 1,700 
hours per annum. However, conscious of the right of employees to a work-life balance, Eurocaja 
Rural has implemented an uninterrupted working day from eight in the morning to three in the 
afternoon, Monday to Friday. This enable employees to enjoy a personal/family life that is 
entirely compatible with their professional activity. 

On the occasion of the entry into force of Royal Decree-Law 8/2019. of March 8th, on urgent 
measures of social protection and the fight against job insecurity in the working day that includes 
in its article 10 the modification of article 34 of Royal Legislative Decree 2/2015, of October 23th. 
throughout the 2019 financial year the registration of working hours was subject to negotiation at 
the sectoral level, an agreement having been reached on January 16th 2020, by the Union of Credit 
Cooperatives (UNACC) and the Business Association of Credit Cooperative Entities (ASEMECC). 
with the Workers' Commissions union (FCT-CC.OO.). 
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The third section of the aforementioned Sectorial Agreement provides for the possibility that 
collective agreements may be signed within the scope of each Company with the majority of the 
labor representation. 

Therefore, throughout this period, Eurocaja Rural, S.C.C. and the Legal Representatives of the 
Workers have been holding parallel meetings in order to sign a Collective Agreement within the 
scope of the Company that ratifies, develops, complements, qualifies and / or improves what is 
established in the Sectorial Agreement dated January 16, 2020, for its adaptation to the reality and 
particularities of Eurocaja Rural. SCC 

To that end on 26 June 2020, the Entity and employees’ trade union representatives reached a 
collective agreement regarding the working day, working hours and the recording thereof. This 
agreement includes, among other things: encouraging adoption of the uninterrupted working 
day, flexible timetables and other ways to organise working hours; measures to ensure the right 
to a work-life balance, as per that established in article 34.8 of Legislative Royal Decree 2/2015 
of 23 October 2015, which approves the Revised Workers’ Statute, and the opportunity of 
signing up to training and/or professional re-skilling from home by means of online tools or digital 
training methods. 

Similarly, as regards measures relating to the work-life balance, the Entity has offered 
employees the possibility of increasing their 22 paid vacation days, as stipulated in the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement, by a further two days and offering the maximum degree of flexibility so 
that these days can be taken. From the entry into force of the 22nd Collective bargaining 
agreement on 18 September 2021, employees have been able to request up to a maximum of 
five unpaid days leave.  

In this respect, the Entity has been promoting and applying numerous measures relating to the 
work-life balance, providing employees with a better quality of life. The Entity also implemented 
and carried out actions with a markedly social dimension, which not only remained in force 
throughout 2021, but were also included in the Third Equality Plan, meaning they will remain in 
force until 2026. These measures notably include the following:  

‒ Granting of two additional vacation days to those established in the Collective Agreement. 

‒ "Marriage bonus". consisting of an additional extra pay in the month in which the 
employee gets married. 

‒ Extension of one additional week of maternity leave. 

‒ Permission for two extra days in respect of the provisions of the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement. for the hospitalization of minor children. 

‒ Granting of 5 calendar days of paid leave. or alternatively. 30 calendar days of unpaid 
leave. to attend assisted reproduction clinics or to follow national or international adoption 
processes. 

‒ Study aid for the children of the entity's workers. 
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‒ The right to financial assistance to study, covering 90% of tuition costs and matriculation 
fees up to a maximum of Euros 1,000 per annum. 

‒ Providing exclusive loan terms and conditions to employees that are considerably better 
than those on the market and those set out in the Collective Bargaining Agreement. 

‒ Special advance for umbilical cord stem cell preservation. 

‒ Granting special leave of up to five additional days for parents with seriously ill children that 
require hospitalisation or convalescence at home. These days are granted after those 
established to this effect in the Collective Bargaining Agreement and vacation days for the 
current year have been exhausted.  

‒ Granting of an additional day of leave to that established by Collective Agreement in case 
of death of relatives up to the first degree. 

Agreements were reached with the various Eurocaja Rural Group companies that remain in 
force to this date. These entail services for employees at the Entity’s Head Offices and permit 
employees to work from home (their primary residence) one day per week, provided that the 
employee has a permanent employment contract. With respect to the workforce of TEC 
Soluciones de Negocio, S.L.U., those working a split shift are offered the chance of working 
from home two afternoons per week. The purpose of these measures is twofold: to adapt the 
company to the new social reality in the wake of the COVID-19 healthcare measures; and to 
continue fostering the work-life balance of employees. 

As regards the employees of TEC Soluciones de Negocio, S.L.U., it is worth noting that the 
nationwide Collective Bargaining Agreement for Consultancy and Market Research and Public 
Polling Companies applicable thereto stipulates a maximum working day that totals 1,800 hours 
per annum. Turning to companies Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador Banca Seguros 
Vinculados, S.L.U. and Rural Broker, S.L., the nationwide Collective Bargaining Agreement for 
Private Insurance Brokerage Companies in force during 2021, which regulates the labour 
relations of employees of both companies, stipulates a maximum working day that totals 1,728 
hours per annum. 

In 2020 and 2021, the total number of hours of absenteeism in the Economic Group was 62,353.52 
hours and 58.690.49 hours, respectively, distributed as follows 

 
Type of Absence 2021  2020 
    
Workplace accident 17,171.00  21,441.00 
Non-working accident 308.00  952.00 
Illness without discharge 40,425.00  39,354.00 
Extended IT 133.00  588.00 
Personal reasons 653.49  17.59 
    
Total Hours 58,690.49  62,353.59 
    
Work absenteeism rate 3.20%  3.55% 
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Based on the declaration by the World Health Organization in January 2020. noting that the 
situation in relation to COVID-19 was a public health emergency of international importance, 
and in order to prevent the spread of the disease and maintain the social protection of workers, 
it was established that periods of isolation or contagion of workers as a result of the COVID-19 
virus would be considered a situation assimilated to a work accident for the purposes of the 
economic benefit for disability of the Social Security system, in accordance with Royal Decree 
6/2020, of March 10, which adopts certain urgent measures in the economic sphere and for the 
protection of public health. 

There were a total of 16 work-related accidents in 2021 (as opposed to five in 2020) at Eurocaja 
Rural, ten involving women and six involving men (three involving women and two involving men 
in 2020); eight of these work-related accidents led to temporary medical leave (one in 2020). 
The remaining eight accidents (four in 2020) did not lead to any leave whatsoever. 

 

5.3. Health and Safety 

 

In order to guarantee the health and safety of each of the workers, the Management of the Eurocaja 
Rural Group is committed to the integration of Prevention as a basic principle, in order to achieve 
a good working climate, as reflected in the objectives and goals described in the Company's 
Occupational Risk Prevention Policy. 

By virtue of Law 31/1995 on the Prevention of Occupational Risks and especially Royal Decree 
39/1997, which regulates the Regulations on Prevention Services. Eurocaja Rural is obliged to set 
up its own Prevention Service based on the number of workers on its staff. Given that one of the 
options for organizing its own prevention service is the joint prevention service. Eurocaja Rural is 
a member of the Joint Prevention Organization (OPM), a joint prevention service which takes on 
three of the four prevention specialties described by the Law, namely Safety in the Workplace. 
Industrial Hygiene and Ergonomics and Applied Psycho-sociology, with the fourth specialty of 
Health Surveillance being agreed with an External Prevention Service, recognized by the entity 
Prevención y Sanidad Industrial. S.L. 

Objectives and goals 

In accordance with the principles of its preventive policy. Eurocaja Rural establishes the 
following commitments: 

• Strictly ensure compliance with current health and safety legislation. 

• Eliminate all possible risks, evaluating and controlling all those that could not be avoided. 

• Combat risks at source, including occupational risk prevention in the design of new 
processes and facilities. 
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• Integrate prevention management at all hierarchical levels of the company as another 
element and of the same importance as the rest of the entity's policies. 

• Establish a system that guarantees workers periodic monitoring of their health status 
according to the risks inherent in the job. 

• Inform and train all workers adequately so that they can carry out their work safely. 

• Promote attitudes that favour the improvement of safety. 

• Consult and involve workers through their representatives in prevention matters in all 
those aspects that may affect their safety and health. 

• Establish a system of active controls and audits that allow for continuous improvement in 
health and safety. 

• Demand that contractors, subcontractors and suppliers strictly comply with the legislation 
on occupational risk prevention. 

It should be noted that on July 9th 2020 the entity has obtained the certificate of protocol action 
againt COVID-19 issued by Aenor. 

Workers' representation in formal committees: 

In order to ensure the participation of workers in issues related to the prevention of occupational 
risks and by virtue of Articles 34 and 35 of Law 31/1995 on the Prevention of Occupational 
Risks, the Company has Prevention Delegates, elected by vote from among the workers' 
representatives, in a number that is appropriate to the total number of workers they represent. 

In order to comply with Article 38 of Law 31/1995 on the Prevention of Occupational Risks. Health 
and Safety Committees have been set up as joint representative bodies composed of the 
Prevention Delegates and company representatives in equal numbers. For the Office Network 
there is a Health and Safety Committee, Branch Committee, constituted on October 1, 1996. The 
Central Services Health and Safety Committee was set up on 30 September 1996. 

The Trade Union Delegates and the technicians of the prevention services attend the 
aforementioned Committees with voice and without vote. The periodicity of the meetings 
established by the occupational risk prevention law is quarterly, however, in fiscal year 2021, 
motivated by the pandemic situation due to Covid-19, these committees met a total of 7 times. 

Evaluation and control of risks to the safety and health of workers. 

Risk assessment is the process aimed at estimating the magnitude of those risks that could not 
be avoided, obtaining the necessary information to adopt all those preventive measures required 
for the reduction and control of risks to the safety and health of workers. This evaluation is reviewed 
whenever there are changes that affect working conditions. in accordance with legislation and risk 
assessment procedures. If there are no changes affecting working conditions, the risk 
assessments will be reviewed every four years as agreed by the Safety and Health Committees 
on 5 September 2002. 

  



Consolidated Statement of Non-Financial Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34 
Toledo Commercial Registry 475. Sec. Gral. Libro Sdades. F/18.H/ TO-5618 Registered at Bank of Spain 3081. C.I.F. F-45003993 
 

In order to maintain and ensure the control of risks that are not eliminated, measures are 
established to ensure the adequate management of these risks and the implementation of the 
necessary preventive measures in terms of health and safety on the following aspects 

 Work equipment: The machines, installations, apparatus and instruments are registered. 
maintained and revised in accordance with the legislation in force, so as to ensure the 
protection of the workers who use them. Likewise, all the equipment and installations are 
subjected to the industrial safety reviews applicable to them. 

 Working conditions: The workplaces are designed and comply with the current 
legislation that applies to them according to the use to which they are destined. 

 Collective protection measures: When risks cannot be avoided, they are controlled 
through the use of collective protection measures, which will later be controlled in terms of 
their preventive effectiveness. 

 Personal protective equipment: When risks cannot be avoided or sufficiently limited by 
technical, organizational or collective protective measures, workers are provided with 
Personal Protective Equipment suitable for the performance of their duties, ensuring that 
it is used appropriately 

 Training of workers: Depending on the generic and specific risks of each job, 100% of 
workers receive the necessary training in prevention when they enter the job. when there 
are changes in the functions they perform, or new technologies are introduced or changes 
in working conditions. 

 Emergency measures: According to the size, activity and other characteristics of each 
work center, the necessary first aid, firefighting and worker evacuation measures to be 
adopted in possible emergency situations are established. These measures are included 
in the corresponding self-protection, emergency or evacuation plans existing in each of the 
work centers. 

 Coordination of business activities: Whenever work is to be carried out involving 
competing companies in a work center, the exchange of preventive information is ensured, 
as well as the appropriate instructions regarding the risks existing in the work center with 
the corresponding prevention and protection measures. as well as the emergency 
measures to be adopted by these companies for the transfer of their respective workers. 

Health and safety issues addressed in formal agreements with trade unions, 

The consultation and participation of the workers in the design of all the preventive actions, is 
considered as a basic aspect to reach the maximum levels in the matter of security and labor 
health. 
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Workplace accidents. 

There were a total of 16 work-related accidents in 2021 (as opposed to five in 2020) at Eurocaja 
Rural, ten involving women and six involving men (three involving women and two involving men 
in 2020); eight of these work-related accidents led to temporary medical leave (one in 2020). 
The remaining eight accidents (four in 2020) did not lead to any leave whatsoever. 

Workplace accidents evolution: 

 

 
 
 

 
 

As for the other companies belonging to the Economic Group, it should be noted that no 
occupational accidents occurred in the entire period analyzed. 
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5.4. Social relations 

The social relations in the Eurocaja Rural Group can be described as satisfactory. being 
maintained with absolute transparency and giving priority in all cases to dialogue with the legal 
representation of the workers. developing these in a climate of understanding and mutual respect 
without any type of labour conflict during the financial year 2021. 

Thanks to an understanding among the parties, the following collective agreements were reached in 
2021:  

- Collective agreement as regards the provision of services to employees working at the Group’s 
Head Offices.  

- Eurocaja Rural Group Protocol for the Use of Technological Resources. 

- Third Equality Plan 

The Entity’s trade union representative bodies in 2021 were as follows: 

• Central Services Works Council. composed of nine members of the "Unión Sindical Obrera 
(USO)" Union. 

• Works Council of the province of Toledo, made up of thirteen members of the "Unión 
Sindical Obrera (USO)" trade union. 

• Works Council of the province of Madrid, composed of five members of the "Comisiones 
Obreras" Trade Union (CCOO)". 

• Three Personnel Delegates in the province of Guadalajara, all from the "Unión Sindical 
Obrera (USO)" Union. 

• Three Personnel Delegates in the province of Ciudad Real, all from the "Unión Sindical 
Obrera (USO)" trade union. 

• Three Personnel Delegates in the province of Albacete, all from the "Unión Sindical Obrera 
(USO)" Union. 

• A Personnel Delegate in the province of Cuenca, from the "Unión Sindical Obrera 
(USO)" trade union. 

• A Personnel Delegate in the province of Avila, from the "Unión Sindical Obrera (USO)" 
trade union. 

• A Union Delegate from the "Unión Sindical Obrera (USO)" Union. 

The members of the Works Councils and the Personnel Delegates meet periodically in a place 
set up by the Company for this purpose, and are promptly informed of all those aspects that are 
reflected in the Workers' Statute, the Collective Bargaining Agreement and other applicable 
regulations, as well as any relevant information that must be made known to all the employees. 

- XXI COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT FOR COOPERATIVE CREDIT SOCIETIES 
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The XXI Collective Agreement for Cooperative Credit Companies regulates the labour relations 
of one hundred percent of the workers of Eurocaja Rural, S.C.C. and Fundación Eurocaja Rural 
who have an ordinary labour relationship with the Entity. 

In the area of occupational health. the Entity complies with the commitment established in Article 
50 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement: 

"The protection of the safety and health of male and female workers is a basic and priority 
objective shared by the entities and trade unions that have signed this Convention. To achieve 
this objective. preventive actions must be developed to eliminate or reduce risks at their source, 
based on their prior identification and subsequent evaluation, taking into account the nature of 
the activity, and adopting, where appropriate, the necessary measures to prevent risks arising 
from the work. 

1. The companies, together with the workers and/or their legal representatives specialized in 
the matter will seek the adequate compliance of the obligations established in the regulations 
on prevention of occupational risks, as well as the promotion of an adequate culture of 
prevention, including the training that the companies must provide and that the workers must 
take, in the terms of article 5.b of the Workers' Statute and article 19 of the Law on Prevention 
of Occupational Risks. 

2. The natural framework for participation and desirable consensus for preventive action is that 
which is configured through the Prevention Delegates and the Health and Safety 
Committees. In each company, spaces of dialogue and work may be agreed upon that are 
appropriate to its own organization, as a fundamental way of channelling the rights of 
participation and consultation of the legal representatives of the workers in all those matters 
that are legally regulated. 

3. The figure of the Prevention Delegate is fundamental for the implementation of the legally 
regulated right to participation and consultation. So that they can develop their function in an 
effective way: 

a) They will be provided with the necessary training for the development of their 
functions according to Article 37.2 of Law 31/1995. on the Prevention of 
Occupational Risks. 

b) Their hourly credit may be extended. by agreement within the company. 

4. In compliance with the duty to protect the safety and health of workers at their service in all 
aspects related to the work, undertakings shall take the necessary measures concerning the 
identification and evaluation of risks (safety, hygiene, ergonomics and psycho-sociology), 
the planning of preventive action, information, consultation, and training and participation of 
workers, action in cases of emergency, health surveillance, and the organization of 
preventive action. 

5. Particular emphasis shall be placed on the prevention and health monitoring of risks arising 
from the tools commonly used in the banking profession, such as data display screens or 
similar, including verification of the requirements for the ergonomic design and layout of the 
workstation. 

  

http://noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Laboral/l31-1995.html#I34
http://noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Laboral/l31-1995.html#I34
http://noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Laboral/l31-1995.html#I34
http://noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Laboral/l31-1995.html#I47
http://noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Laboral/l31-1995.html#I47
http://noticias.juridicas.com/base_datos/Laboral/l31-1995.html#I47
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6. The risk of robbery, physical aggression or any other form of external violence perpetrated 
by non-company personnel, insofar as it is a work-related risk present at our entities, must 
be prevented and, therefore included in the Prevention Plan and considered in the risk 
assessment and in all preventive planning activity. Specifically, in the event of a robbery, all 
support and medical-psychological monitoring shall be provided to anybody requiring it. 

7. Prevention of risks for pregnant, postpartum and breastfeeding women. The risk 
assessments shall take into consideration the specific risks facing female employees. 
Whenever a female employee notifies the Entity that she is pregnant, has recently given birth 
or is breastfeeding, an additional assessment shall be performed to establish an individual 
risk profile. 

Whenever the tasks performed by a pregnant woman could put her or her baby in danger, 
she shall be entitled, by order of a medical practitioner, to be assigned to another task in 
suitable conditions, with no reduction in salary, and shall be entitled to return to her former 
post once the situation comes to an end. 

8. The company may study the rates of collective absenteeism so that. in the event that they 
exceed 4% in annual calculation, it can inform the workers' representation and agree on 
possible corrective measures. Chapter XIV. Disciplinary regime. 

- STATE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT OF CONSULTING AND MARKET RESEARCH 
COMPANIES AND PUBLIC OPINION. 

The State Collective Agreement of Consulting and Market Research Companies and Public 
Opinion also affects one hundred percent of the workers of TEC Soluciones de negocio. S.L.U. 

The Entity complies with the commitment in matters of Occupational Health established in Article 
39 of the Collective Agreement: 

"(1) Data displays and/or display screens are defined as the cathode-ray array, which allows for 
large amounts of information (characters or symbols at high speed) to be displayed in 
conjunction with a numerical and/or alphabetical keyboard. 

2. Premises and workstations where data screens are used must be designed. equipped. 
maintained and used in such a way that they do not cause harm to the users of the screens. 

3. The work station. as well as the main and auxiliary furniture, shall be placed in such a way as 
to avoid any damage to health or fatigue in addition to the performance of the activity. 

4. When using these data screens. special care must be taken to comply with the regulations in 
force at the time. 
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5. In accordance with the literal wording of current Article 25 and sections 1 to 5 of current Article 
26 of Law 31/1995 on the Prevention of Occupational Hazards. 

"Article 25. Protection of workers who are particularly sensitive to certain risks 

1. The employer shall specifically ensure the protection of workers who. by reason of their own 
personal characteristics or known biological condition. including those who are recognized as 
having a physical, mental or sensory impairment. are particularly sensitive to the risks arising 
from their work. To this end, it shall take account of these aspects in risk assessments and, on 
the basis of these assessments, shall adopt the necessary preventive and protective measures. 

Workers shall not be employed in those jobs where, because of their personal characteristics. 
biological state or duly recognized physical, mental or sensory disability, they, other workers or 
other persons related to the company may put themselves in a situation of danger or, in general, 
when they are manifestly in states or transitory situations that do not respond to the psycho- 
physical requirements of the respective jobs. 

The employer shall also take account in the assessment of risk factors which may affect workers' 
reproductive functions, in particular exposure to physical, chemical and biological agents which 
may have mutagenic or toxic effects on reproduction, both as regards fertility and the 
development of offspring, with a view to taking the necessary preventive measures. 

"Article 26. Protection of maternity. 

1. The risk assessment referred to in Article 16 of this Act shall include the determination of the 
nature. degree and duration of exposure of workers in a situation of recent pregnancy or 
childbirth to agents, procedures or working conditions that may adversely affect the health of 
workers or the foetus in any activity likely to present a specific risk. If the results of the 
assessment reveal a risk to the safety and health or a possible impact on the pregnancy or 
breastfeeding of such workers. the employer shall take the necessary measures to prevent 
exposure to that risk, by adapting the working conditions or hours of the worker concerned. Such 
measures shall include, where necessary, the avoidance of night work or shift work. 

2. When the adaptation of the conditions or working time is not possible or, despite such an 
adaptation, the conditions of a job may negatively influence the health of the pregnant worker 
or the foetus. and this is certified by the Medical Services of the National Institute of Social 
Security or the Mutual Insurance Companies, depending on the Entity with which the company 
has agreed to cover the professional risks, with the report of the doctor from the National Health 
Service who medically assists the worker, the latter must carry out a different job or function 
compatible with her condition. The employer must determine, after consultation with the workers' 
representatives. the list of risk-free jobs for this purpose. 

The change of post or function shall be carried out in accordance with the rules and criteria 
applied in cases of functional mobility and shall have effect until such time as the worker's state 
of health allows her to return to her previous post. 

In the event that. even when the rules set out in the previous paragraph are applied, there is no 
compatible post or function, the worker may be assigned to a post not corresponding to her 
group or equivalent category, although she shall retain the right to the full remuneration of her 
original post. 
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3. If such a change of post is technically or objectively impossible or cannot reasonably be 
required for justified reasons, the worker concerned may be declared to be in a situation where 
her contract is suspended on account of risk during pregnancy. as referred to in Article 45(1)(d) 
of the Workers' Statute, for the period necessary to protect her safety or health and for as long 
as it is impossible for her to return to her previous post or to another post compatible with her 
condition. 

4. The provisions of numbers 1 and 2 of this article shall also be applicable during the period of 
breastfeeding. if the working conditions could negatively influence the health of the woman or 
her child and this is certified by the Medical Services of the National Institute of Social Security 
or the Mutual Insurance Companies, depending on the Entity with which the company has 
agreed to cover the professional risks, with the report of the doctor from the National Health 
Service who is medically assisting the worker or her child. The worker concerned may also be 
declared to be in a situation of suspension of the contract due to risk during the natural 
breastfeeding of children under nine months as referred to in article 45.1.d) of the Workers' 
Statute, if the circumstances set out in number 3 of this article occur. 

5. Pregnant workers shall have the right to be absent from work, with pay, to carry out prenatal 
examinations and childbirth preparation techniques, with prior notice to the employer and 
justification of the need to carry them out within the working day". 

6. In accordance with the literal wording of sections 2 and 4 of the current Article 35 of Law 
31/1995 on the Prevention of Occupational Risks: "The Prevention Delegates shall be appointed 
by and from among the personnel representatives, within the scope of the representative bodies 
provided for in the rules referred to in the previous article, in accordance with the following scale: 

From 50 to 100 workers: 2 Prevention Delegates 

From 101 to 500 workers: 3 Prevention Delegates 

From 501 to 1.000 workers: 4 Prevention Delegates. 

From 1.001 to 2.000 workers: 5 Prevention Delegates 

From 2.001 to 3.000 workers: 6 Prevention Delegates 

From 3.001 to 4.000 workers: 7 Prevention Delegates. 

From 4.001 onwards: 8 Prevention Delegates". 

- STATE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE INSURANCE MEDIATION 
COMPANIES 

This Collective Bargaining Agreement applies to the labour relations of private insurance 
mediation companies. that is to say, all the employees of Eurocaja Rural Mediación Operador 
Banca Seguros Vinculados. S.L.U. and Rural Broker. S.L. 
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Both companies comply with the commitments in relation to occupational health established in 
Articles 52, 53, 54, 55 and 56 of the aforementioned Collective Bargaining Agreement: 

"Article 52 General provision 

It is the commitment of the parties, in compliance with the provisions of Law 31/1995, of 10 
November, on the Prevention of Occupational Risks, to promote all measures necessary to 
establish an adequate level of protection for the health of workers against risks derived from 
working conditions, and this within the framework of a coherent, coordinated and effective policy 
to prevent such risks. 

In accordance with the principles of preventive action. the measures that make up the general 
duty of prevention provided for above shall be applied in accordance with the following general 
principles: 

a) Prevent and combat risks at source. 

b) Assess the risks that cannot be avoided. 

c) Replace the dangerous by the less dangerous or no dangerous. using personal protective equipment 
only when the risks cannot be avoided by acting on their causes. 

d) Adopting measures that put collective protection before individual protection. 

e) Planning and documenting prevention management must be an essential part of the company's 
objectives. Planning will be based on risk assessment: Preventive action in the company will be planned 
by the company based on the mandatory initial risk assessment that will be carried out specifically, 
taking into account the nature of the activity and any special risks. 

Article 53 Health surveillance 

Undertakings shall ensure that their staff are regularly and voluntarily monitored as regards their 
state of health, in accordance with the risks to which they are exposed, with particular regard to 
risks which may affect pregnant or breastfeeding workers and staff who are particularly sensitive 
to certain risks. 

In order to guarantee adequate health surveillance, the specific health surveillance protocols 
created by the Ministry of Health. Social Services and Equality for certain risks to which 
personnel may be exposed will apply. 

Article 54 Representation and training of staff in occupational health and safety 

The provisions of the Law on the Prevention of Occupational Risks will be followed with regard 
to prevention delegates and health and safety committees. 

The health and safety committee and the prevention delegates will have all those functions and 
competencies that the law attributes to them and, in particular, those of prevention of 
occupational risks and reduction of occupational accidents. 

  



Consolidated Statement of Non-Financial Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42 
Toledo Commercial Registry 475. Sec. Gral. Libro Sdades. F/18.H/ TO-5618 Registered at Bank of Spain 3081. C.I.F. F-45003993 
 

It is the criterion of the signatory parties to this general agreement on private insurance 
mediation that training in prevention, under the terms of article 19 of the Law on the Prevention 
of Occupational Risks, is part of the training programs and projects developed in companies as 
a complement to professional qualifications and to promote awareness of this subject at all 
levels of the company. 

The Joint Committee for the Monitoring and Interpretation of the Agreement will analyze and 
assess possible own or sectorial initiatives in the field of prevention and occupational health. 

Article 55 Specific prevention 

With regard to new computer technologies, and in accordance with the official regulations on 
the subject, companies, after hearing the health and safety committee or the legal representation 
of the workers carrying out such functions, shall observe those preventive measures necessary 
so that the working conditions and means of work do not alter the health of the personnel. 
providing sufficient ergonomic measures so that the working conditions of personnel who prefer 
to handle computer equipment do not especially affect the health of the personnel, such as 
ambient lighting, elimination of light reflections, anatomical and functional furniture, noise, etc. 

The health and safety committee, or in its absence the legal representation of the workers, will 
have in this matter the competences that the Law of Prevention of Labor Risks and norms of 
development attribute to them. 

Article 56 Maternity protection 

Special protection will be given to maternity and paternity. and therefore these clauses will be 
covered by Articles 25 and 26 of Law 31/1995 on the Prevention of Occupational Hazards, 
regarding possible actions that companies may take to protect workers who are in a situation of 
risk to their health or that of the foetus during the gestation period, or to protect the mother and 
child during the nursing period. 

Likewise, the provisions of Law 39/1999. to promote the reconciliation of family and working life 
of workers, and Organic Law 3/2007, of 22 March, for effective equality between women and 
men, and the leave regulated in Article 37.7.f) of the TRET, must be taken into account". 

 

5.5. Training 

 

For the economic group Eurocaja Rural, the training of its workers is a key factor, with the firm 
objective of maintaining the highest standards of quality and training, always with the aim of 
offering the best service to its partners and customers. 

In this sense, the entity has established policies and strategies to maintain and expand its 
dimension and competitiveness. configuring the training plan as a support pillar for the success 
of these policies. 
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The contents of the training can be classified into three main groups. according to the training 
needs and the objectives derived from them: 

a) Knowledge of the company itself: These are contents referring to the knowledge of 
the philosophy, organization, structure, system, products, image, etc.. of the 
company. That is, the contents that provide knowledge of all those aspects that 
allow the employee to identify with the company and that give meaning to their 
own work. 

b) Professional knowledge: This is the content that provides the specific knowledge 
needed to perform the tasks that make up each job. These are not the members 
of the individual tasks, but rather they cover a broader view of the whole of a given 
function. This professional knowledge also includes the knowledge required by 
specific regulations. 

c) Personal training: Integrates all the knowledge that is beyond professional 
techniques and that prepares the person considering him/her as a member of a 
working and social community. Thus, the person is considered as a whole, from 
an integral approach that makes training in the company not only professional, but 
also educational and highly enriching for the individual. 

The needs analysis should reflect the knowledge, skills, abilities and attitudes necessary for the 
development of effective and quality work. The competencies identified will establish the 
standard of qualification that the staff is expected to possess: knowledge (concepts, ideas, 
principles, laws), know-how (rules of action, techniques), and self- worth (personal, social 
values). 

Through this triple prism, the needs of Eurocaja Rural's staff have been evaluated, adapting the 
training actions to the needs detected. 

The 2021 Training Plan has addressed two types of needs, reactive and proactive. both of which 
are closely related since the first tries to anticipate and respond to the demands of the future and 
the second with which we will try to offer training solutions to the imbalances and needs of the 
present. 

That is why in 2021 we have undertaken an ambitious training plan. related to the need to adjust 
and comply with LCCI and MiFid regulations and insurance marketing regulation aimed at 
ensuring that staff providing information on real estate credit products have the necessary 
knowledge and skills to guarantee the best possible service. 

As regards MiFID Regulation and Real Estate Credit Law training, it is important to underline 
that specific training on impact investing was introduced in 2021. 

The regulatory context also means that entities must make a regulatory effort to adapt the 
knowledge and skills of our staff to the current reality. A reflection of this effort is the training 
carried out in 2021 on content such as criminal compliance. General Data Protection Regulation 
or Prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing. 
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In addition to this content, our focus on providing services to partners and customers requires a 
consistently high quality service. The Entity made a considerable effort in 2021 to deliver training 
on services such as Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) subsidy applications, insurance to cover 
agricultural activities and sustainable financing, including financing to install self-supply solar 
panels. 

 
Qualitative information:  

   2021     2020  
    
Men’s hours 33,650  38,971 
Women’s hours   32,685     38,069  
    
Total Hours 66,335  77,040 
    

   2021     2020  
    
Average training hours per employee 64.16  77.94 
Average training hours per man 66.81  77.68 
Average training hours per woman 61.63  78.21 
Average hours of management training 55.38  33.25 

 

The total hours by professional category have been: 
 
Group Employees  

  2021     2020  
Men’s hours 33,472  38,762 
Women’s hours   32,420     38,012 
Total Hours 65,892  76,774 

 
Management Team   

  2021     2020  
Men’s hours 178  209 
Women’s hours                               265     57  
Total Hours 443  266 

 

5.6. Universal accessibility for people with disabilities 

 

Eurocaja Rural takes special care to ensure that all its centers are fully accessible. It is an 
indispensable condition that the premises meet the necessary characteristics in this particular 
to be able to designate it as valid to develop our activity. In the premises that we are already 
operating, we try to solve the problems of accessibility by eliminating all architectural barriers. 
whenever this is possible. As it could not be otherwise, we attend to the requirements of our 
clients and the administration in order to solve specific problems, in the shortest time possible. 
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5.7. Equality 

 

The Equality Policy of the Eurocaja Rural Group, more than a management tool or technique, is 
part of its essence, its principles and values, its social commitment to the workers that make up 
the Group.  

Accordingly, Eurocaja Rural remains firmly committed to establishing and rolling out policies that 
enshrine equal treatment and equal opportunities for men and women that are free of direct or 
indirect discrimination on the basis of sex. The Entity also strives to drive and foster measures 
that ensure genuine equality at the very heart of the organisation, cementing equal opportunity 
for men and women as a strategic principal of it HR policy, pursuant to the definition of this 
principal contained in Organic Law 3/2007 of 22 March 2007, for effective gender equality. 

Across all areas of the Entity’s activity, including recruitment and promotion, remuneration 
policies, training, working and employment conditions, occupational health and measures to 
ensure a work-life balance, the principle of equal opportunities for men and women is a 
paramount consideration. Efforts are also made to combat indirect discrimination head on, which 
is understood as “a situation in which an apparently neutral provision, criterion or practice places 
a person of one sex at a particular disadvantage vis-à-vis persons of the opposite sex”. 

As regards communication, both internally and externally, the Entity conveys all decisions made 
in this respect and projects an image of the institution that is in keeping with the principle of 
equal opportunities for men and women. 

The principles mentioned above are put into practice through various equality plans approved 
by the Entity -currently the Third Equality Plan-, which include the monitoring systems required 
to advance towards the goal of genuine equality between men and women at the Entity and, by 
extension, across wider society. 

Eurocaja Rural applied its First Equality Plan in 2010, which was then extended before being 
replaced by the Second and now the Third Equality Plan. The aim was not merely to comply 
with legal provisions, but also to be consistent with the Entity’s philosophy and social 
commitment. 
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From 2010 to the present day, the breakdown by sex of the workforce has changed 
considerably, so much so that at the 2021 year end, women represented over 50% of the Entity’s 
total staff: 

 

 
 

The Permanent Equality Committee oversees compliance with the objectives set in matters of 
equality. which was updated during Arpil 2021. This Committee was created in order to monitor 
and periodically improve in equality matters, and It is made up on an equal basis by the members 
appointed by the different Company Committees and Personnel Delegates, and the same 
number of representatives by the company. 

The main objectives of the Company's Equality Policy are listed below: 

 To make progress in achieving a balanced presence of women and men on the Group's 
staff, at the different agreement levels and in positions of responsibility in the Entity. 

 Avoid discrimination in access to employment on the basis of sex. 

 To make effective progress in making training actions compatible with the 
reconciliation of work, personal and family life. 

 To promote the reconciliation of the working, personal and family life of the 
workers. 
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 To promote a business culture sensitive to equal opportunities and the reconciliation of 
work, personal and family life. 

 To improve the general knowledge of resources for the reconciliation of work, personal 
and family life, both internal and external, of the workers. 

 Improve internal and external communication on equal opportunities. 

 Preventing sexual and gender-based harassment 

 To guarantee that the remuneration of the Entity's staff is not the result of any type of 
discrimination, being based on objective criteria. 

Royal Decree Law 7/2021, of 27 April 2021, to transpose European Union directives into 
Spanish law (“RDL 7/2021”) modified the law on the regulation, supervision and solvency of 
credit institutions in order to adapt it to the new EU-wide legislative context. Included within 
these corporate governance requirements, section f) of article 33 of Law 10/2014, of 26 June 
2014, on the regulation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions (LOSS per its Spanish 
acronym), stipulates that entities and consolidated groups of credit institutions must apply solid 
corporate governance procedures, which should include, among other matters, non-
discriminatory remuneration policies and practices in terms of gender (understood as those 
based on equal pay for men and women performing the same job or work of equal value).  

Pursuant to current legislation, the Salary Audit Report prepared by Mercer Consulting in 
November 2021, concludes that “Eurocaja Rural complies with the effective application of the 
principle of equality for men and women across all areas and in a thorough manner. In terms of 
remuneration, generally speaking there is no gender pay gap as the arithmetic average and 
mean of total remuneration of one sex is not higher than the arithmetic average and mean of 
the other by at least twenty-five per cent.” 

Likewise, the Remuneration Policy Assessment Report for 2021 issued by Ernst&Young 
indicates “that the Entity has a remuneration system in place based on the principle of equality, 
and the Entity can justify any pay differences detected between men and women for work of 
equal value.” 

Testament to the success of the Entity’s Equality Policy is its recognition for Excellence in 
Equality, Work-Life Balance and Corporate Social Responsibility, a seal of approval bestowed 
on Eurocaja Rural by the regional government of Castilla-La Mancha in 2015. This recognition 
has been successively renewed, the last time on 5 November 2020. Likewise, the Equality Policy 
is also held in high regard by the Entity’s workforce, as reflected in the equality survey carried 
out in 2021. 

In terms of the Prevention of Sexual Harassment, the Entity published its first Prevention and 
Action Protocol in 2011, which sets out the prevention and action procedures, as well as 
disciplinary measures in the event of sexual harassment cases at the Entity. The protocol is 
available to all employees through the Entity’s Intranet. This protocol has been gradually 
updated via the Second and Third Equality Plans, improving whistleblowing channels and 
adding procedures aimed at preventing Sexual Harassment and Harassment on the Grounds 
of Sex.  
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In tandem with the publication of the Prevention and Action Protocol, a Sexual Harassment 
Prevention Committee was formed, made up of three members who also sit on the permanent 
Equality Committee. This panel has also been updated over time as needed. 

In another order, with respect to the integration and accessibility of people with disabilities. it is 
worth mentioning that the Entity, in compliance with the provisions of Article 42 of Royal 
Legislative Decree 1/2013, of 29 November, which approves the Revised Text of the General 
Law on the Rights of People with Disabilities and their Social Inclusion, reserves 2 percent of 
the places for workers with disabilities exceeding 33 percent. both men and women. 

Although, in the absence of disabled applicants and after proving the impossibility of reaching 
that quota, in the year 2019 the relevant declaration of exceptionality of the reservation 
obligation was requested from the Regional Ministry of Economy, Business and Employment of 
Castilla La Mancha, and was granted by means of a resolution issued by the Intermediation 
Service, on 12 December 2019. In order to effectively comply with the regulations. alternative 
measures have been carried out consisting of donations and sponsorship actions of a monetary 
nature. for the development of activities of labour insertion and job creation for people with 
disabilities, to Foundations and Associations of public utility whose social purpose is, among 
others, professional training, labour insertion or job creation in favour of people with disabilities 
that allow the creation of jobs for them, and finally, their integration in the labour market. 

However. the current staff of the Eurocaja Rural Group includes ten people with disabilities equal 
to or greater than 33%, and the Management is firmly committed to hiring workers with 
disabilities. To this end, in 2020 the recruitment of the selection tool Disjob -Employment Portal 
for people with disabilities- was renewed, in order to broaden the possibilities of searching and 
selecting the required professional profiles. 

 

6. INFORMATION ON RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS 

 

Although it is true that the Enity does not currently have specific policies and protocols on this 
matter. respect for human rights is a non-negotiable aspect in the daily development of the 
Entity's activities, as shown by the scrupulous compliance with the applicable Collective 
Agreement (offering employees a greater number of concessions than those established by the 
text itself), the initiatives proposed by the Foundation and the areas responsible, the demands 
in this area transferred to our business partners, as well as the representative and core values 
of Eurocaja Rural. 

Since 2019, as part of its Compliance programme, the Entity has an ethical channel. Within it, 
a principle of respect for the dignity of the person and non-discrimination is included where it is 
stated that: 

“Respect for the dignity of the person and their essential rights necessarily involves actively 
reconciling the principle of equal rights and opportunities and non-discrimination with the 
management of diversity. 
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EUROCAJA assumes respect for the person and their dignity as a fundamental value of its 
actions and subscribes. in its entirety. the Universal Declaration of Human Rights adopted by 
the United Nations in 1948 and the instruments derived from it, especially the Convention for 
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms of 1950, and the International 
Covenants on Civil and Political Rights and on Economic. Social and Cultural Rights, both of 
1966. 

The subject people must respect the dignity of all the people who make up the interest groups 
with which they interact, including other subject people. establishing relationships based on 
mutual respect, avoiding all kinds of verbal exchange or conduct that involves irrational 
interference, at work or help create an intimidating work environment. Similarly, any type of 
discrimination, humiliation or harassment will be avoided. 

There is a specific protocol for the prevention and action against sexual harassment.  

Along the same lines, the Entity has an ethical channel so that Eurocaja Rural employees can 
communicate any breach of the Entity's internal regulations or of the values, action guidelines 
or rules of conduct of the employees, any violation of the current legislation or any other conduct 
that may be considered generating an ethical dilemma. 

In addition to this channel, the Entity has specific mechanisms for communicating and managing 
harassment situations, and the Harassment Prevention Committee has not received any 
communication during the year under review. as in 2019. 

In this area. the Entity has not identified quantitative indicators, because the impact of the 
Eurocaja Rural Group's activity on matters related to respect for Human Rights is not significant. 

 

7. INFORMATION ON THE FIGHT AGAINST CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY 

 

With regard to the prevention of corruption, a policy of conflicts of interest of the Governing Council 
has been approved, without prejudice to the process of improvements that can be made to it. the 
aim of which is to establish, define and configure the mechanisms and procedures of action to be 
followed in Eurocaja Rural in the field of prevention. Treatment and management of situations of 
conflict of interest in which the members of the Governing Council may find themselves in their 
relations with the Entity and in the exercise of the functions that they are legally and/or statutorily 
entrusted with. in accordance with the provisions of the legislation on credit cooperatives and the 
regulations on the organization, supervision and solvency of credit institutions. 

On the other hand. within the framework of the criminal compliance program approved by the 
Governing Council and in accordance with the Code of Ethics and Conduct, the Bank has an anti- 
corruption policy that is intended to serve as a guide for all managers, directors, employees, 
financial agents and suppliers, distributors and other collaborators of Eurocaja Rural and was 
created with the aim of preventing conduct which. in addition to being liable to give rise to a 
possible crime of corruption in business, bribery or influence peddling in accordance with the 
provisions of the Criminal Code, is clearly contrary to the ethical values of the Entity and may 
generate. among other things, situations of conflict of interest. 
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This policy sets out the guidelines to be followed when accepting or giving gifts, dinners, business 
trips. promotional products, granting donations, contracting with suppliers or dealing with public 
officials. 

This whole process of protocolization is supported by financial control measures available to the 
entity to prevent and locate possible corrupt actions by its members. With regard to the fight 
against money laundering and the financing of terrorism. Eurocaja Rural Eurocaja Rural. S.C.C. 
has a system for the prevention of money laundering and the financing of terrorism adapted to 
national regulations. from which the necessary information is obtained for the analysis of 
operations that may represent a risk in terms of the prevention of money laundering and the 
financing of terrorism. Without prejudice to the above. it also takes into account the standards. 
recommendations and other regulatory outputs issued by supranational bodies or entities 
(European Union. FATF. OECD...) that may have an impact or address issues related to AML 
and FT. 

The work of controlling customers with certain risk profiles in terms of AML and FT. as well as 
operations that are susceptible to crime. is carried out by all the Entity's employees. who receive 
specific training each year to learn about risk operations. as well as the measures necessary to 
prevent them. The actions of each of Eurocaja Rural's centers are centralized in a technical 
department (Money Laundering Prevention Operating Unit), which is responsible for managing 
and coordinating the information sent by employees, and from a global perspective, the 
specialized study of the different operations is carried out, proposing appropriate measures to 
alleviate the operations susceptible to crimes related to money laundering and financing of 
terrorism, measures that are analyzed as a whole by the Internal Control Body of the Entity, 
which, formed by all the business areas of Eurocaja Rural, after a deliberate study, are 
materialized. 

The Money Laundering Prevention Operational Unit is composed of three members (same in 
2019). dedicated exclusively to carrying out the competent functions of this Department. In 
addition, the Unit uses the additional assistance of other employees on a part-time basis, 
specifically, in the area of receiving and preparing the delivery of information requests requested 
by the administrative, fiscal or police authorities, The IT Department is also responsible for 
providing various services in matters within its competence. 

The operations that may constitute Money Laundering and Financing of Terrorism. analyzed by 
the Operational Unit and studied by the Internal Control Body, are communicated as Suspicious 
Operations, as well as the information requirements requested by the corresponding 
supervisors. 

The internal control measures and bodies referred to in Articles 26. 26bis and 26ter of Law 
10/2010 of 28th April are subject to annual review by an external expert. These reports are 
available to the Commission for the Prevention of Money Laundering and Monetary Offences or 
its support bodies during the five years following the date of issue, as provided for in current 
legislation. 
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8. COMPANY INFORMATION 

8.1. The company's commitment to sustainable development 

As a mechanism for collaboration and cooperation with sustainable development and society. 
the entity has the Education and Promotion Fund (EFF). Thus. in 2020 the governing body 
agreed to propose to the Assembly the adoption of an agreement consisting of establishing the 
basic lines of application and destination of the aforementioned Education and Promotion Fund. 
These are: 

a) Training and education of partners and employees in cooperative principles and values 
or in specific matters of their corporate or employment activity. including those activities 
especially aimed at employees and retirees, whose purpose is to promote values such 
as the promotion of culture, volunteerism, teamwork, the capacity for effort and the spirit 
of self-improvement. 

UNED TALAVERA 
MAYOL COLLEGE 
ANNUAL TRAINING AND SOCIAL DAYS 
WORK AND COMMUNITY DAYS REGIONAL OFFICES 
STUDIES AND DEVELOPMENT 
UCLM and UCM SCHOLARSHIP AGREEMENT 
EMPLOYEE TRAINNING 
SOFTWARE TRAINNING 

 
b) Dissemination of cooperativism and promotion of inter-cooperative relations; Promotion 

of Professional Associations and participation in them; Promotion of Sectorial Fairs; 
Dissemination of Designations of Origin and autochthonous products and specific 
services offered to Cooperatives. 

FEDETO 
SB SOFTWARE-GICOOP 
COOPERATIVES 
APD. ASSOCIATION PROGRESS OF THE MANAGEMENT 
AGRICULTURAL MARKET OF TOLEDO 
TALAVERA FERIAL FOUNDATION 
CEOE-CEPYME BASIN 
CEOE-CEPYME ALBACETE 
CEOE-CEPYME GUADALAJARA 
RADIO TAXI 
OFFICIAL ASSOCIATION OF PHARMACISTS OF TOLEDO 
FADETA. FEDERATION TAJO-TAJUÑA REGION 
OTHER PARTNERSHIPS 

 
  ORIGIN DENOMINATIONS  

 

MOUNTAINS OF TOLEDO 
INSTITUTIONAL AND AGRICULTURAL AREA 
GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES 
COOPERATIVE CABINET 

 
  LABORATORY  

 

OVERHEADS 
MACHINE ACQUISITION 
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c) The cultural. professional and welfare promotion of the environment in which the Entity 
develops its activity. the improvement of the quality of life. policies of community 
development and actions of environmental protection (Assistance to Humanitarian and 
Social Organizations; Programs of labor insertion to the disabled. collaboration with 
educational Entities; Collaboration with Local and Regional Institutions and with the 
Forces and Bodies of Security of the State). 

  ORG. AND SOCIALES↓  

SKIES/FUTURABILITY 
RED CROSS 
EASTER COLLABORATIONS 
COVID-19 
OTHER PARTNERSHIPS 

 
  LOCAL ENTITIES AND REGIONALES↓  

RED THEATRE 
CITY COUNCILS (Celebrations) 
P. NATIONAL AND CIVIL 
CITY COUNCILS. 
INFANTRY ACADEMY 
ARMY MUSEUM BOARD 
ASSEMBLY OF NATIVITY SCENE AND CHRISTMAS CAMPAIGN 
STREET FURNITURE 
ASOC. SPORTS 

d) Eurocaja Rural Foundation. 

Through various initiatives and thanks to its firm commitment, the mission of Fundación 
Eurocaja Rural is to contribute to the socio-economic progress of the geographical areas 
in which the Entity operates and its people. This is achieved through social initiatives 
and training programmes that bring about real change. Aimed at social organisations 
and companies, the focus is on rural areas, people with disabilities, the local business 
community and the entrepreneurial landscape. 

After adapting the activities proposed in 2020, the Action Plan for 2021 was much more 
social in scope and entailed new programmes and services to help build and work 
towards an improved, more inclusive and better skilled society. 

In the social field, the total number of direct and indirect beneficiaries amounts to 88,500, 
which involved the following activities: 

‒ Ayudas Sociales (Social Assistance): Last year saw again the launch of the 
economic assistance programme known as Ayudas Sociales (Social Assistance). 
Euros 48,000 were allocated to 19 projects across a number of categories, 
contributing to the implementation of projects focused on: vulnerable individuals, 
socio-health care, research, employability and the rural environment: 

‒ “Research”: This campaign attracted various initiatives in the realm of general 
research, scientific outreach programmes and young researchers linked to 
universities, making a clear commitment to the future of research in Spain. 
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‒ “Vulnerable Groups”: This initiative involved collaborating with projects that 
combat child poverty, improve the quality of life of vulnerable people and cover 
basic needs (food, clothing, education, etc.). More than 75,000 beneficiaries. 

‒ “Rural Development”: The purpose of this initiative is to highlight the value of 
projects in the rural realm, such as:  maintaining the rural population; creating 
opportunities for the young, paving the way for generational change and creating 
jobs; aiding and caring for the elderly, eliminating digital barriers and bridging the 
gulf between rural and urban areas. More than 3,000 beneficiaries. 

‒ Ninth Charity Race: Once again last year, the Fundación Eurocaja Rural held its 
annual Charity Race. On this occasion, the goal was to raise money to combat child 
poverty, a major problem that the pandemic has only aggravated. This charity event 
enables us to support the work of various social organisations, donating to them 
100% of the money raised by participants. The money was then used to cooperate 
with programmes aimed at children, helping over 5,400 beneficiaries. 

Eight virtual charity races have been held so far, with 2,464 people signed up and 
over Euros 36,000 donated, which was then distributed to eight charities: Mensajeros 
de la Paz (Toledo and Madrid branches); Banco de Alimentos (Food Banks in 
Albacete and Cuenca); Cruz Roja (Spanish Red Cross, Ávila and Valencia branches) 
and Cáritas Diocesana (Guadalajara and Ciudad Real branches). 

For the first time, the event received major institutional backing in the form of the 
Spanish government’s High Commission against Child Poverty, as well as the 
participation of 44 schools  

on social media through the “Acción Colegios 100% Solidarios” campaign. For each 
school taking part, Fundación Eurocaja Rural donated Euros 100 to the charities. 

‒ The fight against ALS: This charitable initiative sponsored by Fundación and 
Eurocaja Rural raises funds to research the causes of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis 
(ALS), something that is key to prevent, diagnose and treat this disease.  

Private citizens and external bodies raised over Euros 27,500 for this cause, a 
donation that climbed to Euros 60,000 thanks to the contribution of Eurocaja Rural. 
Elsewhere, charitable body ADELANTE CLM donated all funds raised to support the 
work carried out by the Neurometabolism team at Spain’s Hospital Nacional de 
Parapléjicos (National Paraplegic Hospital).  

Design Competition: Competition to design the trophy to be awarded to 
winners of the various charitable initiatives carried out by Fundación Eurocaja 
Rural. 

The initiative reached out to organisations that work with people with disabilities, as 
well as the users of occupational centres, arts and crafts workshops, training services 
and centres, and any other creative or art-related body that works with people with 
disabilities.  
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The goal was to support and collaborate on the social and labour-market integration 
of people with disabilities. 

The winning body on this occasion was APACE TOLEDO. 

WORKIN: Support for employment initiatives organised by social organisations that 
aim to integrate people with disabilities into the labour market. Fundación Eurocaja 
Rural selected ten projects and awarded them financial assistance of Euros 7,000, 
subject to prevailing tax legislation. 

Economy for Everyone: In conjunction with organisation Plena Inclusión Castilla-
La Mancha, the aim of this initiative is to provide training to people with learning 
disabilities through practical workshops held at Eurocaja Rural branches. 
Participants are given the chance to receive training on financial matters in order to: 

‒ Improve their financial culture and understanding of money matters. 

‒ Have greater confidence in their day-to-day activity in order to be more 
responsible with their money. 

‒ Avoid making inappropriate decisions through proper financial planning. 

Since its creation in 2003, Fundación Eurocaja Rural has consistently had a firm 
social commitment, which is why the organisation has subscribed to the goals set by 
the European Union in its Strategy for the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2021-
2030. 

Christmas Time: A Christmas drawing contest that has become a festive mainstay 
thanks to its innovative concept and immense popularity. The primary goal of this 
initiative is to stimulate the artistic creativity of pupils at the Special Education 
Centres located within Eurocaja Rural’s geographical area of operations. 

The winning pieces were used by Fundación Eurocaja Rural as its Christmas 
greeting. 

Other social actions: 

Collaboration agreement with Colegio Mayol to sponsor two scholarships. 

Pack Rural Solidario (Rural Outreach Pack): Fundación Eurocaja Rural participated in the Cruz 
Roja’s COVID-19 Response Plan through the sale of the Pack Rural Solidario, raising Euros 
5,755. 
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The competition area saw a considerable number of people get on board, both in-person and 
online, helping over 2,800 beneficiaries. The initiatives carried out in this area were as follows: 

Dosis formativas (“Training pills”): Online conferences delivered by leading experts that seek 
to provide solutions to current problems. The direct interaction between speakers and the 
audience played a key role and added a novel new element. The audience had the chance to 
raise doubts and ask questions, a factor that added significant value to the sessions and 
facilitated universal access. 

With over 1,150 participants, the topics discussed were as follows: 

‒ Training pill: COVID-19 vaccines: The presentation delivered by Ana Céspedes explained 
the current situation as regards the various vaccines being offered around the world, the 
debate around their patents, their effectiveness with respect to new variants and the features 
of the IAVI vaccine (International AIDS Vaccine Initiative) in order to make it affordable and 
accessible to people around the globe. 

‒ Training pill: the Economic Recovery: This session explained the opportunities available to 
companies, institutions and private citizens to participate in social cohesion, recovery and 
research and innovation processes. Delivered by world-class experts, participants got to 
learn first hand the details of the EU Next Generation programme, the largest financial 
stimulation package to date aimed at rebuilding a more ecological, digital, inclusive and social 
Europe. 

‒ SMEs and industrial property: creating value from ideas: This initiative saw the exclusive 
involvement of ANDEMA, the Spanish association for the defence of trademarks, which 
conveyed the importance of protecting industrial property assets. Experts spoke to SMEs 
about the world of industrial property and the value that lies in protecting their assets, making 
them instruments for growth and a way to harness new business opportunities. 

‒ Training pill: the fight against plastic (sustainable packaging): This “training pill” outlined 
alternative packaging systems to traditional plastic and the impact of the European 2030 
regulations. Leading experts explained what sort of alternatives are available to packaging 
manufacturers, especially those involved in the agro-food industry. Contributing to the 
wellbeing of the planet is everyone’s responsibility and the simplest of action can yield major 
results. 

‒ Honest marketing, how to boost sales by communicating honestly: Explain how to increase 
sales, as well as meet communication and business targets without transmitting unattainable 
goals. In short, participants learnt that delivering relevant, credible and reliable 
communication is in fact possible. 

‒ Instagram tips and strategies to help your business: Instagram is one of today’s fastest 
growing channels; a much more visual medium where user dwell time is typically in the region 
of 20 minutes per day. This explains why over 70% of brands are present on this social 
network. Practical advice and tips were given during this master class to optimise companies’ 
Instagram profiles and to ensure their posts are as effective as possible. 
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‒ Training pill: the fight against gender-based violence: Adopting measures against gender-
based violence has become all the more important in view of the latest data and reports 
published in 2021, which point to a rise in violence and aggression against women and girls, 
especially in domestic settings, during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Cira García, the Magistrate assigned to the Exclusive Court against Violence towards 
Women in Albacete, provided useful information to detect and prevent violence, as well as 
analysis of key points to combat gender-based violence. 

‒ Training pill: retail window dressing: At this session participants were able to learn first hand 
what this visual merchandising technique involves. Increasingly used in the physical retail 
sector, this technique shows how to present products attractively. A design and creativity 
expert explained the key components every good window display must have to strengthen 
and enhance the visibility of products and increase sales. 

4th Edition of the Public Speaking School Companies now require professionals with solid 
social skills, which include knowing how to communicate. The fourth edition of Fundación 
Eurocaja Rural’s Public Speaking School was carried out online during the first half of the year. 
Lasting three months, the objective was to help students reach their goals both on a professional 
and day-to-day level. The programme was delivered by Train & Talk, a world-beating public 
speaking school. 

Customised public speaking: An online training programme aimed at helping students to 
develop skills to speak and transmit ideas in public, this time with a new format: a flexible, 
tailored approach that can be adapted to any schedule. Delivered by Train & Talk. 

Agro Rural Summit: In-person and digital event to present some of the major ground-breaking 
trends in the agri-food sector and to showcase success stories that are driving this process 
across the value chain. The Agro Rural Summit was aimed at companies, cooperatives and self-
employed individuals, etc. in the primary sector which were interested in learning what 
techniques major companies and SMEs employ to succeed in the digital-agricultural sphere. 
Influencers in the sector gave advice and tips about how to strengthen the image of agriculture 
and livestock on social media and their presence in digital environments. 

Empuéblate: An in-person and digital event at which public and private organisations, 
entrepreneurs and groups could come together to discuss the projects being promoted in the 
least populated rural areas of Spain, all from a sustainable and inclusive perspective. 

Digital Summit (DS): The fifth edition of the Digital Summit is an in-person and online event to 
share successful ideas and experiences for companies in the realm of digital transformation. 
The event saw the participation of major professionals in the marketing and advertising fields, 
who emphasised the “humanisation” of the brand.  
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Fundación Eurocaja Rural-UCLM Chair: The “Fundación Eurocaja Rural-Universidad 
Castilla-La Mancha Chair”, which also focuses on culture and rural development issues as of 
2021, organises research, development and innovation activities, as well as post-graduate and 
specialisation courses for students and professionals. It also awards scholarships and prizes for 
the best End-of-Degree and End-of-Master’s projects, arranges activities to disseminate 
knowledge of different disciplines through seminars at universities and elsewhere, and puts 
together activities to convey scientific and cultural concepts to the general public. Activities 
performed in 2021 were as follows: 

‒ Prize-giving ceremony for the best end-of-degree projects; delivered online for the first time. 

‒ TEDxUCLMToledo: The transformation of the self. Event held on 10 June at the Eurocaja 
Rural Auditorium. 

‒ “40th anniversary, CLM statute sessions_40 years of geography and territorial changes” 

Fundación Eurocaja Rural entered into agreements with the following entities in 2021: 

Hospital Universitario de Guadalajara  26/01/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

Universidad Rey Juan Carlos  16/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

Fundación del Hospital Nacional de Parapléjicos 26/01/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

Fundación CRIS contra el Cáncer 17/03/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

Fernando José Castillo García (UCLM) 09/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

AJS - Asociación Jóvenes Solidarios  15/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACIÓN SÍNDROME DE DOWN DE CUENCA Y 
PROVINCIA 19/01/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 

ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACIÓN TALISMAN 15/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACIÓN LOS CUATRO CAÑOS  17/03/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

Asociación LABORVALÍA 05/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

FUNDACIÓN PRIVADA MADRID CONTRA LA 
ESCLEROSIS MÚLTIPLE  18/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 

ASSISTANCE)  

POBLETE TOWN HALL 16/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACIÓN PARA EL DESARROLLO SOSTENIBLE 
DEL VALLE DE ALCUDIA  17/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 

ASSISTANCE)  
FUNDACION VIRGEN DE LOS DOLORES DE 
VALMOJADO 23/04/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 

ASSISTANCE)  
CENTRO OCUPACIONAL ALEGRIA. AYUNTAMIENTO 
MOCEJON 15/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 

ASSISTANCE)  

ALAMEDA DE LA SAGRA TOWN HALL 15/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACIÓN TUS RAÍCES 18/03/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

FUNDACIÓN ALAMEDILLAS  24/03/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACION DE FAMILIARES Y ENFERMOS DE 
ALZHEIMER DE HELLIN  20/04/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 

ASSISTANCE)  

ASOCIACIÓN AMIGOS DE ALZHEIMER DE CAUDETE  17/06/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  
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AYUNTAMIENTO DE LA ADRADA  12/02/2021 AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE)  

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, UNIVERSITY CHAIR  18/03/2021 COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, 
UNIVERSITY CHAIR 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, COLEGIO MAYOL 14/04/2021 SCHOOL SCHOLARSHIPS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, CORO GUTIERREZ 
PLA (THIRD BUSINESS PILL) 29/04/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, JAVIER GONZALEZ 
(THIRD BUSINESS PILL) 29/04/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, IVAN SEMPERE 
(THIRD BUSINESS PILL) 29/04/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, MARIA DEL MAR 
BALDARES (THIRD BUSINESS PILL) 29/04/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, JAVIER RUIZ 
(SECOND PILL: THE ECONOMIC RECOVERY) 26/04/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, DESAMPARADOS 
LOPEZ RUBIO (FOURTH TRAINING PILL: FIGHT 
AGAINST PLASTIC) 

20/05/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, MARTA MARTÍNEZ 
(FOURTH TRAINING PILL: FIGHT AGAINST PLASTIC) 21/05/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

FUNDACIÓN EUROCAJA RURAL-UCLM CHAIR 04/05/2021 FUNDACIÓN EUROCAJA RURAL-
UCLM CHAIR 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, JONATHAN GÓMEZ 
CANTERO (FOURTH TRAINING PILL: FIGHT 
AGAINST PLASTIC) 

11/05/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, RODRIGO 
CARRILLO 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, JOAQUIN 
TRIBALDOS 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, HERMINIO 
TRIBALDOS 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ÁGATA LOZANO 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 
COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, CAROLINA 
FERNÁNDEZ 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, PABLO DIAZ PEÑO 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, RAUL DE LA VEGA 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ELENA ESCOBAR 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 
COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, JUAN ANTONIO 
GÓMEZ PINTADO 24/05/2021 AGRO RURAL SUMMIT 

CUENCA FOOD BANK 24/06/2021 CHARITY RACE 

CARITAS, GUADALAJARA BRANCH 23/06/2021 CHARITY RACE 

MENSAJEROS DE LA PAZ, MADRID BRANCH 24/06/2021 CHARITY RACE 

ALBACETE FOOD BANK 30/06/2021 CHARITY RACE 

CARITAS, CIUDAD REAL BRANCH 29/06/2021 CHARITY RACE 

MENSAJEROS DE LA PAZ, TOLEDO BRANCH 01/07/2021 CHARITY RACE 

CRUZ ROJA, AVILA BRANCH 13/09/2021 CHARITY RACE 

CRUZ ROJA, VALENCIA REGIONAL BRANCH 24/09/2021 CHARITY RACE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ADELANTE CLM 21/06/2021 THE FIGHT AGAINST ALS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ATAMUR 07/07/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, RESEARCH  

AGREEMENT, CRUZ ROJA 02/07/2021 PACK RURAL SOLIDARIO 
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UNIVERSIDAD CATOLICA DE AVILA 06/09/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, RESEARCH  
FUNDACIÓN HOSPITAL PARAPLÉJICOS- GAI 
CIUDAD REAL 28/10/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, RESEARCH  

FUNDACIÓN HOSPITAL PARAPLÉJICOS- GAI 
ALBACETE 28/10/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, RESEARCH  

FUNDACIÓN HOSPITAL NACIONAL PARAPLÉJICOS 28/10/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, RESEARCH  

AGREEMENT, FUNDACIÓN NIPACE 16/08/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

AGREEMENT, AFRIBOVI 25/08/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

AGREEMENT, EUROCAJA RURAL-FUNDACIÓN 
EUROCAJA RURAL 10/09/2021 COMPLIANCE WITH 

ALTERNATIVE MEASURES 

AGREEMENT, ASOCIACIÓN A TU LADO 18/10/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

AGREEMENT, PARKINSON TOLEDO 20/10/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

ALCER CASTALIA 03/11/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

AGREEMENT, ATAFES 05/11/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ALICIA SENOVILLA 
(TRAINING PILL: HONEST MARKETING) 07/09/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, EDUARDO 
PRÁDANOS (TRAINING PILL: HONEST MARKETING) 06/09/2021 TRAINING PILL 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, LETI GRIJÓ 
(TRAINING PILL: TIPS & STRATEGIES FOR YOUR 
BUSINESS ON INSTAGRAM) 

07/10/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT, NEXT EDUCACIÓN 04/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 
COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, MANUEL CAMPO 
VIDAL (EMPUÉBLATE) 11/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, RAÚL SANTOS 
(EMPUÉBLATE) 11/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, CRISTINA RUIZ 
(EMPUÉBLATE) 11/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ANTONIO PELLÓN 
(EMPUÉBLATE) 11/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ISABEL LÓPEZ 
(EMPUÉBLATE) 11/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, CRISTINA 
MAESTRE (EMPUÉBLATE) 15/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, SUSANA SOLÍS 
(EMPUÉBLATE) 15/10/2021 EMPUÉBLATE 

AGREEMENT, PARKINSON VILLARROBLEDO 29/10/2021 
AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE) RURAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT, ASMINAL 02/11/2021 
AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE) RURAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT, ASOCIACION CASINO DE RECREO 
AGRÍCOLA E INDUSTRIAL 02/11/2021 

AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE) RURAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT, MANCOMUNIDAD SIERRA DEL 
RINCÓN 03/11/2021 

AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE) RURAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT, AUTISMO VALLADOLID 17/11/2021 
AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE) RURAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
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AGREEMENT, AIDISCAM 10/11/2021 
AYUDAS SOCIALES (SOCIAL 
ASSISTANCE) RURAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

ASOCIACIÓN DOGPOINT 09/12/2021 SOCIAL ASSISTANCE, 
VULNERABLE GROUPS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ALICIA SENOVILLA 
(TRAINING PILL: IMPROVE THE VISIBILITY OF YOUR 
BUSINESS ON INSTAGRAM) 

27/09/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

AGREEMENT RESOLUTION, TRAINING PILL, 5 
OCTOBER 05/10/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

COLLABORATION AGREEMENT, ALICIA SENOVILLA 
(TRAINING PILL: TIPS & STRATEGIES TO APPLY TO 
YOUR BUSINESS ON INSTAGRAM) 

07/10/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN ASPAYM 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN ASPANA 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN AUTISMO ALBACETE 18/11/2021 WORKIN 
AGREEMENT, WORKIN ASOCIACIÓN COMARCAL 
PROCAPACIDAD LA SOLANA 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN DOWN TOLEDO 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN ASPRODETA 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN DOWN CIUDAD REAL 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN FUNDACIÓN FISAMER 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN AFANIAS 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, WORKIN APANAS 18/11/2021 WORKIN 

AGREEMENT, LUCIA ANGULO_DIGITAL SUMMIT 17/11/2021 DIGITAL SUMMIT SPEAKER 

AGREEMENT, APACE TOLEDO 22/11/2021 DONATION TO INSERCIÓN 
LABORAL 

AGREEMENT, JOSE LUIS CERRILLO_DIGITAL 
SUMMIT 17/11/2021 DIGITAL SUMMIT SPEAKER 

AGREEMENT, BORJA MENGOTTI DIGITAL SUMMIT 17/11/2021 DIGITAL SUMMIT SPEAKER 

AGREEMENT, JULIÁN CANO 19/11/2021 TRAINING PILL 

AGREEMENT, CIRA GARCÍA 24/11/2021 TRAINING PILL 

AGREEMENT, LAURA SÁNCHEZ 29/11/2021 TRAINING PILL 

AGREEMENT, LETICIA GRIJÓ IGLESIAS 17/11/2021 DIGITAL SUMMIT SPEAKER 

AGREEMENT, SILVIA VELASCO 29/11/2021 DIGITAL SUMMIT SPEAKER 

AGREEMENT, VÍCTOR GRANADOS 29/11/2021 TRAINING PILLS 

AGREEMENT, EQUIPO CIRA 17/12/2021 DONATION OF TOYS 

AGREEMENT, ALICIA SENOVILLA DIGITAL SUMMIT 24/11/2021 DIGITAL SUMMIT PRESENTATION 
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8.2. Subcontracting and suppliers 

 

Just as Eurocaja Rural's commitment to good business practice and legality is tota, the level of 
demand on our business partners in this regard is as high as possible. 

In this sense, Eurocaja Rural's purchasing policy is directly related to the indications of our 
Corporate Social Responsibility department, placing special emphasis on our suppliers so that 
they are responsible and efficient in their manufacturing processes. 

On the other hand, as far as importers are concerned, we demand that the labour used for 
manufacturing is not slave labour and we try to acquire the commitment of our suppliers to 
review all their lines of business to avoid this circumstance. In this respect, taking into account 
the financial activity of Eurocaja Rural, and the type of suppliers with whom it has supply 
contracts, it has not been necessary to contract specific audits. 

In the relationship with the external auditors (also understood as suppliers of the Entity). the 
Audit Committee in the process of supervising their work guarantees their independence in the 
development of their functions. previously considering the requirements of hiring, rotation and 
appointment of the auditor in accordance with Law 22/2015 of 20 July on the Auditing of 
Accounts. 

Furthermore, with respect to financial analysts. investment banks and rating agencies, the Entity 
has a series of mechanisms and tools that allow for an adequate exchange of information with 
all types of financial agents, thus guaranteeing the transparency of the means available for the 
Entity's analysis. To this end, the Finance Department coordinates and manages relations with 
rating agencies, thus ensuring access to information for the performance and preparation of the 
respective work and reports. 

Finally, the Entity's anti-corruption policy states that it is committed to initiating and maintaining 
business relationships with qualified and reliable suppliers. Contracts made by Eurocaja Rural 
must be based on criteria of rationality and proportionality and may also be based on conditions 
such as price, the technical and operational characteristics of the contract or the history resulting 
from the relations of each of the suppliers with the Entity. 

 

8.3. Consumers 

 

The Customer Service Department (CSD) of Eurocaja Rural. S.C.C.. whose purpose is to deal 
with and resolve the complaints and claims submitted by customers and users of the services 
provided by the Entity, is governed by the Internal Regulations for the Defense of Customers of 
Eurocaja Rural S.C.C. These regulations govern its activity and operation in accordance with 
the provisions of Law 44/2002. of 22 November, on Financial System Reform Measures and 
implementing regulations, and Order ECO/734/2004, of 11 March, on Customer Service 
Departments and Services and the Customer Ombudsman of Financial Institutions. 
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The procedure for resolving any complaints or claims is initiated by submitting them to the 
Customer Service Department (DAC) or to any of the savings bank's offices open to the public, 
as well as to the e-mail address the Entity has provided for this purpose 
(atencionalcliente@eurocajarural.es). In any case, the presentation is always free of charge. 

Once the file has been opened. the DAC collects from the various departments and offices of 
the Entity all the information it deems relevant for taking its decision. 

Once it has been obtained. it will reply within one month in the case of consumers and two 
months in the case of non-consumers, and within 15 days in the case of complaints concerning 
means of payment. from the date of submission, without prejudice to those cases in which 
specific regulations may establish other deadlines. 

SUMMARY OF FILES SUBMITTED IN 2021 (compared to 2020) 

 
 2021  2020 
 N.º  %  N.º  % 
        
Customer-friendly 726  29.96%  970  40.50% 
Unfavorable to the customer 
Claims Withdrawn. inadmissible and resolved without pronouncement 1,453  59.97%  1,282  53.52% 
With search. refusal to process. other 6  0.25%  55  2.30% 
Pending resolution at the end of the year 187  7.72%  45  1.88% 
Unfavorable to the customer 
Claims Withdrawn. inadmissible and resolved without pronouncement 51  2.10%  43  1.80% 
         
Total 2,423  100%  2,395  100% 

 

8.4. Tax information 

 

From the Department of Tax Advice of Eurocaja Rural. after the study, analysis and planning of 
the best options to optimize the fiscal cost of the Entity and its clients, the guarantee of a correct 
application of the fiscal norms is sought. The department, after a good organization. together 
with the professional quality, allows the Entity itself to adapt to the changing environment 
regarding the tax field. 

It should be noted that at the level of the corporate group. for accounting consolidation purposes. 
the amount paid on the profits of all the group's investees in the last statement was EUR 5,861 
thousand (EUR 5,204 thousand in 2019). It should be noted that the Group operates only in 
Spain and. therefore. all the profits obtained are in Spain. Consequently, the Eurocaja Rural 
Group's "Profit Before Tax" (PBT), which amounted to EUR 45,271 thousand in 2021 compared 
to EUR 40,087 thousand in 2020, was generated in full in Spain. 

It should also be noted that the companies belonging to the corporate group, despite the 
formulation of the consolidated accounts of the groups of companies, do not consolidate for tax 
purposes. 

We hereby state that Eurocaja Rural. Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito, and its investee 
companies have not received any public subsidies during 2021, as they did in 2020. 

  

mailto:atencionalcliente@eurocajarural.es
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ANNEX I. INFORMATION REQUIRED BY LAW 11/2018 OF 28 DECEMBER, CONCERNING 
GREEK STANDARDS 

 

 
Code 

Information requested by the 
Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 

 
Pages 

0. General information 
0.1 Business model 

0.1.a Brief description of the group's business 
model (business environment and 
organization) 

101-1 Company Name 1-2 
102-2 Activities. brands. products and 
services 

1-2 

102-7 Size of the organization 1-2 
0.1.b Geographical presence 102-3 Location of headquarters 2 

102-4 Location of operations 5-7 
102-6 Markets served 5-7 

0.1.c Organizational objectives and strategies 102-14 Declaration of senior decision 
makers (vision and strategy regarding the 
management of economic. social and 
environmental impacts) 

4-5 

0.1.d Main factors and trends that may affect 
its future development 

102-15 Main impacts. risks and 
opportunities 

7-11 

0.2 General 
0.2.1 Reference in the report to the national. 

European or international reporting 
framework used for the selection of non- 
financial key performance indicators 
under each of the headings 

102-54 Statement of compliance with GRI 
standards 

Annex I 

0.2.2 If the company complies with the non- 
financial information law by issuing a 
separate report. it must be expressly 
stated that such information forms part 
of the management report 

- - 

1. Environmental issues 
1.1 General information 

1.1.a A description of the group's policies on 
these matters. including the due diligence 
procedures applied to identify. evaluate. 
prevent and mitigate significant risks and 
impacts and to verify and control. including 
what measures have been 
adopted 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

13-21 
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Code 

Information requested by the 
Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 

 
Pages 

1.1.b The results of these policies should 
include relevant non-financial key 
performance indicators that allow 
progress to be monitored and evaluated 
and that promote comparability across 
societies and sectors. in accordance with 
the national. European or international 
reference frameworks used for each 
subject 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

 
103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 

13-21 

1.1.c The main risks related to those issues that 
are linked to the activities of the group. 
including. where relevant and 
proportionate. its business relationships. 
products or services that may have an 
adverse effect on those areas. and how 
the group manages those risks. explaining 
the procedures used to identify and assess 
them in accordance with the national. 
European or international reference 
frameworks for each subject matter. 
Information should be included on the 
impacts identified. providing a breakdown 
of these impacts. in particular on the main 
risks in the short. medium 
and long term 

102-15 Main impacts. risks and 
opportunities 

13-21 

1.1 Detailed information 
1.1.1 General detailed information 

) Detailed information on current and 
foreseeable effects of the company's 
activities on the environment and. where 
appropriate. on health and safety. 
environmental assessment or certification 
procedures; 

 
2.) The resources dedicated to the 
prevention of environmental risks; 

 
3.) The application of the precautionary 
principle. the amount of provisions and 
guarantees for environmental risks 

102-11 Precautionary principle or 
approach 

 
201-2 Financial implications and other 
risks and opportunities arising from 
climate change 

 
308-1 New suppliers that have passed 
evaluation and selection filters according 
to environmental criteria 

 
308-2 Negative environmental impacts in 
the supply chain and measures taken 

13-21 

1.1.2 Contamination 
Measures to prevent. reduce or remedy 
emissions that seriously affect the 
environment; taking into account any 
activity-specific form of air pollution. 
including noise and light pollution 

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 13-16 
305-6 Emissions of ozone-depleting 
substances (ODS) 

NM 

305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOx). material 
sulphur oxides (SOx) and other significant 
air emissions 

NM 

1.1.3 Circular economy and waste prevention and management 
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Code 

Information requested by the 
Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 

 
Pages 

 Measures for prevention. recycling. reuse. 
other forms of recovery and disposal of 
waste; actions to combat food waste 

301-2 Recycled inputs 13 
301-3 Reused products and packaging 
materials 

13 

303-3 Recycled and reused water NM 
306-1 Discharge of water according to its 
quality and destination 

NM 

306-2 Waste by type and disposal 
method 

13 

1.1.4 Sustainable use of resources 
Water consumption and water supply in 
accordance with local constraints 

303-1 Water extraction by source 13-15 
303-2 Water sources significantly affected 
by water extraction 

NM 

Consumption of raw materials and 
measures taken to improve the efficiency 
of their use 

301-1 Materials used by weight or 
volume 

NM 

301-2 Recycled inputs NM 
Direct and indirect energy consumption. 
measures taken to improve energy 
efficiency and the use of renewable 
energy 

302-1 Energy consumption within the 
organization 

15-16 

302-3 Energy intensity NM 
302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 15-16 
302-5 Reduction of energy requirements 
for products and services 

15-16 

1.1.5 Climate change 
The important elements of greenhouse gas 
emissions generated as a result of the 
company's activities. including the use of 
the goods and services it produces 

305-2 Indirect GHG emissions from power 
generation (Scope 2) 

NM 

305-4 GHG emission intensity NM 

Measures taken to adapt to the 
consequences of climate change 

103 Emissions management approach 15-16 

Voluntary medium- and long-term 
reduction targets set to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions and the means 
implemented to that end 

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 16 

1.1.6 Protection of biodiversity 
Measures taken to preserve or restore 
biodiversity 

304-1 Owned. leased or managed 
operations centres located within or 
adjacent to 
protected areas or areas of high 
biodiversity value outside protected areas 

NM 

304-3 Protected or restored habitats NM 
Impacts caused by activities or operations 
in protected areas 

304-2 Significant impacts of activities. 
products and services on biodiversity 

NM 

306-5 Water bodies affected by water 
discharges and/or run-off 

NM 

2 Social and personnel issues 
2.1 General information 
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Code 
Information requested by the 

Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 
 

Pages 
2.1.a A description of the group's policies on 

these matters. including the due diligence 
procedures applied to identify. evaluate. 
prevent and mitigate significant risks and 
impacts and to verify and control. including 
what measures have been 
adopted 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

22-51 

2.1.b The results of these policies should 
include relevant non-financial key 
performance indicators that allow 
progress to be monitored and evaluated 
and that promote comparability across 
societies and sectors. in accordance with 
the national. European or international 
reference frameworks used for each 
subject 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

 
103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 

22-51 

2.1.c The main risks related to those issues that 
are linked to the activities of the group. 
including. where relevant and 
proportionate. its business relationships. 
products or services that may have an 
adverse effect on those areas. and how 
the group manages those risks. explaining 
the procedures used to identify and assess 
them in accordance with the national. 
European or international reference 
frameworks for each subject matter. 
Information should be included on the 
impacts identified. providing a breakdown 
of these impacts. in particular on the main 
risks in the short. medium 
and long term 

102-15 Main impacts. risks and 
opportunities 

22-51 

2.2 Detailed information 
2.2.1 Employment 

Total number and distribution of 
employees by gender. age. country and 
occupational classification 

102-8 Information on employees and 
other workers 

22-23 

405-1 Diversity in governing bodies and 
employees 

23-23 

Total number and distribution of 
employment contract modalities 

 
Average annual number of permanent 
contracts. temporary contracts and part- 
time contracts by sex. age and 
professional classification 

102-8 Information on employees and 
other workers 

22-25 

Number of dismissals by sex. age and 
occupational classification 

401-1 New recruitment and staff rotation 25 
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Code 

Information requested by the 
Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 

 
Pages 

 Average pay and its evolution broken 
down by sex. age and professional 
classification or equal value 

102-38 Total annual compensation ratio 
 
102-39 Ratio of percentage increase in 
total annual compensation 

26-27 

Wage gap. remuneration for equal or 
average jobs in society 

405-2 Ratio of basic salary and 
remuneration of women to men 

27-28 

The average remuneration of directors 
and executives. including variable 
remuneration. allowances. indemnities. 
payment to long-term savings schemes 
and any other payment broken down by 
gender 

102-35 Governance: Compensation 
policies 

 
102-36 Governance: Processes for 
determining remuneration 

 
201-3 Obligations of the defined benefit 
plan and other retirement plans 

29-30 

Implementation of labour disconnection 
policies 

103 Employment management approach 30-31 

Employees with disabilities 405-1 Diversity in governing bodies and 
employees 

30 

2.2.2 Organization of work 
Organisation of working time 103 Employment management approach 32-33 
Number of hours of absence 403-2 Types of accidents and accident 

frequency rates. occupational diseases. 
lost days. absenteeism and number of 
deaths due to occupational accidents or 
diseases 

33-34 

Measures to facilitate the enjoyment of 
conciliation and to promote the co- 
responsibility of both parents 

401-3 Parental leave 32-33 

2.2.3 Health and Safety 
Health and safety conditions at work 403-3 Workers with high incidence or 

high risk of work-related diseases 
35-37 

Accidents at work. in particular their 
frequency and severity. as well as 
occupational diseases; disaggregated by 
sex 

403-2 Types of accidents and accident 
frequency rate. occupational diseases. 
lost days. absenteeism and number of 
deaths due to occupational accidents or 
diseases 

37-38 

2.2.4 Social relations 
Organization of social dialogue. including 
procedures for informing. consulting and 
negotiating with staff 

102-43 Approach to stakeholder 
engagement 

39-45 

403-1 Workers' representation in formal 
worker-employer health and safety 
committees 

39-45 

Percentage of employees covered by 
collective agreements by country 

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements 39-45 

The balance of collective agreements. 
particularly in the field of health and 
safety at work 

403-1 Workers' representation in formal 
worker-employer health and safety 
committees 

39-45 

2.2.5 Training 
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Code 
Information requested by the 

Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 
 

Pages 
 The policies implemented in the field of 

training 
404-2 Employee skill enhancement and 
transition assistance programs 

45-46 

The total number of training hours by 
professional category 

404-1 Average hours of training per year 
per employee 

46-47 

2.2.6 Universal Accessibility 
Universal accessibility for people with 
disabilities 

103 Diversity and Equal Opportunities 
Management Approach + Non- 
Discrimination 

47 

2.2.7 Equality 
Measures taken to promote equal 
treatment and opportunities between 
women and men 

401-3 Parental leave 48-51 

Equality plans (Chapter III of Organic Law 
3/2007. of 22 March. for effective equality 
between women and men). measures 
adopted to promote employment. 
protocols against sexual and gender-
based harassment. integration and 
universal accessibility of 
persons with disabilities 

103 Diversity and Equal Opportunities 
Management Approach + Non- 
Discrimination 

48-51 

The policy against all types of 
discrimination and. where appropriate. 
the management of diversity. 

406-1 Cases of discrimination and 
remedial action taken 

50 

3 Respect for Human Rights 
3.1 General information 

3.1.a A description of the group's policies on 
these matters. including the due diligence 
procedures applied to identify. evaluate. 
prevent and mitigate significant risks and 
impacts and to verify and control. including 
what measures have been 
adopted 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

52 

3.1.b The results of these policies. which should 
include relevant non-financial key 
performance indicators that allow progress 
to be monitored and evaluated and that 
promote comparability across societies 
and sectors. in accordance with national. 
European or international frameworks. 
should be made available to 
the public. 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

 
103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 

52 

 
 
  



Consolidated Statement of Non-Financial Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

69 
Toledo Commercial Registry 475. Sec. Gral. Libro Sdades. F/18.H/ TO-5618 Registered at Bank of Spain 3081. C.I.F. F-45003993 
 

 
Code 

Information requested by the 
Law 11/2018 (EINF) Link to GRI indicators (Orientative) 

 
Pages 

3.1.c The main risks related to those issues that 
are linked to the activities of the group. 
including. where relevant and 
proportionate. its business relationships. 
products or services that may have an 
adverse effect on those areas. and how 
the group manages those risks. explaining 
the procedures used to identify and assess 
them in accordance with the national. 
European or international reference 
frameworks for each subject matter. 
Information should be included on the 
impacts identified. providing a breakdown 
of these impacts. in particular on the main 
risks in the short. medium 
and long term 

102-15 Main impacts. risks and 
opportunities 

52 

3.2 Detailed information 
3.2.1 Application of human rights due diligence 

procedures; prevention of risks of human 
rights violations and. where appropriate. 
measures to mitigate. manage and redress 
possible abuses 

102-16 Values. principles. standards and 
norms of conduct 

 
102-17 Advisory mechanisms and ethical 
concerns 

 
412-1 Operations subject to human rights 
reviews or impact assessments 

 
412-2 Employee training on human rights 
policies or procedures 

 
412-3 Significant investment agreements 
and contracts with human rights clauses 
or subject to 
human rights assessment 

52 

3.2.2 Allegations of human rights violations 406-1 Cases of discrimination and 
remedial action taken 

 
419-1 Non-compliance with laws and 
regulations in the social and economic 
fields 

NM 
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3.2.3 Promotion and implementation of the 
provisions of the International Labour 
Organization's fundamental conventions 
relating to respect for freedom of 
association and the right to collective 
bargaining; the elimination of discrimination 
in employment and occupation; the 
elimination of forced or compulsory labour; 
the effective abolition of child labour. 

406-1 Cases of discrimination and remedial 
action taken 
 
407-1 Operations and suppliers whose right 
to freedom of association and collective 
bargaining may be at risk 
 
408-1 Operations and suppliers with 
significant risk of child labour 
 
409-1 Operations and suppliers with 
significant risk of forced or compulsory 
labour 

NM 

4 Fight against corruption and bribery 
4.1 General information 

4.1.a A description of the group's policies on 
these matters. including the due diligence 
procedures applied to identify. evaluate. 
prevent and mitigate significant risks and 
impacts and to verify and control. including 
what measures have been 
adopted 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

53-54 

4.1.b The results of these policies should 
include relevant non-financial key 
performance indicators that allow 
progress to be monitored and evaluated 
and that promote comparability across 
societies and sectors. in accordance with 
the national. European or international 
reference frameworks used for each 
subject 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

 
103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 

53-54 

4.1.c The main risks related to those issues that 
are linked to the activities of the group. 
including. where relevant and 
proportionate. its business relationships. 
products or services that may have an 
adverse effect on those areas. and how 
the group manages those risks. explaining 
the procedures used to identify and assess 
them in accordance with the national. 
European or international reference 
frameworks for each subject matter. 
Information should be included on the 
impacts identified. providing a breakdown 
of these impacts. in particular on the main 
risks in the short. medium 
and long term 

102-15 Main impacts. risks and 
opportunities 

53-54 

4.2 Detailed information 
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4.2.1 Measures taken to prevent corruption 
and bribery 

102-16 Values. principles. standards and 
norms of conduct 

 
102-17 Advisory mechanisms and ethical 
concerns 

 
205-1 Operations assessed for 
corruption-related risks 

 
205-2 Communication and training on 
anti-corruption policies and procedures 

 
205-3 Confirmed cases of corruption and 
measures taken 

53-54 

4.2.2 Measures to combat money laundering 102-16 Values. principles. standards and 
norms of conduct 

 
102-17 Advisory mechanisms and ethical 
concerns 

 
205-2 Communication and training on 
anti-corruption policies and procedures 

53-54 

4.2.3 Contributions to foundations and non- 
profit organisations 

201-1 Direct economic value generated 
and distributed 

 
413-1 Operations with local community 
participation. impact assessments and 
development programmes 

55-64 
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5 Information on Society 
5.1 General information 

5.1.a A description of the group's policies on 
these matters. including the due diligence 
procedures applied to identify. evaluate. 
prevent and mitigate significant risks and 
impacts and to verify and control. including 
what measures have been 
adopted 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

55-64 

5.1.b The results of these policies should 
include relevant non-financial key 
performance indicators that allow 
progress to be monitored and evaluated 
and that promote comparability across 
societies and sectors. in accordance with 
the national. European or international 
reference frameworks used for each 
subject 

103-2 The management approach and its 
components 

 
103-3 Evaluation of the management 
approach 

55-64 

5.1.c The main risks related to those issues that 
are linked to the activities of the group. 
including. where relevant and 
proportionate. its business relationships. 
products or services that may have an 
adverse effect on those areas. and how 
the group manages those risks. explaining 
the procedures used to identify and assess 
them in accordance with the national. 
European or international reference 
frameworks for each subject matter. 
Information should be included on the 
impacts identified. providing a breakdown 
of these impacts. in particular on the main 
risks in the short. medium 
and long term 

102-15 Main impacts. risks and 
opportunities 

55-64 

5.2 Detailed information 
5.2.1 The company's commitment to sustainable development 

The impact of society's activity on 
employment and local development 

203-1 Investments in infrastructure and 
supported services 

 
204-1 Proportion of spending on local 
suppliers 

 
413-1 Operations with local community 
participation. impact assessments and 
development programmes 

55-64 
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 The impact of society's activity on local 
populations and the territory 

203-1 Investments in infrastructure and 
supported services 

 
204-1 Proportion of spending on local 
suppliers 

 
411-1 Cases of violations of the rights of 
indigenous peoples 

 
413-1 Operations with local community 
participation. impact assessments and 
development programmes 

 
413-2 Operations with significant negative 
impacts - actual or potential – on local 
communities 

55-64 

The relations maintained with local 
community actors and the modalities of 
dialogue with them 

102-43 Approach to stakeholder 
engagement 

55-64 

Partnership or sponsorship actions 102-13 Membership in associations 55-64 
5.2.2 Subcontracting and suppliers 

The inclusion of social. gender equality and 
environmental issues in procurement policy 

102-9 Supply chain 
 
308-1 New suppliers that have passed 
evaluation and selection filters according 
to environmental criteria 

 
414-1 New suppliers that have passed 
evaluation and selection filters according 
to social criteria 

64-65 

Consideration in relations with suppliers 
and subcontractors of their social and 
environmental responsibility 

308-1 New suppliers that have passed 
evaluation and selection filters according 
to environmental criteria 

 
414-1 New suppliers that have passed 
evaluation and selection filters according 
to social criteria 

64-65 

Monitoring and audit systems and results 308-2 Negative environmental impacts in 
the supply chain and measures taken 

 
414-1 New suppliers that have passed 
evaluation and selection filters according 
to social criteria 

 
414-2 Negative social impacts on the 
supply chain and measures taken 

NM 
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5.2.3 Consumers 
Measures for the health and safety of 
consumers 

416-1 Assessment of health and safety 
impacts of product or service categories 

65 

Complaint systems. complaints received 
and their resolution 

102-43 Approach to stakeholder 
engagement 

 
102-44 Key issues and 
concerns mentioned 

 
418-1 Substantiated claims regarding 
violations of customer privacy and loss of 
customer data 

65 

5.2.4 Tax information 
The benefits obtained country by country 201-1 Managerial economic value 

generated and distributed 
66 

Taxes on profits paid 201-1 Managerial economic value 
generated and distributed 

66 

Public subsidies received 201-4 Financial assistance received from 
the government 

66 

 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 - TAXONOMY 

Requirements of Regulation 2020/852 Eurocaja Rural’s in-house 
methodology based on article 10 of 
the European Taxonomy 

Point 4.4.1 
16-21 

 
NM: No material 
 
 
 
 



 

 

RURAL EUROCAJA GROUP 
 

PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND CONSOLIDATED 
MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR 2021 

 
The formulation of these Consolidated Annual Accounts and Consolidated Management Report has 
been approved by the Governing Council of Eurocaja Rural, Sociedad Cooperativa de Crédito at the 
meeting held on 2 March 2021. 
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Vice President 
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Secretary 

Mr. Francisco Martín Gómez 
Deputy Secretary 

Mr. José Luis Álvarez Gutiérrez 
Member of the Governing Council 

Ms. Angela María Bejarano de Gregorio 
Member of the Governing Council 

Ms. María Jesús Rincón Mora 
Member of the Governing Council 

Ms. Carmen Aguado Puebla 
Member of the Governing Council 

Mr. Santiago Méndez Villarrubia 
Member of the Governing Council 

Ms. Inés Teullet García 
Member of the Governing Council 

Mr. José María Arcos González 
Member of the Governing Council 

Mr. Jesús Rodríguez Bahamontes 
Member of the Governing Council 

Mr. Jose Luis Cuerda Tena 
Member of the Governing Council 

Mr. Alberto Fernando Azaña Rodríguez 
Workers' representative 


	Opinion CCAACC ingles 2021 Eurocaja Rural
	2022a13mcc4 - CCAACC - OK
	EUROCAJA RURAL,
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020
	1. GENERAL INFO
	2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND OTHER INFORMATION
	Standards and interpretations issued not in force

	3. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND CRITERIA APPLIED
	4. DISTRIBUTION OF RESULTS
	5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
	Information on refinancing and restructuring
	Exposure to the construction and real estate development sector
	Policies and strategies established for the management of problematic risk in the development sector
	6. CASH, BALANCES IN CASH AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER DEMAND DEPOSITS
	7. DERIVATIVES
	8. NON-TRADING FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
	9. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
	10. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	10.1 Debt securities
	10.2 Equity instruments
	10.3 Impairment losses
	10.4. Other accumulated overall result
	11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST
	11.1. Debt securities
	11.2 Credit institutions
	11.3 Customer loans
	11.5. Moratorium measures and financing operations with ICO Covid-19 guarantees
	12. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
	13.  NON-CURRENT ASSETS FOR SALE AND LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH NON- CURRENT ASSETS FOR SALE
	14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
	16. OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
	17.2 Deposits from credit institutions
	17.3 Customer deposits
	17.4 Debt securities issued
	17.5 Other financial liabilities
	18. PROVISIONS
	19. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES
	19.2 Loan commitments granted
	20. OTHER ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	21. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
	21.1 Authorised Capital
	21.2 Reserves
	22. CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
	23. EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT FUND
	24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
	25. RELATED PARTIES
	25.2 Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
	26. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES
	29. STAFF COSTS
	30. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
	33. OTHER INFORMATION
	33.2 Trust and investment services
	33.3 Information from issuers in the mortgage market and on the special accounting register
	33.4 Agency contracts
	33.5 Audit fees
	33.6 Abandoned balances and deposits
	33.7. Information on payment deferrals made to suppliers Third additional provision. "Duty to inform" of Law 31/2014, of 3 December
	33.9 Environmental impact
	33.10 Other commitments
	34. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
	ANNEX I
	LIST OF FINANCIAL AGENTS FOR THE YEAR 2020
	ANNEX II: ANNUAL BANKING REPORT YEAR 2021


	Opinión EINF
	2022a13mcc5_EINF
	CONSOLIDATED NON-
	1. PURPOSE
	2. BUSINESS MODEL INFORMATION
	2.1 Description of the Entity
	2.2 Environment in which the Entity operates
	2.3 Organization and structure of the entity
	2.3.2 Organization of Eurocaja Rural
	2.4 Markets in which the Entity operates
	2.5 The Entity's main business lines
	2.6 Sectorial context and challenges for the Entity
	3. MAIN RISKS
	Materiality analysis in relation to non-financial information

	4. ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING
	4.1 Contamination
	4.2 Circular economy and waste prevention and management
	4.3 Sustainable use of resources
	4.4 Climate change
	4.5 Protection of biodiversity
	5. INFORMATION ON SOCIAL AND PERSONNEL ISSUES
	5.1. Employment
	5.1.2 Total number and distribution of types of employment contract, annual average of permanent contracts, temporary contracts and part-time contracts, by sex, age and professional classification.
	5.1.3. Number of dismissals by sex. age and professional classification
	5.1.4. Average salaries and their evolution disaggregated by sex. age and professional classification or equal value (figures in thousands of euros)
	5.1.5. Wage gap. remuneration for equal or average jobs in the company (figures in thousands of euros)
	5.1.6. The average remuneration of directors and executives. including variable remuneration. allowances. indemnities. payment of long-term savings schemes and any other payment broken down by gender (in thousands of euros).
	5.1.7. Employees with disabilities.
	5.1.8. Implementation of digital switch-off policies
	5.2. Organization of work
	5.3. Health and Safety
	Objectives and goals
	Workers' representation in formal committees:
	Evaluation and control of risks to the safety and health of workers.
	Health and safety issues addressed in formal agreements with trade unions,
	Workplace accidents.
	5.4. Social relations
	"Article 52 General provision
	Article 53 Health surveillance
	Article 54 Representation and training of staff in occupational health and safety
	Article 55 Specific prevention
	Article 56 Maternity protection

	5.5. Training
	5.7. Equality
	6. INFORMATION ON RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS
	7. INFORMATION ON THE FIGHT AGAINST CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY
	8. COMPANY INFORMATION
	8.1. The company's commitment to sustainable development
	8.2. Subcontracting and suppliers
	8.3. Consumers
	SUMMARY OF FILES SUBMITTED IN 2021 (compared to 2020)
	8.4. Tax information
	RURAL EUROCAJA GROUP



		2022-05-11T09:59:06+0200
	Rosa Mª Sánchez Ruiz




